
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held virtually on Monday, 4 January 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the 
following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can attend the meeting 
will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


6. Minutes of meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board (Pages 11 - 20)

7. Meopham, Higham and Cobham Rural Housing Needs Surveys 2020 (Pages 21 - 
196)

8. Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) Adoption 

(Pages 197 - 
244)

9. Proposed amendments to the Constitution (Pages 245 - 
254)

10.Member Training 2019-20 - Annual Report (Pages 255 - 
318)

11.Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) review (Pages 319 - 
354)

12.Fire Door Procurement and Installation Programme (Pages 355 - 
380)

13.Development on Land at Constable Road/Rembrandt Drive (Please note 
that Appendix 2 is restricted and will only be available in the private 
document pack)

(Pages 381 - 
388)

14.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

15.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

16.South Thames Gateway (STG) Building Control Partnership Business Plan 
2021-24 

(Pages 389 - 
436)

17.Wickes site, Stuart Road, Gravesend and Parrock Street Surface Car Park, 
Gravesend 

(Pages 437 - 
458)

18.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 



Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cabinet

Monday, 9 November 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning & Development)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Daniel Killian Assistant Director (Housing)
Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services (Medway Council)
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager
Nicole Arthur Service Delivery Manager
Andrew Barnett Principal Accountant (General Fund)
Alexandra Jarvis Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer)
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager
James Bridges Digital Developer (Technical Support)

37. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 October 2020 were signed by the Chair.

38. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

39. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

The Leader advised that he had taken a delegated decision in respect of the Test and Trace 
Support Payment Scheme which had previously been circulated and published on the 
Council’s website. 

40. Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service 

The Cabinet was provided with a copy of the annual review that had been conducted in 
respect of the Payroll Shared Service with Medway Council in accordance with the Council’s 
Working in Partnership Framework.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 9.11.2020

2

The Director (Communities) advised that the shared service had a third successful year and 
drew Member’s attention to appendix two of the report which detailed the objectives and key 
areas of focus that had been met.

Members expressed concern regarding the SelfServe4You system not being user-friendly.

The Director (Communities) advised that the system had recently been upgraded to improve 
user experience and this would continue to be a commitment moving forward.  

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

41. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 

The Cabinet received an update against the Performance Management Framework for 
Quarter Two 2020-21 (July to September 2020).

Appendix Two provided a summary of corporate performance in the last reporting quarter, 
with the following key statistical headlines:-

 64% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of performance; and
 36% of reported indicators had fallen in their level of performance.

Specifically in consideration of the adopted corporate objectives, the following headlines 
were presented for the last reporting quarter:-

 People: 67% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 Place: 70% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of performance; 
and

 Progress: 40% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance.

Information on performance over the period was presented in tabular and graphical form for 
all indicators. Where any data was not presented, this related either to those indicators 
reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data had not yet been submitted in time 
for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data had been unable to be reported 
will be presented within the next available reporting cycle to Cabinet and the relevant 
Cabinet Committees.

The Chief Executive advised that, following Cabinet’s review, all Cabinet Committees will be 
presented with individual performance reports tailored to the respective portfolio 
responsibilities. Alongside statistical content, these will provide more detailed contextual or 
qualitative updates outlining what activity the Council had delivered and what action will be 
taken to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s corporate objectives and policy 
commitments.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

Page 6



Cabinet 9.11.2020

3

42. Communications Strategy 

The Cabinet was advised that communications and engagement was at the heart of all that 
the Council does and that it was vital that the Council engages with residents, businesses, 
partners and stakeholders effectively to communicate key messages and how it will deliver 
against the objectives set in the Corporate Plan. The Council did not currently have a 
Communications Strategy. The Communications Manager committed to drafting a Strategy 
on his appointment in August 2019. This was also a key commitment within the LGA Peer 
Challenge Action Plan and Annual Governance Statement 2019-20. 

The Communications Manager presented Members with a draft Communications Strategy 
together with the following appendices:-

 Draft Social Media Policy; and 
 Draft Crisis Communications Policy.

The Cabinet welcomed the Communications Strategy and its appendices and commended 
the format/language used within the document. 

The Cabinet also acknowledged that an Engagement Strategy was currently being drafted 
which would sit alongside this document.
 

Resolved that the Communications Strategy and its appendices be adopted.

43. Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service 

The Cabinet was provided with a copy of the annual review that had been conducted in 
respect of the Legal Shared Service with Medway Council in accordance with the Council’s 
Working in Partnership Framework.

The Director (Communities) advised that the shared service had a third successful year and 
drew Member’s attention to appendix two of the report which detailed the objectives and key 
areas of focus that had been met.

The Cabinet welcomed the additional resilience offered by the shared service. 
 
The Cabinet also acknowledged the feedback detailed within section 5 of appendix 2 and 
asked what measures have or can be put in place to assist the issues raised.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

44. Additional Resources - Phase 2 of the expansion of the workforce within DSO 
Building Management 

Further to minute 129 (08.10.2018), the Cabinet was informed that Phase 1 of the expansion 
began in November 2018 and saw a well-publicised recruitment campaign. There was a 
really good response with over 200 people applying for the vacant positions. However, whilst 
a high calibre of applicants was received it was essential that people were recruited with the 
exact skill set that were needed in order to generate the savings and efficiencies that had 
been identified. The very specific requirements meant that recruitment took longer than first 

Page 7



Cabinet 9.11.2020

4

anticipated and the newly-created roles in Phase 1 were not fully occupied until September 
2019.

The Cabinet was informed that Phase 2 would create further opportunities to reduce the 
reliance on term contractors within the DSO Building Management Team by expanding the 
in-house workforce at a more competitive rate than current contractors to further assist with 
efficiency savings, improving the quality of work and timescales in which work would be 
completed.

In addition to this, the proposals outlined within the report would also enable a more 
commercial approach to be adopted within the repairs teams to ensure the service is in the 
best possible position for trading to the public through Rosherville Limited.

The Assistant Director (Housing) advised that the total financial commitment of recruiting the 
additional craft workers would be approximately £590,990. The recruitment of the additional 
craft workers would be accommodated within existing budgets and will allow the service to 
continue to drive through efficiencies and savings by bringing more work back in-house. The 
changes as proposed within the report were likely to generate a saving of £672,500 within 
Capital HRA budgets and £256,480 within HRA Revenue budgets whilst also increasing the 
quality of work and capacity to deliver more for the tenants. 

The Cabinet congratulated the Assistant Director (Housing) and DSO Building Management 
Team for making the expansion a success. 

Resolved that the Cabinet recognise that an in-house workforce is more competitive 
than using contractors to carry out certain elements of work and recommends to Full 
Council the proposals to expand the in-house workforce further as set out in Section 
4 and Appendix 3 of the report and to make the necessary amendments to the 
relevant Capital and Revenue Budgets.

45. De-merger of the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 

The Cabinet was informed that following the introduction of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998, both Dartford and Gravesham established Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships 
(CDRPs) now known as Community Safety Partnerships, in order to meet their statutory 
obligations. The separate Partnerships were then merged in December 2006 following a 
Home Office-led review. The merger of Partnerships, particularly in two-tier Authorities, was 
seen at that time as a positive means of pooling resources and reducing the level of demand 
made on those agencies needing to participate in Partnership meetings.

During the lifetime of the CSP since the merger, the joint arrangements had generally 
worked well and strong relationships had been formed across the agencies represented. 
However, many things had changed during the course of the last 14 years that led 
Gravesham to conclude that now was the right time to re-establish its own separate and 
independent statutory CSP.

All statutory partner representatives were contacted and briefed on the proposed de-merger 
in late August/early September. A majority of the responses received were in support for the 
de-merger, with some having been very positive about the proposal. Dartford Borough 
Council made clear that they would had preferred the Partnership to remain a joint one but 
agreed to respect Gravesham’s wish to have an independent CSP and therefore, conceded 
to a de-merger. 

Page 8



Cabinet 9.11.2020

5

A delegated decision was therefore taken on 15 October 2020 by the Lead Member, 
Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox countersigned by the Leader of the Council, Cllr John Burden 
for the withdrawal of Gravesham from the joint CSP in order that a dedicated District-level 
Partnership can be established.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

46. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2020/21 - Quarter Two 

The Cabinet received the second budget monitoring report for 2020/21 showing the position 
up to 30 September 2020. The Cabinet noted the information provided on:-

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, 
including projected variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; 
and

 other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan or Financial Statements.

Following the new national restrictions which came into effect on 5 November 2020, the 
Chief Executive provided Members with an update on the support which will be provided by 
the Council to vulnerable groups and businesses together with the financial consequences of 
COVID-19 and the support packages which have been provided, to date, by Central 
Government. The most recent being the:-

 Local Restrictions Support Grant (£1.38 million) – this grant will be available to those 
businesses that were open as usual and then required to close due to the new 
restrictions; and

 Additional Restrictions Grant (£2.1million) – this grant will be available for those 
businesses that are not covered by other grant schemes or where additional funding 
will be needed.

The Cabinet was informed that, due to the Council’s efforts over the last five years, it had a 
strong level of reserves which would be sufficient to avoid serious financial difficulty in the 
short term however the Council was now forecasting a shortfall from 2026/2027 onwards. 

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

47. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  - Quarter Two 2020/21 

The Cabinet received the second budget monitoring report for 2020/21 showing the position 
up to 30 September 2020. The Cabinet noted the information provided on:-

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, 
including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; and

 other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or 
Financial Statements.

The Leader stated that the Council will continue to deliver new homes within the Borough.

Page 9



Cabinet 9.11.2020

6

The Cabinet acknowledged the work being undertaken by the Income Team on debt 
recovery whilst providing support  to customers to minimise and prevent the accumulation of 
debt.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

48. Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 
Wednesday, 9 September 2020 

The Cabinet considered the minutes of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 
Wednesday 9 September 2020.

49. Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday, 8 October 2020 

The Cabinet considered the minutes of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday 8 October 2020.

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.09 pm

Page 10



1

Gravesham Joint Transportation Committee 

Wednesday, 02 December 2020                                      7.30pm

Present:

Cllr Peter Scollard (Acting Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis  
Leslie Hills 
Bob Lane  
John Burden (KCC)  
Lauren Sullivan (KCC) 
Bryan Sweetland (KCC) 

 
Please note: Cllr Steve Thompson, Cllr Tony Rana, Cllr Emma Morley, Cllr 

Lee Croxton, Cllr Lenny Rolles and Cllr Lyn Milner were also in 
attendance. 

Kevin Gore 
Paul Leary 
Claire Venner 

District Manager – Gravesham (KCC)
Schemes Programme Manager (KCC) 
Schemes Project Manager (KCC) 

Nick May
Mick Clarke 
Carol Crowther 

Parking Services Manager (GBC)
Resident 
Resident 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes)  

160. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from County Councillor Alan Michael Ridgers (Chair) 
and County Councillor Diane Marsh.  

161. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 09 September 2020 were signed by the Chair.

162. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared an interest as he was a local Taxi Driver for the Borough of 
Gravesham. 

Cllr Peter Scollard declared an interest as he was a Governor for Lawn Community Primary 
School. 

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 2.12.2020

2

163. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public 

164. Order of the Agenda 

The Chair advised that due to the public being in attendance for the petition items; the order 
of the agenda would be amended to take items 9A-9C first. 

165. Issues raised by Councillors with the approval of the Chair 

165.1 Speed Limits and Traffic Calming in The Ridgeway, Shorne - Request by 
Cllr Bob Lane 

Cllr Lane read aloud his written submission to the Board and requested that the Board 
reaffirmed its endorsement of the petition, and requested that KCC reconsidered its decision 
not to extend the 30mph speed limit in The Ridgeway.

The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) advised that she been liaising closely with Cllr Lane 
on the issue and had recently sent him detailed responses to his freedom of information 
(FOI) requests as well as to Parish Councillor Susan Lindley. That document should be with 
Cllr Lane soon and held all of the data collected from the tests and the justifications for the 
decision not to extend the 30mph speed limit in The Ridgeway. The Schemes Project 
Manager had spoken with her line manager and they were both in agreement on the 
decision that had been made; as such there were no plans to continue to investigate the 
matter. Although the Schemes Projects Manager did concede that it was possible further 
automatic traffic counters (ATC) would be carried out in the future, once the restrictions had 
eased, to further the findings that had already been made. 

Cllr Lane advised that he appreciated the work that had been carried out by the Schemes 
Project Manager (KCC) and he only received the results of the traffic monitoring survey 
today; it found similar results to those in the existing 30mph limit zones. Cllr Lane felt that 
KCC should re-examine its decision as the two hundred residents that lived on that stretch of 
the Ridgeway were suffering from traffic travelling at high speeds. 

The Schemes Programme Manager (KCC) advised that he had recently taken over the role 
from Emma Green; he advised the Committee that there would be new gateways installed 
on the Ridgeway soon and the team were looking to make positive changes in the local 
area. It was hoped that the Gateways would remind drivers that they were entering a village 
area; Parish Councils were always worked with when making changes to the local roads but 
KCC had to take a consistent approach when setting speed limits across the County. 

In response to further Member discussion and the Committees backing of the request for the 
30mph speed limit implementation along the Ridgway, the Schemes Programme Manager 
(KCC) advised that the FOI response that was emailed to Cllr Lane presented a fully 
researched and well-presented answer to the request with numerous background 
information and evidence to support the decision taken. In addition, it was explained that 
there physically wasn’t any space to install the speed signs that were requested. 

Page 12



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 2.12.2020

3

The Board reaffirmed its re-endorsement of the original petition requesting an 
implementation of a 30mph speed limit along the Ridgeway and requested that KCC 
reconsidered its decision not to extend the 30mph speed limit in The Ridgeway.

165.2 Petition - Hamerton Road and Station Road - Request by Cllr Lauren 
Sullivan 

A petition was submitted to the Council on Thursday, 12 November 2020; the petitioned 
stated: 

We, the undersigned, petition the Council to: Amend the traffic regulation order to make 
Hamerton and Station Road one-way traffic, in the direction of Station Road entrance and 
exit via Hamerton Road, Northfleet. This is due to the increased traffic on these roads and 
the lack of available passing spaces leading to anti-social behaviour and damage to parked 
vehicles.
 
The Chair invited the lead petitioners Mick Clarke and Carol Crowther to address the Panel 
for no longer than three minutes concerning their petition and its intended outcome. 

Cllr Sullivan thanked the two residents for their submission to the Board and for all of their 
door knocking to attain the signatures for the petition. 

In response to questions posed by Cllr Sullivan, the Scheme Projects Manager (KCC) 
explained that: 

 The petitions were a very useful device which allowed KCC to understand residents’ 
concerns on a deeper level as KCC wouldn’t be aware of any issues without contact 
from local residents 

 A discussion had been held with Cllr Sullivan prior to the meeting regarding the on-
street traffic and parking issues; at KCC a ‘dragons’ den style meeting was held 
where officers pitched their ideas to senior management in order to bid for funding for 
local transport issues. A bid for funding for amendment of the traffic order for those 
roads would be submitted to the next meeting on Wednesday, 09 December 2020 
and if the bid was successful then it would help fund the design work, the feasibility 
study, the TRO and consultation etc 

 With regards to the cost of amending the traffic order, the Schemes Projects Manger 
(KCC) was unsure; the bid for funding would include an estimated figure but until the 
design was created and timescales were established then the total cost was 
unknown 

 Other bids were being submitted on a priority basis but the Schemes Project 
Manager (KCC) was hopeful that the bid would be successful and work could be 
started to resolve the issue 

The Chair thanked the KCC officers for the responses and looked forward to the issue being 
resolved in the future. 

165.3 Petition - Covid-19 Road Closures Riverside Ward - Request by Cllr Alan 
Ridgers 

A petition was submitted to the Council on Sunday, 22 November 2020; the petitioned 
stated: 

Page 13



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 2.12.2020

4

We, the undersigned, are concerned citizens who urge our leaders at Gravesham Borough 
Council and Kent County Council to act now on our behalf as we are against the plan to 
prohibit through traffic on part of Albion Terrace & Norfolk Road, Gravesend in place from 
Monday, 21 September 2020 for 18 months. We, the local residents, are against this action 
due to the inconvenience to all local residents, making parking very difficult & causing 
extreme difficulty to those who have to serve the vulnerable, disabled & elderly residents in 
the area. We hereby ask with this petition that the scheme be removed entirely.

Cllr Lenny Rolles, Cllr Lee Croxton, and Cllr Lyn Milner addressed the Board, in their 
capacity as Ward Councillors, and explained the concerns of residents on behalf of the lead 
petitioner. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) shared Members concerns as the issue was only 
brought to his attention by Cllr Sweetland at the previous meeting of Gravesham Joint 
Transportation Board. 

The Schemes Programme Manager (KCC) apologised to Members and explained that, in 
hindsight, it had been recognised by the team that the level of consultation was not up to its 
usual high standard but the Department of Transport had set very short time deadlines to 
apply for funding. With regards to the lack of responses to emails, the Schemes Programme 
Manager (KCC) apologised as there was an active mailbox for enquiries and the emails 
received should have been sent to the relevant Scheme Manager; the Schemes Programme 
Manager (KCC) promised to follow up any outstanding emails. Members were reminded that 
the schemes were in the trial stage and were being constantly monitored; all feedback 
received regarding the Schemes would be used to amend them where possible. 

The Schemes Programme Manager (KCC) assured Members that he would feedback all of 
the comments about removing the restrictions placed in Albion Terrace and Norfolk Road to 
the relevant Project Manager. 

Following further discussion on the petition, Cllr Burden and Cllr Sullivan expressed their 
desire for the restrictions to be removed as soon as possible and both offered some of their 
personal allowances to go towards the funding of their removal. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that the comments had been taken on 
board and he would organise a meeting with the Schemes Project Manager (KCC), the 
Schemes Programme Manager (KCC) and Russell Boorman to discuss it further. An update 
will be brought back to the next meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board. 

The Board thanked the lead petitioner for creating the petition and bringing it to the attention 
of Members and officers. 

166. Matters Arising from Previous Meetings 

Minute 124. Corner Protection (Yellow Lines) at the junction of Cob Drive and Forge 
Lane - Requested by Cllr Bob Lane 

The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) advised that the consultation was due to be 
advertised on the 11 December 2020 and would be live for six weeks; following the 
consultation any objections would be reviewed. 

Page 14



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 2.12.2020

5

Cllr Leslie Hills requested an update on the yellow lines that were to be added to the 
junctions on Havisham Road, Chalk Road, Vicarage Lane and Lower Higham Road, parking 
on junctions in Chalk as well as the results of the speed test that was carried out in Lower 
Higham Road. 

The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) explained the following in response: 

 The results of the Automatic Traffic Counter Survey on Lower Higham Road were 
emailed to Cllr Marsh, Cllr Ridgers and Cllr Lane at their request; they can be 
emailed to Cllr Hills after the meeting 

 With regard to vehicles parking on junction in Chalk, officers had previously carried 
out site visits to the area to monitor parking and investigate all complaints. Another 
visit was due to be carried out before Christmas and the Schemes Project Manager 
(KCC) added that any evidence of illegal/nuisance parking would be very helpful to 
the team. Cllr Hills agreed to forward evidence of nuisance parking/parking 
obstructions to the Schemes Project Manager (KCC) 

On a more positive note, Cllr Sweetland was happy to report that yellow lines had been 
placed on Northumberland Road in Istead Rise. 

Minute 127. The Hill, Northfleet - Speeding issues and Accidents - Requested by Cllr 
Peter Scollard

The Schemes Project Manager had previously discussed the traffic counter surveys results 
with Cllr Sullivan at a previous meeting; the Schemes Project Manager (KCC) agreed to 
chase the results of the survey and report them to the next Board meeting. 

Minute 148. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency 

Whitehill Traffic Issues – raised by Cllr Tony Rana
 
Cllr Rana requested that the results of the recording device placed on Whitehill Road to 
monitor traffic levels be reported to the Board. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) had not received any results. 

The Board were dismayed that there were no results to report to the Board and expressed 
concern that things were not being progressed as previously assured. 

In response to further questions, the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that: 

 He sat on the KCC Board for the Lower Thames Crossing and they had created a 
project group; the team that completed the traffic recordings were slow in their 
responses to the team but the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) would raise the 
issue with them during the next project group meeting 

 The minutes of the site visit meeting with Cllr Rana were shared with KCC Members 
by the Schemes Project Manager (KCC) 

 The team had received no additional funding for this financial year and the budget 
allocations for the next financial year were not currently known. However a small sum 
of money was being allocated to districts in February to fix potholes during February 
to April 2021 

Page 15



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 2.12.2020

6

 
The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) added that the minutes of the Cllr Rana meeting could 
also be shared with Gravesham Members; it was further explained that meetings with Parish 
Councils had also been held to address issues raised previously. The Schemes Project 
Manager (KCC) advised that she was happy to have meetings with any Gravesham 
Councillor’s about any transport issues that they may have. 

The Chair thanked the Schemes Project Manager (KCC) for her response and asked the 
Committee & Scrutiny Assistant to circulate details of the District Manager – Gravesham 
(KCC) and the Schemes Project Manager (KCC) to all Members. 

Minute 150. Highways Works Programme 2019/20 onwards (Information only) Bus Hub 
at Garrick Street

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) informed the Board he was awaiting the last 
details of the final consolation for the Bus Hub but he had put it forward to include taxis. 
Further details and the outcome of the consultation would be brought to a future meeting of 
the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board. 

The Parking Services Manager (GBC) requested a discussion on taxis with the District 
Manager – Gravesham (KCC) after the meeting. If taxis were allowed to drive through the 
bus gate then a white list of approved registered taxis would need to be created to ensure 
they could pass through the ANPR camera. 

Minute 159. Gravesham Highway Forward Works Programme - 2019/20 onwards

Church Path/South Kent Avenue Lights 

The Chair reported an issue with the street lights on Church Path in Northfleet and asked 
that the power box on South Kent Avenue have its repairs completed as it was still currently 
broken and lying on the ground. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that the Street Lighting Team replaced 
the fuses in the lights and Church Path was now fully lit; the District Manager – Gravesham 
(KCC) agreed to check on the power box repairs on South Kent Avenue. 

No Entry Sign – Stone Street 

Cllr Hills requested an update on the ‘No Entry’ sign where vehicles exited Stone Street. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that the team had looked at the site   
and redid the road lining to make the wording more visible to drivers. The sign itself could 
not be made any bigger due to wind loading on the column however a new sign had been 
designed to be erected onto Stone Street which outlined the new road layout and showed 
the location of the dead end to drivers. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) hoped the 
new sign wold resolve the situation and agreed to share the design with Cllr Hills. 

167. Reports from Officers 

Page 16



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 2.12.2020

7

167.1 Formal Consultation for the remaining Controlled Parking Zones (CPZ’s) 
in the Borough 

The CPZ notices attached to the report were submitted to the previous meeting pf 
Gravesham Joint Transportation Board on 09 September 2020. The Parking Services 
Manager (GBC) updated the Board on the outcome of the Formal Consultation and sought 
the Boards approval to implement the changes as per the Notice of Intentions.

The Parking Services Manager (GBC) advised that the formal consultation went live form 03 
September 2020 and ran for the statutory period of 21 days; the responses reviewed were 
very low but it was likely low due to the two informal consultations that had been carried out 
already. Across all of the Schemes, 31 responses were received supporting the proposals 
and 34 received comments complaining of things such as the cost of the permits but there 
were no objections raised about safety or traffic concerns. Only two objections were 
received, one in Higham as they felt the CPZ could increase the amount of traffic and a 
second in Meopham where they requested more double yellow lines. To date, both of the 
objections had been responded too and the general feedback was more positive than 
negative which is why the Board approval was sought to implement the CPZ’s as advertised. 

In response to a request for clarification, the Parking Services Manager (GBC) advised that 
the 34 comments were mainly due to the cost of permits as many residents felt that they 
should be free of charge or there shouldn’t be any limits on residents. Unfortunately, a small 
charge had to be charged for permits due to the administration behind running the schemes 
including the Civil Enforcement Officer patrolling of the additional roads. 

A question from the Board asked about whether visitor permits would be available. It was 
explained that in the new schemes each household will have the opportunity to purchase 
one visitor permit for use during the restricted times by anyone visiting the property as they 
would not be registration specific.  This was proposed due to feedback on the original survey 
asking for visitor permits to be introduced and will be more important in the new schemes as 
the restricted times have in some areas increased.  In the current schemes visitors could 
generally park outside of the restricted times which were usually only 30 minutes to one hour 
(dependant on the road) during the day. 

167.2 Local Winter Service Plan 

The Board were presented with a report that outlined the arrangements that had been made 
between Kent County Council and Gravesham Borough Council to provide a local winter 
service in the event of an operational snow alert in the Borough/District

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that the report was just a summary 
document giving a brief overview of the arrangements that had been made; The District 
Manager – Gravesham (KCC) had already agreed to send a plan to Cllr Lane that only 
showcased the pans for the area of Shorne. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) was 
happy to provide Members certain plans or all of the plans for their wards if they requested it. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that none of the gritting routes had 
changed and all of the salt bins were would be filled up by the end of next week including the 
new ones that had just bene placed. Salt bags would also be delivered to all of the Parish 
Councils next week. 

Page 17



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 2.12.2020

8

167.3 Highway Forward Works Programme - 2019/20 onwards 

The Board were provided with a report that updated them on the identified schemes 
approved for construction. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) pulled key headlines from the report: 

 The machine resurfacing on Milton Road was moving ahead and due to be 
completed in early 2021 

 Discussions were ongoing for the footway improvements in Valley Drive 
 The Gas Board works should be completed soon in Chalk Road which would allow 

the surface treatments in Chalk Road to also be completed 
 Bellway reported to KCC that the land around Factory Road and the Lawn 

Community Primary School had been cleared and should be accessible for drainage 
works. The Chair reported issues on the site with rubbish still there; the District 
Manager – Gravesham (KCC) agreed to look into it 

 There were a multitude of structural replacements being carried out on Street Lights 
in the Borough; they should all be completed by the end of the financial year 

 The transverse bar markings had been completed on the A289 Wainscott By-pass 
which should decrease the amount of accidents at that location 

With regards to the Cycle Hub to Cyclopark cycle route, the Schemes Programme Manager 
(KCC) agreed to discuss it with Nichole Floodgate and bring an update to the next Board 
meeting. 

168. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

The Chair advised that he had received a request from Cllr Steve Thompson to consider 
‘Minute 126. Parrock Road, Gravesend – Speeding – Requested by Cllrs Marsh and 
Thompson’ from the 09 January 2020 meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 
under AOB. 

Cllr Thompson advised that the request had originally been sent to him by a resident that 
was concerned that the matter had not been progressed since it was discussed at the Board 
meeting held on 09 January 2020. 

Cllr Thompson addressed the Board and raised his concerns that the matter had not 
progressed as it should have been outside of the meeting as he had requested that more 
action be taken than just the installation of new lining, bollards and signage. In addition no 
update reports were brought to the March or September meetings of Gravesham Joint 
Transportation Board to discuss any additional potential traffic speed measures or the 
current measures effectiveness. Cllr Thompson requested an update be submitted to the 
Boards next meeting 

Following Cllr Thompsons address to the Board, the Schemes Project Manager (KCC) 
advised that the matter had been raised at her quarterly meetings but from her perspective 
the issue had been addressed with installation of new lining, bollards and signage following 
the 09 January 2020 Board meeting. The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) advised that she 
needed to review the previous actions and the root cause of the problems on Parrock Street 
to better understand what was going on before anything further actions could be progressed.  

Page 18



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 2.12.2020

9

The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) requested a meeting with Cllr Thompson to hold 
further discussions regarding Parrock Street and the traffic measures he wanted in place. 

Cllr Thompson agreed to discuss the issue further with the Schemes Project Manager (KCC) 
outside of the meeting along with Cllr Marsh. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 21:07pm. 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 4 January 2021

Reporting officer: Planning Manager (Policy)

Subject: Meopham, Higham and Cobham Rural Housing Needs 
Surveys 2020 

Purpose and summary of report: 
(1) To update Cabinet on the outcome of Rural Housing Needs Surveys undertaken in 2020 
for Meopham, Higham and Cobham; 
(2) To request approval to publish these surveys on the Council's website 

Recommendations:
1. That Cabinet approve the Rural Housing Needs Surveys for Meopham, Higham and 

Cobham for publication on the Council's website. 

1. Background

1.1 The Borough Council has a statutory duty (1985 Housing Act) to investigate 
housing needs and examine ways of meeting those needs. Best practice 
recommends that in rural areas Housing Needs Surveys are carried out as part of 
a rolling programme every 5 years. 

1.2 The aim of the surveys is to provide an impartial evidenced overview of the scale 
and nature of the full range of housing need in a locality, usually a village or 
parish. The information from these surveys is then utilised to ensure that new 
affordable homes built in the area encompass what is needed by existing local 
residents who have a connection to a particular area. The surveys are a snapshot 
in time and best practice recommends that they have a ‘shelf-life’ of no more than 
5 years, at which point a new survey should be undertaken. 

1.3 The outputs of these surveys are the minimum levels of affordable housing 
needed in an area, not the maximum. As such proposals for new residential 
development within the Borough are required to comply with the adopted Local 
Plan Core Strategy Policy on affordable housing, Policy CS16: Affordable 
Housing. For the rural area this means developments of over 3 units or more or on 
sites of 0.1 hectares or more delivering 35% of a development as affordable 
housing.

1.4 In addition, Councils including Gravesham face a significant challenge in 
delivering the number of homes required under the Government’s existing 
Standard Method. The evidence collated from rural housing needs surveys assists 

Page 21 Agenda Item 7



2

the Council in ensuring that the right type of housing is delivered in the right place. 
However, due to the constrained nature of the Borough, it is not possible for all of 
the Borough’s housing needs to be met from the existing urban area and 
settlements inset from the Green Belt. Due to this, the current Regulation 18 
Stage 2 emerging Local Plan consultation, identifies sites within the rural area for 
contributing to the Borough’s wider housing needs. Rather than, the limited short 
term needs as set out in these surveys, which to some degree underplay demand 
due to residents desires to see no additional development within their local areas 
(see Section 9 comments within attached Appendices 2-4).

1.5 The surveys also form an integral part of the evidence needed to support the 
implementation of Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS16: Affordable Housing and 
the delivery of rural exception sites for affordable housing.  

2. Timetable for Surveys and Future Rolling Programme 

2.1 Rural Housing Needs Surveys (RHNS) for Gravesham are undertaken by Action 
with Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK). As ACRK also undertake such surveys 
for other Kent districts, they only have the capacity to undertake two RHNS in any 
given financial year for Gravesham. The household surveys for the Meopham and 
Higham RHNS were commenced during January 2020 and February 2020 
respectively. The household surveys for Cobham were to be undertaken in April 
2020, but were delayed until July 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The reports 
accompanying each survey were not completed until recently (December 2020). 

2.2 The next RHNS in the Borough are due to be undertaken for Vigo and Istead Rise 
in June 2022 and July 2022 respectively (see Table 1 below). 

  Table 1: RHNS Timetable

Parish / 
Village

Published Rural 
Housing Needs 
Surveys

Replacement Rural 
Housing Needs 
Household Surveys 
Undertaken / Agreed 
with ACRK

Indicative Future 
Rolling Programme for 
future Household 
Surveys

Cobham March 2015 July 2020 July 2025

Higham October 2015 February 2020 February 2025

Meopham February 2015 January 2020 January 2025

Luddesdown November 2013 October 2018 October  2023

Shorne November 2013 October 2018 October 2023

Vigo June 2012 June 2017 June 2022

Istead Rise July 2012 July 2017 July 2022

2.3 As the Council has a statutory duty to investigate housing needs and as RHNS 
have a shelf life of five years, it would be beneficial to advise local residents and 
Parish Councils of both the current timetable and future rolling programme by 
updating the information publicly accessible on our website. 

Page 22



3

3. Survey distribution and response rate for 2020

3.1 The Rural Housing Enabler from Action with Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK) 
posts survey forms to every household within the relevant Parish or Village. For 
the three surveys recently undertaken, approximately 5,107 surveys were 
distributed, with 1,493 surveys being returned. This represents an overall 
response rate of 29% (see Table 2 below).

Table 2: 2020 RHNS Survey Distribution and Response Rate

Parish / Village No. of Surveys 
Distributed

No. of Surveys 
Returned

Response Rate

Meopham 2,840 863 30%
Higham 1,663 404 24%
Cobham 604 226 37%
Total 5,107 1,493 29%

3.2 Following receipt of completed surveys, ACRK prepares draft reports, which are 
primarily reviewed by the Planning Policy team. The final reports for Meopham, 
Higham and Cobham are available at Appendices 2-4. The surveys give 
respondents an opportunity to make general comments as part of their response. 
These comments are included within each survey report verbatim and 
summarised at a high level in table 3 below. There is clear support for the delivery 
of affordable housing to meet local need, however there are concerns held by 
local residents on the impact of any development on Green Belt land and local 
infrastructure. 

Table 3: 2020 RHNS Surveys – Appendix C1 Summary

Responses to Question 7 – Please provide any further comments that you would like to 
make in the box below.

Cobham Higham Meopham
Frequency

Support
But not on Green Belt 6 10 22
Affordable housing for locals 22 44 60
Suitable for downsizing 4 9

Do not support
Affordable housing 26 51 52
Impact on overstretched infrastructure 19 61 130
Sufficient housing already exists 7 6 8
Would lead to erosion of village character 4 7 22
Would result in loss of Green Belt 2 1 16

Other
How can you prove / guarantee affordable is given to 
people in the village

1
2

Affordable housing not something everyone can 
afford 1
Previous sites have not gone to anyone in the village 3

Culverstone Valley is under utilised 2

Page 23



4

4. Results of the Rural Housing Needs Survey 2020

4.1 ACRK’s analysis is set out in Table 4 below. Compared to previous survey 
reports, ACRK now identify the needs of older persons separately. The data 
provided shows a decreasing need for affordable homes in Meopham and 
Higham, but an increasing need for affordable homes in Cobham when compared 
to previous survey reports. There is also a need for market housing that can meet 
the needs of older person households e.g. smaller accommodation to enable 
downsizing and reduce day-to-day household costs.

Table 4: Affordable and Older Persons Housing Needs for Meopham, Higham and Cobham

Current Housing Need

Households TenureParish / 
Village

Previous Housing 
Need

Types Affordable 
Homes*

Older Persons 
Homes

Older Persons 
(Tenure)

Overall No. of 
Households 26 Overall 

No. 21 39 Total 39

Single Person 
Households 12 Single 

Persons 10 17 Market 35

Couple Households 10 Couples 6 21 Affordable 4

Family Households     4 Families 4 1 Residential
Care -

Meopham

Other Type of 
Households   0 Other 1 0

Overall No. of 
Households 20 Overall 

No. 14 23 Total 23

Single Person 
Households 10 Single 

Persons 3 12 Market 15

Couple Households 7 Couples 4 9 Affordable 8

Family Households 3 Families 6 0 Residential 
Care -

Higham

Other Type of 
Households             0 Other 1 2

Overall No. of 
Households  5 Overall 

No. 7 8 Total 8

Single Person 
Households  2 Single

Persons 2 3 Market 5

Couple Households  1 Couples 3 3 Affordable 3
Cobham

Family Households  2 Families 2 1 Residential 
Care -

Other Type of 
Households  0 Other 0 1

* Excludes needs of Older Persons

5. Conclusion and Recommendations

5.1 The reports have been compiled by ACRK using data from the approved rural 
housing needs survey. It is therefore recommended that the reports are reported 
to Cabinet followed by publication on the Council’s website. 

Page 24



5

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 25



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The undertaking of and subsequent publication of RHNS for the rural areas 
contributes towards the Borough Council meeting its statutory duty as set out in the 
1985 Housing Act.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The Council has a rolling programme in place to ensure that all parishes are 
regularly surveyed. An annual budget of £3,500 has been allowed to ensure the 
rolling programme of rural housing needs surveys continues. This figure also 
covers retaining ACRK in an advisory capacity. 

Risk Assessment Failure to undertake RHNS for the Borough's rural areas will meen that insufficient 
impartial evidence is available to show that the Council is meeting its statutory duty 
as set out in the 1985 Housing Act. It will also reduce the Council's ability to seek 
Affordable Housing from developers within the rural area. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A - the answer to question a. is 'No.'     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes
Contributes towards ensuring the correct tenure and size of properties are built 
in the rural areas. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Corporate Objective #1 People: Quality Living: Commitment - increase the supply 
of high quality affordable housing.

Page 26

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

Climate Change There are no Climate Change considerations pertaining to this report.

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the RHNS page on the Council's website will be updated with 
the most recent survey reports, and the RHNS timetable amended to state the 
replacement Cobham RHNS was undertaken in July 2020 and the future Cobham 
RHNS will be undertaken in July 2025. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Meopham Rural Housing Needs 
Survey  

December 2020 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Tessa O’Sullivan 
Rural & Community Housing Manager 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent 
 
www.ruralkent.org.uk 

Page 29

http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/


 2 

Contents           Page 
 
1.  Executive Summary         3 
 
2.  Introduction to the Meopham Rural Housing Needs Survey    4 
 
3.  Background Information        5 
 
4.  Method           6 
 
5.  Results           7 
 
6.  Local Housing Costs         19 
 
7.  Assessment of Housing Need        22 
 7.1  Assessment of the need for affordable housing     22 
 7.2  Assessment of the need for housing for older households   31 
 
8.  Summary of Findings         40 
 8.1  Summary of the need for affordable housing     40 
 8.2  Summary of the need for housing for older households   40 
 
9.  Appendix M1 – Question 7 Comments      42 
 
10.  Appendix M2 – Letter to Householders and Housing Needs Survey  61 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 3 

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Rural and Community Housing Enabler (RCHE) undertook a housing needs survey in Meopham to 
ascertain if there are shortfalls in affordable housing provision and to examine the housing needs of 
older households within the village.  This report provides overall information as well as analysis of 
housing need. 
 
A survey was delivered to every household within Meopham in January 2020.  Approximately 2,840 
surveys were distributed with 863 surveys being returned, representing a 30% response rate. 
 
Analysis of the returned survey forms identified that 94% of all respondents are owner occupiers.  74% 
of respondents have lived in Meopham for over 10 years. 
 
High property prices and a predominance of privately-owned homes means that some local people are 
unable to afford a home within Meopham.  For a first-time buyer an income of £48,571 per annum and a 
deposit of £30,000 are needed to buy the cheapest property available within Meopham, which, at the 
time of writing the report, was a 1 bed ground floor flat for £200,000.  To be able to afford to rent 
privately an income of approximately £38,000 is required for the cheapest property available which was 
a 1 bed coach house for £950 pcm. 
 
A need for up to 21 affordable homes for the following local households were identified: 
 

• 10 single people 
• 6 couples 
• 4 families 
• 1 other type of household (extended family) 

 
19 households currently live in Meopham and 2 live outside. 

 
In addition to the above, up to 39 older local households with a need for alternative accommodation 
were identified as follows: 
 

• 17 single people 
• 21 couples 
• 1 family 

 
38 households currently live in Meopham and 1 lives outside. 
 
Up to 4 affordable homes for older local households were identified and up to 35 older local households 
require alternative open market homes. 
 
Overall, the survey has identified a need for 25 affordable homes, 4 of which are for older households.  
In addition, there is a requirement for 35 open market homes for older households who wish to 
downsize/move to more suitable housing for their needs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 4 

2.  INTRODUCTION TO THE MEOPHAM RURAL HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY 
 
Meopham is approximately 5 miles south of Gravesend in the Borough of Gravesham with a population 
of 6,722 (2011 Census).  It is comprised of 4 settlements: Hook Green, Meopham Green, Culverstone 
and Harvel.  Meopham has a railway station (34 minutes from London Victoria) and Ebbsfleet 
International Railway Station is 7 miles away.  Facilities in Meopham include two primary schools, a 
secondary school, medical centre, library and shops. 
 
Rural Housing Needs Surveys aim to investigate and establish the affordable housing needs of people 
who live in or have close ties to a parish or rural area, and provide an independent report of that need, 
if any, using a transparent and robust methodology. 
 
The Rural Housing Enabler worked with Gravesham Borough Council to determine the format of the 
housing needs survey to be used in the Gravesham area; this was then sent to all Parish Councils in the 
Borough for consultation. It is intended that all the rural areas of the Borough will be surveyed on a 
rolling-out programme. 
 
A survey was undertaken in Meopham to establish the level of need for affordable housing. 
 
The aim of this survey is to identify in general terms if there is, or is not, a housing need from local 
people.  It is not to provide a list of names and addresses of individuals requiring a home.  If a need is 
identified, then a further Registration of Interest survey may be undertaken to update the levels of 
housing need.  At this stage, further details such as name and address, income, housing need and 
details of local connection will be taken.  The identification of potential sites e.g. infill sites, to meet the 
identified need would then be undertaken, preferably with the assistance of Meopham Parish council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 5 

3.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
In a report published in June 2018 by the Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR) it is stated that:  
‘The affordability gaps in rural areas are high compared to urban areas. The average rural house price is 
around £19,000 above the average for England as a whole, at £320,700 compared to £301,900, and is 
more than £87,000 higher than the urban average excluding London (£233,600).* 
 
Small developments of local needs housing schemes can provide affordable housing for local people, 
thereby enabling them to stay in their community and contribute to village life.  This can make a real 
difference to the vitality of village services. 
 
The Government believes that the Community Right To Build will shift power from them to allow local 
people to deliver homes that are needed in their communities so that villages are vibrant places to live 
and younger people are not forced to move away because of a shortage of affordable homes.†  The 
Community Right to Build forms part of the neighbourhood planning provisions contained in the Localism 
Act 2011. 
 
The Rural Housing Enabler Programme, which is delivered in Kent through Action with Communities in 
Rural Kent – the Rural Community Council for Kent and Medway, is supported by Local Authorities 
across Kent and Medway including Gravesham Borough Council. 
 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent is a registered charity (No. 212796) whose purpose is to improve 
the quality of life of local communities, particularly for disadvantaged people, and to facilitate the 
development of thriving, diverse and sustainable communities throughout rural Kent.  Since March 1998 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent has employed a Rural Housing Enabler, whose role is to provide 
independent support, advice and information to Parish Councils and community groups concerned with 
the lack of local needs housing in their rural communities. 
 
The RCHE will assist with carrying out a housing needs survey, analyse the results and when appropriate 
help identify suitable sites in conjunction with the local authority and others, for a local needs housing 
scheme.  Once a partnership has been established between the Parish Council, the chosen housing 
association and the local authority to develop a scheme, the independent role of the RCHE helps to 
ensure the project proceeds smoothly and to the benefit of the community. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                           
* A New Rural Settlement: Fixing the affordable housing crisis in rural England https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-
06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf 
† http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact 
 

Page 33

https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact


 6 

4.  METHOD 

The RCHE from Action with Communities in Rural Kent posted a copy of the survey to every household 
in Meopham in January 2020. 
 
Surveys were returned in pre-paid envelopes to Action with Communities in Rural Kent.  Copies of the 
survey were available for anyone to complete who had left Meopham and wished to return, they were 
held by the Rural Housing Enabler.  It was asked that completed survey forms were returned by  
21 February 2020.  All surveys received at Action with Communities in Rural Kent by the 21 February are 
included in this report. 
 
Approximately 2,840 surveys were distributed with 863 returned by this date representing a return rate 
of 30%. 
 
Some surveys were not fully completed therefore the results are shown for the total answers to each 
question. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



 7 

5.  RESULTS  
 
Section 1 
 
Listed below are the results of each question asked by the housing needs survey. 
 
Question 1.  How would you describe your home?∗  
 

Frequency
6004002000

House
Flat/maisonette/bedsit

Sheltered/retirement housing*
Bungalow

Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
Other

605 House
17 Flat/maisonette/bedsit
2 Sheltered/retirement housing*

211 Bungalow
11 Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
12 Other

 
 
 
Question 2.  How many bedrooms does your current home have? 
 

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

22 1 133 2 355 3
283 4 64 5+

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                           
∗ Retirement housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which consists of purpose-built accommodation in which 
varying amounts of care and support can be offered, and where some facilities are shared. 

Page 35



 8 

Question 3.  Who owns your home? 
 

Frequency
5000

Owned outright by a household member(s)
Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)

Rented from a Housing Association
Tied to a job

Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)
Rented from the local council

Rented from a private landlord
Other

546 Owned outright by a household member(s)
257 Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)

2 Rented from a Housing Association
3 Tied to a job
0 Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)

20 Rented from the local council
22 Rented from a private landlord
6 Other

 
 
94% of respondents who answered the question are owner occupiers; 64% own their homes outright 
and 30% have a mortgage. 
 
 
Question 4.  How many years have you lived in Meopham? 
 

 
 
635 respondents (74%) have lived in Meopham for over 10 years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 9 

Question 5.  Have any of your children/parents/brothers/sisters moved away from 
Meopham in the last 5 years, due to difficulties in finding a suitable home locally? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

0

98 Yes 742 No

 
 
 
Question 6.  Depending on location, would you be in favour of a small development of 
affordable housing for people from the village if there is a proven need? 
 

 
 
52% of respondents who answered the question (50% of all respondents) would be in favour of a small 
development of affordable housing for people from Meopham. 
 
 
Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make 
 
There were 387 responses to this question; a full list of comments can be found in Section 9. Appendix 
M1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



 10 

Question 8.  Do you or a member of your household need separate or alternative 
accommodation either now or in the next 3 years? 
 

Yes, now Yes, next 3 years No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

0

21 Yes, now
72 Yes, next 3 years

765 No

 
 
93 respondents (11%) said they have a housing need either now or in the next 3 years. 
 
 
Section 2 – Housing Needs 
 
Question 9.  Are you completing this form for someone else? 
  

Self Someone else

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

65 Self 31 Someone else

 
 
 
Question 10.  If you are completing this form for someone else please state their 
relationship to you and where they currently live e.g. with parents, private renting etc. 
 
Respondents who were completing the form for someone else were doing so for their adult children who 
were still living in the parental home. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 11 

Question 11.  Do you currently live in Meopham? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

90 Yes 5 No

 
 
 
Question 12.  What is your connection with the village?  Respondents were asked to indicate all 
connections that applied to them. 
 
Local connection FREQUENCY 
Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 10 years 74 

Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 5 years 10 

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
for 5 out of the last 10 years 2 

Do not currently live in the village but have close family who 
currently live there and have done so continuously for the last 10 
years 

4 

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
continuously for at least 10 years and, in my opinion, was forced to 
move away due to a lack of suitable accommodation 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 12 

Question 13.  What is your current housing situation? 
   

Frequency
40200

Owner occupier with/without mortgage
Living with relatives
Renting from council

Shared ownership/new build homebuy
Renting from Housing Association

Tied tenancy
Renting privately

Other

48 Owner occupier with/without mortgage
30 Living with relatives
1 Renting from council
0 Shared ownership/new build homebuy
1 Renting from Housing Association
1 Tied tenancy
9 Renting privately
4 Other

 
 
 
Question 14.  How many bedrooms do you have in your current home? 
 

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

30
25
20
15
10
5
0

7 1 13 2 27 3 33 4
11 5+

 
 
 
Question 15.  Are you registered on the Council’s Housing Register? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

12 Yes 79 No

 
 

Page 40



 13 

Question 16.  Are you an older person/household wanting to downsize/move to more 
suitable accommodation? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

50

40

30

20

10

0

40 Yes 54 No

 
 
 
Question 17.  Which of the following options would be most suitable for you in alternative 
accommodation?∗ 
 

Frequency
40200

Rent from council/housing association*
New build homebuy **

Rent from a private landlord
Owner occupation

Other (please specify)

11 Rent from council/housing association*
14 New build homebuy **
3 Rent from a private landlord

55 Owner occupation
8 Other (please specify)

 
 
 
Question 18.  Do you have any comments on the above options? 
 
The following comments were made: 
 

• Would like to move to smaller accommodation, but none suitable for elderly wishing to buy own 
home. 
 

• Restricted occupation to working locally. 
 

• Should have a small rear garden. 
 

• Not for me its part rent part mortgage may as well have a full mortgage. 
 

                                           
* To be considered for this type of accommodation, you need to be registered on Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Housing Register.  Tel: 01474 564422. 
** Government scheme which enables people to buy a share in a newly built property (also known as shared 
ownership). 

Page 41



 14 

• Would like to new build home buy but unsure if it is possible. 
 

• My wife and I are approaching retirement and would like to relocate north and start a small 
business. 

 
• Recovering from divorce & stillbirth, would like to be nearer family. 

 
• We need to move to a larger house for our growing family.  We would like to move out of 

Meopham but we have not been able to sell our property in Meopham. 
 

• A bungalow that is suitable for someone who is disabled. 
 

• Meopham too expensive, will buy further out in Kent. 
 

• Wish to move further away to the coast.  No longer need to live in village - other accommodation 
is needed - sea air and close to family.  Do not wish village to expand further. 
 

• We are private owners. 
 

• There are not enough affordable bungalows in Meopham. 
 

• Warden assisted private complex. 
 

• Owner but new build. 
 

• We would use equity in existing property downsize to smaller property. 
 

• Our children live with us as the cannot afford to move, which means we cannot move! 
 

• Depends on affordability, may need shared ownership. 
 

• Currently paying £1250 per month private rent - would prefer that money to be spent on a 
mortgage on an affordable subsidised home - homes that are reserved for people with a direct 
connection with the village. 
 

• Not enough houses to rent in area. 
 

• Certainly not in a new built.  They are like rabbit hutches, too small. 
 

• Should be more choices - help to buy, shared ownership, etc. 
 

• I would like a bungalow owing to problems with stairs. 
 

• Subject to green belt review. 
 

• See Q7 plus need to be able to have pets. 
 

• I have my own lane in the valley. 
 

• Owner occupation preferred but would consider rental. 
 

Page 42



 15 

• Help to buy schemes are still far out of reach for many.  Small bungalow cabins that can be 
bought cheap and cheap to run are the way forward.  Can be bought for less that 50K and eco-
friendly. 

 
• Bungalow for disabled. 

 
• I would consider renting if owner occupation of a suitable sized property were not available. 

 
 
Question 19.  What type of accommodation would meet your needs?∗ 
 

Frequency
403020100

House
Flat/maisonette

Bungalow
Sheltered/retirement housing*

Other

47 House
25 Flat/maisonette
40 Bungalow
14 Sheltered/retirement housing*
3 Other

 
 
 
Question 20.  Do you have any specific requirements? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

80
70

60
50
40

30
20

10
0

9 Yes 81 No

 
 
 
Question 21.  If you answered ‘Yes’ to Question 20, please give details. 
 
The following answers were given: 
 

• Suitable for dog. 
 

• Funded from sale of present house. 
                                           
∗ Retirement Housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which offers independent living in a home of your choice 
with other services on hand if you need or want them. 

Page 43



 16 

• House too big for one person, and to downsize. 
 

• Good access for disability scooter/chair, walk in shower, ground floor, no steps, access to 
medical facilities. 
 

• Ground floor.  Aged 82 my needs could change year by year.  From a family of long livers my 
brother aged 96 still alive in Bucks. 
 

• House would be OK, but a bungalow would be better for mobility, because of the stairs being 
hard work to get up. 
 

• Disabled facilities, no steps, walk-in shower, etc. 
 

• Ground floor only. 
 

• I am disabled and find it very hard to use stairs. 
 

• Ground floor. 
 

• Smaller bungalow, small garden but detached. 
 

• Carer accommodation. 
 

• My wife and myself have lived in the village for 41 years.  Our house is too big for us now as the 
family have grown up, but we like living in the village and don't want to move away, so a 
smallish house in the same area would be ideal. 
 

• We had hoped to put some small log style cabins on our land for our 3 children - they will not be 
able to afford to buy.  No doubt the LPA will deny us but expect us to support them putting 2000 
new homes up! 
 

• It could be in the next 3/4 years, sheltered/retirement housing could be required. 
 

• Ground floor at present preferred - likely to become necessary.  Garage with off road parking 
space in front.  Sit in shower and adapted disabled toilet facilities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 17 

Question 22.  Why do you need to move from your current home and what do you need in a 
new home? 
 

Frequency
200

Need smaller home

Present home too expensive inc. major repairs and maintenance costs

Need to change tenure

Need physically-adapted home

Need larger home

Need to set up independent home

Need to be nearer work

Need for better access to public transport

Need to be close to a carer or dependent, to give or receive support

Other

25 Need smaller home
4 Present home too expensive inc. major repairs and maintenance costs
2 Need to change tenure
5 Need physically-adapted home
6 Need larger home

29 Need to set up independent home
0 Need to be nearer work
0 Need for better access to public transport
1 Need to be close to a carer or dependent, to give or receive support

17 Other

 
 
 
Question 23.  Please indicate the number of people in each age group (male or female) 
needing to move. 
 
AGE 0 - 9 10 - 15 16 - 19 20 - 24 25 - 44 45 - 59 60 - 74 75+ 
Male 15 5 6 14 20 7 23 10 
Female 11 5 2 11 16 7 23 11 
Total 26 10 8 25 36 14 46 21 

 
 
Question 24.  What type of household will the new household become? 
 

Frequency
35302520151050

One-person household
Lone-parent family
Two-parent family

Couple
Other

32 One-person household
1 Lone-parent family

20 Two-parent family
35 Couple
6 Other

 

Page 45



 18 

Question 25.  Please indicate the total gross annual income of the household in housing 
need. 
 

Frequency
20100

Under £10,000 (less than £190 pw)

£10,000 - £20,000 (£190-£380 pw)

£20,000 - £30,000

£30,000 - £40,000

£40,000 - £50,000

£50,000 - £60,000

£60,000 - £70,000

More than £70,000

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 19 

6.  LOCAL HOUSING COSTS 
 
To fully assess local housing need it is important to look at open market prices in the private sector of 
houses both to rent and buy. 
 
Property for sale 
 
Searches of www.rightmove.co.uk which markets property for a number of leading local estate agents, 
in March 2020 found the following cheapest properties for sale in Meopham: 
 

Type of Property No. of 
Bedrooms 

Price £ 

Ground floor flat 1 200,000 
Detached house 1 290,000 
Apartment  2 250,000 
Terraced house 2 265,000 
Terraced house 3 285,000 
Terraced house 3 320,000 

 
 
Property to rent 
 
A similar search for rental property found the following 5 properties available to rent: 
 

Type of Property No. of 
Bedrooms 

 Price £ pcm 

Coach house 1 950 
Apartment  1 953 
Detached house 2 1,450 
Terraced house 3 1,000 
Terraced house 3 1,100 

 
 
Household income required to afford current market prices 
 
Using local information, the table below shows gross income level needed to purchase a property in the 
area.  The figures are calculated assuming a 15% deposit and using 3.5 x gross income.  Monthly 
repayment is based on a 2-year fixed rate with HSBC at 4.19% (March 2020) 25-year mortgage term 
and is calculated using HSBC’s mortgage calculator. 
 
It should be noted that in the current economic climate related to the Covid-19 pandemic, lenders have 
made the borrowing criteria for potential mortgagees far stricter by requiring at least a 15% deposit, 
making securing a mortgage difficult for some first-time buyers, especially those on lower incomes.  
Although there are now higher LTV mortgages available, they tend to attract a higher interest rate.  
However, as a consequence of the Bank of England Interest Rate being reduced to 0.1% due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic, this could enable lower mortgage borrowing interest rates in comparison to 
mortgage borrowing interest rates applicable prior to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47

http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


 20 

Type of Property Price £ Deposit 
(15%) £ 

Gross Income 
Level £ 

Monthly 
Repayment £ 

1 bed Ground floor flat 200,000 30,000 48,571 679 
1 bed Detached house 290,000 43,500 70,429 985 
2 bed Apartment  250,000 37,500 60,714 849 
2 bed Terraced house 265,000 39,750 64,357 900 
3 bed Terraced house 285,000 42,750 69,214 968 
3 bed Terraced house 320,000 48,000 77,714 1,087 

 
To gauge the income level required to afford to rent privately the following calculations assume that 
30% gross income is spent on housing.  A household is considered able to afford market rented housing 
in cases where the rent payable would constitute no more than 30% of gross income. 
 

Type of Property Price  
£ pcm 

Approx. Gross Annual 
Income £ 

1 bed Coach house 950 38,000 
1 bed Apartment 953 38,120 
2 bed Detached house 1,450 58,000 
3 bed Terraced house 1,000 40,000 
3 bed Terraced house 1,100 44,000 

 
Using HM Land Registry data on house sales (www.mouseprice.com) using postcode area DA13 which 
lies within or includes part of the following towns, counties, localities, electoral wards and stations: 
Cobham, Downs, Gravesend, Hartley and Hodsoll Street, Istead Rise, Kent, Longfield, New Barn and 
Southfleet, Luddesdown, Meopham, Meopham North, Meopham South and Vigo, Northfleet Green, 
Shorne, Cobham and Luddesdown, Snodland West, Sole Street, South Street, Southfleet, Vigo, 
Woodlands, the average house prices in the last 3 months are: 
 
1 bed properties   £321,900 
2 bed properties   £385,400 
3 bed properties   £434,100 
4 bed properties    £615,200 
5+ bed properties  £770,200 
 
To afford the average cost of a 1 bed property using the mortgage calculation previously shown, a 
salary of £71,176 would be required.  To afford the average cost of a 2-bed property a salary of £93,497 
would be required. 
 
Information provided by ‘mouseprice’ states that the average property in the DA13 area costs £494,900 
with average earnings being £27,037.  This means that the average property costs over 18 times more 
than the average salary.  The source used by ‘mouseprice’ to assess price to earnings ratio is Calnea 
Analytics proprietary price data and earnings data – updated quarterly. 
 
Affordable Rent 
 
The Government has introduced changes relating to rents charged to new tenants of social housing from 
April 2011.  Affordable Rent properties allow landlords to set rents anywhere between current social rent 
levels and up to 80% of local market rents.  It is expected that Housing Benefit will support those on a 
lower income who are unable to pay Affordable Rents although this is not guaranteed. 
 
The following table shows Housing Benefit levels, known as Local Housing Allowance (LHA) for the DA13 
area, North West Kent BRMA.  These figures have been used to estimate Affordable Rent levels. 
 

Page 48

http://www.mouseprice.com/


 21 

Size of Property Affordable Rent Levels £ pcm 
1 bed 556 
2 bed 703 
3 bed 779 
4 bed 1,148 

 
The table below shows income needed to afford the Affordable Rent levels using 30% of gross income 
as the indicator of what is affordable. 
 
Property Price 

£ pcm 
Gross Annual 

Income £ 
1 bed 556 22,240 
2 bed 703 29,120 
3 bed 779 31,160 
4 bed 1,148 45,920 

 
 
Shared ownership 
 
To give an indication of respondents’ ability to afford shared ownership, levels of income and 
rent/mortgage have been taken into consideration on purchasing a 25% and 40% share of a property 
with estimated values of £260,000 for a 1 bed property, £310,000 for a 2 bed property and £400,000 for 
a 3 bed property.  These values take into consideration prices found on the Help to Buy East and South 
East website in the area www.helptobuyese.org.uk and on www.rightmove.co.uk.  Affordability is 
calculated using the Homes and Communities Agency’s target incomes calculator and assumes a 10% 
deposit of mortgage share. 
 
Property 

Price 
£ 

Share 
% 

Deposit 
Required 

£ 

Monthly 
Mortgage 

£ 

Monthly 
Rent 

£ 

Monthly 
Service 

Charge £ 

Monthly 
Total 

£ 

Gross 
Income 

Required £ 
260,000 25 6,500 318 447 80 845 30,459 

 260,000 40 10,400 509 358 80 947 36,139 
310,000 25 7,750 380 533 80 993 35,762 
310,000 40 12,400 608 426 80 1,114 43,089 
400,000 25 10,000 490 688 80 1,258 45,307 
400,000 40 16,000 784 550 80 1,414 55,598 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49

http://www.helptobuyese.org.uk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


 22 

7.  ASSESSMENT OF HOUSING NEED 
 
This section is divided into two categories, the need for affordable housing and the needs of 
older households wanting to downsize/move to more suitable housing of all tenures. 
 
A total of 93 respondents indicated that they need alternative housing now or in the next 3 years. 
 
7.1  Assessment of the need for affordable housing 
 
52 respondents said they need affordable housing; 14 respondents need it now and 38 in the next 3 
years.  At this stage, some respondents might be excluded if they do not want or are not eligible for 
affordable housing. 
 
Assessment of the 14 households seeking housing now 
 
8 respondents were excluded for the following reasons: 
 

• 3 respondents were owner occupiers wanting to buy an alternative home on the open market 
• 3 respondents only indicated wanting the owner occupation option 
• 1 respondent gave insufficient information for an assessment of their need to be made 
• 1 respondent was an owner occupier who wanted to rent from the Council/housing association 

but may not be eligible for this tenure 
 
The 6 households in need of affordable housing now are: 
 

• 3 single people 
• 2 families 
• 1 other type of household 

 
Single people - there were 3 single people. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
25-44 2 
45-59 1 

 
Current housing:  
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 1 
Living with relatives in caravan 1 
Renting privately 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
1 1 
2 1 
3 1 

 
 
 

Page 50



 23 

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 3 

 
Tenure best suited:   
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA/private 
landlord 1 

Rent from Council/HA 1 
Mobile home (on own land) 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Mobile home 1 
Flat/maisonette 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 3 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 2 

Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Under 10,000 1 
10,000 - 20,000 2 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Meopham. 
 
The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
 
 

Page 51



 24 

Income £ No. of 
Respondents 

Affordable 
Rent 

Private 
Rent 

Shared 
Ownership 

Open 
Market 

Under 10,000 1 
1 with HB 

wants mobile 
home on own land 

0 0 0 

10,000 - 20,000 2 2 with HB 0 0 0 
 
It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing 
Benefit. 
 
 
Families - there were 2 families. 
 
Ages: 
 
 Adult 

Age 
Adult 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Family 1 25-44 25-44 0-9M 0-9M  
Family 2 25-44 25-44 0-9M 0-9F 0-9F 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting privately 1 
Living with relatives 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 
3 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 2 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 2 

Page 52



 25 

Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 2 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income:  the respondent living with relatives did not indicate their 
income. 
 
Income £ Frequency 
20,000 - 30,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Meopham. 
 
The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 
20,000 - 30,000 1 1 0 0 0 

 
 
Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household.  They described themselves as a 
couple and lone parent. 
 
Ages: 
 

Adult 
Age 

Adult 
Age 

Adult 
Age 

Child 
Age 

60-74 60-74 45-49 10-15F 
 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting from Council 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 

 

Page 53



 26 

Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House/bungalow 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 1 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need larger home 1 
Other (current home very 
damp) 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
30,000 - 40,000 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Meopham. 
 
The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 
30,000 - 40,000 1 1 0 0 0 

 
 
Assessment of the 38 households seeking housing in the next 3 years 
 
23 respondents were excluded from this final assessment for the following reasons: 
 

• 11 currently living with relatives, want owner occupation only 
• 6 currently owner occupiers, want alternative property to buy 
• 3 currently renting privately, want owner occupation only 
• 2 survey incorrectly completed and were duplicate responses 
• 1 currently living with relatives, wants to rent privately only 

Page 54



 27 

The 15 households in need of affordable housing in the next 3 years are: 
 

• 7 single people 
• 6 couples 
• 2 families 

 
Single people - there were 7 single people. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
16-19 1 
20-24 3 
25-44 2 
45-59 1 

 
Current housing:  
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 5 
Renting privately 2 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
1 1 
2 1 
3 2 
4 2 
5+ 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 
No 6 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 3 
New Build HomeBuy 4 

 
 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 1 
Flat/maisonette 2 
House/flat/maisonette 2 
House/flat/maisonette/bungalow 1 
Bungalow 1 

Page 55



 28 

Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 7 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 5 

Other (unable to park car) 1 
Other (finishing university, 
starting work) 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income:   
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 3 
20,000 - 30,000 4 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  6 currently live in Meopham and 
1 lives outside. 
 
The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 
10,000 - 20,000 3 3 with HB 0 0 0 
20,000 - 30,000 4 4 0 Possible 4 x 

1 beds 0 

 
It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing 
Benefit. 
 
 
Couples - there were 6 couples.  The age of each household member was requested - 4 respondents 
did not indicate their partner’s age. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
16-19 1 
20-24 5 
25-44 2 

 

Page 56



 29 

Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 6 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
3 1 
4 3 
5+ 2 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 6 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
New Build HomeBuy 6 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 3 
House/flat/maisonette 3 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 6 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 6 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 2 
20,000 - 30,000 2 
30,000 - 40,000 1 
60,000 - 70,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Meopham. 
 
The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 

Page 57



 30 

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 
10,000 - 20,000 2 2 with HB 0 0 0 

20,000 - 30,000 2 2 0 Possible 2 x 
1 bed 0 

30,000 - 40,000 1 1 1 1 x 2 bed 0 
60,000 - 70,000 1 1 1 1 x 2 bed 0 

 
It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing 
Benefit. 
 
 
Families - there were 2 families. 
 
Ages: 
 
 Adult 

Age 
Adult 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Family 1 20-24 25-44 0-9M 0-9F 
Family 2 25-44 25-44 0-9F  

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting from HA 1 
Living with relatives 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 
3 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 1 
New Build HomeBuy 1 

 
 

Page 58



 31 

Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 2 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 2 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Under 10,000 1 
20,000 - 30,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria. 1 currently lives in Meopham and 
1 lives outside but wants to return. 
 
The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 
Under 10,000 1 1 with HB 0 0 0 
20,000 - 30,000 1 1 0 0 0 

 
It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing 
Benefit. 
 
 
7.2  Assessment of the need for housing for older households 
 
41 older households said they need alternative housing; 8 need it now and 33 in the next 3 years. 
 
Assessment of the 8 households seeking housing now 
 

• 1 respondent was excluded because they did not provide sufficient information for an 
assessment of their need to be made. 
 

The 7 households in need of housing now are: 

Page 59



 32 

• 2 single people 
• 5 couples 

 
Single people - there were 2 single people. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
60-74 1 
75+ 1 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with friend 1 
Tied tenancy 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
1 1 
3 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 2 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Owner occupation 1 
Rent from Council/HA 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Bungalow/house 1 
Sheltered/retirement housing 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 33 

Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 

1 

Other (due to relationship 
breakdown) 1 

Need to change tenure 1 
 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 1 
20,000 - 30,000 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Meopham. 
 
The above respondents need affordable housing, to rent from the Council or housing association. 
 
 
Couples - there were 5 couples. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
45-59 2 
60-74 8 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier 3 
Renting privately 2 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 
3 2 
4 2 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 4 
Yes 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 34 

Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Owner occupation 3 
Rent from a private 
landlord/New Build HomeBuy 1 

Other (new build on family 
land) 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 1 
Bungalow 2 
Bungalow/house 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 5 

 
Reason for seeking new home:  One respondent did not answer this question. 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need smaller home 2 
Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

1 

Other (to be with family) 1 
 
Household’s joint gross annual income:  One respondent did not answer the question. 
 
Income £ Frequency 
20,000 - 30,000 1 
30,000 - 40,000 1 
50,000 - 60,000 1 
More than 70,000 2 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  4 currently live in Meopham and 
1 lives outside. 
 
One of the respondents needs affordable housing. 
 
 
Assessment of the 33 households seeking housing in the next 3 years 
 
One respondent was excluded because they gave insufficient information for an assessment of their 
need to be made. 
 
The 32 households in need of housing in the next 3 years are: 
 

• 15 single people 

Page 62



 35 

• 16 couples 
• 1 family 

 
Single people - there were 15 single people. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
60-74 6 
75+ 9 

 
Current housing:  
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier 15 

 
Current number of bedrooms:  One respondent did not answer the question. 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
1 1 
2 2 
3 2 
4 8 
5+ 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 13 
Yes 2 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Owner occupation 15 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House/bungalow 2 
Sheltered/retirement housing 4 
Sheltered/retirement housing/ 
bungalow 5 

Flat/maisonette/bungalow 1 
Bungalow 3 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 13 
Yes  2 

 

Page 63



 36 

The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• Aged 82 my needs could change year by year.  From a family of long-livers my brother age 96 
still alive in Bucks. 
 

• Ground floor at present preferred – likely to become necessary.  Garage with off-road parking 
space in front.  Sit-in shower and adapted ‘disabled’ toilet facilities. 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need smaller home 11 
Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

5 

Need to be close to carer or 
dependent 1 

Need physically-adapted home 1 
Other (need to be on one 
floor) 

1 

Other (spare bedroom) 1 
Other (disabled/other illness) 1 
Need for better access to 
public transport 2 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income:  Two respondents did not answer the question. 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Under 10,000 1 
10,000 - 20,000 4 
20,000 - 30,000 5 
30,000 - 40,000 3 

 
The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria.  They all currently live in Meopham. 
 
 
Couples - there were 16 couples. 
 
Ages:   
 
Age Frequency 
45-59 1 
60-74 24 
75+ 7 

 
Current housing:  
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier 16 

 
 
 

Page 64



 37 

Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 
3 4 
4 6 
5+ 5 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 4 
No 12 

 
Tenure best suited:   
 
Tenure Frequency 
Owner occupation 14 
New Build HomeBuy 1 
Rent from Council/HA 1 

 
The above respondent wanting to rent from the Council/housing association may not be eligible for that 
tenure due to currently owning their own property. 
 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Bungalow 9 
House 2 
Sheltered/retirement housing 3 
Flat/maisonette/bungalow 1 
Flat/maisonette/bungalow/ 
sheltered/retirement housing 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
Yes 5 
No 11 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• Disabled facilities, no steps, walk-in shower etc. 
 

• Good access for disability scooter/chair.  Walk-in shower.  Ground floor, no steps, access to 
medical facilities. 

 
• Ground floor only. 

 
• I am disabled and find it very hard to use stairs. 

 
 

Page 65



 38 

Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to be close to a carer or 
dependent, to give or receive 
support 

1 

Other (closer to shops) 1 
Need smaller home 10 
Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

6 

Need for better access to 
public transport 4 

Need physically-adapted home 4 
 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 7 
20,000 - 30,000 3 
30,000 - 40,000 4 
40,000 - 50,000 1 
More than 70,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Meopham. 
 
 
Families - there was 1 family. 
 
Ages: 
 

Adult 
Age 

Adult 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

45-59 45-59 10-15F 16-19M 
 
Current housing:  
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
4 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 1 

 
 
 

Page 66



 39 

Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Owner occupation 1 

Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 1 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need smaller home 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income:   
 
Income £ Frequency 
More than 70,000 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Meopham. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



 40 

8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 
 
The summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the need 
for housing for older households. 
 
8.1  Summary of the need for affordable housing 
 
The Rural Housing Needs Survey has found a need for up to 21 homes for local people who are in need 
of affordable housing; they are: 10 single people, 6 couples, 4 families and 1 other type of household. 
 
6 of the households need housing now and 15 in the next 3 years. 
 
The 21 respondents who are in need of affordable housing indicated strong local connections to 
Meopham; 19 currently live there and 2 live outside but want to return. 
 
15 households are currently living with relatives, 4 are renting privately, 1 household is a Council tenant 
and 1 is a housing association tenant. 
 
The majority of respondents wanted a house or a flat/maisonette. 
 
In total, 11 respondents indicated an interest in New Build HomeBbuy; 8 households indicated the ability 
to afford a share of a property.  More detailed analysis of their income, amount of deposit they have 
available and actual cost of the shared ownership property would be required to confirm affordability. 
 
Taking into account Gravesham Borough Council’s allocation policy and Help to Buy eligibility, the 
following size and tenure of properties have been identified: 
 
Rented HA/Council 
 

• 7 x 1 bed 
• 3 x 2 bed 
• 2 x 3 bed 

 
New Build HomeBuy 
 

• 6 x 1 bed 
• 2 x 2 bed 

 
Other 
 

• 1 x mobile home on own land 
 
 
8.2  Summary of the need for housing for older households 
 
The survey has found a requirement for more suitable housing for 39 older households; they are: 17 
single people, 21 couples and 1 family.  38 currently live in Meopham and 1 lives outside. 
 
7 households require housing now and 32 within the next 3 years. 
 
35 households are owner occupiers, 2 households are private rented tenants, 1 has a tied tenancy and 1 
is living with friends. 
 

Page 68



 41 

The most frequently given reason for needing an alternative home was the need for a smaller home; 
other reasons include: present home being too expensive, the need for better access to public transport 
and needing a physically-adapted home. 
 
34 households want to buy on the open market, 2 need to rent from the Council/housing association, 1 
wants to rent from a private landlord/New Build HomeBuy, 1 wants New Build HomeBuy and 1 wants to 
build a property on family owned land. 
 
The 39 older households said they require the following type of housing: 
 

• 1 x bungalow/house (rent from Council/HA) 
• 1 x sheltered/retirement housing (rent from Council/HA) 
• 1 x bungalow (rent privately/New Build HomeBuy) 
• 1 x flat/maisonette/bungalow (New Build HomeBuy) 
• 13 x bungalow (open market purchase) 
• 7 x sheltered/retirement housing (open market purchase) 
• 5 x sheltered/retirement housing/bungalow (open market purchase) 
• 4 x bungalow/house (open market purchase) 
• 4 x house (open market purchase) 
• 1 x flat/maisonette/bungalow (open market purchase) 
• 1 x flat/maisonette/bungalow/sheltered/retirement housing (open market purchase) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



 42 

9.  APPENDIX M1 – QUESTION 7 COMMENTS 
 

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make (to Q6). 
 

Although not on greenbelt/farmers’ fields 

To live in Meopham there is a premium which is reflected in the house prices.   I don't want to see 
affordable housing as I have worked hard to live in this village, and it is unfair to offer this scheme or 
build in this village to those who need to move due to cost 

Until the council rectifies the current drainage problems for the existing properties NO new development 
should be planned.   The current infrastructure is at breaking point, roads, GP etc 

The A227 is an extremely busy road and I do not feel it could cope with even more traffic 

I answered NO to the question above (Q6) because in my opinion there still is a reasonable amount of 
affordable housing in Meopham 

Meopham is a village not a town and we should resist creeping urbanisation.   The village has grown 
beyond recognition and its identity and character are being eroded 

We feel that many local people would support an affordable housing plan.   House prices and rent rises 
make housing a real problem for young and poorer families 

No building in green belt 

Meopham is a village within (in large part) an AONB.    Green belt should be protected, enhanced, 
increased.   For the first time planning should prioritise climate, ecology and landscape.   Existing 
housing should be adapted.   You should take expert advice on climate and ecology issues to make 
informed, wise, long term strategic decisions.   It is most disappointing how short-term ism still rules this 
borough 

Village too small for housing estate 

Part buy, part rent.   Yes, as pride in ownership.   Rent.   Definitely not, one bad apple!! Ruins a street 

It's more about people working here rather than born here.   We need worker housing for those working 
in woods and local business 

Affordable housing - some two bed houses perhaps 

Starter homes for young people trying to get on the housing ladder are very scarce.  In my opinion 
these are the only sort of new homes required 

None 

Infrastructure is not good in the valley, too many houses, lacking in appropriate drainage and many 
other general services 

Re Q6, preference should be given to accommodating people who have lived in the village for a 
significant time, followed by people from nearby villages of Cobham and Sole Street 

Affordable housing to who?   It may not be to those whom, already live, have lived, would like to be 
near family, cannot afford to live in Meopham who have links here 

Lack of local facilities 

Page 70



 43 

Already seems a lot of cars, difficult on Lowfield Hill at school drop off and pick up, not sure we would 
want a new development 

Don't want green belt destroyed any further 

Still concerned if too many houses built it would stretch services of doctors and schools 

Roads are too busy, infrastructure cannot cope 

Suitable for downsizing.   There is a complete lack of modern property 

Must be for local people who live in Meopham.   Must not be for investors including local investors 

We have bought in Meopham to have a peaceful retirement! 

Meopham/Culverstone should maintain its current rural status 

I don't think the village needs affordable housing as Vigo village covers this need.   I don't know of 
anyone in the village that needs this facility 

As long as road to and from are done at same time 

We have been refused planning locally 

Yes to the above providing it is only affordable and no other houses 

Only if it is for local people living in the area and not on green belt land 

Housing would never only go to local people 

How can it be guaranteed that it would be available to only village people!! 

We moved to Meopham for the rural, spacious countryside.   We would not like to see the village 
overcrowded/overpopulated 

Yes, only if it is for people/family members from Meopham village only not Gravesend 

There are too many people and not enough facilities or infrastructure for what we have without adding 
more.   We are seriously thinking of moving due to the overcrowded nature of Gravesham 

As well as affordable houses to buy, I would like housing association housing for young families.   My 
son is 25 with 2 young children and had to go to Snodland.   I live here i.e. Meopham village, my sister 
and family live here and his partners dad live in Harvel 

Not enough doctors, main road unsuitable now, too busy, dangerous to pull out on.   No hospital to cope 
with the amount of people 

We think there is space if it’s done sympathetically 

We moved to the village from London because we liked that it was not full of housing estates, had lots 
of green belt land and a village community.   If one development is built more are bound to follow and 
the nature of the village will change 

Would affordable housing only benefit the first residents?   There should be something within the 
contract that it can only be sold onto other people from the village and appropriately priced 

Meopham should be a place desirable to live.   I believe it’s just a matter of life if you cannot afford to 
live somewhere and have to move.   Many young people have to do this, myself included.   The village 
also doesn't have the public services to support a growing population, therefore alternative areas should 
be considered 

Page 71



 44 

We need affordable houses in the area, not luxury 5 bedroom houses! 

Facilities, ...  parking, shops.   Doctors already very stretched.   Additional housing would add to that 
pressure 

The entitlement and from the village criteria would need to be rigorous and well managed 

Key issues:  Traffic on and onto the A227, schools, hospitals, drainage, turning a village into a town 

Smaller one-off properties too for children to use/buy for ourselves 

Dependent on location.   Key work is small, needs to be for people from the village 

Too much traffic already in this area due to too many people and also a lack of services.   Too much 
cultural diversity will be bad 

Meopham is a village - it's had enough building 

We would not be in favour of any developments, however small, being designed to be built on green 
belt or conservation areas 

It's just another try to build on the green belt land 

More affordable ground floor small 1/2 bed homes for older people to buy.  Freehold 

Usual issues - doctors/school - new school already looking to expand so further building won't help 

I don't think current infrastructure could support further housing (doctors, schools, etc) 

The roads are way too busy at the moment, and local schools are full 

There is already lack of essential facilities - 3 weeks for a doctor's appointment.   Roads constantly 
congested.   Green belt should be protected for wildlife and environment 

Most new developments are bought up by people who then rent them out to anybody at high rents 

One daughter lives in the village, other daughter cannot afford property here, would love to move back 

Infrastructure (roads A227, doctors, drainage, etc) cannot support current population - no increase! 

Didn't answer Q6 as how small is small??  Also, local workers commute these days and also affordable 
housing is not a thing that everybody can afford (just government) ideals 

This is a place of natural beauty.   You cannot build on it.   Meopham Primary has already got 32 
children in a class, local doctors and roads would not be able to handle more people 

Meopham needs to stay a 'small village' 

If development goes ahead ONLY FOR PEOPLE FROM THE VILLAGE but unfortunately properties are 
sold and outsiders move in 

Depends on size of development and has to be for local people and not for buyers to rent out 

Affordable housing for the over 60s would free up hundreds of family homes in the village 

Does depend on where and how large.   If the development is planned for green belt land or similar, 
then definitely no 

Will make village more busy and put pressure on local services such as GP and schools 

Page 72



 45 

Being a rural village there are insufficient transport links or local services for people that would require 
AFFORDABLE housing.   Such housing would be better provided near better public transport and nearer 
existing local services 

The community needs to keep its green spaces, what's left of them.   Meopham is supposed to be a 
village not a satellite town of Gravesend.   With all the new housing at Springhead and surrounding 
areas, people are only 10-15 minutes from the village 

Support for this would depend on both location and size of development.   Small in my opinion would be 
10 houses maximum, and not on green belt or green field land 

Provided allowances made for service supplies, such as water, electricity, medical and school availability 

It is not an automatic right to be able to live where you like.   It is something to be worked for.   Also, 
more development (affordable or otherwise) places even greater strain on already struggling 
infrastructure - which there is no mention of in this survey 

I think a number of family homes would become available if there was local accommodation for people 
wishing to downsize 

Splitting the development into 2 or 3 depending on how small might be better or at least more 
acceptable to some people 

We are opposed to development on the green belt 

Wrotham Road, which is already busy and traffic too fast for the road 

Further increases in housing need to be balanced with roads, essential services, schools, and doctor 
surgeries which are all currently overloaded 

We tried to sell our house but there was no interest despite reducing the price substantially.    
Therefore, it seems there is too much supply and not enough demand 

Only if development is confined within the boundary of established developments 

Over the years (and previous to my current residency I lived 18 years in Meopham 1953-1971) there has 
been enough development.   Any more would completely spoil the way of life and environment 

Don't see how you can build homes solely for Meopham residents.   If this went ahead 'small' would 
become 'large' and we would end up with people all ......- our schools would not cope with more children 
coming to the area or our roads with more traffic 

Only if parking in the development was available to those who live there as parking where I live is 
hideous when school term time as so many parents live outside the village and clog the street with their 
vehicles at school times 

Because we don't have the infrastructure, i.e. school and surgery are at capacity 

No need for affordable housing (in Meopham on green belt 

We can't afford our own home in Meopham, my son starts school September, so we want to live in 
Meopham area 

Roads in area are too congested already without adding more traffic 

Our roads are very busy, we have many potholes, our doctors are brilliant, but it is becoming difficult to 
get appointments sometimes and our bus service is a disgrace - there is not much room 

Page 73



 46 

Too much traffic in and passing through village, now a rat run from motorways 

Infrastructure i.e. GP, schools, water, electricity, gas, roads and phone must be able to sustain any 
development 

Would not support any development on green belt or green spaces of any size 

It depends on the definition of small.   Yes to 20-30 homes but definitely not 100s 

There are more than enough additional affordable houses being built in the surrounding areas e.g. 
Ebbsfleet, Northfleet etc., and the infrastructure cannot take any more, schools already have large 
classes, roads are busy.   There have been lots of properties in Meopham for sale for some time, the 
market should auto correct if they are too expensive, re:  for people wanting to live here 

The A227 is going to be gridlocked once the Lower Thames Crossing opens, more housing will make it 
worse.   Doctors appointment already takes 3 weeks 

I would support a small development, especially of housing for the elderly.   However, I would oppose a 
larger development due to the impact on schools, doctors, parking, etc.   I believe any new housing 
should be for existing village residents 

Our daughter and family (2 grandchildren) would like to move back to Meopham but current house 
prices preclude this 

This is a good idea in principle, but needs careful planning regarding location and assessment of impact 
on local services 

A small development would be fine for locals, provided amenities were also supplied, i.e. doctors' 
surgery is working full out as it is 

The A227 is already very busy.   The schools and doctors are full and traffic at school start and finish 
times is horrendous with inconsiderate and illegal parking 

Accommodation for elderly residents who want to downsize, sheltered accommodation such as Chinnery 
Court would be good 

We have to protect as much of our natural heritage as possible, especially in the face of climate change.   
More houses means less nature.   Bad idea, short sighted and foolish 

No building on green belt land 

But there are a lot of variables in the statement above 

Doctors/parking/schools/hospital 

Depends on what is considered a small development, as one new development can open up other bigger 
ones.   I thought the green belt was to be protected 

There is already plenty of affordable housing in Meopham and nearby.   The present infrastructure i.e. 
roads, schools, doctors, etc could not support further housing!   The only available sites for new housing 
are on green belt land or communal land 

I would like to see some smaller bungalows for the elderly (me) to downsize to 

You need to define small development.   How many houses is this?   How do you make sure that people 
from the village get the affordable houses? 

Please consider serviced plots for self-build 

Page 74



 47 

Longfield Road has become a very busy road in recent years and there is significant and sometimes 
problematic traffic build up during the school run with parking issues 

Where will it all end?   Our green spaces are disappearing fast, our population must be reduced - not 
enough sustainability for a rising population, especially here in the south east.   Our roads are at 
breaking point, doctors and our one hospital cannot cope and lack of jobs, to name a few problems.   
The old maternity hospital in Gravesend has remained derelict for too long, disgraceful - convert this into 
affordable flats 

Definite need for new affordable dwellings in Meopham.   Not flats 

Doctors/dentists etc can't cope with demand now, if more housing was built it would put more of a 
strain, also on schools, roads, etc 

Affordable housing is a farce, there is no such thing in the SE.    Builders don't want to build 
social/affordable housing.   Councils are not allowed to build these types of housing either 

Meopham is not a place for social housing.   There is a considerable development up near Morrisons in 
Gravesend.   Also, the schools will not be able to meet needs 

Good idea for people who currently live in the village.    Not for external people 

Meopham medical centre is struggling now to cope with the number of residents it has in Meopham, any 
more will make it impossible to even see a doctor (3 weeks to see a doctor now).   Our roads cannot 
cope with more traffic 

The roads in this area need improving especially the A227 in particular 

Believe there is room to allow further small development beyond the village envelope (Meopham) 

There is sufficient housing in surrounding Kent area being built 

The village has become busier and busier particularly traffic.   Public transport is minimal, so you would 
be forced to have more cars.   We are also losing too much rural land and will lose the essence of 
village.   Not opposed to bungalows for older generation who I feel are neglected in housing 

Infrastructure and local facilities plus possible disruption to existing local residents needs to be 
considered when identifying possible locations 

Our 2 adult children have had to move away (Greenhithe and Higham) as no local affordable rental 
properties 

People who are in work need to be able to afford somewhere to live 

There are already several major developments in the area 

No new housing development in Meopham - Full stop. 

Affordable housing does not fit the culture and social status of Meopham.   Affordable housing can be 
constructed in town centres 

Provided the development is small and in character of the village 

The village and surrounding lanes are already too traffic laden and overpopulated.   There are plenty of 
unused and derelict sites that can be used to build affordable housing in Gravesend and Northfleet and 
affordable housing should be accommodated within the new Ebbsfleet development area 

Page 75



 48 

We moved here to enjoy the space and greenery.   We would move further out to enjoy this if Meopham 
underwent any more housebuilding on a large scale 

The present infrastructure cannot cope with the present volume of people already in the area.   Brown 
field sites around Gravesend should be used first before destroying the countryside.   Cost is not an 
acceptable reason for choosing rural locations 

The roads cannot cope with existing traffic, add roundabouts to slow speeders and give joiners a chance 
to get in the traffic flow 

If a suitable site is available, respecting green belt etc.   Other sites close by should be considered rather 
than just village by village 

Wrotham Road through village is far too busy.   No need for further development to make the road even 
busier.   Would not like to see the village increase in size, plenty of adequate properties elsewhere 

We strongly object to this, as there is not sufficient infrastructure to support the existing community, so 
by building more will cause not only travel/traffic issues but congestion.   Furthermore, we will lose the 
countryside and nature 

New developments need to be truly affordable 

Small should mean small, and not cause problems accessing A227 

I have used all of my grandfather's inheritance to move away from Gravesend because of crime, it not 
being a nice area anymore, and to live in Meopham because it is such a nice area.   I would like it to 
stay that way with no social housing.   I also like the rural feel, lots of fields, greenery and open space 
for my children to grow up in 

Schools and medical centre wouldn't be able to cope with increase in residents 

Spoiling an established rural community, destruction of green belt land, insufficient roads, school places, 
shops - we don't need any more.   A227 already far too busy, destroying rural area.   If one area is built 
more will follow 

There will be a danger of overcrowding a rural community 

Planning restrictions in rural areas need reviewing so that larger rural properties without buildings may 
easily be converted to small residences for our children or our old.   This keeps families together whilst 
providing rural housing needs.   Disused agricultural buildings could also be converted into smaller 
housing projects instead of Des Res houses which are the norm 

Depends on location and size 

If new developments are considered, then brown field should be considered first.   The loss of green 
belt would be of concern 

Transport infrastructure is not suitable for additional households.   Local schools already hugely 
oversubscribed 

The infrastructure cannot cope in an already crowded area 

There are too many houses being built around the area, roads are too busy through the village and a 
strain on doctors and schools.   NO MORE HOUSES IN OUR VILLAGE 

Page 76



 49 

1.   No building on green belt land.   2.   Do not allow 3-bedroom bungalows to be developed into 5 bed 
houses.   3.   The A227 is a very busy rat run.   School parking on it is already unacceptable and any 
further building will exacerbate the problem 

The traffic in the village is already dangerous with no pavements for pedestrians.   Any further housing 
development will increase the (already) risk of accidents 

Meopham is already bursting at the seams.  An increase in housing and residents would result in further 
pressure on already overstretched doctors’ surgeries and schools 

For persons with connection to Meopham only, not to be used for Gravesend overspill 

If there is any need for further development within the village, it should be for older residents to 
downsize, thereby freeing larger properties.   Also enabling older citizens to carry on their lifestyle 

I would strongly oppose any plans for developments within Meopham Parish.   If any plans are put 
forwards, I will consistently vote and lobby to oppose them.   Meopham's greatest attribute is its natural 
surroundings.   You only need to look at Longfield to see how housing developments can utterly destroy 
the character of a village.  Now more than ever it is essential to protect rural area from further 
development plans 

Affordable starter homes should be the only homes built in our area 

Not on green belt land 

I think we have enough housing (new) with 400 houses being built by Morrison.   We should be thinking 
of schools, doctors, hospitals and infrastructure.   Don't keep building without necessary facilities 

The green belt is being constantly swallowed up.   The doctors' surgeries are so busy it's difficult to get 
an appointment.   The schools are full with children from outside the area, and therefore the roads are 
becoming so busy with constant parking outside our houses 

Infrastructure couldn't cope - other nearby areas would be more suitable than Meopham 

Inadequate facilities to cope with more housing, i.e. schools GPs, traffic probs etc 

Desperate need for housing for single elderly 

My concerns would be more cars on Wrotham Road, a medical centre which is overstretched already 
and the village schools 

Depending on what a small development would consist of and type of accommodation built 

There is no infrastructure in Meopham to cope with any more housing.   The road through Meopham is 
very busy (A227) and the road itself is terrible 

No infrastructure for any more housing.   Schools, hospitals, doctors, dentist all overstretched 

Need more bungalows 

The infrastructure wouldn't be able to cope with development of affordable housing.   Meopham should 
remain a village! 

There is now work in this area.   Schools are oversubscribed.   Have to travel by car to a station.   This 
is green belt 

Affordable would need to be below the current market rate in Meopham, and we need social housing.   
Re-sale should be limited to the same criteria on price and residence 

Page 77



 50 

Affordable housing is a good idea, provided that an holistic approach is taken towards planning of 
services by the council and other providers.   Public transport is already woefully inadequate, and in 
many areas, services are poor, e.g. interruption to electricity caused by overhead lines, slow internet 
speeds, few public amenities, pressure on the NHS, in particular, is already great in this area 

No infrastructure in place - lacking at the moment in doctors' availability, transport and school places 

The interests and qualifications of those who decide on planning issues should be subject to public 
scrutiny 

As long as it was for people from the village, especially for young couples wishing to buy their first home 

Both small first-time buyers’ properties and properties for older village members, not care property but 
just smaller 2 bed single level 

Greenbelt, rural and conservation area - no developments 

If the housing can be adapted to include disabled or people needing live in carers over short periods 

Negative answer to Q6 is solely because the A227 is already overloaded and likely to become more so 
with lower Thames Crossing 

I don't mind more housing but the A227 is already like the M25.   You can't get to see a doctor and the 
schools are full 

Please ensure to develop all brown field stock owned by developers before considering green belt or 
conservation sites 

I hope that any further development would only be permitted if the local infrastructure and services 
could cope, e.g. the doctor's surgery 

More bungalows with space 

Retirement housing only and not green belt land 

Small development OK.   Keep villages as villages, don't turn into two towns 

Define small.   If there are to be more houses, the village needs more school places, more GP medical 
capacity, improved vehicle access, sewerage, water supply, etc. etc.  Just building new houses solves 
nothing if other issues aren't addressed. 

Too late - my daughter and niece have moved already.   There are no suitable sites in Meopham 
otherwise it will become like the rest of Kent gridlocked 

For the people from the village 

We enjoy a small village life and it was one of the reasons we moved here 

Suitable sites along Longfield Road 

The village is already full and there is little room for a small development.   If you cannot afford to live 
here, look somewhere else! 

Such residents of such housing would be carefully vetted so as not to be of any danger to the other local 
residents? 

Must not use green belt land as once it's gone, that's it 

Page 78



 51 

I do not want affordable housing in this village.   Develop starter homes somewhere else.   I had to start 
somewhere else 

Because there is plenty of old housing and brown field sites within the borough which should be 
considered first before encroaching on the green belt 

I think very small developments should be interspersed amongst other housing areas, to enable better 
integration and to prevent black spots or locations which become undesirable.   Also, it should be for 
local people, not those brought in from other parishes 

The rural roads around and through Meopham struggle to cope with existing traffic so access should be 
considered a priority 

The local infrastructure currently struggles i.e. getting a doctor's appointment.   This will just increase 
problems.   Also, very vague - small development - how small or large is this?   Some would consider 
100 houses/dwellings small - potentially 100s of people putting a strain on local facilities.   Unreasonable 
to expect people to vote when the proposal details ae so vague.   Smells of trying to mislead 

Vehicle owner or access to.   Located near public transport route.   Close to amenities (shops, etc) 
Provision of off-road parking.   Depending on number of dwellings, suitable access to A227 Wrotham 
Road.   Depending on numbers will local health be able to cope?   Will there be a qualifying age?   i.e. 
55+.  Will the units be single or for families? 

Proper infrastructure non-existent (adequate roads, schools, doctors etc).   Will need a car for every 
household creating more problems (even if car can be afforded) 

Provided there are conditions attached re selling on of the properties to ensure an ongoing supply of 
affordable housing 

The village has become busier over the last few years and the road links are impossible with other local 
developments 

To provide housing units for older residents who want to downsize, leaving family size homes available. 

As long as it is for people from the village 

The scheme Billings run on the Bramblefield Estate Longfield where you buy a licence to live in a 
property - this is for elderly people 

I'm not confident a development would be small or appropriate for a village like Meopham 

If people need to move from Meopham when they are young, as I did, I do not believe that is a 
hardship.   There are no vital workers that have to live in the village 

The narrow lanes cannot take much more traffic which seems to be getting very busy over the last few 
years 

Culverstone valley is under used 

The local services, (schools, roads, doctor, shops) are stretched to the maximum with the number of 
homes and residents already without adding more 

Lacking infrastructure for further housing in the village.   Roads already congested.    Schools/doctors 
full.  There is cheaper housing about a 10 min drive away!  Not far! 

We wold like to stay in Meopham but downsize to a new build 3 bed house 

Meopham is not an affordable area, Gravesend is more suitable for affordable homes 

Page 79



 52 

Affordable housing needs to remain affordable, i.e. when people come to resell there should be caps on 
the increases in prices so that they are not a route to making large gains on their investment 

I would really love to live here.   I work full time but can't afford to buy but would love to rent and live 
here permanently 

There are other suitable existing brown field sites to develop affordable housing.   More pressure on 
existing stretched amenities 

It depends on the size of any proposed development.   Amenities and road are busy and congested 
already 

Just because someone is born or raised in an area does not entitle them to live there 

There isn't enough transport infrastructure for any more houses.   Only one bus to 309 to Gravesend.   
It would encourage further developments which would take Meopham's village status away 

There is already enough development in the village.   Schools and GP services are oversubscribed.   The 
village should keep green areas 

Affordable housing must be truly affordable.   Perhaps in the form of two storey flats, maisonettes or 
apartments, with dedicated parking facilities.   Plus, provision of adequate infrastructure - school places, 
doctors, etc 

It will open the floodgates for further land grab and development - refer to Q6 

I think you need to make it clear that affordable is not a cheap way of getting a house and then selling 
on a market valued 

There is not the infrastructure to accommodate more houses, i.e. roads are not adequate for more cars, 
not enough doctors, or shops 

Please stop giving approval for increasing density on house plots for 4/5 bed houses 

Affordable housing should be integrated into existing stock, not a new estate of affordable housing 

Any such location should be on brown field locations or converting existing buildings.   The green belt 
must not be eroded more, it contributes to our climate emergency 

Meopham is already overpopulated.   There is no place for further housing development 

Please no housing to build on greenbelt land (Meopham) 

The wider area surrounding Meopham is inundated with housing development projects.   There is in my 
opinion no need for anymore, particularly with other road projects in the pipeline as well in the 
immediate area 

There is so much green belt land in Meopham that could be built on that would not           the other 
residents 

Affordable housing would, in time, be snapped up by landlords and rented out to whoever at an 
extortionate rate anyway 

As long as it is affordable and for people from Meopham or within 2 miles, and only a very small 
development of houses not flats 

They must be from the village and not purchasing on a buy to let scheme or for selling on at a profit.   
The Meopham infrastructure cannot support any increase in population without major upgrading 

Page 80



 53 

What is a small development?   There is little extra local demand.   Demand is from outside the village.   
There are masses of new homes being built at Ebbsfleet and on the .......Welcome site in Dartford.   We 
don't need any here 

Using brown field or redevelopment of current residential site, not building on farm or green belt land 

The area would not be rural if we keep building housing.   Our current infrastructure roads, doctors, 
hospital cannot cope with the current level of demand.   We need to reduce the population in the area 
not increase it 

Meopham is an amazing village to live in and we have worked hard to live here.   The area is small and 
development of further housing would ruin the village for sure.   This is plenty of housing developments 
being built in and near this village already 

Schools/doctors etc already oversubscribed 

Affordable bungalows 

I moved to the village and to have more housing in a development takes away the village making into a 
smallish town community 

Some 8 years ago, Harvel had a chance to put affordable housing here, but refused thinking that these 
type of people are not suitable for the village.   I personally feel that they would be real people 

Not enough school and doctor places 

Meopham is a small village where we suffer heavy traffic and our facilities are already stretched 

I've yet to see any local housing that is genuinely affordable to first time buyers like my children (late 
20s, early 30s)! 

Meopham has a large number of elderly people, I feel some purpose-built homes with lighting and 
adaptions to the property would be a good idea.   NB Meopham does not have street lighting so new 
area near shops should be a bonus.   Plus, a better but service only one per hour 

There are enough people in this village already and the infrastructure especially roads acting as through 
roads is already bursting 

Must not be on green belt land and specifically for people who have lived in the parish and in keeping 
with other properties 

An increase in housing should also mean an increase in infrastructure.   Parking, traffic control, 
schooling, medical care, policing, etc 

Very careful insight as to location.   How small is small?   Need more infrastructure!! 

Depending on location - very very important!   Small development - what is small?   What about the very 
busy road?   Would there be extra facilities?   The houses should not be sold at inflated places once they 
are put on the market again 

Infrastructure already stretched 

I am aware that many young people cannot hope to get on the property ladder in Meopham due to cost 
and lack of availability 

Sheltered accommodation of a good standard.   There are many widowed people living in big houses! 

Page 81



 54 

This village community is kept how it is because the residents have a vested interest in it.   Bring people 
from outside of the community in and it will go down fast 

One of the reasons we moved to Meopham was the green nature of the village.   More housing would 
go against that 

We get flooded due to the amount of houses you allow and we have no drains!   Sort our roads out and 
install drains! 

Over the last 10 years the roads have become increasingly busy - the infrastructure can't cope with any 
more development.   Also ruining an area of green belt beauty 

Whilst I believe affordable local housing is necessary, I do not believe that green belt land should be 
used.   Use brown belt.   Also, the village infrastructure would need updating 

Should I die or be placed in a care home it is possible I (relatives) would have to sell up this house 

Also, a need for sons and daughters to be able to move back into village but can't because of price of 
houses.   Brought this family up here but to buy their own house they had to move out of the village 

I feel the A227 would not be able to cope with the traffic if we went ahead with more houses 

Pollution and traffic an issue.   Each house has multiple cars 

I don't believe that houses marketed at 60% of the market value really can be considered affordable!   
At least not in this area 

Why are the questions on these surveys loaded - e.g. Q6 - define small, 1000 or 10!!! 

You cannot be selective in whom this housing is available for.   So, it will be available for all members of 
the general public which will also put a strain on the infrastructure and facilities within the village 

There is already a mixture of properties available in Meopham to rent or buy 

The village is rural, and doctors is overcrowded, the school is oversubscribed, houses being built in 
Northfleet.   The A2 is always busy, Wrotham Road traffic is bad.   Do not overpopulate this village.    
Parking is an issue at local shops and events.   Do not down value for area with affordable 

All future developments should be subject to improvements in local infrastructure, e.g. schools, youth 
facilities, utilities, medical centre, parking, etc. 

The infrastructure is already lacking for the number of people that live in the area 

There is no proven need!   There are brown field urban areas for more suitable ....   You are wrecking 
the environment.   Wildlife is squashed and neglected.   Develop urban brown field site, not the 
countryside.   The infrastructure is not there, roads i.e. unadopted, no broadband, lack of school and GP 
services.   Already the area is overdeveloped unofficially!   A quick drive through Culverstone Valley 
shows annexes, stables, outbuildings all operating as independent households with no council tax 
revenue 

If for local young people we would welcome affordable housing, but as in past we have had people from 
London and other villages allocated the homes, above local Meopham residents 

Our children moved away to work.   I don't think people should necessarily be given houses where they 
grew up.   I think the village is big enough and that the amount of traffic excludes further expansion 

Page 82



 55 

Depending on location.   Do not completely agree that just because someone has lived in area, they 
have automatic right to be housed there.   Throughout my life I have moved to live a) where I needed 
to live/work and b) where I could afford 

Meopham is a semi-rural village, it does not have the infrastructure for more houses, e.g. 
doctors/schools are full.   Meopham is an affluent area and people have paid a premium to move/live 
here, so affordable housing should not be introduced here.   Stop destroying our countryside with 
housing development.   No building on green belt land 

No spaces in local schools or doctors 

Parking, traffic and other amenities are not sufficient to sustain current population of village.   So, an 
increase will make this even worse 

Don't know.   Depends on size, consideration needs to be made re: infrastructure, i.e. road capacity, 
doctors, schools etc 

Definitely no.   Affordable housing near our area will decrease our house prices.   We moved away from 
being near affordable housing to choose this location 

Additional housing without additional facilities and infrastructure is not acceptable.   Look at the 
problems of seeing a GP and the traffic congestion 

Kent is the most overcrowded county in England.   More people, more houses, more traffic, more chaos 
that any other county.   Yet you, the council, want to increase this chaos by building more houses!!   
Why?   Who exactly are these so called affordable, whatever that means, houses for? 

Too many houses already in this small village 

Living in the countryside is inconvenient and expensive for those on low incomes.   Fares, insufficient 
doctors and medical needs and schooling 

I have said no because I do not believe any affordable housing will be built in Meopham.   It would also 
be out of most people's affordability.   How would you confine housing to people from the village?   Not 
workable 

Entry accommodation.   Deference for public sector employees 

Born in Meopham, work in Meopham (school), unable to get a mortgage on my salary, so have to rent in 
Meopham in order to stay near family and work.   Rent £1250 per month 

There is too much building going on in the area.   I worry about the impact on the roads and NHS 
facilities 

The council were extremely difficult with family who owned property that needed to extend their home, 
because the house was in green belt.   So, they had to move away instead.   There appears to be many 
infill plots around residential area that should be able to have planning permission for new build homes.   
They would not be directly impacting the openness of the green belt.   Allow/relax restrictions on green 
belt extensions/new builds and conversions (not just for council) 

Unless supporting infrastructure is improved.   Road is seriously too busy, restrictions on through and 
large traffic urgently needed before more housing 

For local people only, such as elderly wishing to downsize or young adults who grew up here 

Further housing development is neither desired nor needed.   This green belt and we would like to keep 
it that way.   That's why we live here in the first place 

Page 83



 56 

Too busy now 

More bungalows so that older people can downsize from large properties 

I do not agree to more housing in the area.   The infrastructure cannot sustain more people in the area 

I can't answer yes or no to Q6 as there are pros and cons.   Affordable housing for people from this 
village would be needed but as long as it’s not for outsiders and doesn't end up making this a town 
instead 

This would need to be carefully managed to remain affordable for people from the village!   There is a 
shortage of elderly person accommodation in the village, i.e. l/2 bed bungalows, flats.   This need will 
only grow in the coming years 

We live in an area of outstanding natural beauty.  We would very much hope and expect that 
development in this area would be kept to an absolute minimum 

There are too many houses as there is.   It is impossible to park at Camer Parade, to get a doctor's 
appointment.   The schools are overflowing, the traffic is constant.   There is litter everywhere.   The last 
thing required is more houses 

Green belt/open space should be protected, not built on.   The A227 is far too busy with traffic, some 
driving too fast and large HGVs.   Doctor's surgery is already oversubscribed (3-4 week waiting time!!!) 
More people=more traffic/longer waiting times!    Meopham school is taking pupils from larger area 
again more traffic!!! 

We moved to the beautiful village for that reason.   Quiet and surrounded by countryside.   I feel the 
village is already at capacity.   The roads are already very busy.   Don't want to live in an overcrowded 
town 

As long as it is not on green belt land 

Our daughter was raised and educated and now has an essential and responsible job in Meopham.   She 
cannot afford to buy and in order for her and her children to stay in Meopham we have to help her with 
the very high rent she has to pay 

Meopham village doesn't need any more housing.   Wrotham Road already too busy with vans and 
lorries cutting through from the M20 to the A2 

There is a great need for affordable housing 

The village is already full to capacity and if you are referring to people from the village, they already 
have accommodation.    If they wish to become independent, they could do what many others have 
done in the past - either stay where they are until they move to an area where work or accommodation 
is available.   Meopham is full, congested traffic, medical centre defunct etc etc.   Do not even 
contemplate building on green belt 

The infrastructure e.g. roads, medical services, schools are at capacity now and cannot accommodate 
further increase in numbers 

Depending on location 

The A227 is overcrowded now 

There are several properties on the Meopham side of the bridge at Longfield Hill (green belt) in 
Gravesham Borough Council, who have tried on several occasions to set planning permission for several 

Page 84



 57 

houses - Gravesham always turn it down.   You will have big problems with trying to get additional 
housing in Meopham 

Along with the affordable housing I hope social housing is included, i.e. council, rented housing 

There is no space - unless green belt is used 

The infrastructure cannot cope with existing and particularly new houses all around Meopham.   The 
A227 is already a speed run which should not be exacerbated 

Q6 is subject to infrastructure being provided for the increase in population.   In Culverstone roads are 
in very very very bad condition 

1.  It will be impossible to police only people from village and their families only will buy these.   Also, as 
far as the youngsters of the village still will not be able to afford properties built in Meopham.   2.  No 
housing should be built on green belt, which will probably be earmarked for this housing deal 

We have paid a premium and chosen to live in such a nice village with sparse housing.   There can be 
no guarantee such a development will be for people from the village and the concern is it will become 
populated with individuals who will not share the village values 

I do not approve of creating a ghetto of affordable housing; estates should be created with a mix of 
private, part owned, help to buy and affordable rent, and green spaces 

Apartments for older people 

The issue would be the actual number of properties to be built and where 

The reason we moved to Meopham is that we like it the way it is.   Therefore, we are likely to oppose 
any form of development 

Impossible to sustain as locals.   Plenty of new housing Thameside.   Vigo - plenty, is continuous with 
Culverstone.   Danger of ribbon or continuous development losing village identity 

The development must be appropriate for a local setting 

Very dependent on the location for the proposed development! 

I want to preserve the green belt.   There is more affordable housing in close proximity in the Medway 
towns.   The roads and local services are already congested.   No amount of new houses will ever be 
enough 

Regarding Q6 - local people only if they have lived in the village for 5 years minimum 

I would consider downsizing to purpose-built retirement village sometime in the future if the option was 
available and affordable 

Not on green belt 

Most housing in Meopham is very expensive and beyond the reach of most young people starting out 

We have just moved here to get away from all the affordable houses being built so this certainly would 
not be something we would agree to 

We would be extremely supportive of affordable housing as thus far we are not aware that any has been 
provided 

I moved to the area because of the rural setting.   I am against building on green belt/brown belt land 

Page 85



 58 

We moved here as the area was green and not overpopulated.   We categorically do not want affordable 
housing, nor do we believe that the infrastructure is sufficient to accommodate an influx of people (i.e. 
roads etc) 

My daughter moved from our home and lives in Gravesend and would dearly like to move back 
particularly for the schooling for her two children, but cannot afford to purchase a house in Meopham 
which she finds very distressing 

Would like Meopham to remain a village 

Facilities are already stretched i.e. parking, doctor's surgery, traffic using the A227 including heavy 
vehicles; also new schools would be needed 

For people from this village vetted 

I would like to see a small retirement development, not flats.   I live alone in a 4 bed and would like 
something smaller but detached 

Meopham is a large village now, has green belt and conservation areas which need to be adhered to.   
More building, especially houses will eventually lose the village identity.   Plus, totally insufficient 
infrastructure, i.e. road A227 

We live on the main Wrotham Road.   A huge volume of cars drive through the road daily including 
massive trucks.   It is unsafe and ruining Meopham.   A new housing estate would just increase the 
amount of cars and cause more congestion.  Keep Meopham a village and not make a busy town! 

I have recently moved here to get away from such development.   I feel there are many places in the 
vicinity that should be able to offer this type of accommodation 

There has been too much development in this area already.   We need to retain as much green belt as 
possible.   Infrastructure cannot sustain more housing (any type of housing) 

When considering any future development, consideration must be given to the following: -   1.   The 
effects the size of any future development would make on health care  2.  The infrastructure and 3.  
Parking 

Depending on location is an extremely vague description.    If there are any unused brown field sites, 
then no objection.   If on green field then yes, we object 

I could support development on a small unused brown field site, but not on any green field sites 

Would require adequate associated infrastructure 

Please retain rural atmosphere 

My view is that brown field sites should always be used before putting more development in Meopham 
and other such places 

If you cannot afford to live in the village, then you would have to live elsewhere.   I would love to live in 
Kensington/Chelsea but cannot afford it - so I live here 

Lots of housing at Castle Hill, Ebbsfleet and Tollgate and Borough Green being built 

Got land in the Culverstone Valley 

But subject to considerable road and infrastructure improvement - schools, local shop access, doctors' 
surgeries and availability etc, otherwise no 

Page 86



 59 

Us and our neighbour have a plot that could be used as a small development site.   We think people 
would be less averse to small terraced cottages that are pretty to look at and are passive and have low 
impact on surrounding open areas 

Would need to see plans 

We urgently need affordable housing for single people and young families in Meopham.   We also need 
housing for older people who want to downsize to more suitable accommodation 

Only if they live in the village with other family members 

We need to maintain some rural green belt 

We do not need any further developments in Meopham.   It is a lovely village and needs to stay that 
way.   There are enough areas in Gravesend that can be developed; if we are not careful there be no 
quite unspoilt villages left in Kent 

This is unmanageable.   How is it possible to ensure housing is for local people only! 

I do not believe the village can cope with an increase of residents, e.g. doctors, schools, transport.   
Concerned already about changes post Tilbury tunnel 

Provided that services i.e. school places and necessary amenities were adequate 

I would be in favour of a small development on a brown field site, definitely not on green belt land! 

This would have to be done with sensitivity to existing homes so house prices are not affected 

First there is no location of a small development, and secondly there is no need of affordable housing for 
people from the village.  There are enough developments in the surrounding villages 

Parking/roads busy enough.   Can't get to see doctor as numbers already too high! 

There is not the available space within the village/parish.   But most importantly there is not the 
infrastructure or facilities to support any more residents (doctors, schools, roads, parking).   TheA227 is 
far too busy 

The main road and doctors' surgery are overloaded already - not a village anymore! 

Unfortunately, there is not the infrastructure - schools, medical and roads - available for Meopham for 
more houses, there hasn't been for years 

More development means further destruction of green areas and in turn further strain on a village with 
limited capacity, more pollution and pressure on the planet's resources, to meet the necessary initial and 
ongoing infrastructure requirements 

We need retirement houses/flats that are affordable for village people 

Must not be on green belt land 

The area is built up enough 

Only if they were born in this village 

Further development in the area will take away the village feel.   There are huge developments - 
including affordable housing - in nearby locations.   We're in danger of losing the rural feel which makes 
Meopham the village it is 

Page 87



 60 

My niece along with her three young children currently rent in Meopham but rent costs outweigh her 
finances. 

Affordable housing should be built in Gravesend not Meopham (if needed).   Do not build on green belt 
either 

The green belt must be protected at all costs, otherwise this rural area will be suburbanised.   Affordable 
houses will be used to commute and should be built in Gravesend to revitalise the town centre and 
where there is better transport 

Village already overcrowded.   Facilities and infrastructure unable to cater with current level of residents 

Hart Close in Harvel was built recently.   All houses are large with no small starter homes for local 
children who wished to remain in the area of their parents 

There appears to be suitable areas on the outskirts of the village which could sustain development 

Moat Housing in Evenden Road was supposed to be offered to siblings of residents - not done.   My son 
having a very good job since leaving school could not afford any housing in Meopham 

There is no way affordable housing can be built in this parish when a 2-bed terrace with no parking sells 
for £300K+! 

There is too much building going on over Kent taking our green spaces.   Having lived here for 56 years 
I don't want Meopham to go the same way.   Amenities are at full limit now; more people would make it 
worse 

Meopham village and the Culverstone Valley area are rare places of natural beauty and wildlife.   As 
such we would strongly oppose any developments on sites in this location 

Meopham is a lovely village but is becoming overpopulated with no infrastructure to support these ideas.   
There are brown field sites closer to the A2 which could be looked at.   Please leave our village alone!   
We pay a lot of money to live here 

Subject to appropriate siting 

There are enough houses in the area and the traffic is dreadful.   A no deposit mortgage would be far 
more helpful to people buying their first home 

I believe there is enough affordable housing in the village, but a good mix of retirement or sheltered 
accommodation would be welcomed 

I wish to downsize but paradoxically when I investigated the market for small (l-2 bed bungalows) the 
price differential was insufficient to induce moving 

I would want to see evidence of need.   What is necessary is development of businesses and housing in 
the north of the country.   Away from the SE 

The A227 already can't cope with the daily traffic and is constantly being repaired.   The doctor's surgery 
has difficulty coping with daily patients' needs and schools are probably at their maximum.   Meopham 
can't cope with more houses/people 

Page 88



 61 

10.  APPENDIX M2 – LETTER TO HOUSEHOLDERS AND HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY 
 

 

Page 89



 62 

 

Page 90



 63 

 
 

Page 91



 64 

 

Page 92



 65 

 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Higham Rural Housing Needs 
Survey  

December 2020 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Rosemary Selling 
Rural & Community Housing Enabler 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent 
 
www.ruralkent.org.uk 

Page 95

http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/


 2 

 
 
 
Contents           Page 

 
1.  Executive Summary         3 
 
2.  Introduction to the Higham Rural Housing Needs Survey    4 
 
3.  Background Information        5 
 
4.  Method           6 
 
5.  Results           7 
 
6.  Local Housing Costs         19 
 
7.  Assessment of Housing Need        22 
 7.1  Assessment of the need for affordable housing     22 
 7.2  Assessment of the need for housing for older households   33 
 
8.  Summary of Findings         42 
 8.1  Summary of  the need for affordable housing     42 
 8.2  Summary of  the need for housing for older households   42 
 
9.  Appendix H1 – Question 7 Comments      44 
 
10.  Appendix H2 – Letter to Householders and Housing Needs Survey   54 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



 3 

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Rural and Community Housing Enabler (RCHE) undertook a housing needs survey in Higham to 
ascertain if there are shortfalls in affordable housing provision and to examine the housing needs of 
older households within the village.  This report provides overall information as well as analysis of 
housing need. 
 
A survey was delivered to every household within Higham in February 2020.  Approximately 1,663 
surveys were distributed with 404 surveys being returned, representing a 24% response rate. 
 
Analysis of the returned survey forms identified that 88% of all respondents are owner occupiers.  74% 
of respondents have lived in Higham for over 10 years. 
 
High property prices and a predominance of privately-owned homes means that some local people are 
unable to afford a home within Higham.  For a first-time buyer an income of £56,100 per annum and a 
deposit of £34,650 are needed to buy the cheapest property available within Higham, which, at the time 
of writing the report, was a 2-bed detached house for £231,000.  To be able to afford to rent privately 
an income of approximately £35,800 is required for the cheapest property available which was a 2-bed 
apartment for £895 pcm. 
 
A need for up to 14 affordable homes for the following local households were identified: 
 

• 3 single people 
• 4 couples 
• 6 families 
• 1 other type of household 

 
All 14 households currently live in Higham. 

 
In addition to the above, up to 23 older local households with a need for alternative accommodation 
were identified as follows: 
 

• 12 single people 
• 9 couples 
• 2 other types of household 

 
All 23 households currently in Higham. 
 
Up to 8 affordable homes for older local households were identified and up to 15 older local households 
require alternative open market homes. 
 
Overall, the survey has identified a need for 22 affordable homes, 8 of which are for older households.  
In addition, there is a requirement for 15 open market homes for older households who wish to 
downsize/move to more suitable housing for their needs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



 4 

2.  INTRODUCTION TO THE HIGHAM RURAL HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY 
 
Higham is approximately 11 miles east of Gravesend in the Borough of Gravesham with a population of 
3,962 (2011 Census).  It is comprised of 4 settlements: Higham, Lower Higham, Three Crutches and 
Church Street. Higham has a railway station and Ebbsfleet International Railway Station is approximately 
15 miles away.  Facilities in Higham include a primary school, medical practice, two community centres, 
library and shops. 
 
Rural Housing Needs Surveys aim to investigate and establish the affordable housing needs of people 
who live in or have close ties to a parish or rural area, and provide an independent report of that need, 
if any, using a transparent and robust methodology. 
 
The Rural Housing Enabler worked with Gravesham Borough Council to determine the format of the 
housing needs survey to be used in the Gravesham area; this was then sent to all Parish Councils in the 
Borough for consultation. It is intended that all the rural areas of the Borough will be surveyed on a 
rolling-out programme. 
 
A survey was undertaken in Higham to establish the level of need for affordable housing. 
 
The aim of this survey is to identify in general terms if there is, or is not, a housing need from local 
people.  It is not to provide a list of names and addresses of individuals requiring a home.  If a need is 
identified, then a further Registration of Interest survey may be undertaken to update the levels of 
housing need.  At this stage, further details such as name and address, income, housing need and 
details of local connection will be taken.  The identification of potential sites e.g. infill sites, to meet the 
identified need would then be undertaken, preferably with the assistance of Higham Parish Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



 5 

3.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
In a report published in June 2018 by the Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR) it is stated that: 
‘The affordability gaps in rural areas are high compared to urban areas.  The average rural house price 
is around £19,000 above the average for England as a whole, at £320,700 compared to £301,900, and is 
more than £87,000 higher than the urban average excluding London (£233,600).* 
 
Small developments of local needs housing schemes can provide affordable housing for local people, 
thereby enabling them to stay in their community and contribute to village life.  This can make a real 
difference to the vitality of village services. 
 
The Government believes that the Community Right To Build will shift power from them to allow local 
people to deliver homes that are needed in their communities so that villages are vibrant places to live 
and younger people are not forced to move away because of a shortage of affordable homes.†  The 
Community Right to Build forms part of the neighbourhood planning provisions contained in the Localism 
Act 2011. 
 
The Rural Housing Enabler Programme, which is delivered in Kent through Action with Communities in 
Rural Kent – the Rural Community Council for Kent and Medway, is supported by Local Authorities 
across Kent and Medway including Gravesham Borough Council. 
 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent is a registered charity (No. 212796) whose purpose is to improve 
the quality of life of local communities, particularly for disadvantaged people, and to facilitate the 
development of thriving, diverse and sustainable communities throughout rural Kent.  Since March 1998 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent has employed a Rural Housing Enabler, whose role is to provide 
independent support, advice and information to Parish Councils and community groups concerned with 
the lack of local needs housing in their rural communities. 
 
The RCHE will assist with carrying out a housing needs survey, analyse the results and when appropriate 
help identify suitable sites in conjunction with the local authority and others, for a local needs housing 
scheme.  Once a partnership has been established between the Parish Council, the chosen housing 
association and the local authority to develop a scheme, the independent role of the RCHE helps to 
ensure the project proceeds smoothly and to the benefit of the community. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                           
* A New Rural Settlement: Fixing the affordable housing crisis in rural England https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-
06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf 
† http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact 
 

Page 99

https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact


 6 

4.  METHOD 
 
The RCHE from Action with Communities in Rural Kent posted a copy of the survey to every household 
in Higham in February 2020. 
 
Surveys were returned in pre-paid envelopes to Action with Communities in Rural Kent.  Copies of the 
survey were available for anyone to complete who had left Higham and wished to return; they were held 
by the Rural and Community Housing Enabler.  It was asked that completed survey forms were returned 
by 18 March 2018.  All surveys received at Action with Communities in Rural Kent by the 18 March are 
included in this report.  Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the survey return date was extended to 16 April 
2020. 
 
Approximately 1,663 surveys were distributed with 404 returned by this date representing a return rate 
of 24%. 
 
Some surveys were not fully completed therefore the results are shown for the total answers to each 
question. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



 7 

5.  RESULTS 
 
Section 1 
 
Listed below are the results of each question asked by the housing needs survey. 
 
Question 1.  How would you describe your home?∗ 
 

House Bungalow Other

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

250

200

150

100

50

0

286 House
5 Flat/maisonette/bedsit
2 Sheltered/retirement housing*

107 Bungalow
0 Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
2 Other

 
 
 
Question 2.  How many bedrooms does your current home have? 
 

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

160

140
120
100
80
60

40
20
0

15 1 91 2 177 3
98 4 20 5+

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                           
∗ Retirement housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which consists of purpose-built accommodation in which 
varying amounts of care and support can be offered, and where some facilities are shared. 

Page 101



 8 

Question 3.  Who owns your home? 
 

Frequency
2001000

Owned outright by a household member(s)
Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)

Rented from a Housing Association
Tied to a job

Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)
Rented from the local council

Rented from a private landlord
Other

243 Owned outright by a household member(s)
108 Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)

1 Rented from a Housing Association
1 Tied to a job
1 Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)

26 Rented from the local council
14 Rented from a private landlord
2 Other

 
 
88% of respondents who answered the question are owner occupiers; 61% own their homes outright 
and 27% have a mortgage. 
 
 
Question 4.  How many years have you lived in Higham? 
 

Frequency
150100500

less than 1 year

1 - 5 years

6 - 10 years

11 - 15 years

16 - 25 years

26+ years

9 less than 1 year 46 1 - 5 years
51 6 - 10 years 34 11 - 15 years
69 16 - 25 years 194 26+ years

 
 
403 respondents (74%) have lived in Higham for over 10 years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 9 

Question 5.  Have any of your children/parents/brothers/sisters moved away from Higham 
in the last 5 years, due to difficulties in finding a suitable home locally? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

46 Yes 348 No

 
 
 
Question 6.  Depending on location, would you be in favour of a small development of 
affordable housing for people from the village if there is a proven need? 
 

 
 
56% of respondents who answered the question (54% of all respondents) would be in favour of a small 
development of affordable housing for people from Higham. 
 
 
Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make 
 
There were 185 responses to this question; a full list of comments can be found in Section 9. Appendix 
H1. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103



 10 

Question 8.  Do you or a member of your household need separate or alternative 
accommodation either now or in the next 3 years? 
 
 

Yes, now Yes, next 3 years No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

17 Yes, now
31 Yes, next 3 years

346 No

 
 
48 respondents (12%) said they have a housing need either now or in the next 3 years. 
 
 
Section 2 – Housing Needs 
 
Question 9.  Are you completing this form for someone else? 
 

 
 
 
Question 10.  If you are completing this form for someone else please state their 
relationship to you and where they currently live e.g. with parents, private renting etc. 
 
Respondents who were completing the form for someone else were doing so for their adult children who 
were still living in the parental home, one respondent on behalf of their older relation (mother-in-law). 
 
 
 

Page 104



 11 

Question 11.  Do you currently live in Higham? 
 

 
 
 
Question 12.  What is your connection with the village?  Respondents were asked to indicate all 
connections that applied to them. 
 
Local connection FREQUENCY 
Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 10 years 35 

Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 5 years 9 

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
for 5 out of the last 10 years 0 

Do not currently live in the village but have close family who 
currently live there and have done so continuously for the last 10 
years 

0 

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
continuously for at least 10 years and, in my opinion, was forced to 
move away due to a lack of suitable accommodation 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



 12 

Question 13.  What is your current housing situation? 
 

Frequency
20100

Owner occupier with/without mortgage

Living with relatives

Renting from council

Shared ownership/new build homebuy

Renting from Housing Association

Tied tenancy

Renting privately

Other

21 Owner occupier with/without mortgage
12 Living with relatives
5 Renting from council
0 Shared ownership/new build homebuy
0 Renting from Housing Association
0 Tied tenancy
7 Renting privately
0 Other

 
 
 
Question 14.  How many bedrooms do you have in your current home? 
 

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

6 1 7 2 17 3 10 4
5 5+

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



 13 

Question 15.  Are you registered on the Council’s Housing Register? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

9 Yes 37 No

 
 
 
Question 16.  Are you an older person/household wanting to downsize/move to more 
suitable accommodation? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



 14 

Question 17.  Which of the following options would be most suitable for you in alternative 
accommodation?∗ 
 

Frequency
151050

Rent from council/housing association*

New build homebuy **

Rent from a private landlord
Owner occupation

Other (please specify)

17 Rent from council/housing association*
8 New build homebuy **
0 Rent from a private landlord

17 Owner occupation
2 Other (please specify)

 
 
 
Question 18.  Do you have any comments on the above options? 
 
The following comments were made: 
 

• Born and bred in the village, the opportunity for a young adult to buy their own property in the 
area they have lived in all their lives is financially difficult. 

 
• In the near future would want to move to smaller home as children moving out and would want 

smaller home but don't want to leave village. 
 

• Have two adult children working O/S the borough.  The cost of transport to London is proving 
prohibitive - they are looking to move where transport links and houses are cheaper. 

 
• Bungalow required. 

 
• Good sheltered self ownership would be an advantage. 

 
• Owned or rented, dependent on what is available. 

 
• My daughter tried to buy but the house was offered to someone else. 

 
• My grand-daughter and partner can't even get on the register. 

 
• I would just love to stay in the village. I am 62 and retire in 4 years and would love to stay here 

as the village is very secure place to live and getting older is quite frightening having to move 
away. 

 

                                           
* To be considered for this type of accommodation, you need to be registered on Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Housing Register.  Tel: 01474 564422. 
** Government scheme which enables people to buy a share in a newly built property (also known as shared 
ownership). 

Page 108



 15 

• Nothing available for supported living young people. The village has a high ratio of disabled 
youngsters coming through and there is nothing here for them. 

 
• I was given this property 8 years ago because a two bedroom was proving hard to get for me. 

I'm disabled and have always needed a two bedroom. 
 

• Would the council consider a self-built project? 
 

• Many people live on their own and are elderly, need a smaller property and garden which would 
free up some housing. 

 
• Secure retirement home availability. 

 
• I care for a person in Recefield Close so would really like to be there with my limited income and 

age the council rent figure would help. 
 

• Sixty - trying to apply to go on housing list. 
 
 
Question 19.  What type of accommodation would meet your needs?∗ 
 

Frequency
20151050

House

Flat/maisonette

Bungalow

Sheltered/retirement housing*

Other

19 House
8 Flat/maisonette

20 Bungalow
11 Sheltered/retirement housing*
1 Other

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                           
∗ Retirement Housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which offers independent living in a home of your choice 
with other services on hand if you need or want them. 

Page 109



 16 

Question 20.  Do you have any specific requirements? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

8 Yes
35 No

 
 
 
Question 21.  If you answered ‘Yes’ to Question 20, please give details. 
 
The following answers were given: 
 

• Require bungalow, find hard to cope with stairs (knee replacement). 
 

• Ground floor would be useful. 
 

• Wheelchair access, ground floor, wet room, no steps to outside. 
 

• Flat due to mobility and I am now partially sighted with complex issues. I do want to stay with 
my doctor, library, post office. 

 
• Wheelchair, stair lift at present. 

 
• Everything on the level because I'm disabled. I need a clos mat toilet because of my bowel 

disease. 
 

• Wheelchair access adapted for wheelchair. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



 17 

Question 22.  Why do you need to move from your current home and what do you need in a 
new home? 
 

 
 
 
Question 23.  Please indicate the number of people in each age group (male or female) 
needing to move. 
 
AGE 0 - 9 10 - 15 16 - 19 20 - 24 25 - 44 45 - 59 60 - 74 75+ 
Male 1 1 2 7 13 4 8 6 
Female 4 2 1 3 9 4 8 11 
Total 5 3 3 10 22 8 16 17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



 18 

Question 24.  What type of household will the new household become? 
 

Frequency
20151050

One-person household

Lone-parent family

Two-parent family

Couple

Other

21 One-person household 2 Lone-parent family
7 Two-parent family 14 Couple
4 Other

 
 
 
Question 25.  Please indicate the total gross annual income of the household in housing 
need. 
 

Frequency
151050

Under £10,000 (less than £190 pw)
£10,000 - £20,000 (£190-£380 pw)

£30,000 - £40,000

£50,000 - £60,000

More than £70,000

9 Under £10,000 (less than £190 pw)
17 £10,000 - £20,000 (£190-£380 pw)
6 £20,000 - £30,000
4 £30,000 - £40,000
1 £40,000 - £50,000
3 £50,000 - £60,000
1 £60,000 - £70,000
1 More than £70,000

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



 19 

6.  LOCAL HOUSING COSTS 
 
To fully assess local housing need it is important to look at open market prices in the private sector of 
houses both to rent and buy. 
 
Property for sale 
 
Searches of www.rightmove.co.uk which markets property for a number of leading local estate agents, 
in March 2020 found 17 properties for sale in Higham; 9 properties were under £500,000. 
 

Type of Property No. of 
Bedrooms 

Price £ 

Semi-detached house 2 231,000 
Semi-detached house 2 350,000 
Terraced house 3 260,000 
Semi-detached house 3 340,000 
Semi-detached house 3 340,000 
Semi-detached house 3 350,000 
Detached bungalow 3 450,000 
Detached house 4 460,000 
Semi-detached house 4 475,000 

 
 
Property to rent 
 
A similar search for rental property found the following 3 properties available to rent: 
 

Type of Property No. of 
Bedrooms 

Price £ pcm 

Apartment 2 895 
End of terrace 3 1,200 
Detached bungalow 3 1,200 

 
 
Household income required to afford current market prices 
 
Using local information, the table below shows gross income level needed to purchase a property in the 
area.  The figures are calculated assuming a 15% deposit and using 3.5 x gross income.  Monthly 
repayment is based on a 2-year fixed rate with HSBC at 3.3% (April 2020) 25-year mortgage term and is 
calculated using HSBC’s mortgage calculator. 
 
It should be noted that in the current economic climate related to the Covid-19 pandemic, lenders have 
made the borrowing criteria for potential mortgagees far stricter by requiring at least a 15% deposit, 
making securing a mortgage difficult for some first-time buyers, especially those on lower incomes.  
Although there are now higher LTV mortgages available, they tend to attract a higher interest rate.  
However, as a consequence of the Bank of England Interest Rate being reduced to 0.1% due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic, this could enable lower mortgage borrowing interest rates in comparison to 
mortgage borrowing interest rates applicable prior to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113

http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


 20 

Type of Property Price £ Deposit 
(15%) £ 

Gross Income 
Level £ 

Monthly 
Repayment £ 

2 bed Semi-detatched house 231,000 34,650 56,100 784 
2 bed Terraced house 260,000 39,000 63,143 883 
2 bed Semi-detached house 350,000 52,500 85,000 1,189 
3 bed Semi-detatched house 340,000 51,000 82,571 1,155 
3 bed Semi-detached house 350,000 52,500 85,000 1,189 
3 bed Detached bungalow 450,000 67,500 109,285 1,528 
4 bed Detached house 460,000 69,000 111,714 1,562 
4 bed Semi-detached house 475,000 71,250 115,357 1,613 

 
To gauge the income level required to afford to rent privately the following calculations assume that 
30% gross income is spent on housing.  A household is considered able to afford market rented housing 
in cases where the rent payable would constitute no more than 30% of gross income. 
 

Type of Property Price 
£ pcm 

Approx. Gross Annual 
Income £ 

2 bed Apartment 895 35,800 
3 bed End of terrace 1,200 48,000 
3 bed Detached bungalow 1,200 48,000 

 
Using HM Land Registry data on house sales (www.mouseprice.com) using postcode area ME3 which lies 
within or includes part of the following towns, counties, localities electoral wards and stations: All 
Hallows, Chattenden, Cliffe, Cliffe Woods, Cooling, High Halstow, Higham, Hoo, Isle of Grain, Kent, 
Lower Stoke, Middle Stoke, Peninsular, Rochester, Rochester West, Shorne, Cobham, Luddesdown, St 
Mary Hoo, Strood Rural, Upper Stoke, Wainscott, the average house prices in the last 3 months are: 
 
1 bed properties    £174,200 
2 bed properties    £248,400 
3 bed properties    £293,600 
4 bed properties    £412,000 
5+ bed properties  £512,900 
 
To afford the average cost of a 1 bed property using the mortgage calculation previously shown, a 
salary of £42,305 would be required.  To afford the average cost of a 2-bed property a salary of £60,326 
would be required. 
 
Information provided by ‘mouseprice’ states that the average property in the ME3 area costs £310,900 
with average earnings being £20,326.  This means that the average property costs over 15 times more 
than the average salary.  The source used by ‘mouseprice’ to assess price to earnings ratio is Calnea 
Analytics proprietary price data and earnings data – updated quarterly. 
 
Affordable Rent 
 
The Government has introduced changes relating to rents charged to new tenants of social housing from 
April 2011.  Affordable Rent properties allow landlords to set rents anywhere between current social rent 
levels and up to 80% of local market rents.  It is expected that Housing Benefit will support those on a 
lower income who are unable to pay Affordable Rents although this is not guaranteed. 
 
The following table shows Housing Benefit levels, known as Local Housing Allowance (LHA) for the ME3 
area, North West Kent BRMA.  These figures have been used to estimate Affordable Rent levels. 
 
 

Page 114

http://www.mouseprice.com/


 21 

Size of Property Affordable Rent Levels £ pcm 
1 bed 593 
2 bed 748 
3 bed 848 
4 bed 1,196 

 
The table below shows income needed to afford the Affordable Rent levels using 30% of gross income 
as the indicator of what is affordable. 
 
Property Price 

£ pcm 
Gross Annual 

Income £ 
1 bed 593 23,720 
2 bed 748 29,920 
3 bed 848 33,920 
4 bed 1,196 47,840 

 
 
Shared ownership 
 
To give an indication of respondents’ ability to afford shared ownership, levels of income and 
rent/mortgage have been taken into consideration on purchasing a 25% and 40% share of a property 
with estimated values of £174,200 for a 1 bed property, £248,000 for a 2 bed property and £293,000 for 
a 3 bed property.  These values take into consideration prices found on the Help to Buy East and South 
East website in the area www.helptobuyese.org.uk and on www.rightmove.co.uk.  Affordability is 
calculated using the Homes and Communities Agency’s target incomes calculator and assumes a 10% 
deposit of mortgage share. 
 
Property 

Price 
£ 

Share 
% 

Deposit 
Required 

£ 

Monthly 
Mortgage 

£ 

Monthly 
Rent 

£ 

Monthly 
Service 

Charge £ 

Monthly 
Total 

£ 

Gross 
Income 

Required £ 
174,200 25 4,355 213 299 80 592 21,359 
174,200 40 6,968 341 240 80 661 23,813 
248,400 25 6,210 304 427 80 811 29,228 
248,400 40 9,936 486 342 80 908 34,527 
293,600 25 7,340 359 505 80 944 34,022 
293,600 40 11,744 575 404 80 1,059 40,809 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115

http://www.helptobuyese.org.uk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


 22 

7.  ASSESSMENT OF HOUSING NEED 
 
This section is divided into two categories, the need for affordable housing and the needs of 
older households wanting to downsize/move to more suitable housing of all tenures. 
 
A total of 48 respondents indicated that they need alternative housing now or in the next 3 years. 
 
7.1  Assessment of the need for affordable housing 
 
25 respondents said they need affordable housing; 9 respondents need it now and 16 in the next 3 
years.  At this stage, some respondents might be excluded if they do not want or are not eligible for 
affordable housing. 
 
Assessment of the 9 households seeking housing now 
 
2 respondents have been excluded from this final assessment for the following reasons: 
 

• they did not specify their income, they are currently an owner occupier and did not state their 
preferred tenure 

 
The 7 households in need of affordable housing now are: 
 

• 2 single people 
• 2 couples 
• 3 families 

 
Single people - there were 2 single people. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
25-44 2 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 2 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
1 1 
3 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 2 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 2 

Page 116



 23 

Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Flat/maisonette 1 
House/flat/maisonette 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
Yes 2 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 2 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Under 10,000 2 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 

Under 10,000 1 1 x 1 bed 
with HB 0 0 0 

10,000 - 20,000 1 1 x 1 bed 
with HB 0 0 0 

 
It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing 
Benefit. 
 
 
Couples - there were 2 couples. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
20-24 1 
25-44 1 

 

Page 117



 24 

Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 2 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
4 2 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No  2 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
New Build HomeBuy 2 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 2 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 2 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
50,000 - 60,000 1 
60,000 - 70,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 

Page 118



 25 

Income £ No. of 
Respondents 

Affordable 
Rent 

Private 
Rent 

Shared 
Ownership 

Open 
Market 

50,000 - 60,000 1   1 x 3 bed  
60,000 - 70,000 1   1 x 3 bed  

 
Both respondents were interested in shared ownership only. 
 
 
Families - there were 3 families. 
 
Ages: 
 
 Adult 

Age 
Adult 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Family 1 20-24F 20-24M 0-9    
Family 2 25-44F 25-44M 0-9F    
Family 3 25-44F  0-9F    

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting from Council 1 
Living with relatives 2 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
1 1 
3 1 
5 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 2 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 3 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 1 
House/bungalow 2 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



 26 

Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 3 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 1 

Need larger home 1 
Other (did not specify) 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Under 10,000 2 
30,000 - 40,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 

Under 10,000 2 
1 x 2 bed with 

HB1 x 2 bedroom 
with HB 

0 0 0 

30,000 - 40,000 1 1 x 2 bed 0 0 0 
 
It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing 
Benefit. The second respondent could afford to rent privately, but the tenure they were interested in is 
not currently available in the parish (house). Note the respondent did not specify age of child (2 bed). 
 
 
Assessment of the 16 households seeking housing in the next 3 years 
 
9 respondents were excluded from the final assessment as they were seeking to purchase on the open 
market, all 9 were currently owner occupiers. 
 
 
The 7 households in need of affordable housing in the next 3 years are: 
  

• 1 single person 
• 2 couples 
• 3 families 

Page 120



 27 

• 1 other type of household 
 
Single people - there was 1 single person. 
 
Age: 
 
Age Frequency 
20-24 1 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
4 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
New Build HomeBuy 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Other – supported living 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
Yes 1 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• For mental and physical disabilities. 
 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
To be closer to a carer or 
dependent or give and receive 
support  

1 

 
 
 

Page 121



 28 

Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Under 10,000 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 

Under 10,000 1 1 x 1 bed 
with HB 0 0 0 

 
Couples - there were 2 couples. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
25-44 1 
45-59 2 
60-74 1 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting from Council 2 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
1 2 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 2 

 
 

Page 122



 29 

Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Bungalow 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
Yes 1 
No  1 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• Everything on the level because I’m disabled and a Closomat smart wash toilet because of bowel 
disease. I was given this property 8 years ago because I am disabled and have always needed 2 
bedroom. 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need larger home 1 
Need physically-adapted home 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Under 10,000 1 
10,000 - 20,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. Shared ownership has only been assessed 
where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 

Under 10,000 1 1 x 1 bed 
with HB 1 0 0 

10,000 - 20,000 1 1 x 1 with 
HB 0 0 0 

 
It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for housing 
benefit. 
 
 
Families - there were 3 families. 
 
 

Page 123



 30 

Ages: 
 
 Adult 

Age 
Adult 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Family 1 20-24F      
Family 2 25-44 M 25-44 F 16-19 M 16-19 M 0-9 F  
Family 3  25-44 M 25-44 F   0-9 F   

 
One respondent did not specify how many children, it has been assumed there is one child only. 
 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 1 
Renting privately 2 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 
3 1 
4 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 
No 2 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 2 
New Build HomeBuy 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House/flat/maisonette 1 
House 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



 31 

Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 2 

Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 1 
30,000 - 40,000 1 
40,000 - 50,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 

10,000 - 20,000 1 1 x 2 bed 
with HB 0 0 0 

30,000 - 40,000 1 1 x 4 bed 0 0 0 
40,000 - 50,000    1 x 3 bed  

 
 
Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household. 
 
Age: 
 
Age Frequency 
45-59 1 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting from Council 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
3 1 

 

Page 125



 32 

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Bungalow 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
Yes 1 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• In the near future would want to move to smaller home as children moving out and would want 
a smaller home but don’t want to leave village. 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need smaller home 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Under 10,000 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 

Under 10,000 1 1 x 3 bed 
HB 0   

 
 

Page 126



 33 

7.2  Assessment of the need for housing for older households 
 
23 older households said they alternative housing; 7 need it now and 16 in the next 3 years. 
 
Assessment of the 7 households seeking housing now 
 
The 7 households in need of housing now are: 
 

• 4 single people 
• 2 couples 
• 1 other type of household 

 
Single people - there were 4 single people. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
60-74 3 

 
1 respondent did not specify their age (is seeking retirement home). 
 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 1 
Renting privately 2 
Owner occupier with/without 
mortgage 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 
3 1 
4 2 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes  1 
No 3 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 2 
Rent from Council/HA /New 
Build HomeBuy 1 

Owner occupier 1 
 
 
 

Page 127



 34 

Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Sheltered/retirement housing 1 
Flat/maisonette/bungalow/ 
sheltered/retirement housing 

1 

Flat/maisonette/bungalow 1 
Flat/maisonette/sheltered 
/retirement accommodation 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 3 

 
1 respondent did not specify if they had any specific requirements. 
 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 1 

Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

1 

Other (notice to quit in 
September 2020) 1 

Need smaller home 1 
 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 1 
10,000 - 20,000 1 
20,000 - 30,000 1 
More than 70,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
 
Couples - there were 2 couples. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
60-74  2 
75+ 2 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier  2 

Page 128



 35 

Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
3 2 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 2 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Owner occupation 2 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Bungalow 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
Yes 1 
No  1 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• Require bungalow, find hard to cope with stairs (knee replacement). 
 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need smaller home 2 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
20,000 - 30,000 1 
50,000 - 60,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
 
Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
60-74 3 

 
The respondent is living with his son (age unspecified). 

Page 129



 36 

Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting privately 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
1 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
New Build/HomeBuy 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No  3 

 
The respondent did not specify if they had any specific requirements. 
 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to change tenure 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
30,000 - 40,000 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
 
Assessment of the 16 households seeking housing in the next 3 years 
 
The 16 households in need of housing in the next 3 years are: 
 

• 8 single people 
• 7 couples 
• 1 other type of household 

Page 130



 37 

Single people - there were 8 single people. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
60-74 3 
75+ 5 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier with/without 
mortgage 

7 

Renting privately 1 
 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
1 1 
2 4 
3 2 
5 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 
No  7 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Owner occupation 3 
Rent from Council/HA 1 
Other – sheltered 
accommodation 

2 

 
2 respondents did not specify their preferred tenure. 
 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Sheltered housing/retirement 4 
Bungalow 2 
House 1 

 
1 respondent did not specify their preferred accommodation. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



 38 

Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 5 
Yes 1 

 
2 respondents did not specify if they had specific requirements. 
 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• Wheelchair access. 
 

• Ground floor. 
 

• Wet room. 
 

• No steps outside. 
 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

1 

Need to be close to a carer or 
dependent to give or receive 
support 

2 

Need cheaper accommodation 
in or near Higham 

1 

Need smaller home 3 
Need physically-adapted home 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Under 10,000 1 
10,000 - 20,000 7 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
 
Couples - there were 7 couples. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
60-74 3 
75+  9 

 
1 respondent did not specify their ages. 
 
 

Page 132



 39 

Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier with/without 
mortgage 5 

Renting privately 1 
Renting from Council 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 
3 3 
4 3 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 2 
No  5 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Renting privately 1 
Owner occupier with or 
without mortgage 5 

Renting from Council 1 
 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Bungalow/sheltered/ 
retirement housing 4 

Sheltered/retirement housing 1 
Bungalow 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 5 
Yes 2 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• Adapted for wheelchair, wheelchair access. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 133



 40 

Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need smaller home 5 
Need physically-adapted home 1 
Need better access to public 
transport 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 5 
20,000 - 30,000 1 
50,000 - 60,000 1 

 
 
Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household. 
 
Age: 
 
Age Frequency 
60-74 with daughter and 
granddaughter 1 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting privately 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Bungalow 1 

 
 
 
 

Page 134



 41 

Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
Yes 1 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• Due to mobility and as I am now partially sighted with complex issues I do want to stay with my 
doctor, library and post office. 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to be close to carer or 
dependent to give or receive 
support 

1 

Other – not knowing when I 
am getting a rent increase or if 
landlord decides sell 

1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Did not specify 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Higham. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



 42 

8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 
 
The summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the need 
for housing for older households. 
 
8.1  Summary of the need for affordable housing  
 
The Rural Housing Needs Survey has found a need for up to 14 homes for local people who are in need 
of affordable housing; they are: 3 single people, 4 couples, 6 families and 1 other type of household. 
 
7 of the households need housing now and 7 in the next 3 years. 
 
The 14 respondents who are in need of affordable housing indicated strong local connections to Higham; 
they all currently live there. 
 
There are a total of 23 adults and 7 children in housing need. 
 
8 households are currently living with relatives, 4 households are Council tenants and 2 are private 
tenants. 
 
The majority of respondents wanted a house or a flat/maisonette, one respondent wanted supported 
living. 
 
In total, 3 respondents indicated an interest in New Build HomeBuy; these households indicated the 
ability to afford a share of a property.  More detailed analysis of their income, amount of deposit they 
have available and actual cost of the shared ownership property would be required to confirm 
affordability. 
 
Taking into account Gravesham Borough Council’s allocation policy and Help to Buy eligibility, the 
following size and tenure of properties have been identified: 
 
Rented HA/Council 
 

• 5 x 1 bed 
• 4 x 2 bed 
• 1 x 3 bed 
• 1 x 4 bed 

 
New Build HomeBuy 
 

• 3 x 3 bed 
 
 

8.2  Summary of the need for housing for older households 
 
The survey has found a need for alternative housing for 23 older households; they are: 12 single people, 
9 couples and 2 other types of household.  They all currently live in Higham. 
 
7 households require housing now and 16 within the next 3 years. 
15 are owner occupiers, 5 are renting privately, 2 are Council tenants and 1 household is living with 
relatives. 
 
15 older households require alternative open market homes and 8 require affordable housing. 

Page 136



 43 

The most frequently given reason for needing an alternative home was the need for a smaller home; 
other reasons include: need to be close to a carer, need a physically-adapted home and present home 
too expensive. 
 
The 15 respondents that want to buy an alternative home on the open market said they require the 
following: 
 

• 6 x sheltered/retirement housing 
• 5 x bungalow 
• 1 x house 
• 2 x bungalow or sheltered/retirement housing 
• 1 x did not state their preferred property type 

 
The 8 respondents that need affordable housing said they require the following: 
 

• 3 x bungalow (rented from Council/HA) 
• 1 x bungalow/sheltered/retirement housing (rented from Council/HA) 
• 1 x sheltered/retirement housing (rented from Council/HA) 
• 1 x flat/maisonette/bungalow/sheltered/retirement housing (rented from Council/HA) 
• 1 x flat/maisonette (rented from Council/HA or New Build/HomeBuy) 
• 1 x house (New Build HomeBuy) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



 44 

9.  APPENDIX H1 – QUESTION 7 COMMENTS 
 

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make (to Q6). 
 

As long as affordable housing is only available for people from the village already. 

No more houses, school and doctors cannot cope already, which we have to travel out of area because 
there are too many people. 

Although we are in favour of building affordable houses, this must not take place on green belt land or 
agricultural land. 

Affordable housing is always an excellent idea unless it encroaches on green belt. There is no scenario 
where development of green belt land is acceptable. 

The school, doctors and road can't take any more. 

The school, doctors and transport cannot cope with what there is now, so what hope for extras. 

We have lived in the village for approximately 36 years.  We have seen our idyllic village become packed 
with undesirables moving in and out, so many cars, work vans, etc preventing us from parking outside 
our own home.  It's gone from a quiet picturesque village to an over- populated town.  Our road is like a 
motorway and extremely dangerous. 

Current infrastructure not coping with developments at Ebbsfleet, Chattendon, Cliffe and Hoo. 

Only brown field sites should be used for any small development. Affordable housing in Lower Higham 
was given to people from Essex. Why? 

I would like/prefer that properties in the village (or a new small development) were kept as private 
rented or owned properties, not blocks of council flats. 

Need to protect open space - not build on it!  Also don't want cheap chavvy estates! 

I have four generations living in village. I had to move out when I married as unable to afford property 
to buy in Higham then. My daughter has done the same. 

Roads, parking and station services are not equipped to take this additional load. 

We have enough housing in the village and our roads/lanes could not cope with extra traffic. 

It would be an asset to the village but should be really affordable, not like previous builds that were out 
of most peoples' price range. 

Schools and doctors can't cope now. Cheap housing will bring in outsiders. 

As long as it was purely for a connection within the village. 

The village has large area of social housing.   Affordable housing doesn't stay affordable. The build near 
the station had a very strange allocation policy with NHS workers turned down - nepotism??? 

There is immediate need for older residents downsizing to maybe small bungalows or apartments to free 
up their houses which are under occupied!! 

Page 138



 45 

Affordable housing should mean affordable to tenants/owners and not to give builder firms a huge 
profit. 

It should remain a village, with no more homes built. 

New to village but first impressions are the village is too big for cohesive community, but I like it here! 

Let's not kid ourselves, the 'affordable housing' will not be for people of Higham.   It will be for whoever 
they want it to be. 

I have lived in Higham for over 40 years. I would like to downsize to remain in the village. Suitable 
properties are not hardly affordable. 

There is so much development in the area already with enough threatening the future of our village.   
More building will mean we will no longer be a beautiful village and become more saturated with 
concrete. Not enough supportive infrastructure, i.e. roads, hospitals, police, fire, doctors, etc. NO 
MORE!! 

Any affordable housing project should have the benefit of solar power/water heating and consideration 
given to a community heating scheme. 

Further developments will destroy the character of the village and have a severe effect on roads and 
traffic, 2 schools in village and we experience heavy traffic without adding to the problem. 

No more room in Higham for development. May I say that already it is congested in Hills Road and 
Forge Lane with difficulties passing at times. 

Would guess: - supported living most needed to ensure older residents can downsize, remain in village 
freeing up properties for young people. 

We have had housing provided in this village previously promised for those with links to Higham.   Sadly, 
this promise was broken by the Borough and Housing Association.   The views of the parish council were 
ignored. 

We love our green fields - that is why we are still here!! 

But only for people who really need it!! 

Providing main drains and road surfaces are renewed. 

The last lot of affordable housing in Higham was filled with people from Gravesend not Higham. 

We need more houses in Higham, Council Homes so they are affordable. Also, more housing for older 
people who have lived here for years. Q8 is hard to answer as no one knows what could happen over 
time 

New building is not the complete answer. GBC needs to encourage large properties to be sold when only 
l or 2 persons live there. Greater need for family homes. Need to consider grandparents who are 
occasional carers for grandkids or indeed elderly parents, all under one roof. 

Preferably a brown field site within the footprint of the village. 

Page 139



 46 

We do not want Higham, however, to be redeveloped to the point where it loses its village feel and 
becomes an urban area. 

We don't have the facilities to support more housing, i.e. hospitals, schools, public transport, etc. 

Lower Higham is not suitable for a possible site as it has no facilities.   Too far from shops and main part 
of the village. 

This is a large enough village now, with more and more new home sites popping up every now and 
then.   This village does not need green belt taken from it! 

Yes - allow affordable housing for young people to get on the property ladder (i.e. apartments/2-
bedroom houses) to be built on land adjacent to Higham Railway Station. 

Because they are given to people outside the area i.e. Jupp Court. 

The roads in Higham are getting very busy and parked cars (permanently parked) are causing a 
problem.   Any new development would exacerbate the problem.   Higham is a rural area between two 
massive conurbations and wishes to remain that way.  Development should be infilling if possible.  

Needs to really meet the needs and affordability of local people and be small developments of 5 houses 
or so. 

I feel the village is overcrowded already.   The traffic particularly on the Gravesend Road is horrendous. 

I would approve a small development, approx. 20-25 houses. Please note that to my knowledge the 
affordable housing which included the Chequers pub in Lower Higham took a long time to fill and not all 
from local residents! 

Agree this should be prioritised for Higham people. We also feel that the village could also be made 
slightly bigger to accommodate those that want to stay in the village (non help to buy). 

I don't object to additional housing per se.  I object to the strain that an increased population would put 
on the school, the doctors' surgery and street parking. 

The roads and drainage cannot accommodate more people/houses. 

This would lead to development of green belt land which is not in the interest of parishioners. 

There is accommodation in the village which was built to provide housing. Unfortunately, this is let to 
one parent families and drug dealers from other areas and other unsavoury tenants 

Judd Place, Lower Higham was meant to be for Higham residents. All sold to people out of the Higham 
area. 

This village doesn't need affordable housing. There is no benefit and I feel this will bring the area 
surrounding the affordable housing down.   We used to live next to affordable housing for a while and it 
ruined our lives as there was so much antisocial/vandalism behaviour.  

Stop building and destroying the environment. There are many new houses in the Gravesham/Ebbsfleet 
area. There is no need for more.  

Page 140



 47 

Not in favour of a small development for people from the village as it's not guaranteed that it would go 
to the villagers. 

No objections. It must be where elderly residents have access to shops, buses, etc.   Public transport is 
2 buses a day, not enough.  

As a working family we would not be entitled to affordable housing so would be of no benefit. We would 
have to find a cheaper area to live to gain a bigger house. Gravesham Council keep using 2 bed 
bungalows for families rather than the elderly.   People move into affordable housing and mistreat it and 
the area.  

Only if the development was for village people. There would not be a need if Gravesham stopped 
moving people from outside the village into available property, especially when they are disruptive and 
of no benefit to the village community.  

Social housing is greatly needed to sustain a viable community.  

Depends what is meant by small development.  Depends upon the quality of the proposed small 
development. Some imagination and respect for the local environment in planning.  

In favour providing homes are for key and for working tenants. Not social and people on welfare.   
History has shown these well-meaning schemes end up providing homes in good communities for 
difficult families, resulting in crime, public disorder.  

We would have reservations about this. However, if there was a need for the elderly with connections to 
Higham, we would have less concerns.  

Not on any farmland or where farmland has been changed to accommodate horses and stabling.   
Reason being the land can be changed back to farmland.  

a.   What is small development?   b.  What is affordable?   c.  What is a proven need? 

As long as above does not require building on green belt or farmers/wooded land.  

Where and when is this development to be built in village? 

No objection to a small housing development but knowing councils these usually turn into large 
developments. Infrastructure must also be in place as getting doctor's appointments etc take far too 
long at present. Parking in village is also getting ridiculous. Would want to keep open fields, etc so 
Higham maintains its village appeal.  

School and doctors cannot cope now.  

This has been undertaken before and no local people benefitted. It was a con, poorly managed and 
poorly executed.  

We would be interested in shared ownership homes to be able to get on the housing ladder.  

Do we have to have the church bells as often as we do as they are so out of tune.  

Page 141



 48 

My daughter and granddaughter had to move to rented accommodation in Gravesend as she was 
privately renting and the owner put the house up for sale. She is my carer and has to come back and 
forth.  

I am against as building developments called affordable seem to me to be anything but with the rental 
side of the property being extremely expensive. Also, in the past these small developments have not 
been for local young people.  I think Higham needs larger family homes so as to free up small houses 
for young people that are actually better value for money.  

Higham is already sufficiently occupied, no need for additional housing.  

Additional schooling and healthcare needed if housing built in Higham.  

The roads network cannot cope with more development to the area.  

Stop allowing bungalows being converted to houses. This would allow older generation of people able to 
move into smaller properties within the village, thus freeing up larger houses for growing families who 
either want to move or stay in this village! 

Leave green belt alone. Stop building on ground needed for drainage and the roads are too overcrowded 
as it is.  

In the past we were told small infill developments would be evenly spaced throughout the village.   We 
were also told that only people satisfying the criteria would be considered for them.  The developments 
haven't been evenly spaced, they have been concentrated in Lower Higham.  They have grown in size to 
mini estates of five and above houses and have been given to people that do not satisfy the criteria 
because you couldn't find takers.  People can say they would like a house but they must still have 
money for a deposit.  

But this should be within the footprint of the village - not fields etc outside the village.  

Housing does always go to local people.  

Primary school and GP surgery full.  

Higham has an acute car parking problem, and no reasonable public transport.  

Please ensure that affordable housing is limited for use by local people only. 

There are numerous houses vacant in surrounding areas, we do not need more.  

Council have refused to house my granddaughter, partner and baby because her partner works so can 
only go private. They can't even get on the council housing list!! 

I wish there was more housing to rent from council in village now as I am having to move out soon as 
my landlord wants the house back, and I can't afford the rent so on housing list bidding.  I am 62 and 
would love to stay in this beautiful village but no hope.  

We love the countryside feel, nice to have green fields to walk across. Village would lose that village feel 
and community.  School isn't big enough, too much traffic, no parking 

Page 142



 49 

More homes would ruin the area and more traffic. It's bad enough with plans for Lower Thames 
Crossing.  

Affordable should mean affordable.  Builders shouldn't be so greedy. £250K is not affordable first-time 
buyers. Council should scrutinise builders more closely to ensure quality, genuine affordability and not 
allow building on green belt, flood plains, marshes, low lying areas.  

Keep Higham a village, not a housing estate. Please! 

The village is too small for extra housing. The roads are in a terrible condition with potholes, etc.   More 
people living here would cause havoc.  

As long as the traffic implications were taken into account and that the proper infrastructure is put in 
place.  

Only a small development and only for local people.  

When affordable houses were built before (Jupp Court) local people couldn't get them.  

Provided it can be affordable as young people can't buy on their own these days as too expensive and 
can't earn enough, so they have to move to cheaper accommodation farther away as Higham expensive 
and sought after.  

Any new builds should have sufficient off-road parking. Concern also re more people to live in Higham 
with school and doctors stretched even now.  

Very dependent on traffic calming, infrastructure and more local service support as in transport for the 
elderly, more shop choice, medical cover and policing in the area.  

As long as they homes are for people from the village, I'm in favour.  

The Thames Crossing will cause enough disruption to our village. We do not need any more of our 
countryside built on.  

Protect our natural history and green fields.  

Children struggling to find affordable housing to get on property ladder.  

No more developments required! 

We bought our house in Lower Higham because of the rural location and less houses - we do not want 
more houses built here! 

Provided the development does not stretch the school, doctors or other amenities.  

There are plenty of brown field sites along the canal, i.e. Nuralits Old Factory! 

We moved to Higham for the village feel. If a new development cropped up, we would lose the novelty.  

Further development either side of Taylors Lane should be avoided - this area provides walking, nature 
and views of the estuary. 

So long as priority is given to village people first, also have been waiting for longer.  

Page 143



 50 

It has to be affordable. Last time people from outside Higham moved in. Both my sons now live in Cliffe 
because Higham is too expensive.  

Not enough infrastructure in the village to support more homes. Parents from outside of village ties to 
get a school place for children. Surgery and school cannot cope at the moment, so more residents would 
cause chaos. Not enough regular public transport.  

My daughter and her family are having to privately rent in Higham as unable to get on council list, as 
not in need of social housing??   They were on the list for years and had no points to bid.  

The roads (many small village lanes) and other infrastructure including doctors, primary school, etc 
could not cope with additional people and homes.  Also, we already get frequent power cuts and poor 
broadband - so not great for new families! 

Already sufficient village affordable housing.  

Neither the school, doctors' practice could cope with increased population.   All village roads are narrow 
and not well made.   The increase in traffic would have a detrimental effect.   Lack of public transport 
would mean more vehicles on already overcrowded roads for transit and parking.  

I have replied NO to Q6 as I don't believe it would be only available to people from the village.   If it was 
initially would this be the case in the future.  

There is a need for truly affordable housing countrywide and until this false description is amended this 
will be the case for the foreseeable future   How much does it cost to build a new house!  and how 
much are they sold for??   Cap the profits and cut down the amount of luxury housing until the needs 
for real affordable homes are met.   Match housing costs with wage levels and the realistic opportunity 
to truly being able to afford to buy.   And make sure there are schools, doctors, public transport and 
necessary infrastructure before doing so. 

I will be looking to downsize at some point in the short/med term future. 

What impact would this have on the Higham school?  I understand it's hard enough to enrol your 
children if they live in the village.  How small is a small development? 

Would like to buy another bungalow but too expensive.  

Strictly for people from the village with strong ties - 5 years+.  Properties should be of good quality and 
be sympathetic to surroundings.  

Worried re: increase in traffic and would like to maintain status of sought-after area.  

There are already many housing developments in nearby villages.   Village facilities, especially GP 
services already struggling with current population.  

There are not enough local facilities for more families/people in Higham.  

More off road parking for householders. There are too many vehicles including works vehicles being 
parked making it dangerous for mums with prams when they park on the verges and road. 

Building housing for older people - Lower Higham not suitable - no shops, chemist or doctors' - too far 
and not enough transport for non-drivers! 

Page 144



 51 

Places for the OAPs so they don't have to move out of the village when they don't want to.  

Please improve the roads!! Thank you.  

Last batch built inhabited by non-villagers.  

Being I have lived in village all my life I do not want to move out, that goes for my wife too.  

There is insufficient access to public services/amenities such as surgeries/transport/schools as well as 
shops to support the requirements of people needing affordable housing.   The council would be better 
employed getting developers to build this housing on brownfield sites closer to Gravesend town centre, 
such as the canal basin area where building permission was approved many years ago.  

There are too many people living in a small area, too much traffic already for unsuitable roads.  

People move here because it’s a village and for what it stands for!!  Respect people's chosen location 
and investments. Build elsewhere.  

Higham is great with the number of houses - more houses are not required.  A sustainable strategy 
nationwide is required to allow people to buy the houses that currently exist. 

We moved away from a new build development which included affordable housing, due to an increase in 
crime and antisocial behaviour which came from the individuals in the affordable housing.  It would 
devalue our home and the local area making it unsafe for the people of Higham. 

There must be a need. Previous developments of affordable housing have been taken up by people from 
outside the village. 

Higham is overrun with cheap badly built ex-council houses and badly built 80s houses. 

Why would you want to build houses so close to the proposed new Lower Thames Crossing when air 
quality will be destroyed, light and noise pollution will increase and burden an infrastructure will already 
be under pressure?? 

And no. Do these houses really go to people from the village?  What about the impact on 
schools/doctors/parking and traffic in the village? 

This was tried several years ago under the same premise and proved controversial, as not all the homes 
built went to past or local residents in the village! 

I feel the proposal should be followed and strongly support the development of affordable housing 
directed at local people's needs.  

All affordable housing that has been built ended up being given to people not from the village, and old 
people's flats i.e. Dickens Court, ended up with very young people - not very good! 

I have ticked NO because a large amount of these properties would be rented, not part buy and, in my 
view, a large proportion of rented tenants don't look after the properties.   You only have to walk round 
Forge-Brice-Irwin-Dombey to see this. They should be told to clean up or out. 

Higham is a village which is a nice size now.   We do not need it any bigger than it would become 
overcrowded.  As with the road in and out past the school and near Villa Road is bad enough not 

Page 145



 52 

without more traffic coming through, also have enough power cuts due to much houses in the village as 
it is, so will only get worse.  

A small development was built a few years ago and no one in the village got one!!! 

There is already the Lower Thames Crossing and an application to double the size of Nuralite Industrial 
site underway. Current residents will only be more negatively impacted by further redevelopment.  

Only a small development which would not change the character of the village (Higham) or increase the 
traffic through the village. 

The is too much development of land without sufficient development of infrastructure. 

Would support rent-only for key workers. For sale properties would not become affordable. 

In Upper Higham. 

Keep it a village. 

Badly need more social housing in small areas of the village. 

No to Q6 is because previous properties have not gone to residents of Higham with the exception of 
part-buy. Proper vetting did not take place. 

A retirement village might solve a lot of problems for oaps and release larger houses for young families. 

This road is an accident waiting to happen one road in and out very busy road small school because no 
one has done anything about it, lorries going up and down large lorries early morning and late evening. 

Housing to be on a brownfield site and only for bona fide local people. 

Would support if about 20 homes 

Speed limit 30 miles per hour down school lane: lorrys lower Rochester Road 

I would not wish the Greenbelt boundaries to be encroached upon. 

As long as GP and schools are not put under more pressure (3 week wait for Dr appointment). 

We would question that the village affordable housing would go to people from the village. We believe 
there are plenty of brown field sites of empty properties which should be utilised elsewhere. 

Too many houses are being built in this area already!!! 

I think Higham is well supplied with affordable options. There are also a myriad of options in the local 
area. What we are lacking is green space / amenity land. 

Higham and surrounding areas do not have the infrastructure to cope with more houses! 

Please don't let Higham become a developer's paradise as has happened in Watling St - paved 
driveways, astroturf, destruction of habitat, dev not in keeping, resulting in loss of heritage. We want to 
move away as our neighbours have done. 

The village is already built upon on supporting amenities e.g. doctors, school. 

Page 146



 53 

Higham is a village and needs to stay a village, the land surrounding the village should remain unspoilt 
there is far too much housing being built in this part of Kent already. 

Roads are too busy as they are. School and doctors oversubscribed. 

Ticked yes because this would be dependent on location. It would suit being a built-up location already. 

Very little market stock available in village location so a small development might keep youngsters in the 
village life and good for commerce. 

Roads can't cope. Schools overflowing. Appointments at doctors. Drainage. Every house built bring more 
problems to roads and parking. 

We live in a lovely small village. I do not wish its size to grow. If affordable housing is built, I 
understand, but would be sad to see greenbelt land / fields disappear. 

But our answer is dependent upon number and size.  

Encourage walking distance to local schools, amenities and public transport. 

A flat with a garden would be preferable.  

My wife and I both lived in Higham before we were married 51 years ago. I was born in Higham. 

There is limited space in the village so each potential site would need careful consideration with villagers 
and Higham Parish Council. 

So long as they 're affordable with decent sized gardens and driveways sympathetic to surroundings. 

The road infrastructure in the village cannot be extended, parking in same roads is already tight, the 
doctors surgery would struggle to take even more patients, it is already near impossible to get an 
appointment. 

Must be affordable!! 

I would want any small development to be totally for village residents ONLY. 

There are 10 million people living in the South East of England. There is not enough land to farm on, 
never mind building on. There are only 5.438 million people living in the whole of Scotland - go and 
build your houses there! 

Having lived in the village for many years, I have seen an increase in infrastructure which has become 
disturbing. This combined with infrastructure restrictions make me feel no further expansion would be 
sustainable. 

I have experienced affordable housing and it is dearer than other houses in Higham. Also, local transport 
almost non-existent and parking almost impossible. 

Page 147



 54 

10.  APPENDIX H2 – LETTER TO HOUSEHOLDERS AND HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY 
 

 

Page 148



 55 

 

Page 149



 56 

 

 
 

Page 150



 57 

 

Page 151



 58 

 

Page 152



 
 

Cobham Rural Housing Needs 
Survey  

December 2020 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Rosemary Selling 
Rural & Community Housing Enabler 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent 
 
www.ruralkent.org.uk 

Page 153

http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/


 2 

 
 
 
Contents          Page 

 
1.  Executive Summary        3 
 
2.  Introduction to the Cobham Rural Housing Needs Survey   4 
 
3.  Background Information       5 
 
4.  Method          6 
 
5.  Results          7 
 
6.  Local Housing Costs        18 
 
7.  Assessment of Housing Need       21 
 7.1  Assessment of the need for affordable housing    21 
 7.2  Assessment of the need for housing for older households  27 
 
8.  Summary of Findings        33 
 8.1  Summary of the need for affordable housing    33 
 8.2  Summary of the need for housing for older households  33 
 
9.  Appendix C1 – Question 7 Comments      35 
 
10.  Appendix C2 – Letter to Householders and Housing Needs Survey  40 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



 3 

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Rural and Community Housing Enabler (RCHE) undertook a housing needs survey in Cobham to 
ascertain if there are shortfalls in affordable housing provision and to examine the housing needs of 
older households within the village.  This report provides overall information as well as analysis of 
housing need. 
 
A survey was delivered to every household within Cobham in July 2020.  Approximately 604 surveys 
were distributed with 226 surveys being returned, representing a 37% response rate. 
 
Analysis of the returned survey forms identified that 83% of all respondents are owner occupiers.  68% 
of respondents have lived in Cobham for over 10 years. 
 
High property prices and a predominance of privately-owned homes means that some local people are 
unable to afford a home within Cobham.  For a first-time buyer an income of £103,214 per annum and a 
deposit of £63,750 are needed to buy the cheapest property available within Cobham, which, at the time 
of writing the report, was a 4-bed end of terrace for £425,000.  At the time of writing the report no 
properties available for rent were found. 
 
A need for up to 7 affordable homes for the following local households were identified: 
 

• 2 single people 
• 3 couples 
• 2 families 

 
All 7 households currently live in Cobham. 
 
In addition to the above, up to 8 older local households with a need for alternative accommodation were 
identified as follows: 
 

• 3 single people 
• 3 couples 
• 1 family 
• 1 other type of household 

 
All 8 households currently live in Cobham. 

 
Up to 3 affordable homes for older local households were identified and up to 5 older local households 
require alternative open market homes. 
 
Overall, the survey has identified a need for 10 affordable homes, 3 of which are for older households.  
In addition, there is a requirement for 5 open market homes for older households who wish to 
downsize/move to more suitable housing for their needs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 155



 4 

2.  INTRODUCTION TO THE COBHAM RURAL HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY 
 
Cobham is approximately 5 miles south of Gravesend in the Borough of Gravesham with a population of 
1,469 (2011 Census).  It is comprised of 2 settlements: Cobham and Sole Street.  The nearest railway 
station is approximately 3 miles away in Meopham (34 minutes to London Victoria) and Ebbsfleet 
International Railway station 7 miles away.  Facilities in Cobham include a pre-school, primary school, 
village shop and community store. 
 
Rural Housing Needs Surveys aim to investigate and establish the affordable housing needs of people 
who live in or have close ties to a parish or rural area, and provide an independent report of that need, 
if any, using a transparent and robust methodology. 
 
The Rural Housing Enabler worked with Gravesham Borough Council to determine the format of the 
housing needs survey to be used in the Gravesham area; this was then sent to all Parish Councils in the 
Borough for consultation.  It is intended that all the rural areas of the Borough will be surveyed on a 
rolling-out programme. 
 
A survey was undertaken in Cobham to establish the level of need for affordable housing. 
 
The aim of this survey is to identify in general terms if there is, or is not, a housing need from local 
people.  It is not to provide a list of names and addresses of individuals requiring a home.  If a need is 
identified, then a further Registration of Interest survey may be undertaken to update the levels of 
housing need.  At this stage, further details such as name and address, income, housing need and 
details of local connection will be taken.  The identification of potential sites e.g. infill sites, to meet the 
identified need would then be undertaken, preferably with the assistance of Cobham Parish Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 156



 5 

3.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
In a report published in June 2018 by the Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR) it is stated that:  
‘The affordability gaps in rural areas are high compared to urban areas.  The average rural house price 
is around £19,000 above the average for England as a whole, at £320,700 compared to £301,900, and is 
more than £87,000 higher than the urban average excluding London (£233,600).* 
 
Small developments of local needs housing schemes can provide affordable housing for local people, 
thereby enabling them to stay in their community and contribute to village life.  This can make a real 
difference to the vitality of village services. 
 
The Government believes that the Community Right To Build will shift power from them to allow local 
people to deliver homes that are needed in their communities so that villages are vibrant places to live 
and younger people are not forced to move away because of a shortage of affordable homes.†  The 
Community Right to Build forms part of the neighbourhood planning provisions contained in the Localism 
Act 2011. 
 
The Rural Housing Enabler Programme, which is delivered in Kent through Action with Communities in 
Rural Kent – the Rural Community Council for Kent and Medway, is supported by Local Authorities 
across Kent and Medway including Gravesham Borough Council. 
 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent is a registered charity (No. 212796) whose purpose is to improve 
the quality of life of local communities, particularly for disadvantaged people, and to facilitate the 
development of thriving, diverse and sustainable communities throughout rural Kent.  Since March 1998 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent has employed a Rural Housing Enabler, whose role is to provide 
independent support, advice and information to Parish Councils and community groups concerned with 
the lack of local needs housing in their rural communities. 
 
The RCHE will assist with carrying out a housing needs survey, analyse the results and when appropriate 
help identify suitable sites in conjunction with the local authority and others, for a local needs housing 
scheme.  Once a partnership has been established between the Parish Council, the chosen housing 
association and the local authority to develop a scheme, the independent role of the RCHE helps to 
ensure the project proceeds smoothly and to the benefit of the community. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                           
* A New Rural Settlement: Fixing the affordable housing crisis in rural England https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-
06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf 
† http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact 

Page 157

https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact


 6 

4.  METHOD 

The RCHE from Action with Communities in Rural Kent posted a copy of the survey to every household 
in Cobham in July 2020.  The survey was originally scheduled to be undertaken during April but due to 
the Covid-19 pandemic the survey was postponed until July. 
 
Surveys were returned in pre-paid envelopes to Action with Communities in Rural Kent.  Copies of the 
survey were available for anyone to complete who had left Cobham and wished to return; they were 
held by the RCHE.  It was asked that completed survey forms were returned by 12 August 2020.  All 
surveys received at Action with Communities in Rural Kent by the 24 August are included in this report. 
 
Approximately 604 surveys were distributed with 226 returned by this date representing a return rate of 
37%. 
 
Some surveys were not fully completed therefore the results are shown for the total answers to each 
question. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



 7 

5.  RESULTS 
 
Section 1 
 
Listed below are the results of each question asked by the housing needs survey. 
 
Question 1.  How would you describe your home?∗ 
 

House Bungalow Other

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

155 House
5 Flat/maisonette/bedsit
8 Sheltered/retirement housing*

50 Bungalow
0 Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
2 Other

 
 
 
Question 2.  How many bedrooms does your current home have? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                           
∗ Retirement housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which consists of purpose-built accommodation in which 
varying amounts of care and support can be offered, and where some facilities are shared. 

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

16 1 44 2 74 3 72 4
17 5+

Page 159



 8 

Question 3.  Who owns your home? 
 

Frequency
1000

Owned outright by a household member(s)

Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)

Rented from a Housing Association

Tied to a job

Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)

Rented from the local council

Rented from a private landlord

Other

134 Owned outright by a household member(s)
52 Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)
7 Rented from a Housing Association
1 Tied to a job
0 Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)
7 Rented from the local council

12 Rented from a private landlord
9 Other

 
 
83% of respondents who answered the question are owner occupiers; 60% own their homes outright 
and 23% have a mortgage. 
 
 
Question 4.  How many years have you lived in Cobham? 
 

less than 1 year 6 - 10 years 16 - 25 years

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

90
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

9 less than 1 year 37 1 - 5 years
26 6 - 10 years 23 11 - 15 years
41 16 - 25 years 90 26+ years

 
 
154 respondents (68%) have lived in Cobham for over 10 years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



 9 

Question 5.  Have any of your children/parents/brothers/sisters moved away from Cobham 
in the last 5 years, due to difficulties in finding a suitable home locally? 

 
 
Question 6.  Depending on location, would you be in favour of a small development of 
affordable housing for people from the village if there is a proven need? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

120
110
100
90
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

96 Yes 124 No

 
 
44% of respondents who answered the question (42% of all respondents) would be in favour of a small 
development of affordable housing for people from Cobham. 
 
 
Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make 
 
There were 95 responses to this question; a full list of comments can be found in Section 9 - Appendix 
C1. 
 
 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

200

180

160

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

0

10 Yes
205 No

Page 161



 10 

Question 8.  Do you or a member of your household need separate or alternative 
accommodation either now or in the next 3 years? 

 
22 respondents (10%) said they have a housing need either now or in the next 3 years. 
 
 
Section 2 – Housing Needs 
 
Question 9.  Are you completing this form for someone else? 
 

Self Someone else

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

16 Self 6 Someone else

 
 
 
Question 10.  If you are completing this form for someone else please state their 
relationship to you and where they currently live e.g. with parents, private renting etc. 
 
Respondents who were completing the form for someone else were doing so for their adult children still 
living in their parental home. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



 11 

Question 11.  Do you currently live in Cobham? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

22
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

22 Yes 0 No

 
 
 
Question 12.  What is your connection with the village?  Respondents were asked to indicate all 
connections that applied to them. 
 
Local connection FREQUENCY 
Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 10 years 14 

Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 5 years 6 

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
for 5 out of the last 10 years 0 

Do not currently live in the village but have close family who 
currently live there and have done so continuously for the last 10 
years 

0 

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
continuously for at least 10 years and, in my opinion, was forced to 
move away due to a lack of suitable accommodation 

0 

 
 
Question 13.  What is your current housing situation? 
 

Frequency
1050

Owner occupier with/without mortgage

Living with relatives

Renting from council

Shared ownership/new build homebuy

Renting from Housing Association

Tied tenancy

Renting privately

Other

12 Owner occupier with/without mortgage
4 Living with relatives
1 Renting from council
0 Shared ownership/new build homebuy
0 Renting from Housing Association
0 Tied tenancy
4 Renting privately
1 Other

Page 163



 12 

Question 14.  How many bedrooms do you have in your current home? 
 

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

0

0 1 6 2 8 3 5 4 2 5+

 
 
 
Question 15.  Are you registered on the Council’s Housing Register? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

5 Yes 16 No

 
 
One respondent did not specify if they are on the housing register. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 164



 13 

Question 16.  Are you an older person/household wanting to downsize/move to more 
suitable accommodation? 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

13
12
11
10
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0

8 Yes 13 No

 
 
 
Question 17.  Which of the following options would be most suitable for you in alternative 
accommodation?∗ 
 

Frequency
86420

Rent from council/housing association*

New build homebuy **

Rent from a private landlord

Owner occupation

Other (please specify)

7 Rent from council/housing association*
5 New build homebuy **
1 Rent from a private landlord
9 Owner occupation
0 Other (please specify)

 
 
 
Question 18.  Do you have any comments on the above options? 
 
The following comments were made: 
 

• I have been on the GBC housing list for 2 years - I was suffering domestic abuse, my husband 
has left.  I am on my own with my granddaughter and struggle due to high rent. 

 
• Bungalow facilities for retired elderly within development. 

 
                                           
* To be considered for this type of accommodation, you need to be registered on Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Housing Register.  Tel: 01474 564422. 
** Government scheme which enables people to buy a share in a newly built property (also known as shared 
ownership). 

Page 165



 14 

• We will be looking to extend our currently property to provide more accommodation. 
 

• Want to stay in village but cannot afford a bungalow in this area. 
 

• The majority of people in Cobham own their own homes (often large) look forward to downsizing 
to a bungalow, smaller home - but none are available to buy or rent.  So they remain in large 
houses they do not need and could do with the smaller properties and releasing their cash. 

 
• Would like well-built character designed home with outside space/garden. Not on Lee Estate. 

 
• Would love to buy a home outright or part ownership. 

 
• My son had to move to Wales to afford a property. 

 
• Would like 2 or 3 bedrooms to be able accommodate family when they come to stay. 

 
 
Question 19.  What type of accommodation would meet your needs?∗ 
 

Frequency
151050

House

Flat/maisonette

Bungalow

Sheltered/retirement housing*

Other

15 House
4 Flat/maisonette
9 Bungalow
2 Sheltered/retirement housing*
2 Other

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                           
∗ Retirement Housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which offers independent living in a home of your choice 
with other services on hand if you need or want them. 

Page 166



 15 

Question 20.  Do you have any specific requirements? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Question 21.  If you answered ‘Yes’ to Question 20, please give details. 
 
The following answers were given: 
 

• Wheelchair access. 
 

• I have chronic arthritis therefore I cannot manage stairs easily need ground floor or bungalow, 
but they are too expensive in the village. 
 

• Walk in shower, wheelchair access to front and back of property.  Support/carers available when 
needed. 
 

• My wife has several disabilities and illnesses and has limited mobility.  She requires a wheelchair 
at times and sticks at other times. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

3 Yes 14 No

Page 167



 16 

Question 22.  Why do you need to move from your current home and what do you need in a 
new home? 
 

 
 
 
Question 23.  Please indicate the number of people in each age group (male or female) 
needing to move 
 
AGE 0 - 9 10 - 15 16 - 19 20 - 24 25 - 44 45 - 59 60 - 74 75+ 
Male 3 0 1 5 6 3 1 3 
Female 4 1 0 0 3 7 3 1 
Total 7 1 1 5 9 10 4 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 168



 17 

Question 24.  What type of household will the new household become? 

 
One respondent did not specify the type of household they will become. 
 
 
Question 25.  Please indicate the total gross annual income of the household in housing 
need. 
 

Frequency
86420

Under £10,000 (less than £190 pw)

£10,000 - £20,000 (£190-£380 pw)
£20,000 - £30,000

£30,000 - £40,000
£40,000 - £50,000

£50,000 - £60,000
£60,000 - £70,000

More than £70,000

0 Under £10,000 (less than £190 pw)
8 £10,000 - £20,000 (£190-£380 pw)
6 £20,000 - £30,000
2 £30,000 - £40,000
0 £40,000 - £50,000
2 £50,000 - £60,000
1 £60,000 - £70,000
1 More than £70,000

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Frequency
876543210

One-person household

Lone-parent family

Two-parent family

Couple

Other

6 One-person household
1 Lone-parent family
5 Two-parent family
8 Couple
1 Other

Page 169



 18 

6.  LOCAL HOUSING COSTS 
 
To fully assess local housing need it is important to look at open market prices in the private sector of 
houses both to rent and buy. 
 
Property for sale 
 
Searches of www.rightmove.co.uk which markets property for a number of leading local estate agents, 
in August 2020 found 3 properties for sale in Cobham; 2 properties were under £500,000. 
 

Type of Property No. of 
Bedrooms 

Price £ 

Semi-detached house 3 475,000 
End of terrace house 4 425,000 

 
 
Property to rent 
 
A similar search for rental property did not find any properties available to rent: 
 

Type of Property No. of 
Bedrooms 

Price £ pcm 

No properties to rent available at time 
of writing N/A N/A 

 
 
Household income required to afford current market prices 
 
Using local information, the table below shows gross income level needed to purchase a property in the 
area.  The figures are calculated assuming a 15% deposit and using 3.5 x gross income.  Monthly 
repayment is based on a 2-year fixed rate with HSBC at 1.7% (August 2020) 25-year mortgage term 
and is calculated using HSBC’s mortgage calculator. 
 
It should be noted that in the current economic climate related to the Covid-19 pandemic, lenders have 
made the borrowing criteria for potential mortgagees far stricter by requiring at least a 15% deposit, 
making securing a mortgage difficult for some first-time buyers, especially those on lower incomes.  
Although there are now higher LTV mortgages available, they tend to attract a higher interest rate.  
However, as a consequence of the Bank of England Interest Rate being reduced to 0.1% due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic, this could enable lower mortgage borrowing interest rates in comparison to 
mortgage borrowing interest rates applicable prior to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

Type of Property Price £ Deposit 
(15%) £ 

Gross Income 
Level £ 

Monthly 
Repayment £ 

3 bed Semi-detached house 475,000 71,250 115,357 1,653 
4 bed End of terrace house 425,000 63,750 103,214 1,479 

 
To gauge the income level required to afford to rent privately the following calculations assume that 
30% gross income is spent on housing.  A household is considered able to afford market rented housing 
in cases where the rent payable would constitute no more than 30% of gross income. 
 
 
 
 

Page 170

http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


 19 

Type of Property Price  
£ pcm 

Approx. Gross Annual 
Income £ 

No properties to rent available at 
time of writing N/A N/A 

 
At the time of writing the report there were no properties available to rent in Cobham. 
 
Using HM Land Registry data on house sales (www.mouseprice.com) using postcode area DA12 which 
lies within or includes part of the following towns, counties, localities electoral wards and stations: 
Central, Chalk, Cobham, Gravesend, Kent, Luddenham, Pelham, Riverside, Riverview, Shorn, Cobham 
and Luddesdown, Singlewell, Sole Street, Westcourt, Whitehill, Woodlands, the average house prices in 
the last 3 months are: 
 
1 bed properties    £159,600 
2 bed properties    £250,400 
3 bed properties    £308,900 
4 bed properties    £428,600 
5+ bed properties  £629,400 
 
To afford the average cost of a 1 bed property using the mortgage calculation previously shown, a 
salary of £38,735 would be required.  To afford the average cost of a 2-bed property a salary of £62,778 
would be required. 
 
Information provided by ‘mouseprice’ states that the average property in the DA12 area costs £303,500 
with average earnings being £19,104.  This means that the average property costs over 16 times more 
than the average salary. The source used by ‘mouseprice’ to assess price to earnings ratio is Calnea 
Analytics proprietary price data and earnings data – updated quarterly. 
 
 
Affordable Rent  
 
The Government has introduced changes relating to rents charged to new tenants of social housing from 
April 2011.  Affordable Rent properties allow landlords to set rents anywhere between current social rent 
levels and up to 80% of local market rents.  It is expected that Housing Benefit will support those on a 
lower income who are unable to pay Affordable Rents although this is not guaranteed. 
 
As there were no properties available to rent in Cobham and little information available on rent levels in 
comparable adjoining areas.  The following table shows Housing Benefit levels, known as Local Housing 
Allowance (LHA) for the DA12 area, North West Kent BRMA.  These figures have been used to estimate 
Affordable Rent levels. 
 
Size of Property Affordable Rent Levels £ pcm 
1 bed 673 
2 bed 848 
3 bed 1,047 
4 bed 1,296 

 
The table below shows income needed to afford the Affordable Rent levels using 30% of gross income 
as the indicator of what is affordable. 
 
 
 
 

Page 171

http://www.mouseprice.com/


 20 

Property Price 
£ pcm 

Gross Annual 
Income £ 

1 bed 673 26,920 
2 bed 878 35,120 
3 bed 1,047 41,880 
4 bed 1,296 51,840 

 
 
Shared ownership 
 
To give an indication of respondents’ ability to afford shared ownership, levels of income and 
rent/mortgage have been taken into consideration on purchasing a 25% and 40% share of a property 
with estimated values of £159,600 for a 1 bed property, £250,400 for a 2 bed property and £308,900 for 
a 3 bed property.  These values take into consideration prices found on the Help to Buy East and South 
East website in the area www.helptobuyese.org.uk and on www.rightmove.co.uk.  Calculations are made 
using the Homes and Communities Agency’s target incomes calculator and assumes a 10% deposit of 
mortgage share. 
 
Property 

Price 
£ 

Share 
% 

Deposit 
Required 

£ 

Monthly 
Mortgage 

£ 

Monthly 
Rent 

£ 

Monthly 
Service 

Charge £ 

Monthly 
Total 

£ 

Gross 
Income 

Required £ 
159,600 25 3,990 195 274 80 549 19,810 
159,600 40 6,384 312 219 80 611 22,184 
250,400 25 6,260 306 430 80 816 29,441 
250,400 40 10,016 490 344 80 914 34,805 
308,900 25 7,723 378 531 80 989 35,645 
308,900 40 12,356 605 425 80 1,110 42,936 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 172

http://www.helptobuyese.org.uk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


 21 

7.  ASSESSMENT OF HOUSING NEED 
 
This section is divided into two categories, the need for affordable housing and the needs of 
older households wanting to downsize/move to more suitable housing of all tenures. 
 
A total of 22 respondents indicated that they need alternative housing now or in the next 3 years. 
 
7.1  Assessment of the need for affordable housing 
 
14 respondents said they need affordable housing; 6 respondents need it now and 8 in the next 3 years.  
At this stage, some respondents might be excluded if they do not want or are not eligible for affordable 
housing. 
 
Assessment of the 6 households seeking housing now 
 
3 respondents were excluded for the following reason: 
 

• they were seeking to purchase on the open market 
 
The 3 households in need of affordable housing now are: 
 

• 1 single person 
• 2 families 

 
Single people - there was 1 single person. 
 
Age: 
 
Age Frequency 
45-59 1 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting privately 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
New Build HomeBuy 1 

 
 
 

Page 173



 22 

Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 1 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Cobham. 
 
The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 
10,000 - 20,000 1 0 0 1 x 1 bed 0 

 
 
Families - there were 2 families. 
 
Ages: 
 
 Adult 

Age 
Adult 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Family 1 45-59F 45-59M 10-15F    
Family 2 45–59F 45-59M 0-9M 16-19M   

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting privately 2 

 

Page 174



 23 

Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 2 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
New Build HomeBuy/Rent from 
Council/HA 1 

New Build HomeBuy 1 
 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House 2 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
Yes 1 
No 1 

 
House with adaptations for my wife’s disabilities.  My wife has several disabilities and illnesses and has 
limited mobility, she requires a wheelchair at times and sticks at other times. 
 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

2 

Need physically-adapted home 1 
Need to change tenure 1 
Need to set up independent 
home 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
20,000 - 30,000 1 
60,000 - 70,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Cobham. 
 

Page 175



 24 

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 

20,000 - 30,000 1 1 x 2 bed 
with HB 0 1 x 2 bed 0 

60,000 - 70,000 1 0 0 1 x 3 bed 0 
 
 
Assessment of the 8 households seeking housing in the next 3 years 
 
4 respondents were excluded from the final assessment for the following reasons: two respondents were 
seeking to purchase on the open market, one respondent intended to rent privately, and one respondent 
was interested in extending their current property. 
 
The 4 households in need of affordable housing in the next 3 years are: 
 

• 1 single person 
• 3 couples 

 
Single people - there was 1 single person. 
 
Age: 
 
Age Frequency 
20-24 1 

 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
5+ 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 1 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 176



 25 

Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
New Build HomeBuy 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House/flat/maisonette 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 1 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
20,000 - 30,000 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Cobham. 
 
The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 
20,000 - 30,000 1 0 0 1 x 1 bed 0 

 
Couples - there were 3 couples.  
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
20-24 2 
25-44 2 
Did not specify age 2 

 
 
 

Page 177



 26 

Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Living with relatives 1 
Renting from Council 1 
Other – renting tied to work 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 1 
3 1 
4 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 
No 2 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
New Build HomeBuy 2 
Rent from Council/HA  1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House  3 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 3 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 1 

Did not specify 1 
Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
20,000 - 30,000 3 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Cobham. 

Page 178



 27 

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available: private 
rent, Affordable Rent, shared ownership and open market. 
 
It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances. 
 
Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated. 
 
Income £ No. of 

Respondents 
Affordable 

Rent 
Private 

Rent 
Shared 

Ownership 
Open 

Market 
20,000 - 30,000 1 1 x 1 bed 0 0 0 
20,000 - 30,000 1 1 x 1 bed 0 1 x 1 bed 0 
20,000 - 30,000 1 0 0 1 x 1 bed 0 

 
 
7.2  Assessment of the need for housing for older households 
 
8 older households said they need alternative housing; 1 needs it now and 7 in the next 3 years. 
 
Assessment of the 1 household seeking housing now 
 
The 1 household in need of housing now is: 

 
• 1 family 

 
Families - there was 1 family. 
 
Ages: 
 
 Adult 

Age 
Adult 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Child 
Age 

Family 1 45-59F 0-9F     
 
Family 1 is a grandparent and granddaughter 
 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Renting privately 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
3 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 

 
 
 

Page 179



 28 

Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
House/bungalow 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No  1 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need to set up independent 
home 

1 

Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

1 

Need smaller home 1 
 
Household’s joint gross annual income:  
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Cobham. 
 
 
Assessment of the 7 households seeking housing in the next 3 years 
 
The 7 households in need of housing in the next 3 years are: 

 
• 3 single people 
• 3 couples 
• 1 other (adult daughter and father) 

 
Single people - there were 3 single people. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
60-74 2 
75+ 1 

 
 
 
 

Page 180



 29 

Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier with/without 
mortgage 3 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
3 1 
4 2 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 3 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Owner occupation 3 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Bungalow 2 
Bungalow/sheltered 
/retirement housing 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No 2 
Yes 1 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• Wheelchair access. 
 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need smaller home 2 
Present home too expensive 
inc. major repairs and 
maintenance costs 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



 30 

Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 1 
20,000 - 30,000 1 
Did not specify 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Cobham. 
 
 
Couples - there were 3 couples. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
45-59 1 
60-74 2 
75+ 2 

 
One respondent did not specify their age. 
 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier with/without 
mortgage 3 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
2 2 
3 1 

 
Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
Yes 1 
No 2 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
New Build HomeBuy/Rent from 
Council/HA 1 

Owner occupation 2 
 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Flat/maisonette/bungalow 1 
House/bungalow 1 
Bungalow 1 

Page 182



 31 

Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
No  2 
Yes 1 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• I have chronic arthritis therefore cannot manage stairs easily, need ground floor or a bungalow 
but they are too expensive in the village. 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Other – no stairs 1 
Need to set up independent 
home 1 

Other – listed building many 
steps within house 1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
10,000 - 20,000 2 
30,000 - 40,000 1 

 
The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Cobham. 
 
 
Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household. 
 
Ages: 
 
Age Frequency 
75+ 1 
45-59 1 

 
The respondents are a father and an adult daughter. 
 
Current housing: 
 
Current Housing Frequency 
Owner occupier with/without 
mortgage 1 

 
Current number of bedrooms: 
 
No. of Bedrooms Frequency 
4 1 

 
 
 

Page 183



 32 

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register: 
 
Housing Register Frequency 
No 1 

 
Tenure best suited: 
 
Tenure Frequency 
Rent from Council/HA 1 

 
Type of housing needed: 
 
Type of Housing Frequency 
Bungalow/sheltered/ 
retirement housing 1 

 
Specific requirements: 
 
Requirement Frequency 
Yes 1 

 
The specific requirements stated are as follows: 
 

• Walk in shower, wheelchair access to front and back of property, support/carers available when 
needed. 

 
Reason for seeking new home: 
 
Reason Frequency 
Need for better access to 
public transport 1 

Need to be close to a carer or 
dependent to give or receive 
support 

1 

 
Household’s joint gross annual income: 
 
Income £ Frequency 
Did not specify 1 

 
The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Cobham. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 184



 33 

8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 
 
The summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the need 
for housing for older households. 
 
8.1  Summary of the need for affordable housing 
 
The Rural Housing Needs Survey has found a need for up to 7 homes for local people who are in need 
of affordable housing; they are: 2 single people, 3 couples and 2 families. 
 
3 of the households need housing now and 4 in the next 3 years. 
 
The 7 respondents who are in need affordable housing indicated strong local connections to Cobham; 
they all currently live there. 
 
There are a total of 12 adults and 3 children in housing need. 
 
3 households are currently renting privately, 1 household is renting a property tied to their work, 1 is 
renting from the Council and 2 are living with relatives. 
 
The majority of respondents wanted a house or a flat/maisonette, one wanted a home with adaptations. 
 
In total, 6 respondents indicated an interest in New Build HomeBuy; these households indicated the 
ability to afford a share of a property.  More detailed analysis of their income, amount of deposit they 
have available and actual cost of the shared ownership property would be required to confirm 
affordability. 
 
Taking into account Gravesham Borough Council’s allocation policy and Help to Buy eligibility, the 
following size and tenure of properties have been identified: 
 
Rented HA/Council 
 
1 x 1 bed 
 
New Build HomeBuy 
 
3 x 1 bed shared ownership 
1 x 3 bed shared ownership 
1 x 1 bed Affordable Rent or 1 x 1 bed shared ownership 
1 x 2 bed Affordable Rent or 1 x 2 bed shared ownership 
 
 
8.2  Summary of the need for housing for older households 
 
The survey has found a need for alternative housing for 8 older households; they are: 1 family 
(grandparent and granddaughter), 3 single people, 3 couples and 1 other type of household – a father 
and adult daughter. 
 
1 household requires housing now and 7 within the next 3 years.  They all currently live in Cobham. 
 
7 are are owner occupiers and 1 is renting privately. 
 
5 older households require alternative open market homes and 3 require affordable housing. 

Page 185



 34 

The most frequently given reason for needing an alternative home was the need for a smaller home; 
other reasons include: present home too expensive including major repairs and maintenance costs, need 
to set up independent home, need better access to public transport, need to be closer to a carer or 
dependent to give or receive support, need physically-adapted home and other: need less stairs. 
 
The 5 respondents that want to buy an alternative home on the open market said they require the 
following: 
 

• 3 x bungalow 
• 1 x bungalow/sheltered/retirement housing 
• 1 x house/bungalow 

 
The 3 respondents that need affordable housing said they require the following: 
 

• 1 x flat/maisonette/bungalow (rented from Council/HA or New Build HomeBuy) 
• 1 x house/bungalow (rented from Council/HA) 
• 1 x bungalow/sheltered/retirement housing (rented from Council/HA) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186



 35 

9.  APPENDIX C1 – QUESTION 7 COMMENTS 
 
Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make (to Q6). 
 
The last time this was done, the local people moved in for a short while and so it was filled with people 
outside the area. 
 
The infrastructure in and around the village (roads, school places. registrations a doctors/dental 
surgeries) are already massively stretched and would not cope with the additional pressure of more 
households. 
 
There should be more mixed developments with smaller properties available for local people. Many 
modest homes are being converted into extra-large houses/mansions i.e. the area is becoming 
gentrified. 
 
My wife and I have lived a for many years in Sole Street and have seen the need for older people’s 
housing locally. 
 
If it means building on Green Belt, which would be the case it’s not an option. 
 
Keep rural villages as a place people can visit and enjoy the countryside. 
 
Granddaughter attends Cobham brownies and her name is on the waiting list for Cobham School. 
 
The infrastructure and public transport are not there to accommodate more housing. 
 
Road structure, schools and shops would need reviewing if further development allowed. 
 
The roads and facilities in Cobham are already over stretched and thus do not lend themselves to more 
development, the new Thames crossing is likely to cause more gridlock as it is! 
 
I believe the village is at full capacity if it’s to retain its rural appeal. 
 
Dependent on the size of the development we will need doctor’s surgery, additional school facilities and 
a small shop also. The road layout through Cobham needs to stop through traffic and directing down 
from Gravesend West off slip. 
 
There is an abundance of affordable housing in the area surrounding Gravesend Bluewater etc, 
greenbelt should be enshrined. 
 
Such developments are rooted in an ideology to stifle or reduce home values - not to meet supposed 
demand. Does not adhere to environmental strategy either. 
 
Use should be made of empty properties and brown field sites before encroaching any further on 
agricultural or woodland areas. 
 
Should be affordable housing for people from this village of Cobham/Sole Street. Any development of 
this must not be on greenbelt land. Suggest derelict land beyond station carpark. 
 
The villages of Cobham and Sole Street cannot take any more traffic and congestion is already a 
problem during peak times. When accidents occur on the A2 heavy traffic comes through Sole Street 
and is a serious problem, lanes are used and cannot cope. Flooding also a problem. 
 

Page 187



 36 

There are unacceptable numbers of cars and traffic is at dangerous levels. There are already 
increasingly numbers of households with up to 5 cars. The infrastructure is not coping. 
 
There are already traffic issues in the village, with a community group looking at solutions. Limited 
community space. 
 
Green belt and farmland should  not be built on, brown field sites only. 
Not on green belt land. 
 
Site and design crucial. Redevelop vicarage, (smaller) plus spare land to the south as a compact fir for 
purpose small village development. 
 
Can't think of a suitable location. 
 
Sole Street surrounded by greenbelt, possible location housing Cobham village.  
 
I would have no objection to small developments of affordable housing for local people subject to local 
approval. 
 
We need more self-build eco homes in the area has less impact on the rural beautiful countryside. 
 
As I understand it there is already enough affordable housing in the parish. 
 
Brownfield site only, not greenbelt or current agricultural land. 
 
The development would need to be aesthetically pleasing and the accommodation for people from the 
community. Neither of these suggested criteria was applied to previous affordable block of flats in 
Manner Road, Sole Street. 
 
Given planning application 20200554 additional low/zero income households could only have a negative 
impact on the community. 
 
Public transport almost nil. 2 buses a day affordable means affordable, not a few £s off and needs to 
stay that way for life of the building. 
 
My son and fiancé have to live apart because they can't find anywhere to purchase in Cobham / 
Meopham area. They have a new baby. 
 
The reason for living in Cobham is the fact that it is a small village without the same issues larger towns 
have. One of the main drivers for living here in the first place. 
 
The answer for Q6 (yes) subject to being a small development only. 
 
It is ok for young adults to live outside the village of their parents (its normal) there are plenty of 
affordable houses 10 minutes away in Gravesend. There is no need to interfere with market forces. 
Road access not adequate, very dangerous and busy, this area used as rat run. 
Sole Street is already busy and not infrastructure in the area to support higher population. 
If further houses are built in the village, they should be in keeping with a rural location. 
 
As long as it didn't affect the natural beauty and landscape. 
 
There is plenty of new housing being built locally. 
 

Page 188



 37 

We love the character of the village. We've been waiting for a few years now to buy in the village. It's  
worth the wait because of the character. Too many new houses would spoil that. 
 
Small development only 
 
The character of the village remains the most important factor, I’d sooner rent that have a new 
development of affordable ugly houses spoiling the area. 
 
We desperatly require affordable housing as my wife is registered disabled on the highest component of 
both elements PIPS. 
 
Cannot see where, planning permission is almost impossible to obtain for anyone in Cobham. It’s an 
issue and little sense is applied. 
 
Village very expensive to buy and limited parking. Lack of opportunity to change to more suitable 
housing while remaining in area. Some properties have been allowed to overextend in Sole Street. 
No new builds please 
 
Cobham needs small affordable start up homes. We have two children 23 years and 21 years both have 
lived in Cobham their entire lives. There is no way either will be able to afford to purchase a home in 
Cobham. Both are currently saving, and both are key workers, full time. Both have or are currently 
volunteering in the community. No need but would like to purchase a property. 
 
As long as the housing is for village people. 
 
A small affordable housing development was built in the village of sole street and it proved to be difficult 
to find local people to live in it. 
 
Village support infrastructure fully extended i.e. primary school full, no footpaths on part of main road, 
limited public transport. Secondary schools some distance. 
 
As long as not a large complex of flats/houses. Protection of rural landscape is important. 
The parish is abundant with large expensive detached properties but poor for younger people and those 
that wish to downsize. 
 
Village too small with insufficient amenities for more people. 
 
There were sufficient houses in Lawrence Drive and Scratton Fields - sold off by various councils, buy 
them back! 
 
A development will spoil the green belt area of the village 
 
I believe there is a need for smaller bungalows for the elderly to move into with very small or no 
gardens to maintain. I know of Cobham residents looking for such accommodation from a house with 
stairs and large gardens. 
Public transport in the village is virtually not available making it difficult and I feel not suitable for 
development in and around Cobham. 
 
We pay a premium to live in a small quiet village we do not want the value of our properties eroded by 
such development. 
 
We don't believe there is a need. There is accommodation of all kinds in the area. 
 

Page 189



 38 

Because it would not end up just being for people from the village which has been proven by retirement 
flats by Cobham College behind the church, where some have been occupied by people who did not and 
have never lived in the village. 
 
Village of historical interest, many houses are listed to preserve the village as well as the houses 
themselves. There is already a huge traffic issue in Cobham. 
 
But not on green belt! Any development should not be in the green belt. 
 
Cobham is a small village; any additional building would upset the current mix and ruin the general 
grade II character of the village. Plenty of retirement properties also too. 
 
We are renting in Cobham because there is no affordable housing to purchase. 
 
Would however support small development of small sheltered units, if it is strictly for old people who are 
long standing residents of the village looking to downsize (helps free up larger properties for family use). 
Site, asthetic design and eligibility criteria would have to be chosen by parish council and approved by 
local residents (absolutely not by borough council or developers). 
 
Smaller starter homes or retirement homes are needed. Many of the properties here are being over 
developed meaning only people with families or a lot of money can afford to live here. 
 
For size of village, large percentage are old. 
 
Location is key, as is 'small'. 
 
My answer to question 6 is based on, we have no public transport and our roads cannot cope with more 
traffic. 
 
Traffic is bad enough and dangerous now, no more cars needed. Not enough amenities in village to 
provide for more residence. 
 
The whole area is congested and cannot cope. Traffic through our village is grid locked every day. There 
is no capacity to extend the school. The land if used would be green belt. So no development. 
 
Existing affordable homes are not fully utilised 
 
A small development if up to 10 houses is acceptable especially if bungalows. A large development of 
executive homes is not acceptable. 
 
Having lived in and around Gravesham since I was 5 years old, I know there are plenty of more suitable 
locations than eating into the greenbelt areas of the borough. 
 
All developments must be on brown field sites and not green belt. Also last development in Sole Street 
for social housing was too tall, painted bright blue and not in keeping with the village. Why did 
Gravesham allow a bright blue building that was not in keeping with the rest of the village? 
 
Please see reverse of enclosed letter. 
 
This borough and Dartford are already seeing significant new housing, I think this area is doing its bit 
for the shortage. 
 

Page 190



 39 

There is no need for a housing development there are plenty of new ones in the surrounding areas. The 
village couldn’t take any more! 
 
Only in favour if location suitable and a small number of houses. Cobham already has a bottleneck in 
rush hour and roads too busy. 
 
I would object strongly to any project should it alter the character or layout of the village of Cobham. 
 
Small 
 
It would ruin the village atmosphere completely. 
 
This area needs to retain the open rural presence that is current balance of development against 
agricultural and natural landscape creates. 
 
MP Jendrick has proved that surveys like this are irrelevant. the question is who is in whose pocket. 
Local government (your job) is just a tick box to big business and central government and 
unforturtunatly will be made redundant with time. The decision has been made. 
 
How is a small development defined? 
 
I don’t believe that there is a need for this in the village, there are already many developments (large 
and small) taking place in Gravesham, leave our village undeveloped! 
 
Not appropriate for a relatively small village such as Cobham and its narrow roads that can already 
become congested will lead to more congestion, extra pollution and noise. 
 
Leave this area as a conservation area, it's too beautiful! 
 
Any development would be on greenbelt land which should be maintained as it is. 
Site - varnish factory Sole Street as it is close to bus and rail facilities. Has a shop or the farmyard and 
barns in Lodge Lane. 
 
How can you prove any affordable housing is given to people from the village? 
 
We worked hard to pay for a house in a quiet village. We don't need the council to fill it with semi-
literate degenerates. A few years ago you tore down some garages here for social housing. We 
appreciated the influx of cheap tracksuits, tattoos and pit bulls. 
 
We moved to the area because it is a small village, we don’t want it to change. 
 
Sole St and Cobham do not have good public transport for people to get to work if they have local work. 
There will be a new leisure centre/ tourist attraction at Northfleet providing jobs - build there. 
We provided affordable housing in the last 10 or so years but failed to find local people, nevertheless the 
housing has been beneficial to people prepared to live in the sticks! 

Page 191



 40 

10.  APPENDIX C2 – LETTER TO HOUSEHOLDERS AND HOUSING NEED SURVEY 
 

 

Page 192



 41 

 

Page 193



 42 

 

Page 194



 43 

 
 
 
 

Page 195



 44 

 

Page 196



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 4 January 2021

Reporting officer: Planning Manager (Policy) 

Subject: Householder Extensions /Alterations Design Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) Adoption

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Cabinet with the draft Householder Extensions /Alterations Design Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for approval and adoption as a material 
consideration in decision-making of planning applications.

Recommendations:
1. That Cabinet adopt the Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guidance as a 

Supplementary Planning Document and give delegated authority for final 
amendments (including updated graphics) to be made by the Assistant Director 
(Planning), in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Environment.

2. Note the responses received on the draft Householder Extensions/Alterations Design 
Guidance SPD consultation.

1. Introduction

1.1 Local Planning Authorities such as Gravesham Borough Council are required to 
prepare a Local Plan. A key component of the Local Plan is to consider the 
development needs of both present and future communities, whilst balancing this 
against the need to protect the local built and natural environments and the quality 
of life of both present and future communities. 

1.2 A supplementary planning document (SPDs) is targeted towards providing 
additional detailed advice or guidance on policies in an adopted local plan. A SPD 
itself does not form part of the development plan, however an adopted SPD is a 
material consideration in decision-making.

1.3 The Borough’s current Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted in 2014 and 
includes Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles. The overriding 
principle of this policy is to ensure, “New development will be visually attractive, fit 
for purpose and locally distinctive. It will conserve and enhance the character of 
the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well with the surrounding 
local area and meet anti-crime standards. The design and construction of new 
development will incorporate sustainable construction standards and techniques, 

Page 197 Agenda Item 8



2

be adaptable to reflect changing lifestyles, and be resilient to the effects of climate 
change.”

1.4 The SPD (Appendix 3) has been prepared to provide additional advice and 
guidance in relation to the adopted Local Plan and in particular Policy CS19, with 
the aim of:

 Expanding on planning policies set out in the Local Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework

 Raising awareness of the value of good design and how it can benefit a 
home that is being extended or altered

 Protecting the residential amenity of neighbours and enhance the local 
built environment

 Improving the quality of Householder Planning Applications submitted to 
the Council

1.5 It should be noted that failure to obtain planning permission or failure to comply 
with the details of a planning permission, known as a ‘planning breach’ can result 
in the Council taking enforcement action. As such, the Council has and continues 
to develop a number of documents, to assist local residents and businesses, 
these include:

 Local List of Validation Requirements

 Conservation Area Maintenance/Replacement Windows and Doors 
Guidance SPD

 Draft Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guidance SPD

 Bite size guidance

2. Draft Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guidance

2.1 Whilst the Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014) includes Policy CS19: 
Development and Design Principles, bearing in mind Members’ desire for the 
Council to be supportive by providing helpful information, officers are of the view 
that there is a need to raise awareness of the value of good design and how it can 
benefit a home that is being extended or altered. This will contribute towards 
protecting the residential amenity of neighbours and enhancing the local built, 
historic and natural environment whilst giving further clarity to the public and 
businesses about proposals which are likely to be policy compliant. 

2.2 To that end, Cabinet in June 2020 resolved to consult upon the draft Householder 
Extensions/Alterations Design Guidance SPD in line with the Council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement, whilst taking into account the 
Government’s guidance in relation to Covid-19 at the time. 

2.3 A four week consultation was undertaken between 31 August – 29 September 
2020 on the draft SPD. The Consultation was primarily promoted through the 
Council’s Your Borough Magazine, social media accounts and the Council’s 
consultation portal and website. 

Page 198



3

2.4 A total of nine responses were received with three respondents (Southern Water, 
TfL and the PLA) advising they wished to make no comments. The remaining 
respondents were Meopham Parish Council, Shorne Parish Council, Natural 
England, the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation, Historic England and a resident 
of the Borough. To view the responses and how these have been taken into 
account,   please see Appendix 2. 

2.5 In general both Shorne Parish Council and the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation sought clarification or additional wording and improved illustrations. 
Natural England and Historic England provided advice in relation to their areas of 
concern but did not request changes to the document. Meopham Parish Council 
welcomed the document but wondered if it should include advice on addressing 
the needs of disabled people and those with special needs. This is not addressed 
via this SPD as it is a matter for Building Regulations and addressed through 
Approved Document M, Access to and Use of Buildings. Finally, the resident of 
the Borough who responded to the consultation advised that the document was 
not an easy read due to the use of hyperlinks and references to other document, 
an approach utilised to keep the length of this document to a minimum. 

2.6 Based on the comments received officers have made a number of alterations to 
the draft SPD. Whilst the level of responses is low, but not surprising as the 
document had been based on best practice, no objections have been made to the 
contents of the draft guidance, as such Cabinet is asked to adopt the guidance 
document as a Supplementary Planning Document, so that it can be a material 
consideration when determining a planning application. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 N/A

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 199



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The SPD has to be progressed and adopted in accordance with the requirements 
as set out in the:
TCPA 1990 Town and Country Planning Act 1990
PCPA 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
LP Regs 2012 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Expenditure will come from within existing budgets or the case for additional budget 
through usual budgetary processes.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with progressing this SPD pertain to ensuring that the correct 
procedures have been followed as set out in legislation and the Council's 
Statement of Community Involvement. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
Yes – this is covered by the existing Data Protection and Privacy Notices used 
for Local Plan consultations, see 
https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/gf2.ti/f/912418/36375685.1/PDF/-
/Privacy_Notice_April_2018.pdf

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Objectives - People: Protected Environment (carbon neutral borough, improve the 
local environment) and Quality Living (deliver an ambitious and diverse programme 
of building, a sound car parking offer). Place: Vibrant economy (enhance the 
vibrancy of the Gravesham economy, improve economic conditions, positively 
promote sustainable development) and Connected community (improve resident 

Page 200

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

well-being, enhance the borough's cultural offer, promote Gravesham's arts and 
heritage).

Climate Change Climate Change Policy is addressed via the Council’s strategic planning policy 
documents such as the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy and the Emerging Local 
Plan Partial Review, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
(Regulation 18 - Stage 2) Consultation. In due course there may be a need to 
provide further guidance on the Council’s adopted policy i.e. Policy CS18: Climate 
Change through the introduction of additional Supplementary Planning Documents. 

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the Council's website will be updated with the approved SPD. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



Name

To which part of the
draft supplementary
planning document
does this response
relate?

Do you agree with the need
to provide additional
guidance on the Council’s
approach to Householder
Extensions / Alterations
Design Guidance SPD? If not,
please explain why

Do you think that the
guidance document
provides a clear
message and way
forward for
Householder Extensions
/ Alterations? Please
elaborate on your
answer and be as
precise as possible.

Do you consider that any modification(s)
should be made to the guidance document,
prior to its adoption? If yes, if you are able
to please put forward your suggested
revised wording of any text. Please be as
precise as possible.

Are there any additional comments on the
document you would like to make?

GBC Comments

Meopham
Parish Council

Section Title - 3, page 6
The guidance is
welcomed as it
promotes good design
for local
neighbourhoods and
clearly sets out the
planning policy
requirements for
extensions expected by
GBC.

YES -  So that applicants
clearly understand what is
expected when they make a
planning application

YES -  So that applicants
clearly understand what
is expected when they
make a planning
application

YES - The document does not include any
guidance for building or adaptations for
people with disabilities or special needs

No

No further action -
guidance for meeting the
needs of disabled or
special needs residents is
addressed through
Building Control

Resident 01

All of it - the document
is not easy  to read and
jumping around on
hyperlinks is not
conducive to people
wanting to read your
document.

YES -  And I also agree with
enforcing them too. Too many
extensions are going up
without planning permission
because they are within "the
10 %" that impact on those
around. I also think the the
council should stop approving
bungalow extensions that
make them two storey.
Accessibility in rural areas is
being taken away - older
residents or those with
mobility issues would look for
a bungalow in their home
location, there is hardly any
left now

NO - Too many other
documents that you
have to refer to .

YES - Bullet point the information that has to
be adhered to regardless of which document
it's in. The information needs to be in one
place for people to read it and understand it .

There needs to be something about hard paving,
drop kerbs and impact on parking. Where people are
hard paving the back gardens as well as the front
they should be told to put in additional drainage - the
water runs off into neighbours gardens and they then
get issues with excess water . Drop kerbs should be
insisted upon before anyone hard paves the front -
stops cars mounting the pavement and nearly
running you over. Parking is a problem wherever you
live in this borough and any extensions should not
remove off road parking, convert your garage (many
can't accomodate modern day cars) but make sure
you have your car off the road. There needs to be
guidance about tree maintenance and it should be
enforced, lots of trees are planted too close to
developments and the roots then cause issues on the
pavements and with neighbouring foundations .

No further action - the
document when
published will follow
required accessibility
guidelines, however it is
not possible to simplify
planning legislation,
guidance, development
plan requirements,
material considerations,
etc into a list of bullet
points.

P
age 203



Shorne Parish
Council

Response is about
various sections as

specified in comments
below.

Yes - Good idea, essential to
have rules and criteria in
writing but will only help if
applicants (and their agents)
access it and follow it before
applying. The status of the

documents will be important
as many regard guidelines as
only being advisory. We have
noticed an increased number
of Appeals as applicants are

less willing to accept advice or
decisions that are against

what they wish.

Apologies for saying this, but
the guidance also needs to be

applied, and applied
consistently, by Case Officers
and decision makers when
approving applications.

YES -  Have said "yes" as
mostly so, but there are
some areas that could
usefully be expanded or

added (please see
below). There are some
matters which can be
seen as subjective (e.g.

a design being
overbearing) and these
always cause difficulty.

YES -  - Page 9, section  8, is permission
required: Discrepancies between LDC and PA
are a huge problem, need eradicating. Try to
steer applicants towards PA's, giving reasons
why preferable? Many are using the LDC
process to get round planning regulations, in
a way that it is doubtful was originally
intended. We would like you to be a lot
tougher on LDC's - maybe set some firm local
criteria for what should instead be a PA? And
always include detailed statements in
approvals about what an LDC has not
permitted them.

We consider applications carefully and send in reps.
We know you are very busy but sometimes an
opportunity to discuss PA's before you make a

decision, even a phone call would be useful, for us
anyway.

No change required - A
Lawful Development
Certificate is sought to
ensure  household
building work is lawful. It
should be possible in
most cases to decide
whether or not a
proposed project
qualifies as permitted
development there will
inevitably be instances
where the decision is less
clear cut. To enforce
residents to go down the
Planning Application
route would require
permitted development
rights to be removed
through Article 4
Directions.

- Page 12 , Privacy: it would be helpful to
expand this with information about the
angles and distances, perhaps as an
appendix.

Comments noted,
additional information
added.

Name

To which part of the
draft supplementary
planning document
does this response
relate?

Do you agree with the need
to provide additional
guidance on the Council’s
approach to Householder
Extensions / Alterations
Design Guidance SPD? If not,
please explain why

Do you think that the
guidance document
provides a clear
message and way
forward for
Householder Extensions
/ Alterations? Please
elaborate on your
answer and be as
precise as possible.

Do you consider that any modification(s)
should be made to the guidance document,
prior to its adoption? If yes, if you are able
to please put forward your suggested
revised wording of any text. Please be as
precise as possible.

Are there any additional comments on the
document you would like to make?

GBC Comments

P
age 204



- Page 13, Trees : if trees are to be removed
this should be justified, replacement
provided and plantings detailed (if it will be
possible). Can suitable trees be identified and
TPO's applied as part of the PA approval
process?

No change required -
When granting planning
permission Local
Planning Authorities such
as Gravesham have an
existing duty to ensure,
whenever appropriate,
that planning conditions
are used to provide for
tree preservation and
planting. Orders should
be made in respect of
trees where it appears
necessary in connection
with the grant of
permission.

- Page 14, extensions : The current and final
number of bedrooms should be stated?

No change required -
Planning Applications are
received utilising
standardised 1APP forms
with requirements
detailed further through
the Council's Local List of
Validation Requirements
 

- Page 17 , first picture - do you mean first
floor or ground floor? Or just say that for all
side extensions? Or do you just mean second
floor set back compared to first? Very rarely
applied for or approved nowadays?

Comments noted -
illustration updated

Shorne Parish
Council

Response is about
various sections as

specified in comments
below.

Yes - Good idea, essential to
have rules and criteria in
writing but will only help if
applicants (and their agents)
access it and follow it before
applying. The status of the

documents will be important
as many regard guidelines as
only being advisory. We have
noticed an increased number
of Appeals as applicants are

less willing to accept advice or
decisions that are against

what they wish.

Apologies for saying this, but
the guidance also needs to be

applied, and applied
consistently, by Case Officers
and decision makers when
approving applications.

YES -  Have said "yes" as
mostly so, but there are
some areas that could
usefully be expanded or

added (please see
below). There are some
matters which can be
seen as subjective (e.g.

a design being
overbearing) and these
always cause difficulty.

We consider applications carefully and send in reps.
We know you are very busy but sometimes an
opportunity to discuss PA's before you make a

decision, even a phone call would be useful, for us
anyway.

Name

To which part of the
draft supplementary
planning document
does this response
relate?

Do you agree with the need
to provide additional
guidance on the Council’s
approach to Householder
Extensions / Alterations
Design Guidance SPD? If not,
please explain why

Do you think that the
guidance document
provides a clear
message and way
forward for
Householder Extensions
/ Alterations? Please
elaborate on your
answer and be as
precise as possible.

Do you consider that any modification(s)
should be made to the guidance document,
prior to its adoption? If yes, if you are able
to please put forward your suggested
revised wording of any text. Please be as
precise as possible.

Are there any additional comments on the
document you would like to make?

GBC Comments

P
age 205



- Page 19 , front extensions: should show
subsidiarity to the main roof? Add separate
section discussing about the building line?

Comments noted - bullet
point one updated to
provide clarity on design.
However, a separate
section is not needed to
address building lines, as
this would be taken into
consideration when
considering the location,
scale and design of any
front extension /porch.

- Page 20, Side  roof extensions: We don't
entirely agree against slope to full gable
conversions if they have a neat appearance.
Add something about side dormers?

No change required -
Most hip-to-gable loft
conversions are within
permitted development
rules and do not require
full planning permission

- Page 23, Outbuildings: note says should be
subordinate. Glad to see that included but
annoyed it hasn't been applied previously,
plus problem of discrepancy with LDC .

Comments noted

- Page 24, Parking , Garage and parking space
dimensions: We have seen other local
guidance in PA responses that recommend
larger sizes? Maybe say what is the absolute
minimum but also that you like to see more
generous sizes and spacings and state what?
Include a Table of the number of spaces there
must be relating to the type of house and
defined number of bedrooms?

Comments noted - this
will be addressed via the
upcoming Kent Design
Guide

Shorne Parish
Council

Response is about
various sections as

specified in comments
below.

Yes - Good idea, essential to
have rules and criteria in
writing but will only help if
applicants (and their agents)
access it and follow it before
applying. The status of the

documents will be important
as many regard guidelines as
only being advisory. We have
noticed an increased number
of Appeals as applicants are

less willing to accept advice or
decisions that are against

what they wish.

Apologies for saying this, but
the guidance also needs to be

applied, and applied
consistently, by Case Officers
and decision makers when
approving applications.

YES -  Have said "yes" as
mostly so, but there are
some areas that could
usefully be expanded or

added (please see
below). There are some
matters which can be
seen as subjective (e.g.

a design being
overbearing) and these
always cause difficulty.

We consider applications carefully and send in reps.
We know you are very busy but sometimes an
opportunity to discuss PA's before you make a

decision, even a phone call would be useful, for us
anyway.

Name

To which part of the
draft supplementary
planning document
does this response
relate?

Do you agree with the need
to provide additional
guidance on the Council’s
approach to Householder
Extensions / Alterations
Design Guidance SPD? If not,
please explain why

Do you think that the
guidance document
provides a clear
message and way
forward for
Householder Extensions
/ Alterations? Please
elaborate on your
answer and be as
precise as possible.

Do you consider that any modification(s)
should be made to the guidance document,
prior to its adoption? If yes, if you are able
to please put forward your suggested
revised wording of any text. Please be as
precise as possible.

Are there any additional comments on the
document you would like to make?

GBC Comments

P
age 206



- Page 25 , front garden boundaries: ask them
to provide a 1m verge in rural areas or
anywhere there is no footway?

Comments noted - this
would stray into policy
making and cannot be
achieved through an SPD

Historic
England

As the Government’s adviser on the historic environment Historic England is keen to ensure that the protection of the historic environment is fully taken into account at all stages and
levels of the local planning process, and welcomes this key planning document. We support the intention to provide guidance to householders and developers to ensure the highest
standards of design are incorporated in planning and executing residential extensions and alterations throughout the Borough. We note the specific guidance in Section 7 relating to
properties in conservation areas, and concur with the views expressed on in Section 7.8 about the need to seek appropriate advice in respect of works to listed buildings.
Historic England would strongly advise that the Council’s own conservation and design staff are closely involved with the preparation of the SPD, as they are often best placed to
advise on local historic environment issues and priorities, sources of data and, consideration of the options relating to heritage assets.
These comments are based on the information provided by you at this time and for the avoidance of doubt does not reflect our obligation to advise you on, and potentially object to,
any specific development proposal which may subsequently arise from this or later versions of the plan and which may, in our view, have adverse effects on the historic environment.

Comments noted -
however they do not
require any specific
changes to the draft SPD

Shorne Parish
Council

Response is about
various sections as

specified in comments
below.

Yes - Good idea, essential to
have rules and criteria in
writing but will only help if
applicants (and their agents)
access it and follow it before
applying. The status of the

documents will be important
as many regard guidelines as
only being advisory. We have
noticed an increased number
of Appeals as applicants are

less willing to accept advice or
decisions that are against

what they wish.

Apologies for saying this, but
the guidance also needs to be

applied, and applied
consistently, by Case Officers
and decision makers when
approving applications.

YES -  Have said "yes" as
mostly so, but there are
some areas that could
usefully be expanded or

added (please see
below). There are some
matters which can be
seen as subjective (e.g.

a design being
overbearing) and these
always cause difficulty.

We consider applications carefully and send in reps.
We know you are very busy but sometimes an
opportunity to discuss PA's before you make a

decision, even a phone call would be useful, for us
anyway.

Name

To which part of the
draft supplementary
planning document
does this response
relate?

Do you agree with the need
to provide additional
guidance on the Council’s
approach to Householder
Extensions / Alterations
Design Guidance SPD? If not,
please explain why

Do you think that the
guidance document
provides a clear
message and way
forward for
Householder Extensions
/ Alterations? Please
elaborate on your
answer and be as
precise as possible.

Do you consider that any modification(s)
should be made to the guidance document,
prior to its adoption? If yes, if you are able
to please put forward your suggested
revised wording of any text. Please be as
precise as possible.

Are there any additional comments on the
document you would like to make?

GBC Comments

P
age 207



Natural
England

Thank you for your consultation request on the above dated and received by Natural England on 3rd September 2020.
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present
and future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.
Our remit includes protected sites and landscapes, biodiversity, geodiversity, soils, protected species, landscape character, green infrastructure and access to and enjoyment of
nature.
While we welcome this opportunity to give our views, the topic this Supplementary Planning Document covers is unlikely to have major impacts on the natural environment. We
therefore do not wish to provide specific comments, but advise you to consider the following issues:
Biodiversity enhancement
This SPD could consider incorporating features which are beneficial to wildlife within development, in line with paragraphs 8, 72, 102, 118, 170, 171, 174 and 175 of the National
Planning Policy Framework. You may wish to consider providing guidance on, for example, the level of bat roost or bird box provision within the built structure, or other measures to
enhance biodiversity in the urban environment. An example of good practice includes the Exeter Residential Design Guide SPD, which advises (amongst other matters) a ratio of one
nest/roost box per residential unit.
Landscape enhancement
The SPD may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local distinctiveness of the surrounding natural and built environment; use natural resources more sustainably; and
bring benefits for the local community, for example through green infrastructure provision and access to and contact with nature. Landscape characterisation and townscape
assessments, and associated sensitivity and capacity assessments provide tools for planners and developers to consider how new development might makes a positive contribution to
the character and functions of the landscape through sensitive siting and good design and avoid unacceptable impacts.
Protected species
Natural England has produced Standing Advice to help local planning authorities assess the impact of particular developments on protected or priority species. Strategic
Environmental Assessment/Habitats Regulations Assessment
A SPD requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment only in exceptional circumstances as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance here.
While SPDs are unlikely to give rise to likely significant effects on European Sites, they should be considered as a plan under the Habitats Regulations in the same way as any other
plan or project. If your SPD requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulation Assessment, you are required to consult us at certain stages as set out in the
Planning Practice Guidance.
Should the plan be amended in a way which significantly affects its impact on the natural environment, then, please consult Natural England again.

Comments noted -
however they do not
require any specific
changes to the draft SPD

Port of London
Authority

No comment No change required

Transport for
London

No comment No change required

Name

To which part of the
draft supplementary
planning document
does this response
relate?

Do you agree with the need
to provide additional
guidance on the Council’s
approach to Householder
Extensions / Alterations
Design Guidance SPD? If not,
please explain why

Do you think that the
guidance document
provides a clear
message and way
forward for
Householder Extensions
/ Alterations? Please
elaborate on your
answer and be as
precise as possible.

Do you consider that any modification(s)
should be made to the guidance document,
prior to its adoption? If yes, if you are able
to please put forward your suggested
revised wording of any text. Please be as
precise as possible.

Are there any additional comments on the
document you would like to make?

GBC Comments

P
age 208



Southern
Water

No comment No change required

Ebbsfleet
Development
Corporation

The EDC considers that overall, the draft document, and particularly section 10, is overly text heavy. We have concerns that it would not be easily understandable to householders,
and their agents, who should be referring to this prior to making an application. We would support the guidance being illustrated more clearly through a shorter bullet point list
together with more images of the extensions and alterations that are acceptable and unacceptable.

Comments noted -
however they do not
require any specific
changes to the draft SPD

There is a missed opportunity for this document to be produced alongside an update to the 1996 residential layout guidelines, which EDC understand is proposed via the Borough
Council’s emerging Development Management Policies Plan. Without a holistic approach to these interconnected matters we consider there is a risk of conflicting adopted planning
guidance due to the age of the current residential layout guidelines.

Comments noted - this
would stray into policy
making and cannot be
achieved through an SPD

9.3 - Some properties have a pitched main roof with a flat roof over a very small part. To avoid giving the impression a flat roof would be acceptable in that instance we would suggest
the words in brackets at end of the paragraph being phrased as ‘unless the original house main roof is flat’.

Comments noted -
change made

9.5 – Text could be added to advise that the overshadowing impact would be greater if the neighbouring property is located to the north of the proposed extension. The image next to
this paragraph with a tick doesn’t show what the proposed extension is.

Comments noted -
change made

9.6 - The images relating to this section need to be next to it rather than on the following page, which perhaps could be achieved through use of less text and/or portrait orientation
for the document.

Comments noted -
change made

9.7 – There are no images to explain what is meant by overbearing and how this differs from overshadowing.
Comments noted -
change made

9.10 and 9.11 – The image next to this needs an annotation to clarify what in the image is acceptable as the 2-storey extension shown could be unacceptable for other reasons.
Comments noted -
change made

10.1 – This could reference conservatories, where these do not fall within permitted development rights (or the rights have been removed), as being covered by same guidelines as
single storey extensions.

Comments noted -
change made

10.2, 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5 – In absence of an update to the residential layout guidelines, references to adequate garden area could refer back to paragraph 9.10 as definition for this.
Minimum separation distances from windows of facing properties are missing.

Comments noted - this
would stray into policy
making and cannot be
achieved through an SPD

10.3 – There are no images for 2-storey rear extensions which have more issues. EDC consider that the guidance should also strongly emphasise that 2-storey rear extensions to
terraced properties would generally be unacceptable. We are keen to have consistency of design requirements across the Garden City and the preamble to Dartford Borough Council’s
Development Policies Plan policy DP7 - Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity, provides guidance that 2 storey extensions to terraced properties would generally not be
permitted.

Comments noted - this
would stray into policy
making and cannot be
achieved through an SPD

Name

To which part of the
draft supplementary
planning document
does this response
relate?

Do you agree with the need
to provide additional
guidance on the Council’s
approach to Householder
Extensions / Alterations
Design Guidance SPD? If not,
please explain why

Do you think that the
guidance document
provides a clear
message and way
forward for
Householder Extensions
/ Alterations? Please
elaborate on your
answer and be as
precise as possible.

Do you consider that any modification(s)
should be made to the guidance document,
prior to its adoption? If yes, if you are able
to please put forward your suggested
revised wording of any text. Please be as
precise as possible.

Are there any additional comments on the
document you would like to make?

GBC Comments

P
age 209



Paragraph 10.3 also states that it covers first floor extensions but provides no specific guidance on these. EDC would question whether they are sufficiently common alterations in
Gravesham that need to be covered in the SPD.

Comments noted -
however they do not
require any specific
changes to the draft SPD

10.4 and 10.5 - Extensions being no greater than half width of the original house is the same restriction as for permitted development and so there seems no advantage to applying
this. EDC consider that the guidance would be better aimed at managing wider extensions that would need planning permission, for example extensions on some narrow properties
that would exceed half width but still be modest and acceptable.

Comments noted -
however they do not
require any specific
changes to the draft SPD

10.5 - The annotation below the middle image could clarify that the example is also unacceptable due to the extension having a flat roof, and/or have this image next to paragraph
9.3.

Comments noted -
change made

10.7 – EDC consider this paragraph should be stronger in discouraging all but very minor front extension works and clarify the minimum dimensions for adequate parking spaces, cross
referring to paragraph 10.21

Comments noted -
change made

10.8 and 10.9 – This states that the height should be no higher than the existing ridgeline. EDC provided informal comments previously that we consider this should instead refer to be
being lower or down from the ridgeline, which would additionally provide consistency with Dartford Borough Council design guidance.

Comments noted -
change made

10.17 and 10.18 - No guidance has been provided on conversion of internal garages and whether this would be resisted due to loss of parking.
Comments noted - no
change required

10.21 – This could provide some example images of well-designed front gardens with additional planting and emphasise that any planting lost would need to be off-set by additional
planting or more structural planting within a smaller area, to maintain both the character and quality public realm of the area, particularly for new build estates.

Comments noted - no
change required, this will
be addressed via the
biodiversity net gain
requirementsAppendix 1 - Examples for the 25 and 45 degree rules are unchanged from the earlier draft and. EDC do not consider these are sufficiently clear and that this appendix needs both

acceptable and unacceptable examples to be shown, including for 2 storey extensions, and that the two rules should be shown as separate examples to avoid confusion. The 45
degree rule should also reference that if the application property is between two neighbouring properties, that this rule applies to both.

Comments noted -
change made

Ebbsfleet
Development
Corporation

Name

To which part of the
draft supplementary
planning document
does this response
relate?

Do you agree with the need
to provide additional
guidance on the Council’s
approach to Householder
Extensions / Alterations
Design Guidance SPD? If not,
please explain why

Do you think that the
guidance document
provides a clear
message and way
forward for
Householder Extensions
/ Alterations? Please
elaborate on your
answer and be as
precise as possible.

Do you consider that any modification(s)
should be made to the guidance document,
prior to its adoption? If yes, if you are able
to please put forward your suggested
revised wording of any text. Please be as
precise as possible.

Are there any additional comments on the
document you would like to make?

GBC Comments

P
age 210



Supplementary Planning Document

Householder Extensions/Alterations 
Design Guide 

January 2021

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Images/illustrations to be updated prior to cabinet

P
age 211



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

P
age 212



Table of Contents  

1 Introduction             4

2 Why do we need design guidance?          5

3 Aims of this guidance            6

4 Status of this guidance           6

5 Building Regulations            6

6 Party Wall Act             6

7 What constraints could affect your plans to extend / alter your house?     7
 Conservation Areas            7
 Listed Buildings            8
 Green Belt             8
 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty

8 Is planning permission required?          9
 Pre-application Service           9
 What you need to provide with your application      10
 Enforcement           10

9 Key Principles           11
 Character and design quality         11
 Overshadowing          12
 Privacy            12
 Overbearing           12
 Architectural detail          13

2 

Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

P
age 213



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

3

 Materials           13
 Gardens and trees          13

10 Extensions and Alterations         14
 Rear Extensions          14
 Single Storey Rear Extensions         14
 Two Storey and First Floor Rear Extensions       15
 Side Extensions          16
 Single Storey Side          17
 Two Storey Side          17
 Extensions to houses on Corner Plots        18
 Front Extensions & Porches         19
 Roof Extensions          20
 Side roof extensions          20
 Rear Roof Extensions          21
 Front Roof Extensions          21
 Doors & Windows          22
 Outbuildings & Garages         23
 Outbuildings           23
 Garages           23
 Materials & Details          24
 Front Gardens & Parking         24
 Front Garden Boundary Treatments        25
 Solar Panels           27

11 GLOSSARY           27

12 Appendix 1 -  45 and 25 degree rules        31

P
age 214



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

4

1 Introduction

1.1 Extensions and alterations to a home can be an economical way of ensuring a home can meet a household’s present and future needs. In seeking to 
meet such needs it is important to ensure that any extensions or alterations to a home are well designed, well-built and sympathetic to their surroundings. By 
doing so we can ensure that there are no adverse effects on the original house, immediate neighbours, the local view of the street, as well as the character 
and appearance of the local area. 

1.2 It is not always possible for a house to be extended or altered to meet the requirements of a household. For example in certain instances the proposal 
may be out of scale and proportion with the original house, there maybe insufficient space around the original house to accommodate an extension without 
detrimentally impacting the availability of private amenity space, whilst in other instances an extension may create unacceptable levels of overlooking or 
overshadowing of neighbouring properties. 

1.3 Within Gravesham there is great variety in the type, style, age and quality of housing. Many areas within the Borough have a distinct character which, 
with the quality of the buildings, their layout and landscaping have become much cherished. Due to the nature of the Borough it is not possible for this 
guidance to cover every possible scenario, the guidance does however encapsulate what the Council will take into account when judging whether or not an 
application is acceptable in planning terms. Only in a limited number of instances will there be justified planning reasons for departing from this guidance, for 
example when an innovative design solution is put forward. 

1.4 The document is intended to provide design guidance on extensions and alterations, for use by applicants, planning agents, architects, members of 
the public affected by such proposals, elected Members of the Council and others such as the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation.

P
age 215



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

5

2 Why do we need design guidance?

2.1 Planning applications need to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there  
are other material considerations, the development plan should be the starting point.

2.2 The Development Plan for Gravesham currently comprises the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and Policies Map, September 2014; Saved 
policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review, November 1994; and the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan, July 2016.

2.3 This guidance document builds upon a number of the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy policies (September 2014), but in particular Policy CS19: 
Development and Design Principles. There are a number of other planning policy and guidance documents which are material considerations, including the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF), the National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), the National Design Guide and other documents adopted 
by the Council such as Supplementary Planning Documents. When making a planning application to the Council, it is important that you consider the 
requirements of all relevant documents that form the Borough’s Development Plan and material considerations. 

2.4 The NPPF identifies that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development, and that good design 
is a key aspect of sustainable development.  A good development should function well, be visually attractive, be sympathetic to local character and history 
and help establish or maintain a strong sense of place.  It also requires that “Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take 
the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local design standards or style 
guides in plans or supplementary planning documents”

2.5 The National Design Guide establishes the principles of good design and sets out the components which should be used for all developments. These 
components are the layout, the form and scale, the appearance, landscape, materials and detailing.

P
age 216



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

6

3 Aims of this guidance

3.1 The main aims of the guide are to:

• Expand on planning policies set out in the Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework
• Raise awareness of the value of good design and how it can benefit a home that is being extended or altered
• Protect the residential amenity of neighbours and enhance the local built environment

4 Status of this guidance

4.1 This guide will have the status of a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and has been prepared in line with the requirements of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and associated regulations and guidance on Supplementary Planning Documents. Supplementary Planning Documents are 
used together with the Development Plan and other material considerations to guide decisions on planning applications by the Council. 

4.2 Supplementary Planning Documents adopted by the Council are available on the Council’s website at www.gravesham.gov.uk/localplan 

5 Building Regulations

5.1 The majority of extensions and some alterations to a property, regardless of whether or not they require planning permission, will require Building 
Regulations consent. Planning permission and Building Regulations consent are two separate requirements, obtaining planning permission does not mean that 
you have obtained Building Regulations consent, and vice versa. For further details regarding Building Regulations consent please visit the Council’s website at 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/building-regulations/overview .

6 Party Wall Act 

6.1 If you intend to carry out work on, or within close proximity to, your neighbour’s boundary or party walls, you will need to consider the requirements 
of the Party Wall Act. This is designed to resolve disputes, which may arise between neighbours when building work is carried out. The basic requirement of 
the Act is that you notify your neighbour of the intended work. For further advice and guidance please visit the Government’s website at https://www.gov.uk/
guidance/party-wall-etc-act-1996-guidance

 Please note The Party Wall Act is not administered by the Council and is a private matter between you and your neighbour(s).

P
age 217



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

7

7 What constraints could affect your plans to extend / alter your house?

7.1 When planning permission is required it is important to understand the constraints on your property that may affect the acceptability of your proposal 
in line with the Council’s Development Plan. This guidance applies to all proposals for residential extensions and alterations. It is recommended that you seek 
pre-application advice before progressing with your proposal (see Paragraph 8.5).

7.2 Seeking this is particularly important, if your property is a listed building or lies within a conservation area where a particularly sensitive approach is 
required. Much of the Borough lies within the Green Belt and the eastern half of the Borough lies within the North Kent Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  
These designations can also affect the acceptability of your proposal to extend your property or erect a building in your garden.

Conservation Areas

7.3 Conservation Areas are protected for their architectural style and historic interest. The Borough’s Conservation areas vary in size, ranging from the 
expansive Windmill Hill Conservation Area, to the much smaller Milton Place Conservation Area.  Conservation Areas are often centered on listed buildings, 
but other features of merit, such as open spaces, trees, historic street patterns, or items of historic or archaeological interest may also contribute to the special 
character of a Conservation Area. 

7.4 Adopted Policy CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment, in line with the NPPF, and saved Policy TC3: Development Affecting Conservation Areas 
require development to preserve and enhance the character or appearance of a conservation area. Where located within a conservation area, the design of 
an extension and materials used for construction, must preserve or enhance the character of the area and compliment the original property and adjoining 
properties. 

7.5 In the majority of cases extensions and additions which front a highway in a conservation area will require planning permission, there are also greater 
restrictions on alterations to the rear of dwellings, buildings within the curtilage, alterations to windows, doors, roofs, cladding, balconies, raised platforms and 
satellite dishes.  This list is by no means exhaustive and it is always recommended that you check prior to undertaking works in a conservation area in order to 
establish if permission is required.  Some conservation areas have article 4 directions removing certain classes of permitted development rights. In these cases 
alterations such as replacing windows and doors or the removal of front boundary walls alterations may require planning permission.

7.6 Conservation Area consent may also be required for the demolition of some outbuildings and boundary walls. For further details regarding 
Conservation Areas, please visit the Council’s website at https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-
areas 

P
age 218



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

8

Listed Buildings

7.7 Listed buildings are protected for their intrinsic architectural/historical importance special consideration needs to be given to the architectural and 
historical integrity of the building or groups of buildings when considering an extension or alteration to a property and to its setting when considering a building 
within the curtilage. 

7.8 Any internal or external alterations to a listed building will require Listed Building Consent. All extensions and some alterations to the external fabric 
or any new buildings within the curtilage of a listed building will also require planning permission.   Even relatively minor works, such as painting, may affect 
the character of a listed building, so it is advisable to seek pre-application advice from the Council if your building is listed. To find out if your property is listed 
please visit https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/ .

Green Belt

7.9 Much of the Borough is rural in character and the majority of the rural areas is designated as Green Belt.  In considering extensions to residential 
properties in the Green Belt, the Council will require proposals to meet the policy requirements set out in the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
criteria set out in Saved Local Plan Policy C13: Extensions to Dwellings in the Countryside.

7.10 Residential extensions may have a significant impact on openness. A limited extension to an existing dwelling may not be considered to be 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt provided that it does not result in disproportionate addition over and above the size of the building as it existed 
on 1 July 1948 or, if constructed after 1 July 1948, as it was originally built. Any extension which would result in a disproportionate addition would constitute 
inappropriate development which is by definition harmful to the Green Belt.  The Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map shows the extent of the Green Belt in 
Gravesham and is available on our website at https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/localplan . 

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty

7.11 Parts of the rural area fall within the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a designated exceptional landscape whose distinctive character 
and natural beauty are precious enough to be safeguarded in the national interest. The Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty offers dramatic views, 
vibrant communities, a rich historic and cultural heritage and diverse wildlife and habitats making it a worthy landscape for national protection.

7.12 For all proposals the prime consideration in such areas is the conservation of the natural beauty of the landscape. Particular attention will be given to 
the siting, size, form, materials and detailed design of proposals. Permitted Development rights are reduced in these areas in order to retain the natural beauty.  

P
age 219



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

9

The Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map shows the extent of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty in Gravesham and is available on our website at https://
www.gravesham.gov.uk/localplan .

8 Is planning permission required?

8.1 Some extensions to a house do not always require planning permission. This is known as ‘Permitted Development.’ Permitted development is subject 
to strict criteria, for example relating to height, depth, positioning and materials choices. There are certain types of permitted development that also require 
‘prior approval’ from the council before work can be undertaken to your home.  This is explained in more detail through the “Permitted development rights for 
householders: technical guidance document”, further information can also be found on the Council’s website at: 

 https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/do-i-need-planning-permission/what-is-permitted-development
 and on the Planning Portal at https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200125/do_you_need_permission.

8.2 The regulations relating to permitted development are complex, and subject to change from time to time, to avoid any confusion as to whether you 
house benefits from permitted development rights you are strongly advised to seek advice from the Council before carrying out any development by applying 
for a Certificate of Lawful Development in order to obtain a formal view from the Council. 

8.3 It should also be noted that a previous planning permission for your site may contain planning conditions that remove the permitted development rights 
for future development.

8.4 Particular care must be taken if the property is a Listed Building; within a Conservation Area, affected by an Article 4 Direction (these often apply in 
Conservation Areas, as well as to housing constructed in recent decades), or is in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). In these circumstances 
different regulations apply. 

Pre-application Service

8.5 The Council runs a pre-application service which provides an avenue for you to articulate your proposal to the Council and seek initial views from the 
Council before committing further resources to a project and applying for planning permission if required. We can help ensure your proposal meets all the 
relevant requirements which helps to avoid unrealistic expectations and delays. Further details can be found on our website at: 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/pre-application-service 

P
age 220



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

10

What you need to provide with your application

8.6 The Council has recently published its Local List of Validation Requirements, which sets out the type and quality of drawings and information that will 
be required to accompany planning applications, in order to provide a degree of certainty and clarity to assist applicants. The requirements are proportionate 
to the nature and scale of your proposal, and following the Local List of Validation Requirements can reduce unnecessary delays in validating and determining 
a planning application.  

The main list and explanatory guides are available here: https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/local-list-
of-validation-requirements

Enforcement

8.7 Failure to obtain planning permission (where it is required) can lead to enforcement action being taken by the Council and the possible requirement 
to remove any extension or alteration built without planning permission. Similarly, it is important to build what has been given permission. Where works are 
undertaken that do not accord with the approved drawings, enforcement action may be taken and it may be necessary to significantly alter or rebuild an 
extension in order to comply with the planning permission.

8.8 With regards to works carried out to a Listed Building, it is also a criminal offence (under English law) to carry out works that require listed building 
consent without such consent being obtained from the Council.  The offence is committed by the person who carried out the works (possibly a builder) and by 
anyone who caused them to be carried out (someone instructing a builder).  It is not a defence to say that the fact that the building was listed was not known.

P
age 221



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

11

9 Key Principles

9.1 All the following design guidance must take into account.

Character and design quality

9.2 Any proposed extensions and alterations to a house should respect the original character of 
the existing dwelling, complement and correspond with the character of neighbouring properties and 
the local area. It should be noted that this does not mean an exact replication of the existing character. 
Your proposal should reflect and respect the original character and respond to its features. In order to 
achieve this as a starting point all residential extensions and alterations should be subordinate to the host 
property/building allowing the original building to remain dominant.

9.3 Matching roof styles and pitches should be used in new extensions and new extensions 
should normally not be larger, higher or forward of the existing dwelling unless they echo an existing 
characteristic in the local area. It is usually preferable for an extension to have a lower roofline and be set 
back behind the front building line. In most cases a flat-roofed extension to the front or side, or where 
clearly visible from the street, will not be supported (unless the original house main roof is flat).

9.4 In Conservation Areas, or where schemes would impact upon the setting of a Listed Building, or 
directly impact a listed building itself, the character and appearance of the area is more sensitive to new 
development.  More advice regarding heritage consideration generally, and on the specific character of 
the borough’s 23 Conservation Areas, as well as appraisals or management plans relating to specific 
areas is available on the Council’s website at: 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-
areas

New extensions should normally not be larger, 
higher or forward of the existing dwelling unless 
they echo an existing characteristic in the local 
area.

Matching roof styles and pitches should be used 
in new extensions

P
age 222



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

12

Overshadowing
9.5 Depending upon the oreintation and position of neighbouring windows and private amenity areas,
problems of overshadowing, enclosure and poor outlook can occur from an extension. If the 
neighbouring property is to the north of the proposed extension overshadowing problems increase. 
Extensions should not create an unreasonable amount of overshadowing of neighbouring properties. 
Account should be taken of the orientation and position of neighbouring properties, and in particular any 
impact that the extension with have on neighbouring windows and private gardens. Where an extension 
would result in a significant reduction in light, or cause excessive overshadowing, planning permission 
may not be granted. In particular, care should be given when proposing extensions on the boundary with 
neighbouring properties that are either single-storey with a long projection, or are two-storeys in height. 
When considering overshadowing the Council will have regard to the 45 / 25 degree rule (see Appendix 
1), as well as the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) and the Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) 
methods for calculating daylight and sunlight. 

Privacy
9.6 It is important that new development sustains the privacy of neighbouring dwellings. Windows, 
balconies and raised decking can result in the loss of privacy to neighbouring properties from overlooking 
of their private amenity areas, or from direct close views into windows. To ensure adequate privacy levels 
are retained, there should be no direct overlooking into neighbouring habitable rooms or private amenity 
spaces of neighboruing gardens. There may be a requirement for privacy screens to the end of raised 
decks or balconies. Careful consideration should be given to window positions to ensure no windows on 
the boundary with neighbouring properties cause harmful overlooking and to ensure that windows above 
the ground floor retain adequate privacy distances. It may be possible, in some cases, to use high level 
and obscure / translucent glazing. 

Overbearing
9.7 An extension close to a neighbouring properties window, or a large extension on the 
boundary can cause a loss of amenity by appearing overbearing and creating a sense of enclosure 
and dominance. Careful consideration will therefore need to be given to the relationship to existing 
neighbouring windows and to the size and design of an extension that may change the outlook from a 
neighbouring property.

Where an extension would result in a significant 
reduction in light, or cause excessive 
overshadowing, planning permission may not be 
granted.

P
age 223



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

13

Architectural detail

9.8 Architectural details such as sills, barge boards, brick coursing, window positions and sizes on 
an existing property are part of its character and should be replicated in proposed extensions. Window 
arrangements, their size, materials and opening style should also reflect the existing dwelling

Materials

9.9 Extensions should normally be constructed using matching materials to the main dwelling. 
Matching bricks or render should be used along with similar coursing and pointing detailing and colours. 
Roof tiles or materials should match the existing in terms of materials, texture, colour and size. Where 
appropriate, extensions may be constructed of an alternative material if this is consistent with other 
development in the area and where the extension would still be clearly subordinate to the main dwelling.

Gardens and trees

9.10 These are an important element of the character of the property, the visual amenity and 
biodiversity of the locality. Extensions should maintain a garden area that allows for practical use and 
reflects the established character of the area and the size of the house. Householders should retain as 
much soft landscaping in their garden as possible, whilst trees within and adjacent to the site should be 
protected from damage or removal where new extensions are proposed.

9.11 Some trees in the borough are protected for their outstanding value by a tree preservation order 
(TPO), they may also be subject to protection if they are within a conservation area. If this is the case, the 
Council will need to consider the risk to any protected trees when determining the planning application. 

Careful consideration should be given to 
window positions to ensure no windows on the 
boundary with neighbouring properties cause 
harmful overlooking and to ensure that windows 
above the ground floor retain adequate privacy 
distances

P
age 224



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

14

10 Extensions and Alterations 

10.1 This section outlines the type of residential extensions and alterations that the Council may 
consider acceptable. Each planning application will be considered by the Council on its merits on the 
basis that each property is different. 

Rear Extensions

Single Storey Rear Extensions

10.2 Single storey rear extensions are not normally visible from the street so are usually less visually 
intrusive than other extensions. However, these extensions can still have an impact on neighbouring 
amenity, including access to sunlight, daylight and outlook. To resolve these  potential issues, single 
storey rear extensions should be designed to ensure that:

• Depth: The extension does not dominate the original property.  This can cause the site to appear 
overdeveloped, and cause long dark internal spaces to be formed.  Extensions to extensions will 
generally not be supported.

• Height: Single storey extensions should not rise above the window sill level of any first-floor 
windows.  Care should be taken to limit the height of extensions where they abut neighbouring 
property boundaries, especially where extensions are of significant depth (above 3m deep)

• Width: Generally, extensions should not be of greater width than the original building
• Design: Whilst flat roofs on low visibility rear extensions might be acceptable, care should be 

applied to extensions to properties on open corners.  Pitched roof extensions to single storey 
properties should use roof shapes which reflect the pitch and type of roof of the original building. 

• Materials: Generally, using matching external materials and window/door frames.  In some 
instances, contemporary design may be appropriate, through the use of high-quality materials and 
design which complements the original house and has minimal impact on neighbouring properties. 

• Overlooking: Extensions should avoid inserting any flank windows, or involve raised platforms 
where they would allow new, or significantly increased overlooking views into neighbouring gardens 
/ properties

Appropriate scale and roof design ensures both 
extensions work together whilst maintaining 
generous garden space.

Examples of inappropriate scale

P
age 225



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

15

• Light/Outlook: The 45 / 25 degree rule will be used to assess the impact of the extension on 
neighbouring light / outlook.

• Garden Space: Adequate garden area for the enlarged house should be retained following 
development

Two Storey and First Floor Rear Extensions 

10.3 Two-storey rear extensions are often desirable as they create more space within a home, 
however they are not appropriate in all circumstances e.g. mid-terraced properties, and need to be 
carefully designed to avoid negatively impacting neighbouring properties. Proposals for two-storey rear 
extensions should consider the surrounding context and ensure: 

• Depth: The extension does not dominate the original property.  This can cause the site to appear 
overdeveloped, and cause long dark internal spaces to be formed.  Extensions to extensions will 
generally not be supported.

• Height: two storey extensions can have very significant impact on neighbouring amenity, so should 
generally not be built up to site boundaries with neighbouring properties /gardens.  

• Width: Extensions should not be of greater width than the original building
• Design: Extensions are of greater visibility, and should incorporate roof designs to reflect, tie in with 

and not overwhelm the main property’s roof.  Patterns of windows should reflect the host building 
and local character.

• Materials: Using matching external materials and window / door frames is especially relevant for 
two storey extensions.   

• Overlooking: Extensions should avoid inserting any flank windows, or involve raised platforms 
where they would allow new, or significantly increased overlooking views into neighbouring 
gardens / properties

• Light / Outlook: The 45 / 25 degree rule will be used to assess the impact of the extension on 
neighbouring light / outlook.

• Garden Space: Adequate garden area for the enlarged house should be retained following 
development

A two storey extension should comply with the 
45 degree rule. See Apendix 1

P
age 226



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

16

Side Extensions

Single Storey Side

10.4 Side extensions should consider the impact on the appearance of the street. Care is also needed 
when considering the relationship between any proposed extension and the boundary with neighbouring 
properties as the separation between properties can provide access routes to the rear of the property 
and in some locations are part of the character of the area. Depending on the orientation of the 
neighbouring property, side extensions also have the potential to impact their amenity. To ensure these 
potential issues are resolved, single storey side extensions should be designed in accordance with the 
guidance below.

• Footprint: Extensions should generally aim to appear subservient to the original building by lying 
behind the main front building line, though where designed well or having regard to positive local 
character, other approaches can be supported

• Height: Extensions that directly abut a neighbouring boundary should be designed to minimise 
impact on neighbouring amenity.

• Width: Extensions should generally be no greater than half the width of the original building. 
• Design: Extensions are of greater visibility, and should incorporate roof designs to reflect the main 

property’s roof.  The use of flat or false pitched roofs visible from the street should be avoided.  
Patterns of windows should reflect the original building and local character.  Walls to extensions 
should not form the site boundary with the public highway, as these can be 

• Oppressive and encourage antisocial activities.
• Materials: Matching external materials and window / door frames should be used.
• Overlooking: Extensions should avoid inserting any flank windows where they would allow new, or 

significantly increased overlooking views into neighbouring gardens / properties
• Light / Outlook: The 45 / 25 degree rule will be used to assess the impact of the extension on 

neighbouring light / outlook.
• Garden Space: Adequate garden area for the enlarged house should be retained following 

development

The extension is the correct scale, proportion and 
width, and has the same roof design as the original 
house.

Less than 
50% of 
existing house 
width

P
age 227



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                                            January 2021

17

Two Storey Side

10.5 Two storey extensions can have a more significant impact on the appearance of the street. Care  
is also needed when considering the relationship between any proposed extension and the boundary 
with neighbouring properties as the separation between properties can provide access routes to the rear 
of the property and in some locations are part of the character of the area. Depending on the orientation 
of the neighbouring property, side extensions also have the potential to impact their amenity. To ensure 
these potential issues are resolved, two storey side extensions should be designed in accordance with 
the guidance below.

• Footprint: Extensions should generally aim to appear subservient to the host building by lying 
behind the main front building line, though where designed well or having regard to positive local 
character, other approaches can be supported.  See advice of extensions to corner properties in 
the following section.

• Height: Extensions that directly abut a neighbouring boundary should be designed to minimise 
impact on neighbouring amenity.

• Width: Extensions should generally be no greater than half the width of the host building. The 
existing rhythm of the street, including for example characteristic gaps between properties, 
the symmetry of pairs of semi-detached homes or groups of terraced houses, should not be 
unreasonably interrupted. A minimum gap of 1 metre should be retained between the extension 
and the flank boundary.

• Design: Extensions are of greater visibility, and should incorporate roof designs to reflect and 
generally be subservient to the main property’s roof.  The use of flat or false pitched roofs visible 
from the street should be avoided.  Patterns of windows should reflect the host building and local 
character.  Walls to extensions should not form the site boundary with the public highway, as these 
can be oppressive and encourage antisocial activities.

• Materials: Matching external materials and window / door frames should be used.
• Overlooking: Extensions should avoid inserting any flank windows where they would allow new, or 

significantly increased overlooking views into neighbouring gardens / properties
• Light / Outlook: The 45 / 25 degree rule will be used to assess the impact of the extension on 

neighbouring light / outlook.

Two storey side extensions should be 
subordinate in scale to the original house.

Side extensions should be set back and set in to 
avoid the ‘terrace effect’.

Ground floor set 
back 0.5m

Ground floor set back 0.5m

Unacceptable flat 
roof

P
age 228



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

18

• Garden Space: Adequate garden area for the enlarged house should be retained following 
development

• Bin Storage: Adequate provision for discreet storage of waste bins in the front garden

Extensions to houses on Corner Plots

10.6 Corner plots provide opportunities to create large extensions that face onto the return road and  
in some cases can create a landmark building feature. Their location makes them highly visible from two 
streets and can provide an opportunity to improve the appearance of an area. Houses on corner plots 
may have capacity for two-storey extensions that extend to the side or rear. Extensions should follow the 
relevant advice given in preceding sections and ensure:

• Building Line: Any projection forward of the building line on the return street is carefully designed 
as this will be highly visible. This may be resolved through the massing (such as stepping), 
fenestration or material treatment of the proposal. Views along the return street to the proposed 
building should be considered.

• Roof Form: The relationship between the roof of the existing property and an extension on a corner 
is carefully considered.

• End Walls: Extensions that result in overbearing end walls, including blank, uncharacteristic gables, 
will generally not be acceptable.  Walls to extensions should not form the site boundary with the 
public highway, as these can be oppressive and encourage antisocial activities

Development should not dominate the street 
corner.

P
age 229



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

19

Front Extensions & Porches

10.7 Front extensions can change the character of the original building and where poorly designed  
have a negative impact on the appearance of the street; due to their visibility these kind of extensions 
are most likely to have an impact on the wider street scene and are generally discouraged. It is therefore 
important to invest a high level of design quality in such proposals following the guidance below:

• Design: Front extensions must be designed to respond to and enhance the character of the 
existing dwelling and street.

• Scale: The scale and design of new porches should respond to the existing dwelling. 
• Existing Features: Care should be taken to preserve the appearance of existing features, such as 

bay windows and avoid porches that would impact these by subsuming their form or erasing their 
prominence. Existing porches that are open to the street and are an original feature that form part 
of a local pattern of development should generally not be enclosed.

• Car Parking: Extensions or porches should not result in the retention of front parking spaces of 
inadequate depth. 

The scale and design of new porches should 
respond to the existing dwelling.

Front extensions/porches should be in scale with 
the existing house, large flat roofed alterations 
which break the building line and do not respect 
the scale of the house will be rejected.

P
age 230



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

20

Roof Extensions

Side roof extensions

10.8 The use of loft space to provide additional accommodation can often provide more space for 
relatively little cost, using natural light through the use of skylights. Roof extensions, such as dormer 
windows or box extensions which project out from the roof slope, should be used where there is a 
need to enlarge the useable floor space within a loft or where they are more characteristic of the area. 
Extensions and alterations to roofs should be set away from the gables, hips, eaves and ridge of a 
property and follow the guidance below follow the guidance below:

• Height: Should be lower than the existing ridge-line.
• Massing: Should not wrap around two-sides of a hipped roof unless in special circumstances 

where it can be justified; this will be judged on a case by case basis.  Dormers should not 
overwhelm the roof slope within which they are to be placed, being sited well clear of the roof 
edges and eaves.

• Alignment of Windows: Should include window position and design which reflects the position, 
design and character of windows to the lower levels of the host building

• Detail: Large blank facades on dormers can have an overbearing appearance and will not generally 
be acceptable.

• Unbalancing: If proposing a hip to gable roof extension, this should not interrupt or unbalance the 
pattern of roof form visible from the street.

A dormer with a flat roof which extends 
from eaves to the ridge of the roof is not 
considered good design and is likely to be 
rejected.

Hip-to-gable extensions that impact the 
symmetry of houses and the character of 
the street will be refused.

P
age 231



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

21

Rear Roof Extensions

10.9 Whilst in many instances, rear roof extensions can be undertaken without permission under 
permitted development, these can and have had a harmful effect on roofscapes.  When assessing 
planning applications, a high standard of design shall be required.  Rear roof extensions and alterations 
should be set away from the gables, hips, eaves and ridge of a property and follow the guidance below:

• Height: Should be lower than the existing ridge-line, and original ridgeline treatment should be 
retained.

• Massing: Should not wrap around two-sides of a hipped roof unless in special circumstances 
where it can be justified; this will be judged on a case by case basis.  Dormers should not 
overwhelm the roof slope within which they are to be placed

• Alignment of Windows: Should include window position and design which reflects the position, 
design and character of windows to the lower levels of the host original building

• Detail: Large blank facades on dormers can have an overbearing appearance and will not generally 
be acceptable

Front Roof Extensions

10.10 It will generally not be acceptable to create dormers on the front of a property.

Rear and side dormers that are in proportion and 
in keeping with the design of the house will be 
considered favourably

Full width flat dormer is both our of character 
in terms of scale and design whereas multiple, 
traditionally shaped dormers compliment the 
property.

Full width flat roof 
dormer

Multiple, traditionally 
shaped dormer

P
age 232



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

22

Doors & Windows

10.11 Unless they are Listed buildings, houses (not flats or maisonettes) may have permitted 
development rights (unless these have been removed) that enable changes to windows and doors. 
Although minimal in each case, such alterations have a cumulative effect when carried out in historic 
areas. Due to the need to protect some of the Borough’s most historic areas, the Council has made 
Article 4 Directions in conservation areas which remove some permitted development rights. In other 
circumstances, changes to doors and windows still need to be of a ‘similar appearance’ to those within 
the existing property.

10.12 Windows are a defining feature of a building. Poor window design and placement, and 
inconsistency of design and size can disrupt the appearance of buildings and the rhythm of the street 
scene.  

10.13 Where proposed as part of extensions, or where proposals relate to window or door alterations  
only, the key considerations to observe are:

• The type, proportions, frame pattern and materials of the new windows and doors should match 
those of the original house. 

• The proportion of windows is particularly important in successfully integrating an extension with an 
existing building as this could affect the appearance of the property regardless of whether it needs 
planning permission. For example, an extension to a house with windows of vertical proportion 
should not have windows that are square or horizontal in proportion

• New windows should be arranged to line up vertically and horizontally with those of the original 
house, to give a sense of balance and proportion

• The ratio of solid wall to window should reflect that of the original house or local buildings. The 
number and size of windows in an extension should be limited to those absolutely necessary; 
otherwise the elevation would appear too cluttered.

Style and proportions of windows reflect original 
property.

Style and proportions of windows are out of 
character with original property.

P
age 233



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

23

Outbuildings & Garages

Outbuildings 

10.14 An outbuilding should normally only be used for purposes incidental to the enjoyment of the house. Examples could include common buildings such 
as garden sheds, other storage buildings, garages, and summer houses. A purpose incidental to a dwelling house does not include use as separate self-
contained accommodation, or other primary living accommodation incorporating such components as a bedroom, bathroom, or kitchen. Proposals to provide 
separate accommodation or a commercial use (unless it constitutes working from home) in an outbuilding requires planning permission.

10.15 Outbuilding should not deprive the existing property of adequate private garden space and  should be subordinate in scale to the existing dwelling and 
to the plot. In assessing proposals, the Council will consider factors such as the scale, height, proximity to boundaries, roof design, finishing materials and 
prominence in the street scene or rear garden environment. 

10.16 As with all extensions, outbuildings should not detract from the character of the area (this is especially important where the outbuilding will be visible 
from the street) and should be unobtrusively located to the side and rear of the existing dwelling.  They should also not have an adverse impact on the amenity 
of the surrounding properties in terms of noise and disturbance created through access or overlooking / or overshadowing of existing properties.   

Garages

10.17 Detached garages should reflect the design, materials, character and style of the existing property. Garages should not be located in a position which 
would detract from the attractiveness of the street scene. Usually garages should be positioned to the side of a dwelling,

10.18 In order to properly function as car parking, garages should provide clear internal dimension of 5.5m (length) x 3.6m (width) for one car and 5.5m by 
6m width for 2 cars.

P
age 234



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

24

Materials & Details

10.19 The choice and use of materials for an extension or alteration can significantly impact the appearance of a dwelling. Choice of materials should 
consider the neighbouring properties and ensure:

• In areas where there is a strong sense of character through the use of particular materials, extensions and alterations should use materials that 
respond to this character. Where appropriate, this may allow the introduction of new, high-quality materials, including in historic environments where 
contemporary materials may be used to offer a contrast to the appearance of traditional materials and enhance the qualities of and provide a clear 
distinction from the original fabric.

• Materials chosen to match the existing dwelling are carefully chosen to consider the effects of weathering and time. This is crucial where materials need 
to match the existing.

• The long-term wearing of materials is considered. Materials such as render and wood can wear drastically if poorly detailed and not maintained, 
particularly if north facing.

• The reuse of materials where possible for a repair or extension. Elevations which are visible from the street, including roofs, should be prioritised in the 
reuse of materials. A mixture of old and new materials is more appropriate on rear-facing elevations, and should ensure that similar colours, textures and 
sizes are used to those of the original roof covering.

10.20 Innovation or the use of new materials will be encouraged, except where it detracts from the character of an area.

Front Gardens & Parking

10.21 The laying of hard surfaces to the front gardens of houses often do not require planning permission.  Where large areas, non-permeable surfaces or  
changes in ground levels are involved, or permitted development rights have been withdrawn, the following considerations will apply: 

• Hardstanding should be proportionate to the size of the dwelling and the relevant car parking standards and avoid paving over a significant amount of 
the forecourt. Soft landscaped planted border along all boundaries should be provided in all spaces not specifically defined as parking or turning spaces.

• Allow sufficient space between the car and the dwelling to allow access to the front door and side of the property. 1 metre should be the minimum 
space between or around car parking spaces.

• Front garden parking must be designed to avoid cars overhanging the pavement.  Car parking spaces a minimum of 2.5m wide (2.7m where spaces 
adjoin an enclosed boundary) and 5m deep should be provided.

• Should not include gates. Where gates already exist, they must not open outwards and should allow enough space for them to be opened inwardly (if 

P
age 235



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

25

relevant) whilst a car is parked. 
• Gates should enable a pedestrian on the footway to have clear visibility of any vehicle exiting (i.e. they should be railings or have some form of 

transparency) and should not be of a height that blocks visibility of passing pedestrians and should enable visibility from the footway that blocks visibility 
of passing pedestrians and should enable visibility from the footway.

• Avoid removing any existing trees or established hedges and introduce new planting wherever possible.
• Introduce permeable paving to new areas of hardstanding to minimise rainwater run-off issues, as per the requirements of Permitted Development.
• There should be no water run-off from the forecourt onto the public highway.
• Where loose surfacing is proposed, a minimum of 1m depth of non-loose hardstanding should be provided at the front edge of the driveway with the 

public highway
• Repair or restore any original decorative tiled paths that are a characteristic or historic feature of the existing dwelling.
• Pedestrian and vehicle visibility splays should be provided. 

10.22 If a new dropped kerb and crossover is required, applicants must apply for and obtain consent via the relevant landowner (if crossing private / third  
party land, such as amenity strips) as well as the highway authority

Front Garden Boundary Treatments

10.23 Boundary treatments help to define the relationship between a dwelling and the street. They can include garden walls, fences, railings and hedges. 
Existing boundary treatments and garden walls should be retained where they allow sufficient visibility splays to avoid open planned front gardens. A strong 
front boundary treatment should be incorporated into proposals, particularly where this is characteristic of the street. Boundary treatments visible from the 
street should:

• Respond to the design of the dwelling;
• Be consistent with the height of other enclosures on the road;
• Avoid the introduction of different styles along the street. Treatments should reinforce the dominant boundary type along the street, ensuring consistency 

with the style and age of the property;
• Consider well-maintained planting as an alternative solution and retain any hedgerow;
• Encourage natural surveillance of the street and help design out crime.
• Incorporate visibility splays and sight lines for pedestrian and vehicular safety.
• Hedges are also encouraged given their air quality benefits

P
age 236



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

26

Solar Panels

10.24 The installation of solar panels (photovoltaic and thermal) on dwellings may be ‘permitted development’ with no need to apply to the Council for 
planning permission. There are, however, important limits and conditions which must be met to benefit from these permitted development rights.

10.25 Solar panels should be sited, so far as is practicable, to minimise the effect on the external appearance of the building and the amenity of the area.

10.26 Conservation Areas - wall mounted panels must not be fitted to a wall which fronts a highway. Equipment on a building should be sited, so far as is  
practicable, to minimize the effect on the external appearance of the building and the amenity of the area. 

10.27 Further information on the conditions that need to be met for the proposal to be permitted development can be found on the Planning Portal.

P
age 237



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

27

Glossary

Main Building line:
A designated line beyond which a building cannot extend. 

Character:
A term relating to Conservation Areas or Listed Buildings, but also to the appearance of any rural or urban location in terms of its landscape or the layout of 
streets and open spaces, often giving places their own distinct identity. 

Conservation Area:
A designated area of special architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. 

Context:
The setting of a site or area, including factors such as traffic, activities and land uses as well as landscape spaces and built form

Curtilage:
The area normally within the boundaries of a property surrounding the main building and used in connection with it. 

Dwelling/dwelling house: 
A self-contained building or part of a building used as a residential accommodation, and usually housing a single household. A dwelling may be a house, 
bungalow, flat, maisonette or converted farm building 

Elevation: 
The actual facade (or face) of a building, or a plan showing the drawing of a facade. 

Flank Wall: 
Side wall. 

Habitable room: 
Any room used or intended to be used for sleeping, cooking, living or eating purposes. Enclosed spaces such as bath or toilet facilities, service rooms, 
corridors, laundries, hallways, utility rooms or similar spaces are excluded from this definition. 

P
age 238



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

28

Highway: 
A highway can be the whole or a part of a highway other than a ferry or waterway, it can be a road or footpath and include bridges and tunnels, it does not 
have to be a drivable route. 

Hipped roof: 
Hipped roof has sloped instead of vertical end. 

Gable end: 
The triangular upper part of a wall at the end of a ridged roof. 

Layout: 
The way buildings, routes and open spaces are placed or laid out on the ground in relation to each other.

Listed Buildings: 
A building or structure identified by the Secretary of State for Culture, Media & Sport as being of special architectural or historic interest. There are three 
categories of listing: Grade I (the highest quality), Grade II* and Grade II.

Original Dwelling House: 
Usually defined as a building as it existed on 1 July 1948 where it was built before that date, and as it was built when built after that date but for the purposes 
of this document, it describes the house as it stands today.  

Overbearing: 
A term used to describe the impact of a development or building on its surroundings, particularly a neighbouring property, in terms of its scale, massing and 
general dominating effect. 

Overlooking: 
A term used to describe the effect when a development or building affords an intrusive view/outlook over adjoining land or property, often causing loss of 
privacy. 

Overshadowing: 
The effect of a development or building on the amount of natural light presently enjoyed by a neighbouring property, resulting in a shadow being cast 

P
age 239



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

29

Parapet wall: 
Walls which project above the surrounding roof level, often around the side or edges of a flat roof or between terraced dwellings.

Party Wall: 
A wall that stands astride the boundary of land belonging to two (or more) different owners. 

Permitted development rights: 
Permission to carry out certain limited forms of development without the need to make a full application to a local planning authority, as granted under the 
terms of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order. 

Principal elevation: 
The part of the house which fronts (directly or at an angle) the main highway serving the house (the main highway will be the one that sets the postcode for the 
house concerned). It will usually contain the main architectural features such as main bay windows or a porch serving the main entrance to the house. Usually, 
but not exclusively the principal elevation will be what is understood to be the front of the house.  

Ridgeline: 
The horizontal apex of the roof continued along the length of the roof span.

Roof light: 
A window opening in a roof that allows light to enter the building. 

Roof pitch: 
The elevation angle of the roof. 

Roofscape: 
View resulting from a blend of roof pitches, sizes and heights within the built environment.

Street scene/Streetscape: 
The view along a street from the perspective of a driver or pedestrian, especially of the natural and man-made elements in or near the street right of way, 
including roof line, street trees, lawns, landscape buffers, signs, street lights, above ground utilities, draining structures, sidewalks, bus stop shelters and street 
furniture. 

P
age 240



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

30

Subordinate:
Inferior in size to. 

Sustainability:
 The principle that the environment should be protected in such a condition and to such a degree that ensures new development meets the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs

Symmetrical:
Balanced, being generally identical on both sides. 

Window sill: 
Slab of wood or stone at base of window or part of the window frame. The window rests on the sill and it serves to shed water away.

P
age 241



Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD                               January 2021

31

Appendix 1 -  45 and 25 degree rules

45 degree rule

This test should be used where the proposed development is at right angles to the affected window of 
the neighbouring property:

• Draw a line at 45 degrees upwards from the centre of the affected window. 
• Draw a line at 45 degrees sideways from the centre of the affected window.

If the proposed development is both higher and wider than these 45 degree lines, there may be an 
unacceptable loss of daylight to the affected window.
 
25 degree rule

This test should be used where the proposed development faces the affected window of the 
neighbouring property:

• Draw a line at 25 degrees upwards from the centre of the affected window.

If the proposed development is higher than this 25 degree line, there may be an unacceptable loss of 
daylight to the affected window.

Images to be updated

Illustrative plan and section demonstrating daylight tests

25°

45°

45°

P
age 242



P
age 243



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet 
Full Council 
 

Date: 4 January 2021
23 February 2021

Reporting officer: Perry Holmes, Monitoring Officer

Subject: Proposed amendments to the Constitution 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To seek agreement to amend the Constitution to provide a delegation to the Monitoring 
Officer to authorise employees to appear on behalf of the Council in the County Court and/or 
Magistrates' Court and to add a Council side urgency provision to enable decisions reserved 
to Council to be made in urgent circumstances when it it not possible to wait for the next 
Council meeting. 

Recommendations:
1. That a delegation be made to the Monitoring Officer to authorise employees to appear 

on behalf of the Council in the County Court and/or Magistrates' Court pursuant to 
S60 of the County Courts Act 1984 and S223 of the Local Government Act 1972, and 

2. That a delegation be made to the Chief Executive and Directors to make urgent 
decisions on matters reserved to Council only where the urgent matter is of such a 
nature that it may be against the Council's interest to delay and where it is not 
practicable to obtain the approval of the Council. 

1. Current provisions in the Constitution 

1.1 There is currently no specific power delegated to any officer to authorise 
employees to appear in court on behalf of the Council. There are several posts 
across the Council that have the need to appear before the court such as 
licensing officers, environmental health officers and housing officers in order to 
fulfil their roles. It is therefore recommended that a delegation to the Monitoring 
Officer would enable such authorisations to be issued in a timely manner when 
required. 

1.2 There is an urgency provision Cabinet side at Rule 18, Annex 2.2, of the 
Constitution that enables the Leader or another decision-taker, in certain 
circumstances, to take an urgent Cabinet decision when it is not practicable to 
convene a Cabinet meeting in time. The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted a 
need to have a similar urgency provision for Council reserved matters. This would 
be in consultation with the Leaders of all groups and would be exercised only 

Page 245 Agenda Item 9



2

where the urgent matter is of such a nature that it may be against the Council’s 
interest to delay and where it is not practicable to obtain the approval of the 
Council. 

1.3 It is therefore recommended that the amendments are made to the Constitution at 
Annex 1.13. The wording of the proposed amendments is set out in the summary 
attached as Appendix 2 and as track changes to the Constitution as Appendix 3.  

 

2. Background papers

2.1 None

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 246



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Local Authorities have a duty to regularly review and update their Constitution. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial implications. 

Risk Assessment The risk of not providing the delegation is low but to proceed would bring 
expediency, clarity and efficiencies.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan People, Place and Progress

Climate Change There is no impact on climate change.

Crime and Disorder No impact. 

Digital and website 
implications

No impact.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No impact. 

Page 247

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

Proposed Changes to Constitution – Annex 1.13

1) Delegation to Monitoring Officer – Page 43 – Add new paragraph under 
hearings “Delegated from Cabinet”:

To authorise employees to appear on behalf of the Council in County Court 
and/or Magistrates’ Court pursuant to S60 of the County Courts Act 1984 and 
S223 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

2) Council side urgency provision – Page 49 – Add new Part C: 

Part C: Functions delegated to Chief Executive and directors 

Urgent Action

1.13C.1 - Matters reserved to Council:

In relation to Council responsibilities, subject to consultation with the Leaders 
of all the groups which comprise at least 1/10th of the membership of the 
Council (or their nominees), and the provisions for urgent decisions which are 
contrary to any plan or strategy which has been approved or adopted by the 
Council or which are contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget 
approved by the Council (set out in Annex 2.3 of the Constitution), the Chief 
Executive and directors shall have the power to act on behalf of the Council in 
cases of urgency only where the urgent matter is of such a nature that it may 
be against the Council’s interest to delay and where it is not practicable to 
obtain the approval of the Council. 

Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next 
available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why 
the decision was treated as a matter of urgency.

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Delegated from Cabinet: 
 
1.13B.509 Subject to consultation with the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) to 

engage outside agents or practitioners to undertake work appropriate to the 
Planning and Regeneration Services Department.   

 
1.13B.51 Subject to consultation with the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) to 

undertake work for public bodies pursuant to the Local Authorities (Goods 
and Services) Act 1970 or orders made thereunder. 

 
 
 
1.13B.52 Subject to the agreement of the appropriate Lead Member to serve notices 

under s 103(i) of the Law of Property Act 1925 to bring about the repair and 
re-use of a property. 

 
Monitoring Officer 
 
Delegated from Council: 
 
1.13B.53 To institute, defend, prosecute and settle any legal proceedings, whether 

criminal or civil, which the Council is empowered to institute or defend. 
 
Delegated from Planning Committee: 
 
1.13B.54 To serve notice to treat and notice of entry in respect of any property which is 

the subject of a compulsory purchase order.  The power to enforce notice of 
entry is excluded. 

 
Delegated from Cabinet: 
 
1.13B.55 To decide whether consent should be given to the variation of the terms of 

any legal charge of equal or higher priority than Council's own.  Subject to 
consultation with the Assistant Director (Corporate Services). 

 
1.13B.56 To postpone the Council's charge for repayment discount in favour of another 

mortgagee.  Subject to consultation with the Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services).   

 
1.13B.57 To issue grants of exclusive rights of burial in the Council owned cemeteries 

and certificates of ownership or transfer of ownership.   
 
1.13B.58 To deal with requests from other local authorities for contributions towards 

legal costs.  Any contribution of more than £100 to be submitted to the 
Cabinet for approval.   

 
1.13B.59 To obtain Injunctions and Criminal Behaviour Orders under the Anti-Social 

Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014.  Subject to consultation with the 
Assistant Director (Housing). 

 
1.13B.60 To authorise employees to appear on behalf of the council in the County 

Court and/or Magistrates’ Court pursuant to S60 of the County Courts Act 
1984 and S223 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
 

Page 251



This page is intentionally left blank



Part C: Functions delegated to Chief Executive and directors  

 

Urgent Action 

 

1.13C.1 Matters reserved to Council: 

 

 In relation to Council responsibilities, subject to consultation with the Leaders 
of all the groups which comprise at least 1/10th of the membership of the 
Council (or their nominees), and the provisions for urgent decisions which are 
contrary to any plan or strategy which has been approved or adopted by the 
Council or which are contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget 
approved by the Council (set out in Annex 2.3 of the Constitution), the Chief 
Executive and directors shall have the power to act on behalf of the Council in 
cases of urgency only where the urgent matter is of such a nature that it may 
be against the Council’s interest to delay and where it is not practicable to 
obtain the approval of the Council.  

 

  Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next 
  available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why 
  the decision was treated as a matter of urgency 

Formatted: Superscript

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Overview Scrutiny Committee
Cabinet

Date: 19 November 2020
4 January 2021

Reporting officer: Chris Wakeford, Committee Services Officer (Scrutiny)

Subject: Member Training 2019-20 - Annual Report

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Cabinet with a summary of the training that has taken place for 
Members during the 2019-20 municipal year and to outline the draft Training Plan for 2021-
22.

Recommendations:
1. Members note the Member Training attendance statistics and feedback
2. Members are invited to review and endorse the draft Member Training Plan 2021-22 

set out at Appendix Five. 
3. Members are invited to consider the recommendations from the Overview Scrutiny 

Committee, as outlined in paragraph 5.1 of this report.

1. Introduction

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an update on the training 
that has taken place throughout 2019-20 and present the draft Member Training 
Plan 2021-22.

2. Update on Member Training

2.1 During 2019-20, 30 training sessions have been provided to Members on a wide 
range of topics.  The table below provides a summary of the level of attendance at 
the training sessions throughout the year:

Training Session Number of 
attendees

Proportion of 
Members attending

Meet and Greet Induction 27 61%

Basic Planning (Part 1 of 2) 17 38%

Page 255 Agenda Item 10



2

Training Session Number of 
attendees

Proportion of 
Members attending

Planning (Part 2 of 2) 17 38%

Code of Conduct 23 52%

Tour of the Borough 11 25%

Chairing Skills 22 50%

Licensing (Part 1 of 2) 15 34%

Data Protection 16 36%

Licensing (Part 2 of 2) 15 34%

Treasury Management 12 27%

The Gr@nd Meet and Greet 13 29%

Local Government Finance 14 31%

Introduction to Housing 20 45%

Annual Statement of Accounts 8 18%

Direct Services Briefing 20 45%

Revenues and Benefits 12 27%

Environmental Health 12 27%

Internal and External Audit 10 22%

Bullying Awareness 29 65%

Health and Safety 5 11%

Equalities and Cohesion 16 36%

Parking Enforcement 13 29%

Fraud Awareness 12 27%

Design South East 11 25%

Risk Management 18 40%

Treasury Management 10 22%

Planning Appeals 14 31%

Bullying Awareness 5 38%

Page 256



3

Training Session Number of 
attendees

Proportion of 
Members attending

Money Laundering 6 13%

Alzheimer Awareness 9 20%

Please note: the training listed above does not include any ad hoc training or one 
to one sessions that have been provided to Members.

2.2 Appendix two to the report provides further details of the Members that attended 
each session.

3. Feedback from Members

3.1 Appendix three to this report provides a summary of the feedback received in 
respect of the training undertaken throughout 2019-20. Overall the feedback is 
positive with the majority of Members finding the sessions useful and informative. 
Members have also highlighted issues with the training room layout, visual aids 
and microphones as well as providing information in an easy to understand form / 
layman’s terms; which have all been feedback to officers / trainers to assist 
improvements in training provision going forward.

3.2 Appendix four to this report provides a summary of a Questionnaire that was sent 
to Members to glean further thoughts from Members on the Training Programme. 
The responses are, again, positive overall with Members being ‘very satisfied’ or 
‘satisfied’ with the Training Programme. The feedback also suggests that online 
training (e-learning) is currently an underused resource which the Council will look 
to improve / promote moving forward. Members have also highlighted that the 
programme would benefit from being delivered over a longer time period (e.g. 6 
months rather than three)

3.3 The Local Government Association (LGA) Peer Challenge found that 
Gravesham’s Member induction process was universally praised by councillors on 
all sides of the council chamber. The peer team believe the induction process 
could make a good LGA case study.

4. Training Plan for 2021-22

4.1 A draft Training Plan for 2021-22 is included at Appendix five to this report. 
Members are asked to consider and endorse the draft Training Plan 2021-22. 
Please note: the plan is still in the draft stage and is subject to change. Additional 
training sessions will be added as and when required / requested. The impact of 
the Covid-19 pandemic and the subsequent recovery phase will be carefully 
monitored going forward and training may be provided in a virtual format in some 
instances.

5. Recommendations to Cabinet from the Overview Scrutiny Committee

5.1 On 19 November 2020, the Overview Scrutiny Committee considered the Member 
Training 2019-20 Annual report and the draft Training Plan for 2021-22 and made 
the following recommendations:

Page 257



4

1. The Committee noted the Member Training attendance statistics and feedback 
and recommended that the report be amended in future years to include 
accumulative attendance figures for each Member over the training period and to 
take into account reasons for non-attendance (e.g. sickness)

2. The Committee endorsed the draft Member Training Plan 2021-22 set out at 
Appendix Five and agreed to its submission to Cabinet for approval along with 
the following recommendations:

i. The digitalisation of the Member Training Programme and a virtual bank 
of training material for Members to refer back to.

ii. The inclusion of Member self-led personal training and development 
resources that can be accessed online.

iii. Training on Council procedure rules and interpreting the constitution.
iv. Mandatory Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Training (to include 

Unconscious Bias, Anti-bullying and all forms of Anti-discrimination)
v. The augmenting of the Member Training should be within the current 

budget allowance.

5.2 Cabinet are invited to consider the recommendations made by the Overview 
Scrutiny Committee, as outlined above.

6. Background Papers

6.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee Section who will make the necessary arrangements. 

Page 258



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  The Constitution sets out 
the roles and responsibilities of the Overview Scrutiny Committee and the activities 
set out within this report are in line with this.

The Member Training and Development Plan does take into consideration the need 
for Members of the Regulatory Board to be trained at least every two years and this 
was built into the overall plan accordingly.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

A Member Training budget is in place which has a budget of £5,150 each year 
which remains constant over the life of the Medium-term Financial Plan.  All training 
provided for Members which incurs a cost will be delivered within this budget.

Risk Assessment There is a risk to the council should Members not attend the training that is being 
provided.  The training being provided will assist Members in their roles as 
councillors and in some cases, specifically in relation to their roles on Committees.  
As such, there is a risk that if Members do not attend the training they may not be 
properly trained in an area and therefore this may affect their ability to make sound 
decisions.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Overview Scrutiny Committee is cross-cutting and therefore is likely 
to contribute towards all elements of the council’s Corporate Plan.

Page 259

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Climate Change There are no climate change implications associated with this report.

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder implications with this report.  

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital and website implications with this report.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no specific safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications with 
this report.  Some Members have, as part of the training plan, received training on 
Child Protection and a further session is planned for 2019-20.

Page 260



MEMBER TRAINING ATTENDANCE RECORD 2019-2020

MAY 2019
08 May 2019 Meet and Greet
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 27 John Burden

Colin Caller
John Caller
Lee Croxton
Brian Francis
Sarah Gow
Nirmal Khabra
Ruth Martin
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Emma Morley
Tony Rana
Gurbax Singh
Lauren Sullivan
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Emma Elliott
Gary Harding
Leslie Hoskins
Bob Lane
Tony Rice
Frank Wardle

Harold Craske
Leslie Pearton

(16 Members) (9 Members) (2 Members)

09 May 2019 Basic Planning (Part 1 of 2)
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 17 Lyn Milner

Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rana
Lauren Sullivan
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Frank Wardle

Harold Craske
Leslie Pearton

(5 Members) (10 Members) (2 Members)

13 May 2019 Planning (Part 2 of 2)
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 17 John Burden

Sarah Gow
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Brian Sangha
Lauren Sullivan
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Bob Lane
Diane Marsh
Jordan Meade
Frank Wardle

(7 Members) (10 Members) (0 Members)

Page 261



15 May 2019 Code of Conduct
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 23 Lee Croxton

Sarah Gow
Baljit Hayre
Nirmal Khabra
Ruth Martin
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Emma Morley
Tony Rana
Christina Rolles
Lenny Rolles
Gurbax Singh
Lauren Sullivan
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Diane Marsh
Jordan Meade
Denise Tiran
Frank Wardle

(14 Members) (9 Members) (0 Members)

17 May 2019 Tour of Borough
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 11 Nirmal Khabra

Ruth Martin
Lyn Milner
Emma Morley
Brian Sangha
Gurbax Singh
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Denise Tiran
Frank Wardle

Harold Craske

(7 Members) (3 Members) (1 Member)

21 May 2019 Chairing Skills
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 22 Gurdip Bungar

Lee Croxton
Brian Francis
Sarah Gow
Baljit Hayre
Bob Lane
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rana
Peter Scollard
Gurbax Singh
Lauren Sullivan
Narinder Singh Thandi
Steve Thompson
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding
Jordan Meade
Frank Wardle

(15 Members) (7 Members) (0 Members)

Page 262



23 May 2019 Licensing (Part 1 of 2)
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 15 Nirmal Khabra

Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Emma Morley
Tony Rana
Steve Thompson

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Aaron Elliott
Emma Elliott
Gary Harding
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Marsh
Denise Tiran
Frank Wardle

(6 Members) (9 Members) (0 Members)

28 May 2019 Data Protection
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 16 Sarah Gow

Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Christina Rolles
Brian Sangha
Peter Scollard
Steve Thompson

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Bob Lane
Diane Marsh
Jordan Meade
Denise Tiran
Frank Wardle

Harold Craske

(7 Members) (8 Members) (1 Member)

JUNE 2019

06 June 2019 Licensing (Part 2 of 2)
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 15 Baljit Hayre

Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Emma Morley
Steve Thompson
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Aaron Elliott
Emma Elliott
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Marsh
Denise Tiran
Frank Wardle

Leslie Pearton

(7 Members) (7 Members) (1 Member)

10 June 2019 Treasury Management
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 12 Colin Caller

Lee Croxton
Sarah Gow
Baljit Hayre
Nirmal Khabra
Gurbax Singh

Derek Ashenden
Dakota Dibben
Leslie Hills
Tony Rice
Alan Ridgers
Frank Wardle

(6 Members) (6 Members) (0 Members)

Page 263



17 June 2019 The Gr@nd Meet and Greet
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 13 Gurdip Bungar

Lee Croxton
Brian Francis
Baljit Hayre
Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Brian Sangha
Gurbax Singh

Derek Ashenden
Gary Harding
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade

(9 Members) (4 Members) (0 Members)

24 June 2019 Local Government Finance
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 14 John Burden

Sarah Gow
Nirmal Khabra
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rana
Christina Rolles
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Gurbax Singh
Narinder Singh Thandi

Derek Ashenden
Leslie Hills
Tony Rice
Frank Wardle

(10 Members) (4 Members) (0 Members)

JULY 2019

2 July 2019 Introduction to Housing
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 20 Brian Francis

Sarah Gow
Baljit Hayre
Ruth Martin
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rana
Christina Rolles
Brian Sangha
Peter Scollard
Gurbax Singh
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Frank Wardle

(12 Members) (8 Members) (0 Members)

8 July 2019 Annual Statement of Accounts
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 8 Sarah Gow

Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Gurbax Singh

Ejaz Aslam
Gary Harding
Tony Rice

Harold Craske

(4 Members) (3 Members) (1 Member)

Page 264



10 July 2019 Direct Services Briefing
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 20 Lee Croxton

Brian Francis
Baljit Hayre 
Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rana
Brian Sangha
Gurbax Singh
Narinder Singh Thandi
Steve Thompson
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Leslie Hoskins
Bob Lane
Diane Marsh
Denise Tiran
Frank Wardle

(12 Members) (8 Members) (0 Members)

15 July 2019 Revenues and Benefits
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 12 Brian Francis

Sarah Gow
Baljit Hayre
Nirmal Khabra
Tony Rana
Peter Scollard
Gurbax Singh
Narinder Singh Thandi

Derek Ashenden
Leslie Hills
Diane Marsh
Frank Wardle

(8 Members) (4 Members) (0 Members)

16 July 2019 Environmental Health
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 12 Sarah Gow

Baljit Hayre
Nirmal Khabra
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rana
Gurbax Singh

Derek Ashenden
Dakota Dibben
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding
Bob Lane
Diane Marsh

(6 Members) (6 Members) (0 Members)

17 July 2019 Internal and External Audit
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 10 Sarah Gow

Nirmal Khabra
Gurbax Singh
Narinder Singh Thandi

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Marsh
Frank Wardle

(4 Members) (6 Members) (0 Members)

Page 265



18 July 2019 Bullying Awareness
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 29 John Burden

Baljit Hayre
Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rana
Christina Rolles
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Gurbax Singh
Narinder Singh Thandi
Steve Thompson
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Conrad Broadley
Dakota Dibben
Aaron Elliott
Emma Elliott
Gary Harding
Leslie Hoskins
Bob Lane
Diane Marsh
Jordan Meade
Tony Rice
Denise Tiran
Frank Wardle

Harold Craske
Leslie Pearton

(13 Members) (14 Members) (2 Members)

22 July 2019 Health and Safety
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 5 Sarah Gow

Nirmal Khabra
Gurbax Singh

Ejaz Aslam
Frank Wardle

(3 Members) (2 Members) (0 Members)

29 July 2019 Equalities and Cohesion
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 16 Gurdip Bungar

John Burden
Lee Croxton
Brian Francis
Sarah Gow
Baljit Hayre
Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rana
Peter Scollard

Ejaz Aslam
Leslie Hills
Diane Marsh
Tony Pritchard
Frank Wardle

(11 Members) (5 Members) (0 Members)

30 July 2019 Parking Enforcement
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 13 Gurdip Bungar

Lee Croxton
Sarah Gow
Baljit Hayre
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lyn Milner
Brian Sangha
Gurbax Singh
Narinder Singh Thandi

Ejaz Aslam
Denise Tiran
Frank Wardle

Harold Craske

(9 Members) (3 Members) (1 Member)

31 July 2019 Fraud Awareness
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent

Page 266



Total: 12 Sarah Gow
Baljit Hayre
Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Tony Rana
Gurbax Singh
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Frank Wardle

Harold Craske

(7 Members) (4 Members) (1 Member)

SEPTEMBER 2019

30 September 2019 Design South East
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 11 Gurdip Bungar

John Burden
Sarah Gow
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rana
Brian Sangha
Gurbax Singh
Lauren Sullivan

Dakota Dibben
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins

(8 Members) (3 Members) (0 Member)

OCTOBER 2019

29 October 2019 Risk Management
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 18 Gurdip Bungar

John Burden
Brian Francis
Sarah Gow
Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Brian Sangha
Gurbax Singh
Steve Thompson
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Helen Ashenden
Dakota Dibben
Leslie Hoskins
Bob Lane
Anthony Pritchard

Harold Craske

(11 Members) (6 Members) (1 Member)

NOVEMBER 2019

13 November 2019 Treasury Management
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 10 Sarah Gow

Nirmal Khabra
Lyn Milner
Gurbax Singh
Lauren Sullivan
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Tony Rice

(6 Members) (4 Members) (0 Member)

Page 267



JANUARY 2020

14 January 2020 Planning Appeals
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 14 Lee Croxton

Sarah Gow
Baljit Hayre
Lyn Milner
Tony Rana
Brian Sangha
Jenny Wallace

Derek Ashenden
Helen Ashenden
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Frank Wardle

Harold Craske
Leslie Pearton

(7 Members) (5 Members) (2 Members)

23 January 2020 Bullying Awareness
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 5 Gurdip Bungar

Lee Croxton
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Lauren Sullivan

(5 Members) (0 Members) (0 Members)

28 January 2020 Money Laundering
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 6 Sarah Gow

Baljit Hayre
Brian Sangha

Ejaz Aslam
Leslie Hills

Harold Craske

(3 Members) (2 Members) (1 Member)

MARCH 2020

12 March 2020 Alzheimer Awareness
Cllrs in attendance: Labour Conservative Independent
Total: 9 John Burden

Lyn Milner
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Christina Rolles
Lenny Rolles
Gurbax Singh
Steve Thompson

Harold Craske
Leslie Pearton

(7 Members) (0 Members) (2 Member)

Page 268



Appendix Three

Member Training 2019-2020

Summary of Member Feedback  

8 May 2019 Meet & Greet / Induction

Member Feedback

Whilst a specific feedback form was not provided for this session, Members provided verbal 
feedback to officers and confirmed that the training had been useful and very informative.

09 May 2019 Basic Planning (Part 1 of 2)

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

4 6

The session content was 
appropriate

2 8

The session content met my 
expectations

3 6 1

The trainers had a 
professional manner

8 2

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

5 5

The training resources were 
helpful

2 6 2

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

6 3 1

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

6 2 2

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

5 4 1

The room layout was 
acceptable

3 6 1

Page 269



Appendix Three

13 May 2019 Planning (Part 2 of 2)

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

5 3

The session content was 
appropriate

5 3

The session content met my 
expectations

4 4

The trainers had a 
professional manner

5 3

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

5 3

The training resources were 
helpful

5 2 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

5 3

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

4 3 1

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

5 3

The room layout was 
acceptable

5 2 1

Page 270



Appendix Three

15 May 2019 Code of Conduct

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

12 5 1

The session content was 
appropriate

13 5 1

The session content met my 
expectations

11 6 2

The trainers had a 
professional manner

16 2 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

14 4 1

The training resources were 
helpful

13 5 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

14 5

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

15 4

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

15 3 1

The room layout was 
acceptable

15 4

Members also made the following additional comments:
 Very informative, well presented.
 Excellent session.
 Clear and professional approach. 
 Engaging
 Other topics Members would like addressed in future sessions:

- Full Council Procedure
- Finance
- Social Media

Page 271



Appendix Three

17 May 2019 Tour of Borough

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

8 2

The session content was 
appropriate

8 2

The session content met my 
expectations

8 2

The trainers had a 
professional manner

9 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

10

The training resources were 
helpful

6 4

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

6 8 1 1

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

9 1

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

8 2

The room layout was 
acceptable

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Members also made the following additional comments:

 All very good, enjoyed the history of the Borough
 Very informative /well presented.

Page 272



Appendix Three

21 May 2019 Chairing Skills

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

7 10

The session content was 
appropriate

7 10

The session content met my 
expectations

7 10

The trainers had a 
professional manner

7 10

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

7 10

The training resources were 
helpful

5 10 2

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

4 4 9

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

9 8

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

7 10

The room layout was 
acceptable

3 8 6

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Group discussions were useful

 Visual aids / slides were too small

 Good information & overview

Page 273



Appendix Three

23 May 2019 Licensing (Part 1 of 2)

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

6 7

The session content was 
appropriate

7 6

The session content met my 
expectations

6 6 1

The trainers had a 
professional manner

9 4

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

10 3

The training resources were 
helpful

6 7

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

8 5

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

9 4

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

8 5

The room layout was 
acceptable

6 4 3

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Informative / useful

Page 274



Appendix Three

28 May 2019 Data Protection

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

6 4

The session content was 
appropriate

6 4

The session content met my 
expectations

7 3

The trainers had a 
professional manner

9 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

8 2

The training resources were 
helpful

6 4

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

8 2

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

7 3

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

7 3

The room layout was 
acceptable

7 3

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Good up-to-date advice

 A good overview of how to manage personal and organisational information 

Page 275



Appendix Three

06 June 2019 Licensing (Part 2 of 2)

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

9 6

The session content was 
appropriate

10 5

The session content met my 
expectations

7 8

The trainers had a 
professional manner

13 2

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

12 3

The training resources were 
helpful

6 8 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

8 7

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

10 5

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

11 4

The room layout was 
acceptable

11 4

Members also made the following additional comments:

 All aspects were useful

 Speaker could have stood at the front

Page 276



Appendix Three

10 June 2019 Treasury Management

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

6 4 1

The session content was 
appropriate

4 6 1

The session content met my 
expectations

6 4 1

The trainers had a 
professional manner

7 3 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

9 2

The training resources were 
helpful

6 5

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

7 3 1

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

11

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

9 2

The room layout was 
acceptable

10 1

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Useful information on risk
 Useful but complex
 Need more basic/layman’s language

Page 277



Appendix Three

17 June 2019 The Gr@nd Meet and Greet

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

2 2

The session content was 
appropriate

2 2

The session content met my 
expectations

2 2

The trainers had a 
professional manner

2 2

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

1 3

The training resources were 
helpful

2 2

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

2 2

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

2 2

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

2 2

The room layout was 
acceptable

2 2

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Useful overview the The Gr@nd’s activities. 

Page 278



Appendix Three

24 June 2019 Local Government Finance

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

6 8

The session content was 
appropriate

7 7

The session content met my 
expectations

8 6

The trainers had a 
professional manner

11 3

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

12 2

The training resources were 
helpful

7 7

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

8 6

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

8 5 1

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

6 7 1

The room layout was 
acceptable

9 5

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Very thorough but could do with reducing the amount of presentation slides.
 Very Informative / well explained

Page 279



Appendix Three

2 July 2019 Introduction to Housing

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

7 11

The session content was 
appropriate

4 12 1

The session content met my 
expectations

4 13

The trainers had a 
professional manner

7 9 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

9 8

The training resources were 
helpful

3 14

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

3 13 1

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

6 10 1

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

10 7

The room layout was 
acceptable

10 7

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Useful information on local issues
 Excellent, useful  session
 Other topics Members would like addressed in future sessions:

- Homelessness

Page 280



Appendix Three

8 July 2019 Annual Statement of Accounts

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

4 4

The session content was 
appropriate

4 4

The session content met my 
expectations

4 4

The trainers had a 
professional manner

5 3

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

5 3

The training resources were 
helpful

4 4

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

4 4

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

3 4 1

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

5 3

The room layout was 
acceptable

4 4

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Very useful to be a small group
 Auditing procedure was interesting

Page 281



Appendix Three

10 July 2019 Direct Services Briefing

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

15 2

The session content was 
appropriate

15 2

The session content met my 
expectations

15 2

The trainers had a 
professional manner

15 2

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

15 2

The training resources were 
helpful

13 4

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

15 2

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

13 4

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

15 2

The room layout was 
acceptable

14 3

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Useful details of the vehicle equipment.
 Very interesting and informative
 Other topics Members would like addressed in future sessions:

- More information on Recycling and Flytipping

Page 282



Appendix Three

15 July 2019 Revenues and Benefits

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

4 8

The session content was 
appropriate

5 7

The session content met my 
expectations

4 8

The trainers had a 
professional manner

7 5

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

6 6

The training resources were 
helpful

2 9 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

6 6

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

8 4

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

7 5

The room layout was 
acceptable

8 4

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Well presented, informative, interesting
 Other topics Members would like addressed in future sessions:

- Universal Credit

Page 283



Appendix Three

16 July 2019 Environmental Health

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

7 2

The session content was 
appropriate

7 2

The session content met my 
expectations

6 3

The trainers had a 
professional manner

7 2

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

7 2

The training resources were 
helpful

6 3

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

7 2

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

7 2

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

8 1

The room layout was 
acceptable

8 1

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Good introduction into Environmental Health
 Very good session / overview of services

Page 284



Appendix Three

17 July 2019 Internal and External Audit

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

4 12

The session content was 
appropriate

4 12

The session content met my 
expectations

4 12

The trainers had a 
professional manner

7 9

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

6 10

The training resources were 
helpful

5 11

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

6 9 1

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

8 8

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

9 7

The room layout was 
acceptable

9 7

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Informative / interesting

Page 285



Appendix Three

18 July 2019 Bullying Awareness

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

9 7 2 1

The session content was 
appropriate

9 7 2 1

The session content met my 
expectations

9 7 2 1

The trainers had a 
professional manner

12 4 2 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

14 4 1

The training resources were 
helpful

10 7 1 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

14 3 2

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

15 2 2

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

12 5 1 1

The room layout was 
acceptable

12 3 2 2

Page 286



Appendix Three

22 July 2019 Health and Safety

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

3 2

The session content was 
appropriate

3 2

The session content met my 
expectations

3 2

The trainers had a 
professional manner

4 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

4 1

The training resources were 
helpful

3 2

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

3 2

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

4 1

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

3 2

The room layout was 
acceptable

4 1

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Very well presented
 Good thorough session

Page 287



Appendix Three

29 July 2019 Equalities and Cohesion

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

6 7 2

The session content was 
appropriate

6 7 2

The session content met my 
expectations

5 8 2

The trainers had a 
professional manner

6 8 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

7 7 1

The training resources were 
helpful

5 6 4

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

6 7 1 1

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

5 7 2 1

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

6 8 1

The room layout was 
acceptable

3 9 2 1

Page 288



Appendix Three

30 July 2019 Parking Enforcement

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

14 4

The session content was 
appropriate

14 4

The session content met my 
expectations

13 5

The trainers had a 
professional manner

15 3

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

15 3

The training resources were 
helpful

13 4 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

14 3 4

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

14 4

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

15 3

The room layout was 
acceptable

15 2 1

Members also made the following additional comments:

 All good
 Useful information on appeals process
 Excellent presentation 

Page 289



Appendix Three

31 July 2019 Fraud Awareness

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

6 5

The session content was 
appropriate

5 6

The session content met my 
expectations

3 8

The trainers had a 
professional manner

7 4

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

7 4

The training resources were 
helpful

4 7

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

7 4

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

6 5

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

6 5

The room layout was 
acceptable

6 5

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Very interesting, well presented.
 Useful information

Page 290



Appendix Three

30 September 2019 Design South East

Member Feedback

Whilst a specific feedback form was not provided for this session, Members provided verbal 
feedback to officers and confirmed that the training had been useful and very informative.

29 October 2019 Risk Management

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

5 8

The session content was 
appropriate

3 10

The session content met my 
expectations

3 10

The trainers had a 
professional manner

9 4

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

5 8

The training resources were 
helpful

4 8 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

9 4

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

8 4 1

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

6 7

The room layout was 
acceptable

8 5

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Useful session
 Interesting & varied

Page 291



Appendix Three

13 November 2019 Treasury Management

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

6 4

The session content was 
appropriate

4 6

The session content met my 
expectations

6 4

The trainers had a 
professional manner

7 3

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

9 1

The training resources were 
helpful

6 4

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

7 3

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

10

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

9 1

The room layout was 
acceptable

9 1

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Informative session
 Good overall

Page 292



Appendix Three

14 January 2020 Planning Appeals

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

9 3

The session content was 
appropriate

7 5

The session content met my 
expectations

6 5 1

The trainers had a 
professional manner

10 2

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

10 2

The training resources were 
helpful

7 5

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

9 3

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

8 4

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

6 6

The room layout was 
acceptable

9 3

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Very informative and useful
 Really excellent way of putting across a very complex subject
 Other topics Members would like addressed in future sessions:

- Conservation

Page 293



Appendix Three

23 January 2020 Bullying Awareness

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

5

The session content was 
appropriate

5

The session content met my 
expectations

4 1

The trainers had a 
professional manner

4 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

4 1

The training resources were 
helpful

4 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

5

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

5

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

5

The room layout was 
acceptable

5

Page 294



Appendix Three

28 January 2020 Money Laundering

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

4 2

The session content was 
appropriate

2 2

The session content met my 
expectations

5 1

The trainers had a 
professional manner

5 1

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

4 2

The training resources were 
helpful

5 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

4 2

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

5 1

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

4 2

The room layout was 
acceptable

3 3

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Useful discussion on bribery
 Other topics Members would like addressed in future sessions:

- Kent police presentation on money laundering

Page 295



Appendix Three

12 March 2020 Alzheimer Awareness

Member Feedback

Statement Agree 
Strongly Agree Disagree

Disagree 
Strongly

Did not 
comment

Overall, I found the training 
session useful

8 1

The session content was 
appropriate

8 1

The session content met my 
expectations

8 1

The trainers had a 
professional manner

9

The trainers were helpful in 
response to queries

9

The training resources were 
helpful

8 1

I was able to see visual aids 
clearly

7 2

I was able to hear the 
trainers clearly

9

I had adequate opportunity 
to discuss topics

9

The room layout was 
acceptable

8 1

Members also made the following additional comments:

 Exceeded my expectations.
 Useful information / content

Page 296



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

1 / 19

53.33% 8

46.67% 7

Q1 Are you:
Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

A returning
Councillor

A newly
elected...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

A returning Councillor

A newly elected Councillor

Page 297



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

2 / 19

46.67% 7

53.33% 8

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

Q2 Overall, how would you rate your satisfaction with the Councillor
Induction programme 2019?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# ANY COMMENTS DATE

 There are no responses.  

Very satisfied

Satisfied

Neither
satisfied no...

Dissatisfied

Very
dissatisfied

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Very satisfied

Satisfied

Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied

Dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied

Page 298



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

3 / 19

46.67% 7

53.33% 8

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

Q3 Overall, how relevant was the Councillor induction programme 2019 to
your role as a Councillor? (Overall relevancy)

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# ANY COMMENTS: DATE

1 Programme content was very relevant to my role and covered in a slick manner 2/17/2020 10:30 AM

Very relevant

Relevant

Neutral

Irrelevant

Completely
irrelevant

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Very relevant

Relevant

Neutral

Irrelevant

Completely irrelevant

Page 299



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

4 / 19

Q4 Which induction sessions did you find the most informative? (please
tick all that apply, maximum of 5)

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

Meet and Greet

Basic Planning
(Part 1 of 2)

Planning (Part
2 of 2)

Code of Conduct

Tour of the
Borough

Chairing Skills

Licensing
(Part 1 of 2)

Data Protection

Licensing
(Part 2 of 2)

Treasury
Management

The Gr@nd Meet
and Greet

Local
Government...

Introduction
to Housing

Annual
Statement of...

Environmental
/ Brookvale...

Revenues and
Benefits

Environmental
Health

Internal and
External Audit

Page 300



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

5 / 19

Bullying
Awareness

Health and
Safety

Equalities and
Cohesion

Parking
Enforcement

Fraud Awareness

Any comments

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Page 301



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

6 / 19

46.67% 7

33.33% 5

40.00% 6

46.67% 7

26.67% 4

33.33% 5

46.67% 7

13.33% 2

33.33% 5

20.00% 3

6.67% 1

26.67% 4

20.00% 3

20.00% 3

46.67% 7

13.33% 2

33.33% 5

6.67% 1

66.67% 10

26.67% 4

26.67% 4

40.00% 6

26.67% 4

0.00% 0

Total Respondents: 15  

# ANY COMMENTS DATE

 There are no responses.  

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Meet and Greet

Basic Planning (Part 1 of 2)

Planning (Part 2 of 2)

Code of Conduct

Tour of the Borough

Chairing Skills

Licensing (Part 1 of 2)

Data Protection

Licensing (Part 2 of 2)

Treasury Management

The Gr@nd Meet and Greet

Local Government Finance

Introduction to Housing

Annual Statement of Accounts

Environmental / Brookvale Briefing

Revenues and Benefits

Environmental Health

Internal and External Audit

Bullying Awareness

Health and Safety

Equalities and Cohesion

Parking Enforcement

Fraud Awareness

Any comments

Page 302



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

7 / 19

13.33% 2

86.67% 13

Q5 Were there any topics that weren't included in the Councillor induction
programme 2019 that you think should have been included?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# IF YES, PLEASE STATE THE TOPICS: DATE

1 Background to Local Plan 2/20/2020 12:12 PM

2 More on housing would be useful - more details on the process for those claiming
homelessness, temporary accommodation etc

2/16/2020 9:06 AM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 303



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

8 / 19

13.33% 2

86.67% 13

Q6 Were there any topics included in the Councillor induction programme
2019 that you think shouldn’t have been included?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 304



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

9 / 19

0.00% 0

46.67% 7

53.33% 8

Q7 The Councillor induction programme 2019 ran from May to July. In
future would you prefer:

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

The programme
to be delive...

The programme
to be delive...

No change to
timeframe

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

The programme to be delivered over a shorter period of time

The programme to be delivered over a longer period of time (e.g. May to December)

No change to timeframe

Page 305



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

10 / 19

6.67% 1

13.33% 2

13.33% 2

66.67% 10

Q8 The majority of the Councillor induction 2019 sessions were delivered
by Council officers, with some presentations from other organisations and

professional training providers. In future would you prefer:
Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# ANY COMMENTS: DATE

1 Officers know what they are talking about. 2/20/2020 12:12 PM

2 I think the balance was right 2/16/2020 9:06 AM

More speakers
from other...

More sessions
delivered by...

More sessions
delivered by...

No change to
the programme

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

More speakers from other organisations

More sessions delivered by professional training providers

More sessions delivered by Council officers

No change to the programme

Page 306



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

11 / 19

100.00% 15

0.00% 0

Q9 The majority of the Councillor Induction 2019 sessions were held on
weekday evenings. Were you satisfied with these timings?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# ANY COMMENTS: DATE

1 I found the high frequency difficult to manage. 2/20/2020 12:12 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 307



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

12 / 19

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

Q10 If you have answered 'no' to question 9, would you prefer:
Answered: 0 Skipped: 15

TOTAL 0

# ANY COMMENTS: DATE

 There are no responses.  

!  No matching responses.

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Sessions to be held during the day during the week

Sessions to be held early evening (before 7:30pm)

Page 308



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

13 / 19

93.33% 14

6.67% 1

Q11 The majority of the Councillor induction 2019 sessions lasted 90 -
120 minutes. Were you satisfied with the duration of the sessions

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# ANY COMMENTS: DATE

1 I would prefer a maximum of 90 minutes for all training 2/16/2020 9:08 AM

2 It would be helpful if some people can be limited to one question 11/2/2019 9:24 AM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 309



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

14 / 19

100.00% 1

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

Q12 If you have answered 'no' to question 11, would you prefer:
Answered: 1 Skipped: 14

TOTAL 1

Shorter
sessions (60...

Longer
sessions (2 ...

Full day
sessions (fo...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Shorter sessions (60 minutes)

Longer sessions (2 to 4 hours)

Full day sessions (for example, 10am to 4pm covering a range of topics)

Page 310



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

15 / 19

6.67% 1

93.33% 14

Q13 Do you have any other comments on the format or delivery of the
Councillor induction programme 2019?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# IF YES; PLEASE PROVIDE YOUR COMMENTS: DATE

1 I have appreciated the training programme. Copies of the presentations sent electronically after
the training have been very useful.

2/16/2020 9:11 AM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 311



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

16 / 19

26.67% 4

20.00% 3

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

53.33% 8

Q14 How would you rate the e-learning modules that formed part of the
 Councillor induction programme?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# ANY COMMENTS: DATE

 There are no responses.  

Very good

Good

Neither good
nor poor

Poor

Very poor

have not
accessed the...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Very good

Good

Neither good nor poor

Poor

Very poor

have not accessed the e-learning modules

Page 312



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

17 / 19

33.33% 5

53.33% 8

6.67% 1

0.00% 0

6.67% 1

Q15 Councillor Handbooks were provided as part of the induction
programme. How satisfied are you with the content of the Handbooks?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# ANY COMMENTS: DATE

 There are no responses.  

Very satisfied

Satisfied

Neither
satisfied no...

Dissatisfied

Very
dissatisfied

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Very satisfied

Satisfied

Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied

Dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied

Page 313



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

18 / 19

20.00% 3

80.00% 12

Q16 Do you have any further learning and development requirements that
would assist you in undertaking your role as a Councillor?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# IF YES, PLEASE SPECIFY: DATE

1 I will look at the e-learning modules 2/16/2020 9:11 AM

2 Presentation skills 2/15/2020 5:31 PM

3 Dealing with difficult people and other personal skills. It would also be good if we could have
Saturday first aid for business session.

11/2/2019 9:26 AM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 314



Copy of Member Induction Programme 2019 Feedback SurveyMonkey

19 / 19

0.00% 0

100.00% 15

Q17 Do you have any further comments on the Councillor induction
programme 2019?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 15

# IF YES, PLEASE SPECIFY: DATE

 There are no responses.  

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 315



This page is intentionally left blank



Member Training and Development 2021-22 Municipal Year (all sessions start at 7:30pm in the Council Chamber, unless otherwise stated) 
 

   

May June July August September October November December January February March 
TRAINING   

Communications and Social Media Training OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS 
(Voluntary) 

  

 
 

         

Annual Statement of Accounts F&A MEMBERS RECOMMENDED TO ATTEND 
Open to all other Members to attend (voluntary) 

           

Safeguarding Training OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS 
(Voluntary) 

           

Risk Management Training F&A MEMBERS RECOMMENDED TO ATTEND 
Open to all other Members to attend (voluntary) 

           

Treasury Management Training F&A MEMBERS RECOMMENDED TO ATTEND 
Open to all other Members to attend (voluntary) 

           

Planning Refresher Training 
Including; Conservation, Local Plan, Section 106, 
Planniing Enforcment 

PLANNING COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
RECOMMENDED TO ATTEND 
Open to all other Members to attend (voluntary) 

           

Homlessness Training HOUSING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDED TO ATTEND 
Open to all other Members to attend (voluntary) 

           

Universal Credit Training PLANNING COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
RECOMMENDED TO ATTEND 
Open to all other Members to attend (voluntary) 

           

Waste Management; including recyling and fly- 
tipping 

OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS 
(Voluntary) 

           

Licensing Training LICENSING COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
RECOMMENDED TO ATTEND 
Open to all other Members to attend 
(voluntary) 

           

IT Strategy and Digital Strategy - update on both 
strategies; what has been completed and next 
steps. 

OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS 
(Voluntary) 

           

MemberTraining Plan 2021-22 

P
age 317



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 04 January 2020

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway, Assistant Director (Communities)
Nick May, Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services 
Manager

Subject: Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) review

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the outcome of the formal consultation for the remaining Controlled 
Parking Zone's (CPZ) in the borough and to seek approval to implement the proposals as 
contained within this report that have been established in consultation with residents and 
businesses.

Recommendations:
1. Members  support the implementation of the parking controls as advertised on the 

Proposed Amendment Orders (Appendix XX).  

1. Background

1.1 Since January 2018, Parking Services have been working with Buchanan Order 
Management to carry out a review of the Town Centre CPZ.  This project has 
been completed and the new Permit Parking Area (PPA) scheme was 
implemented on 13th May 2019.

1.2 We have had requests from residents and Members/Parish Councils to conduct a 
similar review of the remaining CPZ’s in the borough and it was always our 
intention to complete a review of these CPZ’s once the Town Centre CPZ review 
was completed.  There are five CPZ’s in operation at St James’s Avenue, 
Meopham, Northfleet, Sole Street and Higham 

1.3 Gravesham Borough Council introduced Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) at 
various times and the schemes are intended to protect residents from all day 
parking by commuters and in St James’s Avenue’s case town centre workers too.

1.4 All areas are enforceable Monday – Friday (except St James’s Avenue which is 
enforceable Monday - Saturday) but there are differences in the time of restriction 
and length of restricted time (either 30minutes or one hour).  Residents can apply 
for waiver permits to park in any of the roads within the CPZ.

Page 319 Agenda Item 11



2

1.5 Residents can purchase waiver permits to exempt their vehicles or visitors 
vehicles from the restrictions.  Under the current Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
one permit is available is the property has off-street parking.  If the property does 
not have off-street parking, two waiver permits are available.  Separate visitor 
permits or daily parking tickets (scratch cards) cannot be purchased.

2. CPZ review & Informal Consultation

2.1 Using experience and best practise from the Town Centre CPZ review we started 
the rural CPZ review by conducting an informal consultation, which is not legally 
required but it is considered to be best practice and really important in order to 
gather residents’ thoughts and feedback, especially when dealing with large 
parking schemes.

2.2 The informal consultation started by sending a letter and survey to all residential 
and business addresses located within current schemes to determine whether 
residents felt  a CPZ is still considered necessary, whether a CPZ area or times of 
control should be changed, or whether a CPZ should be removed and replaced 
with a different scheme. 

2.3 The letters and surveys (Appendix 3) were posted to residents and businesses on 
15th July 2019 and residents had six weeks to return the completed survey.

2.4 Following the closing date the results were assessed by Parking Services officers 
to assess how the residents felt about the existing parking arrangements and how 
they would like to see things work in the future.

2.5 Using the majority view from the responses received throughout the initial six 
week consultation, changes to the existing zones were mapped out as proposals. 
Due to some of the changes being significant it was that a further period of 
informal consultation should take place in order to test the proposals and the 
likelihood of them being agreed through formal consultation. 

2.6 Therefore, letters were sent to all residents potentially affected by the proposed 
changes, detailing what would be changed should the initial proposals be 
implemented. The second informal consultation started on 06 January 2020 and 
responses had to be submitted by 31 January.

2.7 The letters explained to residents that if no response was received from a 
property, it would be assumed that the residents of that property were supportive 
of the proposals.

2.8 The main proposed changes across all schemes were:

2.8.1 Change all CPZ’s to Permit Parking Areas

2.8.2 Keep the current permit limits of 2 permits per property if no off street 
parking is available and 1 permit property if the property does benefit from 
off street parking but also introduce a separate visitor permit and these will 
be limited to one per property.

2.8.3 Make the resident permits registration specific.  The visitor permit will not 
be registration specific so it can be used by any person visiting the 
property.

Page 320



3

2.8.4 With the Meopham CPZ only, it was proposed to split the current large 
single zoned scheme into three separate zones and permits would only be 
eligible for the zone they were issued for.

3. Formal Consultation

3.1 Using feedback received from the informal consultations we were able to progress 
to the statutory formal consultation which started on 03 September 2020. As per 
legislation the consultation period was 21 days and during this time residents were 
able to, in writing, support or object to the proposals or supply general feedback. 
This could be done by emailing parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk or  
putting the comments in writing to GBC Parking Services..

3.2 To comply with the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, a Notice of Intention was 
published in the Public Notices section of the local paper (Appendix 2).  Notices 
were also placed in affected streets. 

3.3 In addition to the Public Notice and to reach as many households as possible a 
letter was sent to every household affected, detailing the proposals (Appendix 3). 

3.4 Normally during any formal consultations, draft Deposit Documents would be 
placed in the Civic Centre for  residents to view.  As this was not possible at this 
time, and following the British Parking Association advice, the Deposit Documents 
were placed on our website and the letters/Notice directed residents to the 
website.  

4. Proposals

4.1 The Formal Consultation closed on 24 September and all feedback received 
during the Formal Consultation have been considered and in most cases we have 
been able to address the residents’ concerns and in other cases it has been felt 
that the proposals advertised in the Formal Consultation will still be beneficial to 
the residents.  

4.2 As a guideline on a Formal Consultation process a response of 50% or more from 
a specific road or area objecting to the proposals would result in the proposals 
being amended or the proposals being withdrawn.  Either way we would need to 
start the Formal Consultation process again. Objections can only be made for 
traffic management concerns or if the person objecting to the proposals believes 
the changes would cause detrimental impact on the free flow of traffic. 

4.3 There was very little feedback received, which we believe has been the result of 
the extensive informal consultation and review conducted prior to the Formal 
Consultation.  

Page 321

mailto:parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk


4

4.4 The below table shows the general feedback, support and objections received.

Scheme Residential 
Properties

Support Objection General 
Feedback

Meopham 595 19 1 7

St James’s 
Avenue

101 4 0 5

Northfleet 203 5 0 7

Sole Street 171 1 0 1

Higham 243 2 1 14

4.5 In addition to the above figures, in the second informal consultation letter and 
formal consultation letter, we advised that feedback is important (whether support 
or objections) but that if we did not receive any response from an address, it 
would be assumed that the residents of that property are supportive with the 
proposals.  

4.6 The proposals and outcome of the Formal Consultation were presented at the 
Gravesham Joint Transportation Board on 02 December 2020 and the Board were 
asked to approve the proposals so the Order can be made and implemented.  The 
Board approved the proposals.

4.7 When introducing new schemes or changing current schemes, this can at times 
cause displacement to surrounding or near by roads, however we are not 
expecting displacement of vehicles to be a major concern with any of the 
schemes,  The current schemes have been in place for at least 10 years and the 
boundaries to the current CPZ schemes remain unchanged under the new 
proposals so this should minimise displacement.  Under the new proposals all 
areas (except Northfleet) are only seeing small changes to the restricted times so 
again this will minimise displacement.  The Northfleet PPA is the only area that we 
are proposing to make  wider changes and we will monitor the impact that this 
has, if any, on the surrounding roads closely once the scheme has gone live.

4.8 Therefore it is recommended that the parking controls/schemes advertised as part 
of the formal consultation are implemented.

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 Management Team report, 02 July 2019

5.2 Gravesham Joint Transportation Board, 09 September 2020 & 02 December 2020

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 322



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Through a legally binding agreement, Gravesham Borough Council are responsible 
to review and change non safety related parking controls within the Borough in 
consultation with residents and businesses.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial impact of this report is currently unknown but could potentially have a 
positive impact on the MTFP depending on the level of uptake of permits. Income 
budgets will continue to be monitored and budgets can be adjusted in future years 
as required.  Any costs associated with signage and line works can be met from 
current 2020/21 budgets. Administration and enforcement of these schemes will be 
undertaken within current staffing levels.

Risk Assessment Traffic Regulation Orders are fundamental to the parking service, and allow for 
enforcement to take place, which in turn assists with traffic flow and appropriate use 
of the highway

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
No

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People - Quality Living

Climate Change The proposed changes will not adversly impact on Climate Change, however in 
future emmission based charging could be proposed for the permit schemes in 
operation in the borough.

Crime and Disorder n/a

Page 323

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Digital and website 
implications

n/a

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

n/a

Page 324



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

PUBLIC NOTICE
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL (VARIOUS ROADS, GRAVESHAM) 

(WAITING RESRICTIONS AND ON-STREET PERMIT PARKING) 
(AMENDMENT No.14) ORDER 2020

NOTICE is hereby given that the Kent County Council proposed to make the above-named Order under 
Sections 1, 2, 4, 5, 32, 35, 36, 45, 46, 49, 51 and 124 and Part IV of Schedule 9 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 as amended and all other enabling powers, the effect of which will be to amend The Kent County Council 
(Various Roads, Gravesham) (Stopping, Waiting, and Loading Prohibitions and Restrictions, Parking Places and 
Controlled Parking Zones) (Consolidation) Order 2017 (the Order of 2017) as follows:

1. to replace the St James Avenue controlled parking zone (CPZ) restriction Mon-Sat 12pm-12.30pm with a  
 new St James Avenue Permit Parking Area Zone SJ01 Mon-Sat 10am-11am and 2pm-3pm;

2. to remove the controlled parking zone restricted streets from the streets eligible for Waiver Permits;

3. to introduce the period of validity and permit charges applicable to Permit Parking Area permits by the   
 substitution of Schedule 4 of the Order of 2017 with Schedule 1 to this Notice;

4. to replace the property addresses eligible to apply for non-vehicle registration specific Waiver Permits   
 for the St James Avenue CPZ area with a Business, Visitor or vehicle registration specific Resident SJ01   
 Permit Parking Area Permit;

5. to restrict the use of SJ01 Permit Parking Area Permits to parking only within the area for which they have  
 been issued.

Copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the proposed Order, and a copy 
of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be viewed online at https://www.
gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations.

Any objections and other representations to the proposed Order must be made in writing stating the grounds 
on which they are made and sent to the council within 21 days from the date of publication of this notice. This 
can be done either:

a. by email to parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk; or

b. by writing to the Parking Services Manager, Gravesham Borough Council, Parking Services Department,  
 Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, DA12 1AU

Nicholas May  Parking Services Manager,   Gravesham Borough Council      
September  2020.

Page 325



This page is intentionally left blank



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

PUBLIC NOTICE
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL (VARIOUS ROADS, GRAVESHAM) 

(WAITING RESRICTIONS AND ON-STREET PERMIT PARKING) 
(AMENDMENT No.15) ORDER 2020

NOTICE is hereby given that the Kent County Council proposed to make the above-named Order under 
Sections 1, 2, 4, 5, 32, 35, 36, 45, 46, 49, 51 and 124 and Part IV of Schedule 9 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 as amended and all other enabling powers, the effect of which will be to amend The Kent County Council 
(Various Roads, Gravesham) (Stopping, Waiting, and Loading Prohibitions and Restrictions, Parking Places and 
Controlled Parking Zones) (Consolidation) Order 2017 (the Order of 2017) as follows:

1. to replace the Northfleet controlled parking zone (CPZ) restriction Mon-Fri 10am-10.30am with a new   
 Northfleet Permit Parking Area Zone N01 Mon-Sat 8am-6.30pm;

2. to remove the controlled parking zone restricted streets from the streets eligible for Waiver Permits;

3. to introduce the period of validity and permit charges applicable to Permit Parking Area permits by the   
 substitution of Schedule 4 of the Order of 2017 with Schedule 1 to this Notice;

4. to replace the property addresses eligible to apply for non-vehicle registration specific Waiver Permits for  
 the Northfleet CPZ area with a Business, Visitor or vehicle registration specific Resident N01 Permit Parking  
 Area Permit;

5. to restrict the use of N01 Permit Parking Area Permits to parking only within the area for which they have  
 been issued.

Copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the proposed Order, and a copy 
of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be viewed online at https://www.
gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations.

Any objections and other representations to the proposed Order must be made in writing stating the grounds 
on which they are made and sent to the council within 21 days from the date of publication of this notice. This 
can be done either:

a. by email to parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk; or

b. by writing to the Parking Services Manager, Gravesham Borough Council, Parking Services Department,  
 Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, DA12 1AU

Nicholas May  Parking Services Manager,   Gravesham Borough Council      
September  2020.

Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

PUBLIC NOTICE
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL (VARIOUS ROADS, GRAVESHAM) 

(WAITING RESRICTIONS AND ON-STREET PERMIT PARKING) 
(AMENDMENT No.16) ORDER 2020

NOTICE is hereby given that the Kent County Council proposed to make the above-named Order under 
Sections 1, 2, 4, 5, 32, 35, 36, 45, 46, 49, 51 and 124 and Part IV of Schedule 9 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 as amended and all other enabling powers, the effect of which will be to amend The Kent County Council 
(Various Roads, Gravesham) (Stopping, Waiting, and Loading Prohibitions and Restrictions, Parking Places and 
Controlled Parking Zones) (Consolidation) Order 2017 (the Order of 2017) as follows:

1. To replace the Sole Street controlled parking zone (CPZ) restriction Mon-Fri 12pm-12.30pm with a new   
 Sole Street Permit Parking Area Zone SS01 Mon-Fri 12pm-1pm;

2. to remove the controlled parking zone restricted streets from the streets eligible for Waiver Permits;

3. to introduce the period of validity and permit charges applicable to Permit Parking Area permits by the   
 substitution of Schedule 4 of the Order of 2017 with Schedule 1 to this Notice;

4. to replace the property addresses eligible to apply for non-vehicle registration specific Waiver Permits for  
 the Sole Street CPZ area with a Business, Visitor or vehicle registration specific Resident SS01 Permit Parking  
 Area Permit;

5. to restrict the use of SS01 Permit Parking Area Permits to parking only within the area for which they have  
 been issued.

Copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the proposed Order, and a copy 
of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be viewed online at https://www.
gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations.

Any objections and other representations to the proposed Order must be made in writing stating the grounds 
on which they are made and sent to the council within 21 days from the date of publication of this notice. This 
can be done either:

a. by email to parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk; or

b. by writing to the Parking Services Manager, Gravesham Borough Council, Parking Services Department,  
 Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, DA12 1AU

Nicholas May  Parking Services Manager,   Gravesham Borough Council      
September  2020.

Page 329



This page is intentionally left blank



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

PUBLIC NOTICE
In the Borough of Gravesham

THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL (VARIOUS ROADS, GRAVESHAM) 
(WAITING RESRICTIONS AND ON-STREET PERMIT PARKING) 

(AMENDMENT No.17) ORDER 2020

NOTICE is hereby given that the Kent County Council proposed to make the above-named Order under 
Sections 1, 2, 4, 5, 32, 35, 36, 45, 46, 49, 51 and 124 and Part IV of Schedule 9 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 as amended and all other enabling powers, the effect of which will be to amend The Kent County Council 
(Various Roads, Gravesham) (Stopping, Waiting, and Loading Prohibitions and Restrictions, Parking Places and 
Controlled Parking Zones) (Consolidation) Order 2017 (the Order of 2017) as follows:

1. to replace the Higham controlled parking zone (CPZ) restriction Mon-Fri 9.30am-10am and    
 12pm-1pm with a new Higham Permit Parking Area Zone H01 Mon-Fri 9.30am-10am and    
 12pm-1pm;

2. to remove the controlled parking zone restricted streets from the streets eligible for Waiver    
 Permits;

3. to introduce the period of validity and permit charges applicable to Permit Parking Area     
 permits by the substitution of Schedule 4 of the Order of 2017 with Schedule 1 to this Notice;

4. to replace the property addresses eligible to apply for non-vehicle registration specific Waiver  
 Permits for the Higham CPZ area with a Business, Visitor or vehicle registration specific     
 Resident H01 Permit Parking Area Permit;

5. to restrict the use of H01 Permit Parking Area Permits to parking only within the area for which    
 they have been issued.

Copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the proposed Order, and a copy 
of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be viewed online at https://www.
gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations.

Any objections and other representations to the proposed Order must be made in writing stating the grounds 
on which they are made and sent to the council within 21 days from the date of publication of this notice. This 
can be done either:

a. by email to parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk; or

b. by writing to the Parking Services Manager, Gravesham Borough Council, Parking Services Department,  
 Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, DA12 1AU

Nicholas May  Parking Services Manager,   Gravesham Borough Council      
September  2020.

Page 331



This page is intentionally left blank



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

PUBLIC NOTICE
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL (VARIOUS ROADS, GRAVESHAM) 

(WAITING RESRICTIONS AND ON-STREET PERMIT PARKING) 
(AMENDMENT No.18) ORDER 2020

NOTICE is hereby given that the Kent County Council proposed to make the above-named Order under 
Sections 1, 2, 4, 5, 32, 35, 36, 45, 46, 49, 51 and 124 and Part IV of Schedule 9 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 as amended and all other enabling powers, the effect of which will be to amend The Kent County Council 
(Various Roads, Gravesham) (Stopping, Waiting, and Loading Prohibitions and Restrictions, Parking Places and 
Controlled Parking Zones) (Consolidation) Order 2017 (the Order of 2017) as follows:

1. to replace the Meopham controlled parking zone (CPZ) restriction Mon-Fri 1pm-1.30pm with new   
 Meopham Permit Parking Areas Zones M01, M02 and M03 Mon-Fri 1pm-2pm;

2. to remove the controlled parking zone restricted streets from the streets eligible for Waiver Permits;

3. to introduce the period of validity and permit charges applicable to Permit Parking Area permits by the   
 substitution of Schedule 4 of the Order of 2017 with Schedule 1 to this Notice;

4. to replace the property addresses eligible to apply for non-vehicle registration specific Waiver Permits for  
 the Meopham CPZ area with Business, Visitor or vehicle registration specific Resident M01, M02 or M03   
 Permit Parking Area Permits;

5. to restrict the use of M01, M02 or M03 Permit Parking Area Permits to parking only within the area for   
 which they have been issued;

6. to extend the ‘Limited Waiting Mon-Sat 8am-6.30pm 30mins No Return Within 1hr’ bay outside Kings,   
 Railway Cuttings and Stone Willy’s on Wrotham Road/Station Road, in a southerly direction for 17 metres,  
 up to the existing bus stop, replacing the existing No Waiting Mon-Fri 1pm-1.30pm restriction.

7. To replace the existing No Waiting Mon-Sat 8am-6.30pm and No Waiting Mon-Fri 1pm-1.30pm restrictions  
 with No Waiting At Any Time restrictions on Wrotham Road between its junction with Norwood Lane and  
 a point 170 metres north of its junction with John’s Road.

Copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the proposed Order, and a copy 
of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be viewed online at https://www.
gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations.

Any objections and other representations to the proposed Order must be made in writing stating the grounds 
on which they are made and sent to the council within 21 days from the date of publication of this notice. This 
can be done either:

a. by email to parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk; or

b. by writing to the Parking Services Manager, Gravesham Borough Council, Parking Services Department,  
 Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, DA12 1AU

Nicholas May  Parking Services Manager,   Gravesham Borough Council      
September  2020.

Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



Switchboard 01474 56 44 22
Minicom 01474 33 76 17
Website www.gravesham.gov.uk

Gravesham Borough Council, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent DA12 1AU

letter front page

THIS IS NOT A CIRCULAR
RE: Higham Parking Review

Communities
Ask for: Parking Office 
Telephone: (01474) 33 70 00
Email: parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk 
Our ref: Higham CPZ Review
Date: 01 September 2020

Dear Resident, 

Re: Higham Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) Review 

As you will be aware, Parking Services have been conducting a review of the Controlled Parking Zones 
(CPZs) in the borough. We initially intended to send this correspondence in March 2020 however due to the 
COVID-19 lockdown, Kent County Council (KCC), who we act on behalf of when considering residential 
parking schemes, put any consultations on hold.

The first part of the review involved letters and surveys being sent to all residents that live in the current 
CPZ.  The letters were sent on 15 July 2019 and residents had 6 weeks to return the questionnaire. After 
reviewing the feedback received from this questionnaire, we started an informal consultation and sent 
letters on 06 January 2020 outlining our proposals.

What feedback did we receive from the informal consultation?

From the 243 properties contacted, we received a total of nine responses to the consultation with three 
supporting the changes and six objections. In our informal consultation letter sent in January 2020, we 
advised that feedback is important (whether support or objections) but that if we did not receive any 
response from an address, it would be assumed that the residents of that property are happy with the 
proposals. With the non-response from 234 properties and three responses supporting the proposals, it 
shows a clear majority supported the proposals made.

Proposed Changes to the CPZ parking scheme

Based on the majority feedback from residents on the surveys, we will propose to keep the 9:30am to 
10:00am Monday to Friday restriction time as well as implementing the second restricted time between 12 
noon and 1pm Monday to Friday. 

We propose to replace the current ‘Higham CPZ’ with a Permit Parking Area (PPA), and the area will form 
Zone ‘H01’. 

Under the current CPZ scheme, the waiver permit limit is one per property if the property has off-street 
parking available and two if no off-street parking is available. There are no separate resident or visitor 
permits. As outlined in the informal proposals, we intend to implement separate resident and visitor permits. 
Resident’s permits will be kept to the same limit, one if the property has off-street parking available and two 
if the property does not have off street parking. These resident permits will be registration specific and 
applicants will need to provide the vehicle log book being registered at the address (typed, printed and 
recently dated letters on company headed paper will be required for company vehicles) - the price remains 
at £15 per year. 

Page 335



We also propose to introduce a separate visitor permit and these will be limited to one per property. These 
will also be at the same charge of £15 per year and will not include a registration number so can be used 
by any visitors for parking within the parking scheme.

Residents that hold existing waiver permits valid for more than 6 weeks from the date the Order is made 
will be issued one year free of charge for either a resident or visitor permit. Residents whose existing 
waiver permits that expire within 6 weeks of the Order being made will need to apply for new PPA permits 
at a cost of £15. At present, we do not know the date the Order will be ‘made’ as this is dependent on 
feedback received. Should we receive majority support for the proposals, once the final decision has been 
made, the date will be confirmed and communicated with each address by letter with further details being 
provided on how to obtain the new permits.

What is a Permit Parking Area (PPA)?

 Similar to a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ), a Permit Parking 
Area (PPA) is an area with entry and exit signs that indicate that 
permits are required to park on any road within the area during 
the hours of control. 

 Entry signs will state the hours of control and the permit code for 
permits that are eligible to park within that PPA. 

 Regular repeater signs throughout the zone will also reiterate that 
the PPA zone and restriction times.

 No road markings (such as a single yellow line) are required 
throughout a PPA, and only restrictions that differ from the PPA 
(such as double yellow lines, disabled bays etc.) will be marked, 
making maintenance easier. 

Examples of the PPA entry and exit signs have been provided for reference.

Similar to what we already offer within our CPZs, businesses and organisations within 
the zone are entitled to apply for PPA permits for their staff and the same limits will 
apply. Visitor permits are not available to businesses or organisations.

What happens next?

This letter serves as notification of a formal consultation and on street Notices will also be installed in 
affected roads. We have a statutory duty to undertake a formal consultation with residents for 21 days. The 
Formal Consultation will start on Thursday 03 September 2020 and will end at 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. During the consultation period residents will have the opportunity to provide, support or 
object to the proposals or to provide general feedback.

For further information copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the 
proposed Order, and a copy of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be 
examined on our website www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations 

Why do my views matter?

It is just as important to supply feedback whether in support of the proposals or objecting to the proposals.  
If we do not receive any objections from your address, it will again be assumed that you are happy with the 
proposals. 

Please discuss the parking proposals with all the people residing at your address and send your support or 
objection in writing, either via email or letter, to the addresses provided overleaf, by 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. Unfortunately, we will be unable to consider your views if you fail to respond by this date. 
Please ensure you mark your response ‘Higham CPZ Review’ as we are currently reviewing a number of 
areas around the borough. 

Page 336

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations


Email address – parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk

Postal address – RE: Higham CPZ Review
      Parking Services
      Gravesham Borough Council
      Civic Centre
      Windmill Street
      Gravesend
      Kent
      DA12 1AU
      

Have any questions?

If you have any questions or enquiries on the proposals prior to you making a decision as to whether you 
support or oppose them, please email parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk, or call 01474 33 70 00 to 
speak to our customer services team.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone that provided feedback and expressed their views in 
completing the initial questionnaire as well as the informal consultation.

Yours sincerely,

Nick May
Parking Services Manager 

Page 337



This page is intentionally left blank



Switchboard 01474 56 44 22
Minicom 01474 33 76 17
Website www.gravesham.gov.uk

Gravesham Borough Council, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent DA12 1AU

letter front page
letter front page

THIS IS NOT A CIRCULAR
RE: Meopham Parking Review

Communities
Ask for: Parking Office 
Telephone: (01474) 33 70 00
Email: parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk 
Our ref: Meopham CPZ Review
Date: 01 September 2020

Dear Resident, 

Re: Meopham Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) Review 

As you will be aware, Parking Services have been conducting a review of the Controlled Parking Zones 
(CPZs) in the borough. We initially intended to send this correspondence in March 2020 however due to the 
COVID-19 lockdown, Kent County Council (KCC), who we act on behalf of when considering residential 
parking schemes, put any consultations on hold.

The first part of the review involved letters and surveys being sent to all residents that live in the current CPZ.  
The letters were sent on 15 July 2019 and residents had 6 weeks to return the questionnaire. After reviewing 
the feedback received from this questionnaire, we started an informal consultation and sent letters on 06 
January 2020 outlining our proposals.

What feedback did we receive from the informal consultation?

From the 595 properties contacted, we received a total of 42 responses to the consultation with 21 supporting 
the changes, 19 objections and two just asking additional questions. In addition to this, we received a petition 
of 43 signatures from residents closest to the Meopham Station in roads such as John’s Road, New Road, 
Station Road, Orchard Drive and a few properties in Wrotham Road that objected to the proposals. One of 
the main concerns being raised in this petition was the misuse of permits in the roads closest to the station 
with permits issued for roads further away. There were also requests to offer visitor scratch cards instead of 
a yearly visitor permit to help tackle misuse and the selling of the annual permit to non-residents.

Proposed Changes to the CPZ parking scheme

Based on the feedback from residents on the initial surveys, in the informal consultation we proposed to 
extend the restricted time from 1pm – 1:30pm to 1pm – 2pm Monday to Friday. We will continue with this 
proposal and also propose to split the area into three zones, M01, M02 and M03.

The zones splits have been detailed below. A map has also been enclosed. Permits will be zone specific 
based on the address and can only be used in the zone that they have been issued for. 

M01 includes Birtrick Drive, John’s Road, New Road, Orchard Drive, Station Road and Wrotham Road 
(properties between the railway bridge and the junction of Norwood Lane)

M02 includes Ediva Road, Edmund Close, Fairview Gardens, Nursery Road and Norwood Lane 

M03 includes Cheshunt Close, Denesway, Melliker Lane, Pine Rise and Wrotham Road (properties between 
the junction of Norwood Lane and Denesway)

Page 339



Under the current CPZ scheme, the waiver permit limit is one per property if the property has off-street parking 
available and two if no off-street parking is available. There are no separate resident or visitor permits. As 
outlined in the informal proposals, we intend to implement separate resident and visitor permits. Resident’s 
permits will be kept to the same limit, one if the property has off-street parking available and two if the property 
does not have off street parking. These resident permits will be registration specific and applicants will need 
to provide the vehicle log book being registered at the address (typed, printed and recently dated letters on 
company headed paper will be required for company vehicles) - the price remains at £15 per year. 

Whilst we have considered the petitions request to offer visitor scratch cards instead of an annual visitor 
permit, we believe the splitting of zones will help elevate the issues with roads further out parking closer to 
the station. We have therefore kept to the initial proposal to introduce a separate annual visitor permit limited 
to one per property. These will also be at the same charge of £15 per year and will not include a registration 
number so can be used by any visitors for parking within the parking scheme.

Residents that hold existing waiver permits valid for more than 6 weeks from the date the Order is made will 
be issued one year free of charge for either a resident or visitor permit. Residents whose existing waiver 
permits that expire within 6 weeks of the Order being made will need to apply for new PPA permits at a cost 
of £15. At present, we do not know the date the Order will be ‘made’ as this is dependent on feedback 
received. Should we receive majority support for the proposals, once the final decision has been made, the 
date will be confirmed and communicated with each address by letter with further details being provided on 
how to obtain the new permits.

Whilst looking at this area, we also propose to extend the 30 minute limited waiting bay on Station Approach 
outside Kings Estate Agents, by 17 metres up to the bus stop as well as extending the double yellow lines in 
the busiest part of Wrotham Road. Maps detailing all of the changes can be seen on our website 
www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations

What is a Permit Parking Area (PPA)?

 Similar to a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ), a Permit Parking 
Area (PPA) is an area with entry and exit signs that indicate that 
permits are required to park on any road within the area during 
the hours of control. 

 Entry signs will state the hours of control and the permit code for 
permits that are eligible to park within that PPA. 

 Regular repeater signs throughout the zone will also reiterate that 
the PPA zone and restriction times.

 No road markings (such as a single yellow line) are required 
throughout a PPA, and only restrictions that differ from the PPA 
(such as double yellow lines, disabled bays etc.) will be marked, 
making maintenance easier. 

Examples of the PPA entry and exit signs have been provided for reference.

Similar to what we already offer within our CPZs, businesses and organisations within 
the zone are entitled to apply for PPA permits for their staff and the same limits will 
apply. Visitor permits are not available to businesses or organisations.

What happens next?

This letter serves as notification of a formal consultation and on street Notices will also be installed in 
affected roads. We have a statutory duty to undertake a formal consultation with residents for 21 days. The 
Formal Consultation will start on Thursday 03 September 2020 and will end at 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. During the consultation period residents will have the opportunity to provide, support or 
object to the proposals or to provide general feedback.

For further information copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the 
proposed Order, and a copy of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be 
examined on our website www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations 

Why do my views matter?

Page 340

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations


It is just as important to supply feedback whether in support of the proposals or objecting to the proposals.  
If we do not receive any objections from your address, it will again be assumed that you are happy with the 
proposals. 

Please discuss the parking proposals with all the people residing at your address and send your support or 
objection in writing, either via email or letter, to the addresses provided below, by 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. Unfortunately, we will be unable to consider your views if you fail to respond by this date. 
Please ensure you mark your response ‘Meopham CPZ Review’ as we are currently reviewing a number of 
areas around the borough. 

Email address – parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk

Postal address – RE: Meopham CPZ Review
      Parking Services
      Gravesham Borough Council
      Civic Centre
      Windmill Street
      Gravesend
      Kent
      DA12 1AU
      

Have any questions?

If you have any questions or enquiries on the proposals prior to you making a decision as to whether you 
support or oppose them, please email parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk, or call 01474 33 70 00 to 
speak to our customer services team.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone that provided feedback and expressed their views in 
completing the initial questionnaire as well as the informal consultation.

Yours sincerely,

Nick May
Parking Services Manager 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



Switchboard 01474 56 44 22
Minicom 01474 33 76 17
Website www.gravesham.gov.uk

Gravesham Borough Council, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent DA12 1AU

letter front page

THIS IS NOT A CIRCULAR
RE: Northfleet Parking Review

Communities
Ask for: Parking Office 
Telephone: (01474) 33 70 00
Email: parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk 
Our ref: Northfleet CPZ Review
Date: 01 September 2020

Dear Resident, 

Re: Northfleet Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) Review 

As you will be aware, Parking Services have been conducting a review of the Controlled Parking Zones 
(CPZs) in the borough. We initially intended to send this correspondence in March 2020 however due to the 
COVID-19 lockdown, Kent County Council (KCC), who we act on behalf of when considering residential 
parking schemes, put any consultations on hold.

The first part of the review involved letters and surveys being sent to all residents that live in the current 
CPZ. The letters were sent on 15 July 2019 and residents had 6 weeks to return the questionnaire. After 
reviewing the feedback received from this questionnaire, we started an informal consultation and sent 
letters on 06 January 2020 outlining our proposals.

What feedback did we receive from the informal consultation?

From the 203 properties contacted, we received a total of 16 responses to the consultation with 11 
supporting the changes, five objections and one just asking a question. In our informal consultation letter 
sent in January 2020, we advised that feedback is important (whether support or objections) but that if we 
did not receive any response from an address, it would be assumed that the residents of that property are 
happy with the proposals. With the non-response from 187 properties and 11 responses supporting the 
proposals, it shows a clear majority supported the proposals made.

Proposed Changes to the CPZ parking scheme

Based on the feedback from residents on the surveys, we propose to extend the restriction time from 8am 
to 6:30pm and also extending the days of operation to Monday - Saturday. 

We propose to replace the current ‘Northfleet CPZ’ with a Permit Parking Area (PPA), and the area will 
form Zone ‘N01’. 

Under the current CPZ scheme, the waiver permit limit is one per property if the property has off-street 
parking available and two if no off-street parking is available. There are no separate resident or visitor 
permits. As outlined in the informal proposals, we intend to implement separate resident and visitor permits. 
Resident’s permits will be kept to the same limit, one if the property has off-street parking available and two 
if you the property does not have off street parking. These resident permits will be registration specific and 
applicants will need to provide the vehicle log book being registered at the address (typed, printed and 
recently dated letters on company headed paper will be required for company vehicles) - the price remains 
at £15 per year. 

Page 343



We also propose to introduce a separate visitor permit and these will be limited to one per property. These 
will also be at the same charge of £15 per year and will not include a registration number so can be used 
by any visitors for parking within the parking scheme.

Residents that hold existing waiver permits valid for more than 6 weeks from the date the Order is made 
will be issued one year free of charge for either a resident or visitor permit. Residents whose existing 
waiver permits that expire within 6 weeks of the Order being made will need to apply for new PPA permits 
at a cost of £15. At present, we do not know the date the Order will be ‘made’ as this is dependent on 
feedback received. Should we receive majority support for the proposals, once the final decision has been 
made, the date will be confirmed and communicated with each address by letter with further details being 
provided on how to obtain the new permits.

What is a Permit Parking Area (PPA)?

 Similar to a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ), a Permit Parking 
Area (PPA) is an area with entry and exit signs that indicate that 
permits are required to park on any road within the area during 
the hours of control. 

 Entry signs will state the hours of control and the permit code for 
permits that are eligible to park within that PPA. 

 Regular repeater signs throughout the zone will also reiterate that 
the PPA zone and restriction times.

 No road markings (such as a single yellow line) are required 
throughout a PPA, and only restrictions that differ from the PPA 
(such as double yellow lines, disabled bays etc.) will be marked, 
making maintenance easier. 

Examples of the PPA entry and exit signs have been provided for reference.

Similar to what we already offer within our CPZs, businesses and organisations within 
the zone are entitled to apply for PPA permits for their staff and the same limits will 
apply. Visitor permits are not available to businesses or organisations.

What happens next?

This letter serves as notification of a formal consultation and on street Notices will also be installed in 
affected roads. We have a statutory duty to undertake a formal consultation with residents for 21 days. The 
Formal Consultation will start on Thursday 03 September 2020 and will end at 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. During the consultation period residents will have the opportunity to provide, support or 
object to the proposals or to provide general feedback.

For further information copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the 
proposed Order, and a copy of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be 
examined on our website www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations 

Why do my views matter?

It is just as important to supply feedback whether in support of the proposals or objecting to the proposals.  
If we do not receive any objections from your address, it will again be assumed that you are happy with the 
proposals. 

Please discuss the parking proposals with all the people residing at your address and send your support or 
objection in writing, either via email or letter, to the addresses provided overleaf, by 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. Unfortunately, we will be unable to consider your views if you fail to respond by this date. 
Please ensure you mark your response ‘Northfleet CPZ Review’ as we are currently reviewing a number of 
areas around the borough. 

Page 344

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations


Email address – parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk

Postal address – RE: Northfleet CPZ Review
      Parking Services
      Gravesham Borough Council
      Civic Centre
      Windmill Street
      Gravesend
      Kent
      DA12 1AU

Have any questions?

If you have any questions or enquiries on the proposals prior to you making a decision as to whether you 
support or oppose them, please email parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk, or call 01474 33 70 00 to 
speak to our customer services team.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone that provided feedback and expressed their views in 
completing the initial questionnaire as well as the informal consultation.

Yours sincerely,

Nick May
Parking Services Manager 

Page 345



This page is intentionally left blank



Switchboard 01474 56 44 22
Minicom 01474 33 76 17
Website www.gravesham.gov.uk

Gravesham Borough Council, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent DA12 1AU

letter front page

THIS IS NOT A CIRCULAR
RE: Sole Street Parking Review

Communities
Ask for: Parking Office 
Telephone: (01474) 33 70 00
Email: parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk 
Our ref: Sole Street CPZ Review
Date: 01 September 2020

Dear Resident, 

Re: Sole Street Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) Review 

As you will be aware, Parking Services have been conducting a review of the Controlled Parking Zones 
(CPZs) in the borough. We initially intended to send this correspondence in March 2020 however due to the 
COVID-19 lockdown, Kent County Council (KCC), who we act on behalf of when considering residential 
parking schemes, put any consultations on hold.

The first part of the review involved letters and surveys being sent to all residents that live in the current 
CPZ.  The letters were sent on 15 July 2019 and residents had 6 weeks to return the questionnaire. After 
reviewing the feedback received from this questionnaire, we started an informal consultation and sent 
letters on 06 January 2020 outlining our proposals.

What feedback did we receive from the informal consultation?

From the 171 properties contacted, we received a total of ten responses to the consultation with five 
supporting the changes, four objections and one response just asking a question. In our informal 
consultation letter sent in January 2020, we advised that feedback is important (whether support or 
objections) but that if we did not receive any response from an address, it would be assumed that the 
residents of that property are happy with the proposals. With the non-response from 161 properties and five 
responses supporting the proposals, it shows a clear majority supported the proposals made.

Proposed Changes to the CPZ parking scheme

Based on the feedback from residents on the surveys, we propose to extend the time from 30 minutes to 
one hour from 12 noon – 12:30pm to 12 noon – 1pm Monday to Friday. This extra time also gives our 
enforcement officers additional time to get round the zone and enforce the restrictions. The current 30 
minute restriction does limit the amount of roads they are able to cover during the CPZ time. 

We propose to replace the current ‘Sole Street CPZ’ with a Permit Parking Area (PPA), and the area will 
form Zone ‘SS01’. 

Under the current CPZ scheme, the waiver permit limit is one per property if the property has off-street 
parking available and two if no off-street parking is available. There are no separate resident or visitor 
permits. As outlined in the informal proposals, we intend to implement separate resident and visitor permits. 
Resident’s permits will be kept to the same limit, one if the property has off-street parking available and two 
if you the property does not have off street parking. These resident permits will be registration specific and 
applicants will need to provide the vehicle log book being registered at the address (typed, printed and 
recently dated letters on company headed paper will be required for company vehicles) - the price remains 
at £15 per year. 

Page 347



We also propose to introduce a separate visitor permit and these will be limited to one per property. These 
will also be at the same charge of £15 per year and will not include a registration number so can be used 
by any visitors for parking within the parking scheme.

Residents that hold existing waiver permits valid for more than 6 weeks from the date the Order is made 
will be issued one year free of charge for either a resident or visitor permit. Residents whose existing 
waiver permits that expire within 6 weeks of the Order being made will need to apply for new PPA permits 
at a cost of £15. At present, we do not know the date the Order will be ‘made’ as this is dependent on 
feedback received. Should we receive majority support for the proposals, once the final decision has been 
made, the date will be confirmed and communicated with each address by letter with further details being 
provided on how to obtain the new permits.

What is a Permit Parking Area (PPA)?

 Similar to a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ), a Permit Parking 
Area (PPA) is an area with entry and exit signs that indicate that 
permits are required to park on any road within the area during 
the hours of control. 

 Entry signs will state the hours of control and the permit code for 
permits that are eligible to park within that PPA. 

 Regular repeater signs throughout the zone will also reiterate that 
the PPA zone and restriction times.

 No road markings (such as a single yellow line) are required 
throughout a PPA, and only restrictions that differ from the PPA 
(such as double yellow lines, disabled bays etc.) will be marked, 
making maintenance easier. 

Examples of the PPA entry and exit signs have been provided for reference.

Similar to what we already offer within our CPZs, businesses and organisations within 
the zone are entitled to apply for PPA permits for their staff and the same limits will 
apply. Visitor permits are not available to businesses or organisations.

What happens next?

This letter serves as notification of a formal consultation and on street Notices will also be installed in 
affected roads. We have a statutory duty to undertake a formal consultation with residents for 21 days. The 
Formal Consultation will start on Thursday 03 September 2020 and will end at 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. During the consultation period residents will have the opportunity to provide, support or 
object to the proposals or to provide general feedback.

For further information copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the 
proposed Order, and a copy of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be 
examined on our website www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations 

Why do my views matter?

It is just as important to supply feedback whether in support of the proposals or objecting to the proposals.  
If we do not receive any objections from your address, it will again be assumed that you are happy with the 
proposals. 

Please discuss the parking proposals with all the people residing at your address and send your support or 
objection in writing, either via email or letter, to the addresses provided overleaf, by 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. Unfortunately, we will be unable to consider your views if you fail to respond by this date. 
Please ensure you mark your response ‘Sole Street CPZ Review’ as we are currently reviewing a number 
of areas around the borough.

Page 348

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations


Email address – parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk

Postal address – RE: Sole Street CPZ Review
      Parking Services
      Gravesham Borough Council
      Civic Centre
      Windmill Street
      Gravesend
      Kent
      DA12 1AU
      

Have any questions?

If you have any questions or enquiries on the proposals prior to you making a decision as to whether you 
support or oppose them, please email parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk, or call 01474 33 70 00 to 
speak to our customer services team.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone that provided feedback and expressed their views in 
completing the initial questionnaire as well as the informal consultation.

Yours sincerely,

Nick May
Parking Services Manager 

Page 349



This page is intentionally left blank



Switchboard 01474 56 44 22
Minicom 01474 33 76 17
Website www.gravesham.gov.uk

Gravesham Borough Council, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent DA12 1AU

letter front page

THIS IS NOT A CIRCULAR
RE: St James’s Avenue Parking Review

Communities
Ask for: Parking Office 
Telephone: (01474) 33 70 00
Email: parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk 
Our ref: St James’s Avenue CPZ Review
Date: 01 September 2020

Dear Resident, 

Re: St James’s Avenue Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) Review 

As you will be aware, Parking Services have been conducting a review of the Controlled Parking Zones 
(CPZs) in the borough. We initially intended to send this correspondence in March 2020 however due to the 
COVID-19 lockdown, Kent County Council (KCC), who we act on behalf of when considering residential 
parking schemes, put any consultations on hold.

The first part of the review involved letters and surveys being sent to all residents that live in the current 
CPZ.  The letters were sent on 15 July 2019 and residents had 6 weeks to return the questionnaire. After 
reviewing the feedback received from this questionnaire, we started an informal consultation and sent 
letters on 06 January 2020 outlining our proposals.

What feedback did we receive from the informal consultation?

Although the response rate was low (only eight responded from the 101 properties within the zone), we 
only received one objection to the proposals. In our informal consultation letter sent in January 2020, we 
advised that feedback is important (whether support or objections) but that if we did not receive any 
response from an address, it would be assumed that the residents of that property are happy with the 
proposals. Along with the non-response from 93 properties, the other seven responses we received 
supported the proposals showing a clear majority supported the proposals made.

Proposed Changes to the CPZ parking scheme

Based on the feedback from residents, we propose to extend the time from 30 minutes to two, one hour 
restrictions from 10am – 11am and 2pm – 3pm, Monday to Saturday. This extra time also gives our 
enforcement officers additional time to get round the zone and enforce the restrictions. These times were 
also chosen to avoid lunch times, therefore lessening the impact on visitors, but also considers other zones 
around the borough that need to be enforced at different times.

We propose to replace the current ‘St James’s Avenue CPZ’ with a Permit Parking Area (PPA), and the 
area will form Zone ‘SJ01’. 

Under the current CPZ scheme, the waiver permit limit is one per property if the property has off-street 
parking available and two if no off-street parking is available. There are no separate resident or visitor 
permits. As outlined in the informal proposals, we intend to implement separate resident and visitor permits. 
Resident’s permits will be kept to the same limit, one if the property has off-street parking available and two 
if you the property does not have off street parking. These resident permits will be registration specific and 
applicants will need to provide the vehicle log book being registered at the address (typed, printed and 

Page 351



recently dated letters on company headed paper will be required for company vehicles) - the price remains 
at £15 per year. 

We also propose to introduce a separate visitor permit and these will be limited to one per property. These 
will also be at the same charge of £15 per year and will not include a registration number so can be used 
by any visitors for parking within the parking scheme.

Residents that hold existing waiver permits valid for more than 6 weeks from the date the Order is made 
will be issued one year free of charge for either a resident or visitor permit. Residents whose existing 
waiver permits that expire within 6 weeks of the Order being made will need to apply for new PPA permits 
at a cost of £15. At present, we do not know the date the Order will be ‘made’ as this is dependent on 
feedback received. Should we receive majority support for the proposals, once the final decision has been 
made, the date will be confirmed and communicated with each address by letter with further details being 
provided on how to obtain the new permits.

What is a Permit Parking Area (PPA)?

 Similar to a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ), a Permit Parking 
Area (PPA) is an area with entry and exit signs that indicate that 
permits are required to park on any road within the area during 
the hours of control. 

 Entry signs will state the hours of control and the permit code for 
permits that are eligible to park within that PPA. 

 Regular repeater signs throughout the zone will also reiterate that 
the PPA zone and restriction times.

 No road markings (such as a single yellow line) are required 
throughout a PPA, and only restrictions that differ from the PPA 
(such as double yellow lines, disabled bays etc.) will be marked, 
making maintenance easier. 

Examples of the PPA entry and exit signs have been provided for reference.

Similar to what we already offer within our CPZs, businesses and organisations within 
the zone are entitled to apply for PPA permits for their staff and the same limits will 
apply. Visitor permits are not available to businesses or organisations.

This letter serves as notification of a formal consultation and on street Notices will also be installed in 
affected roads. We have a statutory duty to undertake a formal consultation with residents for 21 days. The 
Formal Consultation will start on Thursday 03 September 2020 and will end at 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. During the consultation period residents will have the opportunity to provide, support or 
object to the proposals or to provide general feedback.

For further information copies of the draft Order, the statement of the Council’s reasons for making the 
proposed Order, and a copy of any other Orders which will be amended by the proposed Order may be 
examined on our website www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations 

Why do my views matter?

It is just as important to supply feedback whether in support of the proposals or objecting to the proposals.  
If we do not receive any objections from your address, it will again be assumed that you are happy with the 
proposals. 

Please discuss the parking proposals with all the people residing at your address and send your support or 
objection in writing, either via email or letter, to the addresses provided overleaf, by 5pm on Thursday 24 
September 2020. Unfortunately, we will be unable to consider your views if you fail to respond by this date. 
Please ensure you mark your response ‘St James’s Avenue CPZ Review’ as we are currently reviewing a 
number of areas around the borough. 

Page 352

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking-consultations


Email address – parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk

Postal address – RE: St James’s Avenue CPZ Review
      Parking Services
      Gravesham Borough Council
      Civic Centre
      Windmill Street
      Gravesend
      Kent
      DA12 1AU
      

Have any questions?

If you have any questions or enquiries on the proposals prior to you making a decision as to whether you 
support or oppose them, please email parking.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk, or call 01474 33 70 00 to 
speak to our customer services team.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone that provided feedback and expressed their views in 
completing the initial questionnaire as well as the informal consultation.

Yours sincerely,

Nick May
Parking Services Manager 

Page 353



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 04 January 2021

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing)

Subject: Fire Door Procurement and Installation Programme

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Cabinet of the current position in relation to flat entrance fire doors, taking in to 
account fire safety recommendations and guidance following MHCLG's "Advice for Building 
Owners" and to seek approval to use a relevant framework to procure and award a contract 
to install compliant fire doors where required within Council housing stock, over a five year 
period, 2021/22 to 2025/26. 

Recommendations:
1. The Director (Housing & Operations) in consultation with the S151 Officer and Lead 

Member be given delegated authority to conduct the procurement process and award 
a contract using a procurement framework by way of mini tender as outlined in the 
report.

2. The Director (Housing & Operations) in consultation with the S151 Officer and Lead 
Member be given delegated authority to grant annual extensions to the contract 
awarded subject to satisfactory contractor performance.

1. Background

1.1 As a landlord, Gravesham Borough Council has a statutory duty to ensure its 
housing stock is properly maintained, equipment is serviced, responsive repairs 
are completed within a timely manner and it is essential that external service 
providers are in place to assist with the delivery of required works.   

1.2 Since the tragedy at Grenfell Tower, the Government’s Building Safety 
Programme has predominantly focused on identifying and advising short-term 
interim and remedial measures, while developing wider reforms for the future 
building safety regulatory system.

1.3 In support of the Building Safety Programme, “MHCLG Advice for Building 
Owners of Multi-storey, Multi-occupied Residential Buildings” was issued earlier 
this year. It contained specific advice on key fire safety risks that need to be 
managed appropriately, including “MHCLG’s Annex A – Assurance and 
Assessment of Fire Doors” which offered the following guidance: 

Page 355 Agenda Item 12



2

1.3.1 Flat entrance fire doors leading to a shared or communal area are required 
to provide fire and smoke protection and are part of a layered approach to 
most fire strategies for residential buildings.

1.3.2 Building owners should aim to replace existing flat entrance doorsets if 
they suspect they do not meet the required fire or smoke resistance 
performance or they wish to be assured that they do. The owner should 
use an appropriate risk assessment process to determine how urgently 
such doors should be replaced.

1.3.3 Replacement flat entrance doors will have test evidence demonstrating 
that they meet the performance requirement in Building Regulations for fire 
resistance and smoke control from both sides of the door

1.3.4 It is important that all fire doors, including the closers, are routinely 
maintained by a suitably qualified professional.  Residents should be made 
aware of the significant importance of a working self-closing device on all 
fire doors.

2. Legal Requirements & Standards

2.1 Article 17 of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 makes it a legal 
requirement to ensure that fire resisting doors and escape doors are correctly 
installed and adequately maintained in order for them to be fit for purpose. 
Building owners need ‘competent persons’ as referenced in the Fire Safety Order 
to help them comply with fire door regulations.

2.2 Flat entrance doors are an essential feature of compartmentation and must meet 
the required standards, to afford suitable protection to residents and others who 
may be affected by a fire. As well as preventing smoke and fire from spreading 
from a property, they also prevent smoke and fire in communal areas spreading 
into a property where residents may be sheltering until the fire service arrives. 

2.3 Building Regulations Approved Document B advises all new fire safety doorsets to 
flats, which allow access directly into the dwelling from a shared or communal 
corridor, should offer at least 30 minutes’ fire resistance and tested in accordance 
with BS476: Part 22 1987 or BS EN 1634-1 2000. Test certification should be 
provided by the contractor supplying/fitting the door, confirming that the doorset 
meets the required standard.

3. Current Situation

3.1 As part of the Grenfell investigations, sales of composite fire doors were 
suspended following a press statement by the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG). A number of manufacturers were named whose 
products had failed to comply with Building Regulations, bi-directional testing.

3.2 The composite fire doors historically installed within Gravesham’s housing stock 
are not of the manufacture and type selected as part of MHCLG’s testing 
programme. Therefore, test evidence to indicate if they would meet the required 
standard for bi-directional testing is unavailable.  

3.3 Gravesham has used different suppliers for composite doors and providing 
samples for testing by a UKAS accredited test facility would prove problematic or 
near impossible. Samples would need to be provided by the manufacturer for 
testing (majority of products now discontinued). The alternative option to remove 

Page 356



3

an in-situ doorset for testing would require it to be a complete unit (as new) 
without any defects, which cannot be guaranteed. 

3.4 Some of our fire doors are original to the buildings (referred to as notional fire 
doors) and would have complied with the fire regulations and standards at the 
time of construction. These doors have been in place for many years; alterations, 
change of components and current condition strongly suggest that they now no 
longer provide the protection that was intended or meet current standards.

 3.5 In conclusion bi-directional testing certification for our doors is not evident and we 
cannot demonstrate they meet the performance requirements of current Building 
Regulations for fire resistance and smoke control from both sides of the door. 
Therefore, they may potentially offer less resistance than the recommended 30 
minutes fire integrity.

3.6 To compile a programme which prioritises doors and buildings a risk assessment 
was completed on all of Gravesham’s 2,852 flat entrance doors. The assessment 
followed the guidelines and flowcharts provided in MHCLG’s Annex A and the 
proposed programme has been reviewed by an independent fire risk consultant to 
ensure it meets all our statutory obligations. This document can be found in 
Appendix 2. 

3.7 A holistic approach has been taken to recommend a five year programme to 
replace 2,005 flat entrance doors, with our high rise/high risk buildings being a 
priority. We are not proposing to replace 847 flat entrance doors on the grounds 
their positioning in the building envelope, as outlined in the proposal below, mean 
they do not need to be fire rated under current regulations but this will be reviewed 
as and when government guidance is changed or updated.  

4. Proposal

4.1 Based on the information above, its proposed that all multi-occupied buildings with 
flat entrance doors which have the following characteristics be replaced:

4.1.1 Flat entrance fire doors opening onto an enclosed communal area

4.1.2 Flat entrance doors opening onto an open walkway/balcony with only one 
escape route

4.1.3 Flat entrance doors near or adjacent to stairs that form part of an escape 
route

4.2 To continue with the proactive work Gravesham Borough Council has already 
undertaken in relation to fire safety within high rise buildings, including the 
provision of fire suppression systems, it is proposed to establish a fire door 
replacement programme over the next five years, to be prioritised as follows:

4.2.1 Phase 1: High Rise/High Risk Buildings. This equates to the replacement 
of 395 doors that will be completed throughout 2021/22.

4.2.2 Phase 2: Sheltered Housing. This equates to the replacement of 392 doors 
that will be completed throughout 2022/23

4.2.3 Phase 3: Low Rise Buildings. This equates to the replacement of 1,218 
doors in total over a three year period 2023-26.

Page 357



4

4.3 Fire doors to meet the specification confirmed will cost approximately £1,590 per 
door, fully installed. To fully complete the programme as outlined above, it will cost 
in the region of £3.2m over the next five years and officers from the Asset and 
Finance teams are working together to ensure this programme can be financed 
over the five years proposed.  

4.4 A competent contractor will need to be procured to establish and undertake the 
programme of fire door replacements. It is proposed to award a contract initially 
for a two year period, followed by three one year extensions, subject to contractor 
performance using the South East Consortium Framework. 

4.5 Post installation, fire door inspection and maintenance programmes will be 
certified and performed by competent and accredited contractors, to ensure the 
fire integrity remains intact throughout the life of the new fire doors. Use of new 
technology in conjunction with our in-house scheduling and asset database 
systems, will provide accurate record keeping is established and monitored. 

5. Procurement and Awarding Contracts

5.1 Since 2012, Gravesham Borough Council has been an active member of the 
South East Consortium (SEC) which is a non-profit making organisation delivering 
efficiency savings to the South East social housing sector and which was set up to 
deliver procurement savings for social housing providers.  Members of the SEC 
now collectively manage over 140,000 properties and use the procurement 
frameworks in place to deliver an efficient and value for money process which 
complies with EU procurement legislation. 

5.2 The benefits of using SEC frameworks are as follows:

 Our annual cost with SEC is 25p per property. For 2020-2021 this cost will 
amount to £1,417.75 and allows us to procure as many contracts as 
necessary. 

 SEC research has highlighted that the average cost of a procurement 
exercise is circa £20,000.

 On completion of a procurement exercise SEC will charge 1.5% of the 
contract sum for the tender process. This cost is met by the successful 
contractor and not GBC.

5.3 The Fire Remedial Works framework provided by the SEC will meet our current 
procurement requirements which can be found in Appendix 3.   

5.4 The Asset Management Team are actively developing a scope of 
works/specifications for the installation of fire doors, working closely with the 
relative framework to develop a Procurement Project Plan which will help to 
identify the most suitable contractors to perform the works. 

5.5 When a contractor is identified from one of the pre-tendered lots, an initial 
expression of interest is made to ensure they are suitable and can undertake the 
works required at a competitive price.  At this point a mini-tender exercise will be 
conducted.  This is all managed by the framework provider in conjunction with 
council officers. 

5.6 Once this process has been completed and a contractor selected, our shared 
Legal Services section will draft contracts on behalf of the council to enter into a 
formal contract.  The arrangements will then be confirmed by the Director 

Page 358



5

(Housing & Operations) in conjunction with S.151 Officer and Lead Member who 
will authorise the signing the contracts.  

5.7 To ensure competitiveness, the contract will be for an initial two years with 
potential 3 x 1 year extensions subject to contractor’s performance, monitored via 
agreed Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s). This approach will facilitate proactive 
contract management and will help ensure that contractors perform well 
throughout the duration of their contract with the council.

5.8 The Public Services (Social Value) Act came into force on 31 January 2013. It 
requires those who commission public services to think about how they can also 
secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits. Prospective 
contractors will be asked as part of the tender process to outline what social value 
commitments they could bring to GBC if they are successful. 

6. Budget

6.1 To complete the programme and based on an estimated cost of £1,590 per fire 
door set, we are seeking a budget, based on the estimated unit cost, from the 
HRA of £3,187,950 allocated over five years as follows:

Phase Year of Installation No of Doors Estimated Cost 

1 2021-2022 395 £628,050

2 2022-2023 392 £623,280

3 2023-2024 406 £645,540

3 2024-2025 406 £645,540

3 2025-2026 406 £645,540

7. Tenants and Leaseholders

7.1 In accordance with Section 20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, as amended 
by the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002, landlords are required to 
give notice to leaseholders and recognised tenants’ associations of their intention 
to enter into ‘long term agreements’.  These are agreements entered into by or on 
behalf of a landlord for a term of more than 12 months and therefore officers will 
ensure that the required notice is given to leaseholders by the council as landlord 
in respect of the procurement contracts outlined in this report. 

8. Background Papers

8.1 None.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 359



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Landlords have a statutory duty under The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 to 
maintain and repair property assets and to ensure leaseholder engagement 
throughout the procurement process.
Landlords have a legal duty to comply with The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005.
Contracts will be secured through the pre-tendered frameworks which have been 
procured in accordance with domestic and European legislation.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The projected spend will be financed through the HRA and external borrowing.
Fire Doors - £3,187,950 (Capital) over 5 year years.
Aggregated buying power via the various Frameworks delivers competitive pricing 
and value for money.

Risk Assessment Gravesham Borough Council has moral, legal and financial responsibility to ensure 
buildings have adequate management for fire safety.
SEC frameworks are all OJEU compliant and service providers listed have already 
met specific criteria and requirements.
In addition, the GBC Procurement Strategy 2017-2020 actively encourages the use 
of frameworks for procurement.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
Confirmed that successful contractors will be required to enter into a Data 
Sharing Agreement as part of the contract.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 360

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

Corporate Plan PEOPLE: Protected Environment - Enforce high regulatory requirements. 
PEOPLE: Quality Living - Safeguard residents. 
PEOPLE: Quality Living - Put our customers first. 
PLACE: Connected Community - Improve resident well-being. 
PROGRESS:  Entrepreneurial authority - Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost 
effective council.
PROGRESS: Strong Leadership - Sound financial management. 
PROGRESS: Strong Leadership - Successfully manage key business risks.

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder The new Fire Doors will meet the Secured by Design (SBD) standard, an official 
Police security initiative to prevent crime and antI-social behaviour or BS PAS 
24:2016, an enchanced security performance for doorsets

Digital and website 
implications

.N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 361



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A - Assurance and Assessment of Fire Doors 
 

January 2020  Page 1 of 9  

Annex A – Advice for Building Owners1 on assurance and 
assessment of flat entrance fire doors 

 

Summary 

• Flat entrance fire doors leading to a shared or communal area are required to 
provide fire and smoke protection and are part of a layered approach to most fire 
strategies for buildings. 
 

• It is important that all fire doors, including the compulsory closers, are routinely 
maintained by a suitably qualified professional. Residents should be made aware 
of the importance of a working self-closing device on all fire doors which under any 
circumstances should not be altered. 
 

• Manufacturers of modern or replacement flat entrance fire doors will have test 
evidence demonstrating that they meet the performance requirement in Building 
Regulations guidance2 for fire resistance and smoke control from both sides of the 
door. 
 

• It is important to ensure that the specification within the test evidence relates to the 
doorset being installed. 
 

• Building owners should aim to replace existing timber flat entrance 
doorsets3 if they suspect they do not meet the fire or smoke resistance 
performance contained in the Local Government Association guide “Fire safety in 
purpose-built blocks of flats”.4 The building owner should use an appropriate risk 
assessment process to determine how urgently such doors should be replaced 

 
  

                                                
1 For the purposes of this document the term ‘building owner’ means the owner of the building or the person, 
group, company or other entity on whom duties are imposed or enforcement action could be taken under the 
following legislation: (i) the Housing Act 2004 in relation to certain hazards; or (ii)  the Regulatory Reform 
(Fire Safety) Order 2005 to ensure the safety of occupants of a building from fire (see Articles 3 & 5 of 
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 for those with duties).  
 
2 Building Regulations Approved Document B: Volume 2 (Buildings Other than Dwelling Houses) Appendix B 
pages 132 to 134 (www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-approved-document-b) 
 
3 Building Regulation Approved Document Q page 6 defines a doorset as “A complete door assembly, 
assembled on site or delivered as a completed assembly, consisting of the door frame, door leaf or leaves, 
essential hardware and any integral side panel or fanlight (but excluding coupled assembly, a doorset and 
window that are supplied as separate self-contained frames and fixed together on site).”  
 
4 www.local.gov.uk/fire-safety-purpose-built-flats  

Page 363

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-approved-document-b
http://www.local.gov.uk/fire-safety-purpose-built-flats


Annex A - Assurance and Assessment of Fire Doors 
 

January 2020  Page 2 of 9  

Introduction 

1. This advice note provides general advice on building owners undertaking risk 
assessments of fire doors.  A fire door risk assessment is likely to include the following 
aspects: 

 
- the fire strategy for the building (including evacuation strategy); 
- the building fire risk assessment; 
- the occupancy of the building, e.g. general needs or specialised housing; 
- the intended protection afforded by the door, e.g. flat front entrance, cross corridor, 

storage areas; 
- the likely resistance of the doorset (door and frame) to fire and smoke. 

 
If building owners need further assistance to determine whether existing or proposed fire 
doorsets meet the current standards, they should seek expert advice from a suitably 
qualified fire safety professional. 
 

2. A fire door can only offer protection in limiting the spread of smoke and fire if the door 
can fully close effectively under the action of its door closer. The self-closing device 
should be capable of closing the door securely into its frame from any open position 
overcoming the resistance of any latch and edge seals. All self-closing devices should be 
regularly maintained to ensure that they are operating correctly. 
 

3. Building owners should also communicate with residents to ensure that they are aware of 
the importance of maintaining and not interfering with the operation of the self-closing 
devices on their flat entrance fire doors.  Residents should also be told that fire doors 
must not be altered as that can reduce their fire resistance. 
 

4. For new doorsets, for compliance with the Building Regulations in England, guidance in 
Approved Document B advises that flat entrance doorsets that allow access directly into 
the dwelling from a shared or communal corridor should achieve at least 30 minutes fire 
resistance, with additional requirements for resistance to the passage of “cold” smoke 
(i.e. smoke at a temperature below that required to cause intumescent seals to expand 
and seal the gaps around the door leaf).5 It is accepted that older timber doors, 
manufactured or installed before current fire resistance test standards came into force 
would not achieve the level of performance if tested to current test standards. These 
doors may still be acceptable if the doors are in good condition, with minimum gaps 
between the door leaf and the frame.4 

 

 

                                                
5 www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-approved-document-b 

 

Page 364

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-approved-document-b


Annex A - Assurance and Assessment of Fire Doors 
 

January 2020  Page 3 of 9  

 
5. This advice note primarily concentrates on fire safety; however, newly installed front 

doors to flats should also meet security requirements set out in Approved Document Q.6 
There are also requirements for doorsets in other relevant Building Regulations guidance 
included in other Approved Documents including part E, L & M. Therefore, it is imperative 
that doorsets are designed to meet all the relevant requirements in one package, i.e. the 
same specification. The full suite of approved documents can be accessed from the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government website.7 

 
6. For existing doors, reference should be made to the Local Government Association 

guidance ‘Fire Safety in purpose-built blocks of flats’4 and the British Standard ‘code of 
practice for fire door assemblies’.8 

Fire doors within a building other than flat entrance doors 

Staircase and Cross Corridor doors 
 

8. All fire doors must be fitted with a working self-closing device and must not be 
propped or wedged open under any circumstance. 
 

9. A functional self-closing device is essential in ensuring that the fire door performs when 
preventing fire and smoke. The self-closing device should be capable of closing the door 
securely into its frame from any open position and overcoming the resistance of any latch 
and edge seals. 

 
10. Where a new or replacement self-closing device is fitted it should not affect the fire 

resistance of the door when tested in accordance with BS EN1364-1 or BS 476-22. Self-
closing devices in communal areas should be regularly checked and maintained to 
ensure that they are working effectively. 
 

11. Building owners should act responsibly to inform and engage with residents. Residents 
must be informed of the purpose of their fire door as a life saving device, with attention 
and explanation given to the role of self-closing devices. 
 

12. Residents should be encouraged to report any defects to fire doors in communal areas 
to their building owner. 

 
 
 

                                                
6 www.gov.uk/government/publications/security-in-dwellings-approved-document-q, pages 3 & 4 and 
Appendix B pages 7 & 8 
7 www.gov.uk/government/collections/approved-documents 
8 BS 8412:2016 (https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030332501) 

Page 365

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/security-in-dwellings-approved-document-q
http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/approved-documents
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030332501


Annex A - Assurance and Assessment of Fire Doors 
 

January 2020  Page 4 of 9  

Cupboard, storage and refuse areas fitted with fire doors 
 
13. The above guidance should be used to assess cupboards, storage and refuse areas 

fitted with fire doors. However, cupboards, storage and refuse areas fitted with fire doors 
would normally have signage in accordance with BS-5449-10. 
 

14. These doors are required to have a self-closer or be kept locked shut when not in use. 
These doors must not be propped or wedged open. 

Fire door risk assessments 

15. The following sections provide information on how test evidence should be considered 
as part of the assessment of fire doors and provide for different scenarios where test 
evidence is, or isn’t, available for the fire doors installed.   
 

Where test evidence is available for timber and GRP composite fire doors: 
16. Where test evidence is available and a fire door has been shown to meet the required 

standard, no immediate remediation action is required. All fire doors should be routinely 
maintained by a suitably qualified professional, including closers.  
 

17. Where test evidence shows that an existing GRP composite fire door does not meet the 
required standard, building owners should refer to the flow chart in Appendix A for 
guidance on remediation action. 
 

Where no test evidence is available for timber fire doors: 
18. Where no test evidence is available for timber fire doors, the building owner should refer 

to the Local Government Association guidance ‘Fire Safety in purpose-built blocks of 
flats’4 and should seek advice from a competent person.  
 

19. A competent person may wish to consider what test evidence is available, or the original 
“deemed to satisfy” status of the doors as a potential indicator of acceptability; if timber 
doors with no test evidence meets the requirement detailed in Local Government 
Association guidance ‘Fire Safety in purpose-built blocks of flats’ is equates to meeting 
the standard required. These doors may be treated as notional fire doors and the 
competent person may wish to consider the advice on notional fire doors given in the 
Local Government Association guidance ‘Fire Safety in purpose-built blocks of flats’.4 
 

20. GRP composite fire doors cannot be considered as notional9 fire doors under any 
circumstances. 

                                                
9 There is a difference between modern fire doors and their requirements and older type doors, often called 
‘Notional fire doors’.  These doors may have been in place for many years and met earlier standards of 
manufacture and legislation. However, this doesn't mean that they are now not fit for purpose, providing they are 
still in good condition they will still provide the service for which they were intended. 

Page 366



Annex A - Assurance and Assessment of Fire Doors 
 

January 2020  Page 5 of 9  

21. Where a large number of doors are involved, and there is significant uncertainty as to 
the likely fire resistance, advice should be sought from a specialist and/or a sample door 
might be tested in accordance with BS 476-22 / EN 1634-1. Subject to test results, any 
remedial or replacement action should be guided by the advice outlined above.  

 
Where no test evidence is available for GRP composite fire doors: 
22. Where no test evidence is available for GRP composite fire doors, Building Responsible 

Persons should seek advice from a competent person.  
 

23. A competent person may wish to consider what test evidence is available as a potential 
indicator of failure, particularly test evidence from those tests undertaken by the MHCLG 
fire doors investigation. 
 

24. Where a large number of doors are involved, and there is significant uncertainty as to 
the likely fire resistance, advice should be sought from a specialist and/or sample door 
might be tested in accordance with BS 476-22 / EN 1634-1. Subject to test results, any 
remedial or replacement action should be guided by the advice outlined above.  

Guidance on testing of fire doors 

25. All new composite doorsets must have undergone fire resistance testing on both sides. 
 
26. The guidance provided in Approved Document B (2019) Volume 1 and 2 Appendix C3 is 

clear that fire doors should be tested separately on both sides.  
 
27. Fire Resisting Doorsets currently on sale in the UK will have been tested in accordance 

with either BS 476-22 or EN1634-1 standards. Both standards acknowledge that it may 
not always be necessary to carry out tests from both sides of a door set. Clause 13.4 of 
EN 1634-1 states when it may be appropriate to test on one side. Annex C of EN 1634-1 
sets out the rationale for these rules and specifically excludes composite doors by stating 
that: 

 
“Doorsets made from other or composite materials are specifically excluded from 
this annex as there is not sufficient evidence of their behaviour in fire to be able to 
provide guidance on the weakest side against fire attack.” 

 
28. The view of the Expert Panel is that Clause 13.4 of EN 1634-1 should be followed 

regardless of whether the doorset is being classified to BS 476-22 or EN 1634-1. 
 
29. Information on the department’s fire door testing programme including results of the tests 

carried out can be found here: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/fire-door-investigation 

Page 367

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/fire-door-investigation


Annex A - Assurance and Assessment of Fire Doors 
 

January 2020  Page 6 of 9  

Incomplete fire test evidence for composite flat entrance fire doors  

30. The Expert Panel published initial advice on the need to test composite fire doors on 
both sides in early 2018, it is therefore expected that any door installed after this date will 
have been appropriately tested. However, it is recognised that, there may be limited 
circumstances where it may be possible to retain existing fire resisting composite flat 
entrance doors where the door was tested on one side. 

 
31. In the absence of obvious defects (e.g. glazing units fixings, etc.) it is the expectation of 

the Expert Panel that: 
 

• The fire resistance from the internal side should accord with the guidance set out in 
Appendix A; 

• An assessment by a fire risk assessor determines that a fire of a severity similar to that 
in the British/ European fire resistance tests within the common parts is an event of 
remote probability; 

• Management standards are likely to ensure that the fire load (the amount of 
combustible material in a building or confined space and the amount of heat this can 
generate) within the common parts remains low and that the need for this is identified 
in all fire risk assessments.  

 
 Note that any replacement door should be tested from both sides. 
 
32. Further information on best practice is provided in the Passive Fire Protection 

Federation’s “Guide to undertaking technical assessments” (2019) available at: 
http://pfpf.associationhouse.org.uk/default.php?cmd=210&doc_category=308 

 

Repair and renovation of existing doorsets 

33. Where doorsets have parts that need replacing, care should be taken to ensure 
replacements are of the same specification used in the original design as evidenced in 
the manufacturer’s test evidence/certification and documentation for the doorset and that 
the doorset itself has not been altered in any way. Where the manufacturer or supplier is 
unknown, then an assessment can be carried out by a competent expert. 

34. All assessments and repairs should be carried out in line with the manufacturer’s 
instructions by a suitably qualified person or organisation that can demonstrate the 
appropriate levels of skill and competency. Certification under a UKAS accredited door 
installer scheme10 would be a way of establishing those criteria. 

 
35. The British Standard 821411 provides recommendations for the specification, installation 

                                                
10 United Kingdom Accreditation Service (www.ukas.com) 
11 https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030332501 

Page 368

http://pfpf.associationhouse.org.uk/default.php?cmd=210&doc_category=308
http://www.ukas.com/
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030332501


Annex A - Assurance and Assessment of Fire Doors 
 

January 2020  Page 7 of 9  

and maintenance of timber-based fire door assemblies. 

Replacing flat entrance doorsets 

36. Existing doorsets should be replaced if the Building Owner suspects they do not meet 
the fire or smoke resistance performance12 in the Local Government Association 
guidance.4 A risk assessment process should be used to determine the priority and how 
urgently such doors should be replaced. 

 
37. Replacement doorsets should have test evidence from a UKAS accredited test facility, or 

equivalent,13 to ensure they meet the standards set out in the Building Regulations 
guidance. Test evidence used should be carefully checked to ensure it is to the same 
specifications of the doorsets being installed. Small differences in detail (such as glazing 
apertures, intumescent strips, door frames and ironmongery etc.) may have a detrimental 
effect to the fire, smoke or security performance of a doorset. 

 
38. The Expert Panel advise that doorsets which aim to meet fire resistance as well as 

security criteria, should be based on a single combined design specification, which is 
certified for fire resistance and for security. Additionally, there should be test evidence for 
smoke control based on the same doorset design.  

 
39. The self-closing device should be capable of closing the door securely into its frame from 

any open position and overcoming the resistance of the any latch and edge seals.  
 
40. The Expert Panel advise that, while it should not be solely relied upon, third party 

certification14 by a UKAS accredited body of manufacture, installation and maintenance 
and inspection for fire, smoke and security can provide building owners with greater 
assurance on the performance of the doors. Doorsets certificated and suppled to the 
same specification for fire, smoke and security performance will provide additional 
assurance of performance, as will certification in the name of the company producing the 
doorset with the doorset name listed on the certificate. 

  

                                                
12 Concerns with performance may be triggered by a number of factors including the lack of test evidence, 
evidence of substandard performance in testing, visual damage, wear and tear, age of the door etc. 
13 An equivalent test facility will be accredited by a signatory of the European Accreditation Multilateral 
Agreement. This a signed agreement between the EA Full Members whereby the signatories recognise and 
accept the equivalence of the accreditation systems operated by the signing members (www.european-
accreditation.org/the-mla) 
14 UKAS accredit organisations separately for manufacture, installation, maintenance and inspection 

Page 369

http://www.european-accreditation.org/the-mla
http://www.european-accreditation.org/the-mla


Annex A - Assurance and Assessment of Fire Doors 
 

January 2020  Page 8 of 9  

Appendix A 
General needs blocks of Flats 

 
This flow chart is provided to assist Building Responsible Persons to identify the priority of 
attention to their GRP composite fire doors. It is a matter of judgement for the Building 
Responsible Persons as to when to replace their doors which is likely to be when required as 
part of a routine maintenance programme. See paragraphs 30 to 32 when fire doors have 
only been tested on one side.  
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15 
 
 
 
 
                                                
* These periods of fire resistance are extrapolated from historical standards that many older blocks will have 
been designed to. This is not intended to suggest that they would be appropriate for new buildings or where new 
door sets are being procured. 
E 

     
           

        
        
        
        
       

      
      
     

   
   

    
       

   
    
    

    
    
    
    
    
      
      
    
    
    

     
     
     
        
        
        
        
         

Does LGA Guide require replacement FD30S doors? 

Ground floor flats opening to open air? 

Does LGA Guide require upgrade of notional FD30 doors? 

Is there a working and maintained fire suppression system in flats? 

Do FEDs open onto a balcony? 

FR ≥ 20 minutes*? 

 
FR ≤ 15 minutes*? 

 

≤ 3 storeys 

 
Double lobby. One lobby ventilated. ≤ 2 flats per lobby. 

 

Maisonettes with escape on another level 

 
Lobbied staircase. One flat per lobby.  

 

High Priority 

No action required 

 
High Priority 

 
Immediate action not required 

 

FR ≥ 25 minutes*? 

 
High Priority 

 

Immediate action not required 

 
High Priority 

 

Immediate action not required 

 
Immediate action not required 

 

Immediate action not required 

 

FR ≥ 15minutes*? 

 
High Priority 

 

Immediate action not required 

 

 
2 directions of 

escape, all flats? 

 

No action required 

 

FR ≥ 15 minutes*, 
below 1.1m 

 

Immediate action not 
required 

 
Simultaneous 
evacuation? 

 

Immediate action not 
required 

 
High Priority 

 

No 

 
No 

 
No 

 
No 

 
No 

 
No 

 
No 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
No 

 
No 

 

No 

 

No 

 
No 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 
Yes 

 
 

 
Yes 

 
Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 
Yes 

 Yes 

 

Yes 

 
Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

No 

 

No 

 

Yes 

FR>15 minutes but <20 minutes (i.e. FR is 15-20 minutes) 

 

Immediate action not required 

 

Yes 

 

Page 370



Annex A - Assurance and Assessment of Fire Doors 
 

January 2020  Page 9 of 9  

Appendix A 
Specialised housing blocks of Flats 

 
This flow chart is provided to assist Building Responsible Persons to identify the priority 
of attention to their GRP composite fire doors. It is a matter of judgement for the Building 
Responsible Persons as to when to replace their doors which is likely to be when 
required as part of a routine maintenance programme. See paragraphs 30 to 32 when fire 
doors have only been tested on one side.  
 
 

 

 

` 

     
           

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Ground floor flats opening to open air? 

Is there a working and maintained fire suppression system in flats? FR ≥ 15minutes*? 

 

Immediate action not required 

 

Yes 

 
No 

 
High Priority 

 

No 

 

Do FEDs open onto a balcony? 

No 

 

FR ≥ 25 minutes*? 

 
FR ≤ 20 minutes*? 

 

No 

 
No 

 

Remotely monitored Category LD1 fire detection in flats? 

 

No 

 

Lobbied staircase. One flat per lobby.  

 

High Priority 

 

Yes 

 
No 

 

 No action required 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 
2 directions of 

escape, all flats? 

 

Yes 

 

No action required 

 

 FR ≥ 15 minutes*, 
below 1.1m 

 
Simultaneous 
evacuation? 

 

Immediate action 
not required 

 
Immediate action 

not required 

 
High Priority 

 

No 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

No 

 

No 

 

Immediate action not required 

 

High Priority 

 

Immediate action not required 

 

Yes 

 
Yes 

 
 

 
Yes 

 

Yes 

 

 

FR>20 minutes but <25 minutes (i.e. FR is 20-25 minutes*) 

 

Immediate action not required 

 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

Page 371



This page is intentionally left blank



Framework Directory
OCTOBER 2020 EDIT ION 

Page 373



SOUTH EAST CONSORTIUM  /   020 8036 0004  /   in fo@southeastconsor t ium.org .uk

For more information contact: 

020 8036 0004
info@southeastconsortium.org.uk 
www.southeastconsortium.org.uk

About us
South East Consortium (SEC) is a central purchasing body.  
We’re a not for profit organisation. We were specifically 
created to support the housing sector. But, any public  
sector organisation can benefit from our offer.

SEC was established in 2005 and retains its heritage by 
being a Membership organisation owned by 37 Housing 
Associations and Local Authorities. Our Members own  
over 380k properties between them – this gives us  
immense buying power.

We create intelligent frameworks for the sector to use.  
We can provide customers with solutions pre, during and 
post procurement process.  SEC can deliver both framework 
and bespoke procurement solutions. We’re able to assist 
our customers with technical work including specification 
preparation, cost benchmarking and contract writing.

In addition to technical work SEC also provide customers 
with a range of training, events and networking 
opportunities. We embrace collaboration and challenging 
the status quo. We’re here to influence solutions for the 
sector’s future.

Every time you contact us we’ll deliver a service based 
on ease, options and value.

Accessing our frameworks
Any public sector organisation can use our services.  
When using our OJEU compliant frameworks you can 
automatically remove the high cost of running your own 
procurement project in-house.

We’ll review, compile and release your tender documents 
when you use our frameworks. We’ll also download tender 
returns and facilitate the process for you. You can benefit 
from our technical and procurement advice across all  
stages of the process, and we take the time to understand 
your needs and objectives to ensure we deliver the best 
service for you.

Page 374



SOUTH EAST CONSORTIUM  /   020 8036 0004  /   in fo@southeastconsor t ium.org .uk

APPOINTED CONTRACTORS

W
O

R
K

S

This framework provides customers a compliant route to competent  
contractors to carry out works arising from Fire Risk Assessments & 
compartmentation surveys. 

The work includes passive and active fire protection measures, and is 
divided into four main Lots. Each Lot is then sub-divided by geographical  
location – giving this framework national coverage.

LOT 1 Passive Fire Protection

LOT 2 Fire Alarm Systems

LOT 3 Sprinkler Systems

LOT 4 Combined Works

FIRE REMEDIAL WORKS 

OJEU REF 2017S 228 474512 
AWARDED 20/02/2018 
EXPIRES 19/02/2022

FIR
E

 R
E

M
E

D
IA

L W
O

R
K

S
 —

 S
E

C
 FR

A
M

E
W

O
R

K
 D

IR
E

C
TO

R
Y

W
O

R
K

S

For more information contact: 

020 8036 0004
info@southeastconsortium.org.uk
www.southeastconsortium.org.uk

Page 375



SOUTH EAST CONSORTIUM  /   020 8036 0004  /   in fo@southeastconsor t ium.org .uk

W
O

R
K

S

APPOINTED CONTRACTORS

Lot 1 covers passive fire protection measures  
such as, fire doors, doorsets, fire stopping and 
other compartmentation works. 

FIRE REMEDIAL WORKS 
LOT 1 

Passive Fire Protection 

FIR
E

 R
E

M
E

D
IA

L W
O

R
K

S
  /  LO

T
 1

 —
 P

A
S

S
IV

E
 FIR

E
 P

R
O

T
E

C
T

IO
N

THE SOUTH EAST GREATER LONDON REST OF ENGLAND AND WALES

RANK 1 Kier Group Kier Group Kier Group

RANK 2 AD Group AD Group Gunite

RANK 3 United Living United Living Wates

RANK 4 Ventro Group Ventro Group Morgan Sindall

RANK 5 Engie Engie Ventro Group

RANK 6 OpenView Bell Group Engie

RANK 7 Bell Group — OpenView

RANK 8 — — Bell Group

Page 376



SOUTH EAST CONSORTIUM  /   020 8036 0004  /   in fo@southeastconsor t ium.org .uk

W
O

R
K

S

APPOINTED CONTRACTORS

FIRE REMEDIAL WORKS 
LOT 2 

Fire Alarm Systems 

THE SOUTH EAST GREATER LONDON REST OF ENGLAND AND WALES

RANK 1 Openview Openview Openview

RANK 2 Allied Protection Allied Protection Allied Protection

RANK 3 Kier Group Kier Group Kier Group

RANK 4 Amalgamated ABCA Systems Amalgamated

RANK 5 ABCA Systems Mulalley ABCA Systems

RANK 6 — — Morgan Sindall

RANK 7 — — Ventro Group

FIR
E

 R
E

M
E

D
IA

L W
O

R
K

S
  /  LO

T
 2

 —
 FIR

E
 A

LA
R

M
 S

Y
S

T
E

M
S 

Page 377



SOUTH EAST CONSORTIUM  /   020 8036 0004  /   in fo@southeastconsor t ium.org .uk

W
O

R
K

S

APPOINTED CONTRACTORS

FIRE REMEDIAL WORKS 
LOT 3 

Sprinkler Systems 

FIR
E

 R
E

M
E

D
IA

L W
O

R
K

S
  /  LO

T
 3

 —
 S

P
R

IN
K

LE
R

 S
Y

S
T

E
M

S

THE SOUTH EAST GREATER LONDON REST OF ENGLAND AND WALES

RANK 1 Kier Group Kier Group Kier Group

RANK 2 Engie Engie Engie

RANK 3 Ventro Group Ventro Group Ventro Group

RANK 4 Morgan Sindall Morgan Sindall Morgan Sindall

RANK 5 Mulalley Mulalley OpenView

RANK 6 Vinci Vinci —

RANK 7 OpenView — —

Page 378



SOUTH EAST CONSORTIUM  /   020 8036 0004  /   in fo@southeastconsor t ium.org .uk

W
O

R
K

S

FIRE REMEDIAL WORKS 
LOT 4 

Combined Works

FIR
E

 R
E

M
E

D
IA

L W
O

R
K

S
  /  LO

T
 4

 —
 C

O
M

B
IN

E
D

 W
O

R
K

S

APPOINTED CONTRACTORS

Lot 4 combines all three previous lots for clients who 
want one contractor to complete all the works and  
manage specialist sub-contractors.

THE SOUTH EAST GREATER LONDON REST OF ENGLAND AND WALES

RANK 1 Kier Group Kier Group Kier Group

RANK 2 Engie Morgan Sindall Morgan Sindall

RANK 3 Mulalley Engie Engie

RANK 4 Morgan Sindall Mulalley Wates

RANK 5 Wates Ventro Group Ventro Group

RANK 6 Ventro Group OpenView OpenView

RANK 7 OpenView United Living —

RANK 8 United Living — — 

Page 379



For more information contact: 

020 8036 0004
info@southeastconsortium.org.uk 
www.southeastconsortium.org.uk

Page 380



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: Yes 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Cabinet 

Date:  
4 January 2021 
 

Reporting officer: Director (Planning and Development) 

Subject: Development on Land at Constable Road/Rembrandt Drive 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To seek authority to award a build contract for the development of 7 new Council homes on 
land at Constable Road/Rembrandt Drive.   

Recommendations: 

1. That authority be delegated to the Director (Planning and Development) in consultation 
with the Leader of the Executive and the Section 151 Officer, to award a build contract to 
Westridge Construction Limited following a selection process via the South East 
Consortium for 7 x 1 bed bungalows and associated parking, landscaping and 
improvements to the wider green space on land at Constable Road/Rembrandt Drive.  

 
 

1. Constable Road/Rembrandt Drive  

A planning application for the above development was submitted by the Council and 
presented to the former Regulatory Board (now Planning Committee) in February 2020.  
The application (reference 20190833) was recommended for permission subject to 
conditions.  Full permission was subsequently granted at that meeting.  

2. Tender Process 

2.1 Potter Raper Limited is appointed as the Council’s Employers Agent.  PRP has 
prepared tender documents based on the drawings submitted to the LPA and the 
Council’s agreed Employer’s Requirements, and has submitted these to the South 
East Consortium (SEC) Framework to which the Council has membership.  

2.2 Potter Raper Limited provided an estimate for the works which was confirmed as 
being in excess of the Key Decision threshold of £100,000.  

2.3 Tender documents have been received and Potter Raper Limited, in consultation 
with officers from the Housing Strategy and Development team, has evaluated the 
tenders and provided a tender report for the Design and Build of 7 x 1 bed 
bungalows.  

Page 381 Agenda Item 13



2 

2.4 Following post-tender evaluation, Potter Raper Limited has recommended 
Westridge Construction Limited be awarded the Design and Build Contract for the 
scheme.  Details of the costs can be found at Appendix 2 which is in the private 
part of this agenda.  

3. Viability  

3.1 Officers from the Finance Department have assessed the scheme based on an 
Affordable Rent tenure using current Local Housing Allowance rates which gives a 
payback period of approximately 38 years. 

4. Funding. 

4.1 As from April 2012, the Department for Communities and Local Government (now 
MHCLG) announced that it would allow a local housing authority to retain some 
Right to Buy (RTB) receipts, provided that it could demonstrate that it had spent a 
sufficient amount on replacement affordable housing.  Gravesham Borough 
Council signed the agreement with CLG in the first quarter of 2012 thereby 
confirming a commitment to delivering affordable housing.  

4.2 In return the authority agreed that RTB receipts will not make up more than 30% 
of total spend on additional stock and to return any unused receipts (after a period 
of three years from initial receipt) plus interest at 4% above base rate to the 
Secretary of State. 

4.3 On 25 February 2020, Full Council approved the Housing Capital Programme for 
2020/21 which included £11.575m of capital funding for the council’s New 
Build/Acquisition Programme.  Development of this site will form part of the 
delivery of this programme. 

4.4 The construction of the new homes will be met by the most appropriate source of 
funding such as the HRA reserve or borrowing, with the net increase in homes 
being funded in part by 30% retained RTB receipts and the remaining 70% being 
funded from the most appropriate source as part of the Council’s entire borrowing 
requirement for 20/21 and 21/22.  

5. Finance Update 

5.1 On 9 October 2019 HM Treasury announced that it would increase the interest 
rates on all new loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) by 100 basis 
points (one percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.  This appeared to be 
in response to a substantial increase in the use of PWLB by local authorities over 
recent months, given the cost of borrowing had fallen to record lows.  This action 
would have likely made the PWLB the lender of last resort for HRA-related 
borrowing. 

5.2 This meant that Officers would have needed to identify alternative sources of 
funding.  Shorter term funding, up to five years, from some local authorities and 
banks but securing longer term funding could have proved more 
difficult.  Borrowing from the market longer term requires additional time both for 
planning and administration and, even then, it may not have been possible to find 
a lender that matched the specific requirements, forcing the Council to take on 
more expensive debt.  

5.3 However, on 11 March 2020, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Rishi Sunak, 
presented the Spring Budget for 2020 to the House of Commons.  During his 

Page 382



3 

speech it was announced by Government that it was introducing a new, 
discounted rate of PWLB lending to support social housing.  The new Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) rate is available for loans arranged on or after 12 March 
2020 and will be 100 basis points (1%) below the rate at which the local authority 
can usually borrow from the PWLB. 

5.4 Therefore, officers will review all options available at such time and will make the 
necessary steps to securing funding, in accordance with the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and in consultation with the Council’s Section 
151 Officer. 

6. Implications 

6.1 Please see Appendix 1 

 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

7.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements. 

 

Page 383



 

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1 

      

Legal  The Council has entered into a contract with Potter Raper Limited for the delivery of 
their professional services.  A contract will be entered into with the contractor 
appointed to carry out the work.  The procurements of services and works through 
the use of frameworks are complant with the relevant procurement law..  

Finance and Value 
for Money  

As detailed in the attached report, the works have been tendered via the SEC and 
the works will exceed the Key Decision threshold of £100,000. 

This scheme forms part of the 2020/21-2021/22 HRA Capital Programme. 

The borrowing implications for this scheme are set out in this report. 

Expenditure will be incured on C933 

Risk Assessment Contractors are admitted to the SEC framework following legally compliant 
competitive tenders and are appointed after evaluation of their experience, 
resources and financial and technical suitability.  

The financial suitability of all contractors on the framework is further subject to 
annual re-evaluation. 

The contract with the selected contractor will be entered into through consultation 
with Legal Services. 

 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

      

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

      

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

Page 384

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

Yes 

The new homes will be advertised on Kent HomeChoice (choice based lettings) 
with all eligible applicants being able to bid for the homes through this process.   

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Corporate Plan #1 People: quality living (Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building) 

#1 People: quality living (Safeguard Residents)  

Crime and Disorder There are no known crime and disorder implications relating to this proposed 
development. 

Climate Change The new homes will benefit from energy efficient heating systems and will exceed 
Building Regulations Part L by at least 30%, achieving an estimated EPC Rating of 
B. 

Digital and website 
implications 

The scheme will be promoted on the Council's website and other social media.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

Provision of the new homes will provide extra capacity within the Council’s housing 
stock to enable households living in unsuitable accommodation to move into 
appropriate housing that better meets their needs.  

 

Page 385



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 387



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 389 Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 397



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 421



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 437 Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Minutes of meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board
	7 Meopham, Higham and Cobham Rural Housing Needs Surveys 2020
	Appendix 2 Meopham RHNS Report 2020 FINAL
	Affordable Rent
	Single people - there were 3 single people.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.
	Families - there were 2 families.
	Specific requirements:
	Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household.  They described themselves as a couple and lone parent.
	Specific requirements:
	Assessment of the 38 households seeking housing in the next 3 years

	Single people - there were 7 single people.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.
	Couples - there were 6 couples.  The age of each household member was requested - 4 respondents did not indicate their partner’s age.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.
	Families - there were 2 families.
	Specific requirements:
	It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.
	Single people - there were 2 single people.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	Couples - there were 5 couples.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	Single people - there were 15 single people.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	Couples - there were 16 couples.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	Families - there was 1 family.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
	The summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the need for housing for older households.
	8.1  Summary of the need for affordable housing

	Appendix 3 Higham RHNS Report 2020 FINAL
	Single people - there were 2 single people.
	Specific requirements:
	It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.
	Couples - there were 2 couples.
	Specific requirements:
	Both respondents were interested in shared ownership only.
	Families - there were 3 families.
	Specific requirements:
	It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit. The second respondent could afford to rent privately, but the tenure they were interested in is not currently available in the parish (house). N...
	Single people - there was 1 single person.
	Age:
	Specific requirements:
	The specific requirements stated are as follows:
	 For mental and physical disabilities.
	Couples - there were 2 couples.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for housing benefit.
	Families - there were 3 families.
	Ages:
	One respondent did not specify how many children, it has been assumed there is one child only.
	Specific requirements:
	Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household.
	Age:
	Specific requirements:
	Single people - there were 4 single people.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	1 respondent did not specify if they had any specific requirements.
	Couples - there were 2 couples.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	The respondent did not specify if they had any specific requirements.
	Single people - there were 8 single people.
	1 respondent did not specify their preferred accommodation.
	Specific requirements:
	Couples - there were 7 couples.
	Specific requirements:
	Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household.
	Specific requirements:
	8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
	The summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the need for housing for older households.
	8.1  Summary of the need for affordable housing

	Appendix 4 Cobham RHNS Report 2020 FINAL
	Single people - there was 1 single person.
	Specific requirements:
	Families - there were 2 families.
	Specific requirements:
	Single people - there was 1 single person.
	Age:
	Specific requirements:
	Couples - there were 3 couples.
	Ages:
	Specific requirements:
	7.2  Assessment of the need for housing for older households
	Families - there was 1 family.
	Ages:
	Family 1 is a grandparent and granddaughter
	Specific requirements:
	Single people - there were 3 single people.
	Specific requirements:
	Couples - there were 3 couples.
	Specific requirements:
	Other type of household - there was 1 other type of household.
	Specific requirements:
	8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
	The summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the need for housing for older households.
	8.1  Summary of the need for affordable housing


	8 Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) Adoption
	Appendix 2 Draft Resi Ext SPD Comments
	Appendix 3 Draft Householder Extensions Alterations Design Guide vCabinet

	9 Proposed amendments to the Constitution
	Summary of proposed changes to Constitution 20201126
	Annex 1 - Responsibility of Functions - Annex 1.13 - Track changes to page 43
	Annex 1 - Responsibility of Functions - Annex 1.13 - Track changes to page 49

	10 Member Training 2019-20 - Annual Report
	2.Appendix Two Member Training attendance 2019-20
	3.Appendix Three MemberTrainingSummaryofFeedback2019-20
	4.Appendix Four Member Questionnaire Responses (15) Final
	5.Appendix Five Draft Member Training Plan 2021-22

	11 Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) review
	A4 Public Notice for Amendment 14
	A4 Public Notice for Amendment 15
	A4 Public Notice for Amendment 16
	A4 Public Notice for Amendment 17
	A4 Public Notice for Amendment 18
	Formal Consultation - Higham CPZ
	Formal Consultation - Meopham CPZ
	Formal Consultation - Northfleet CPZ
	Formal Consultation - Sole Street CPZ
	Formal Consultation - St James's Avenue CPZ

	12 Fire Door Procurement and Installation Programme
	Appendix 2 - Annex A Advice for building owners
	Annex A – Advice for Building Owners0F  on assurance and assessment of flat entrance fire doors
	Summary
	Introduction
	Fire doors within a building other than flat entrance doors
	Staircase and Cross Corridor doors
	Cupboard, storage and refuse areas fitted with fire doors

	Fire door risk assessments
	Where test evidence is available for timber and GRP composite fire doors:
	Where no test evidence is available for timber fire doors:
	Where no test evidence is available for GRP composite fire doors:

	Guidance on testing of fire doors
	Incomplete fire test evidence for composite flat entrance fire doors
	Repair and renovation of existing doorsets
	Replacing flat entrance doorsets
	Appendix A
	General needs blocks of Flats
	Appendix A
	Specialised housing blocks of Flats


	Appendix 3. Fire-Remedial-Work

	13 Development on Land at Constable Road/Rembrandt Drive (Please note that Appendix 2 is restricted and will only be available in the private document pack)
	Constable Road and Rembrandt Drive - Appendix 2

	16 South Thames Gateway (STG) Building Control Partnership Business Plan 2021-24
	STG  business plan report 21-24 - Appendix 2
	STG  business plan report 21-24 - Appendix 3

	17 Wickes site, Stuart Road, Gravesend and Parrock Street Surface Car Park, Gravesend



